
 

 

 

FRANKLIN CITY HALL CHAMBERS 

9229 W. LOOMIS ROAD  

FRANKLIN, WISCONSIN 

 
 

PLAN COMMISSION MEETING AGENDA 

Thursday, August 22, 2024 at 6:00 P.M. 
 

A. Call to Order and Roll Call 

 

B. Approval of Minutes 

 

1. Approval of the regular meeting of August 8, 2024. 

 

C. Public Hearing Business Matters 

1. Tsunami Express Car Wash, Special Use and Site Plan. Request to allow for a new car wash 

on a vacant lot at the intersection of Lovers Lane Road and Whitnall Edge Road, 6449 S Whitnall 

Edge Road (TKN 705 8997 003). 

2. Scheftner, Area Exception. Request to allow for a garage size of 784 square feet, exceeding 

the maximum size for accessory structures of 720 square feet set forth in UDO Section 15-

30801C.1. 

3. Communities of Crocus, Special Use. An application for a Special Use for Communities of 

Crocus to allow for development of up to four four-unit multifamily residential buildings (16 

units total) with services for autistic adults, and related community buildings, on property 

located at 0 S. 31st St. (TKN: 761 9992 002). 

4. Communities of Crocus, Comprehensive Master Plan (CMP) Amendment and Rezoning. 

An application for a Comprehensive Master Plan Amendment from office to mixed use; and an 

application for rezoning from R-6 Suburban Single-Family Residence District and OL-1 Office 

Overlay District to B-4 South 27th Street Mixed Use Commercial District.  The site of the 

proposed CMP Amendment and Rezoning is approximately 24.5 acres (three vacant properties) 

located at 7521 S. 31st St. and the two lots immediately north of this property with address 0 

S. 35th St. and 0 S. 31st St., (TKN: 761 9994 005, 761 9997 003, and 786 9981 004). 

5. Field 99, Special Use. Request to operate a soccer training facility upon property located at 

11141 W. Forest Home Avenue ( Tax Key No. 704-9990-003). 

 

D. Citizen comment period. Citizens may comment upon the Business Matter items set forth on this 

Meeting Agenda. 

 

E. Business Matters  

1. Michelle Williams, Miscellaneous. Request for approval to allow for the installation of a fence 

within the 20-foot Private Planting Screen upon Lot 13 in Block 1 of the Tuckaway Green 

Subdivision, on property located at 7512 S 77th Street (792 0013 000). 

2. Dev Ghelani, Master Sign Program Amendment. Master Sign Program Amendment 

application by AK Developers (Dev Ghelani) to allow for signage totaling 242.25 square feet, 

specifically the installation of 6 wall signs consisting of Dairy Queen’s Grill & Chill signage 



 

 

and Taco Pro’s Corporate logo, one directional sign for Dairy Queen’s Drive Thru, as well as 

changes to the Shoppes at Wyndham Village Monument Signage, for property located at 7730 

South Lovers Lane Road, zoned CC City Civic Center District; Tax Key No. 794-9999-007. 

3. Department of City Development, midyear report: 2024.  

4. Options to update the city’s comprehensive plan.  

5. Introduction to Traditional Neighborhood Development (TND). 
 

F. Adjournment 

 
The YouTube channel “City of Franklin WI” will live stream the Plan Commission meeting so the public can watch and listen to it at 

https://www.youtube.com/c/CityofFranklinWIGov. Any questions on this agenda may be directed to the Department of City 

Development’s office at 414-425-4024, Monday through Friday, 8 AM – 4:30 PM. 

*Supporting documentation and details of these agenda items are available at City Hall during regular business hours. 
 

**Notice is given that a majority of the Common Council may attend this meeting to gather information about an agenda item over 

which they have decision-making responsibility. This may constitute a meeting of the Common Council per State ex rel. Badke v. 

Greendale Village Board, even though the Common Council will not take formal action at this meeting. 

 

[Note: Upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids and 

services. For additional information, contact the City Clerk’s office at 414- 425-7500.] 

 

REMINDERS: Next Regular Plan Commission Meeting: September 5, 2024. 

https://www.youtube.com/c/CityofFranklinWIGov


  

City of Franklin unapproved 

Plan Commission Meeting 

August 8, 2024 

Minutes 

SPECIAL WORKSHOP 

 

A. Call to Order and Roll Call 

Mayor John Nelson called the August 8, 2024 Special Workshop meeting to order at 5:48 p.m. in 

the Hearing Room at Franklin City Hall, 9229 West Loomis Road, Franklin, Wisconsin.  

 

Present were Mayor John Nelson (arrived at 5:48), Alderwoman Courtney Day and 

Commissioners Kevin Haley, Michael Shawgo and Rebecca Specht (arrived at 5:53). Excused was 

Commissioner Patrick Leon and City Engineer Glen Morrow. Also, present were City Attorney 

Jesse Wesolowski, Planning Manager Régulo Martínez-Montilva, Principal Planner Marion Ecks, 

Director of Administration Kelly Hersh (arrived at 5:57), Assistant Police Chief Eric Stowers, 

Jackie Berg and Ruben Shell of Houseal Lavigne Associates, and JB Hinds of Birchline Planning.  

 

B.  Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Rewrite Task Force: draft Noise Ordinance, 

Performance Standards (Section 15-5-13 in Article 5) and Natural Resource Protection (Article 

7). Session prepared by planning staff and project consultants Houseal Lavigne Associates and 

Birchline Planning, LLC.  

 

Jacki Berg of Houseal Lavigne Associates and JB Hinds of Birchline Planning presented this 

session.  

 

    Adjournment 

Motion to adjourn the Special Workshop meeting at 6:55 p.m.  

 

REGULAR MEETING 

 

      A.  Call to Order and Roll Call 

Mayor John Nelson called the August 8, 2024 Plan Commission meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. in 

the Council Chambers at Franklin City Hall, 9229 West Loomis Road, Franklin, Wisconsin.  

 

Present were Mayor John Nelson, Alderwoman Courtney Day and Commissioners Kevin Haley, 

Michael Shawgo, Patrick Leon and Rebecca Specht. Excused was City Engineer Glen Morrow. 

Also, present were City Attorney Jesse Wesolowski, Planning Manager Régulo Martínez-

Montilva, Principal Planner Marion Ecks, Planning Associate Nick Fuchs, Director of 

Administration Kelly Hersh and Director of Economic Development John Regetz. 

 

B. Approval of Minutes – Regular Meeting of July 18, 2024 

Alderwoman Day moved and Commissioner Haley seconded a motion to approve the July 18, 2024 

meeting minutes. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (5-0-1). 

 

C. Public Hearing Business Matters 

1. Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) Floodplain Insurance Rate Maps 

(FIRM) and City of Franklin Floodplain Ordinance. Proposal to update the City of Franklin 



  

Floodplain Ordinance text and map. Citywide. 

 

Principal Planner Ecks presented the proposal to update the City of Franklin Floodplain 

Ordinance text and map. The Official Notice of Public Hearing was read in to the record by 

Principal Planner Ecks and the Public Hearing opened at 7:15 pm and closed at 7:17 pm. 

 

Commissioner Leon moved and Commissioner Haley seconded a motion to recommend 

approval of an ordinance to repeal and replace the Unified Development Ordinance UDO 

City of Franklin, Wisconsin Floodplain Zoning Ordinance [Adopted 9-11-2008]. On voice 

vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (5-0-1). 

2. Field 99, Special Use. Request to operate a soccer training facility upon property located at 

11141 W. Forest Home Avenue ( Tax Key No. 704-9990-003). 

Associate Planner Fuchs presented the special use proposal for Field 99. The Official Notice 

of Public Hearing was read in to the record by Planning Manager Martinez-Montilva and the 

Public Hearing opened at 7:22 pm. 

Commissioner Leon moved and Commissioner Haley seconded a motion to postpone and 

continue the public hearing to the August 22, 2024 Plan Commission Meeting. On voice vote, 

all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (5-0-1). 

3. College Avenue Associates LLC, Natural Resource Special Exception (NRSE), Certified 

Survey Map, and Site Plan. Request for proposed impacts and disturbance of approximately 

2,244 square feet of wetland buffer and 2,161 square feet of wetland setback, a Certified Survey 

Map creating two parcels with the reconfiguration of three existing properties, and a Site Plan 

for the construction of an access drive and modifications to landscaping, lighting, parking, and 

building elevations upon properties located at 2821 W. College Avenue, 6311 S. 27th Street 

and 6341 S. 27th Street (Tax Key Nos. 714-9968-003, 714-9972-003, and 714-9973-000). 

Associate Planner Fuchs presented the Natural Resource Special Exception (NRSE), Certified 

Survey Map, and Site Plan for College Avenue Associates LLC. 

The Official Notice of Public Hearing was read in to the record by Planning Manager Martinez-

Montilva and the Public Hearing opened at 7:38 pm and closed at 7:38 pm. The applicant, 

Justin Johnson, presented the Natural Resource Special Exception (NRSE), Certified Survey 

Map, and Site Plan. 

 

NRSE 

Commissioner Leon moved and Commissioner Haley seconded a motion to recommend 

approval of the natural resource features special exception request to allow disturbance of 

approximately 2,244 square feet of wetland buffer and 2,161 square feet of wetland setback, 

subject to conditions within the draft standards, findings, and decision form, and to allow 

disturbance and exclusion of the young woodland area east of the proposed drive from the 

requirement of a conservation easement. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (5-0-

1). 

 

CSM 

Commissioner Leon moved and Commissioner Specht seconded a motion to recommend 



  

approval of a 2-lot certified survey map for properties located at 2821 College Avenue, 6311 

S. 27th Street, and 6341 S. 27th Street, subject to the conditions within the draft resolution. On 

voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (5-0-1). 

 

Site Plan 

Commissioner Leon moved and Commissioner Specht seconded a motion to approve a site 

plan to allow for the construction of an access drive and modifications to landscaping, lighting, 

parking, and building elevations. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (5-0-1). 

4. SAIA Motor Freight Line, LLC, Major Planned Development District (PDD) 

Amendment, Special Use, and Site Plan Amendment. Request to amend Section 15-3.0444 

of the Unified Development Ordinance Planned Development District No. 39 (Mixed Use 

Business Park) to allow truck terminals and freight transfer facilities as a Special Use and to 

revise Design Standards, a request for a Special Use to allow a truck terminal and freight 

transfer facility with outdoor storage and parking of vehicles, equipment, and trailers and a 

Site Plan Amendment for exterior building and site modifications upon property located at 

10613 South 27th Street (Tax Key No. 951-9996-019).  

Associate Planner Fuchs presented the Major Planned Development District (PDD) 

Amendment, Special Use, and Site Plan Amendment.  

The Official Notice of Public Hearing was read in to the record by Planning Manager Martinez-

Montilva and the Public Hearing opened at 8:24 pm and closed at 8:24 pm. 

 

Major PDD Amendment 

Commissioner Haley moved and Alderwoman Day seconded a motion to determine the 

proposed Planned Development District Amendment to be a major amendment. On voice vote, 

all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (5-0-1). 

 

Special Use 

Alderwoman Day moved and Commissioner Haley seconded a motion to recommend adoption 

of an ordinance amending Section 15-3.0444 of the Unified Development Ordinance Planned 

Development District No. 39 (Mixed Use Business Park) to allow truck terminals and freight 

transfer facilities as a special use and to revise design standards. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; 

motion carried (5-0-1). 

 

Commissioner Leon moved and Commissioner Haley seconded a motion to recommend 

approval of a resolution imposing conditions and restrictions for the approval of a special use 

for a truck terminal and freight transfer facility business use with outdoor storage and parking 

of vehicles, trailers, and equipment upon property located at 10613 South 27th Street. On voice 

vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (5-0-1). 

 

Site Plan 

Commissioner Leon moved and Commissioner Haley seconded a motion to adopt a resolution 

approving a site plan to allow for exterior site and building modifications consisting of paving 

drives and parking lot areas and installing new landscaping upon property located at 10613 

South 27th Street, and to remove condition no. 4 from the site plan resolution. On voice vote, 

all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (5-0-1). 



  

The Plan Commission entered into recess at 8:42 pm and returned to the regular meeting at 

8:48 pm. 
 

D. Citizen comment period. Citizens may comment upon the Business Matter items set forth on this 

Meeting Agenda. 

 

The citizen comment period opened at 8:40 p.m. and closed at 8:42 p.m. One citizen present. 

 

E. Business Matters 

1.  Little Cancun LLC, Site Plan Amendment. Request for approval of an outdoor patio, fence, 

and associated site modifications upon property located at 7273 South 27th Street (Tax Key 

No. 761-9990-002). 

Associate Planner Fuchs presented the Site Plan Amendment. 

Commissioner Leon moved and Commissioner Haley seconded a motion to adopt a resolution 

conditionally approving a site plan amendment for the construction of an outdoor patio for 

property located at 7273 South 27th Street. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (5-0-

1). 

2. Ridgewood Reserve, Preliminary Plat. Request for the creation of nine single-family 

residential lots and one outlot upon four existing parcels generally located to the north of West 

Drexel Avenue, east of South Ridgewood Drive, and west of South 76th Street (Tax Key Nos. 

792-9003-000, 792-9005-000, 792-9994-000, and 792-9996-003). 

Associate Planner Fuchs presented the Preliminary Plat.  

Commissioner Leon moved and Commissioner Haley seconded a motion to recommend 

approval of a resolution conditionally approving a preliminary plat for Ridgewood Reserve 

Subdivision. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (5-0-1). 

3.  Federation of Croatian Societies, Inc., Site Plan Amendment. Request for the installation 

of a turf field, exterior lighting, fencing, parking, retaining wall, sun shades, and associated 

grading and storm water management modifications upon properties located at 9100-9140 and 

9220 South 76th Street (Tax Key Nos. 884-9995-000 and 884-9996-000). 

Associate Planner Fuchs presented the Site Plan Amendment.  

Commissioner Leon moved and Commissioner Specht seconded a motion to adopt a resolution 

amending the site plan for properties located at 9100-9140 South 76th Street to allow for 

installation of a turf field, exterior lighting, fencing, parking, retaining wall, sun shades, and 

associated grading and storm water management, and to eliminate improvements located on 

the southernmost parcel and to remove conditions of approval 6, 8 and 9, and subject to 

technical corrections by staff.  On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (5-0-1). 

 

 F.    Adjournment 

Commissioner Leon moved and Commissioner Haley seconded to adjourn the meeting at 9:20 

pm. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (5-0-1). 



 
 

1 

 CITY OF FRANKLIN  

REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 
 

Meeting of August 22, 2024 
 

SPECIAL USE & SITE PLAN 
 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  City Development staff recommends approval of the subject Special Use and 
Site Plan applications subject to the conditions set forth in the attached resolutions. 

Project name: Tsunami Express Car Wash 
Property Owner: Hartland Meadows, LLC 
Applicant: Christopher B. Schuldt. Tsunami Express Car Wash 
Agent: Craig Wojtczak. The Redmond Company 
Property Address/TKN: 6449 S Whitnall Edge Road / 705 8997 003 
Aldermanic District: District 6 
Zoning District: B-3 Community Business District 
Staff Planner: Régulo Martínez-Montilva, AICP, CNUa, Planning Manager 
Submittal date: 04-08-2024 
Application number: PPZ24-0048/61 

 
INTRODUCTION 
The applicant is proposing a new car wash on a vacant lot at the intersection of Lovers Lane Road and 
Whitnall Edge Road.  
 
Special Use: Carwash businesses under Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) title No. 7542 require a 
special use permit in the B-3 zoning district per Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Table 15-
3.0603. 
 
Site Plan: The proposed facility is a single-story 5,200-sf principal building for the carwash bay, 
mechanical room, storage, office and restroom. Accessory buildings include a 100-sf employee sales 
booth, 100-sf vacuum pump house and dumpster enclosure. 
 
Please note: 

• Staff recommendations are underlined and in italics, and included in the attached resolution as 
conditions of approval.  

• Staff suggestions are only underlined, and not included in the attached resolution. 
 
  

Item C.1. 



 
 

2 

UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE REQUIREMENTS 
Special Use and Site Plan Applications are subject to the following provisions of the Unified 
Development Ordinance (UDO): 

• §15-3.0701 General Standards for Special Uses. 
• §15-7.0102 Principles and Standards of Review, Site Plans. 

 
UDO §15-3.0702 Detailed Standards for Special Uses in Residential Districts is not applicable to 
carwashes. 
 
General standards for Special Uses (§15-3.0701) 
 
Summary of 
Standard 

Staff’s Finding 

1. Harmony with UDO 
and Comprehensive 
Plan purposes and 
intent.  

The proposed carwash is consistent with the comprehensive plan as this 
site is designated as commercial in the future land use map of the City of 
Franklin 2025 Comprehensive Master Plan. 
 

2. No Undue Adverse 
Impact. 

City Development staff does not anticipate any “undue adverse impact” 
to adjacent properties as the proposed design meets required building 
setbacks, maximum building height, required landscaping, off-street 
parking and exterior lighting requirements of the Unified Development 
Ordinance, with the exception of noise as discussed below. 
 
Noise 
 
The applicant submitted a noise prediction and assessment report for the 
proposed carwash, see attached report dated June 21, 2024. According to 
this report “[t]he carwash is oriented so that the loudest part of the 
building (the exit) is pointed away from residences and sound levels due 
to the car wash will not exceed 50 dBA”; however, “the [ordinance] limit 
is predicted to exceed only at the parking lot south property line”. The 
report recommends the installation of an 8-foot sound barrier along the 
south border to mitigate this predicted exceedance. 
 
The applicant is requesting “to delay the installation of the wall until after 
construction. If the city and/or neighbors deem the noise to be an issue, 
the wall would be installed at that time”.  
 
Since the affected area is a parking lot, not residences or buildings, staff 
has no objections to the applicant’s request and recommends the 
following condition: 
The applicant, property owner, successors or assigns must install a sound 
barrier along the south property line to the specifications described in 
the Noise Assessment report prepared by Soundscape Engineering, dated 
June 21, 2024, only in the event that city staff finds a violation of the 
maximum sound level of 65 dBA set forth in the Unified Development 
Ordinance. 
 



 
 

3 

Summary of 
Standard 

Staff’s Finding 

Staff also recommends the design elements described in the noise 
assessment report: 
The applicant must adhere to the design elements recommended in the 
Noise Assessment report prepared by Soundscape Engineering: (a) The 
central vacuum must be located in a masonry building with sealed steel 
doors. If a vacuum pump exhaust muffler was used at the Waukesha 
location then the vacuum pump at this location should also be fit with a 
muffler, (b) The blowers must turn off when the exit doors open.  
  

3. No Interference 
with Surrounding 
Development. 

This site is zoned B-3 Community Business District and it’s directly 
abutting the Garden Plaza shopping center which is also zoned B-3. The 
zoning across Whitnall Edge is B-2 and M-1 across Lovers Lane Road, 
both adjacent properties are used for auto dealerships. The subject site is 
not directly abutting residential zoning. In staff’s opining, the proposed 
carwash is compatible with the use and development of surrounding 
properties. 
 

4. Adequate Public 
Facilities. 

The proposed development will be served by public water supply and 
sanitary sewer service as depicted on the site utility plan (sheet C-8). City 
Development staff recommends that the applicant must obtain approval 
from the Engineering Department for grading, stormwater management, 
utilities and erosion control, prior to any land disturbance activity. 
 
Refuse disposal: The site plan depicts a trash dumpster with a trash 
enclosure that meets the requirements of UDO §15-3.0803I Trash 
Dumpsters and Garbage Receptacles. 
 
Fire protection: Staff recommends the following condition based on 
comments from the Fire Department: 
The applicant must adhere to recommendations of the City of Franklin 
Fire Department: (a) Follow all relevant WI DSPS and IBC code 
requirements for fire protection systems for given occupancy, use, and 
construction types, (b) Fire Extinguisher placement as per NFPA 10, (c) 
Fire Department Connection (FDC), and hydrant placement and density 
must be acceptable to AHJ (applies to new construction), (d) At no time 
may any Hazardous, Combustible, or Flammable Materials exceed 
allowable quantities, (e) Master Key set required for placement in Knox 
Box (if required). 
 

5. No Traffic 
Congestion. 

The proposed development would have access to Whitnall Edge Road by 
an existing curb cut. The applicant is proposing to remove a second 
existing curb cut. 
 
City Development staff didn’t request a Traffic Impact Analysis for this 
development. 
 



 
 

4 

Summary of 
Standard 

Staff’s Finding 

6. No Destruction of 
Significant 
Features. 

There are no protected natural resources on site per letter submitted by 
the applicant, with the exception of steep slopes along Lovers Lane Road, 
the applicant is not proposing to impact said area. 
 

7. Compliance with 
Standards. 

The proposed development complies with the standards of the B-3 
Community Business District, as well as off-street parking, queuing, 
landscaping, exterior lighting, architectural standards and snow storage 
requirements. 
 
City Development staff sent a memorandum with review comments on 
May 1, the applicant has addressed most of these comments as noted in 
responses to staff comments dated July 1, 2024. 
 

 
Principles and standards of review of Site Plans (§15-7.0102) 
 
Summary of 
Standard 

Staff’s Finding 

A. Conformity of Use 
to Zoning District. 

Carwash businesses under Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) title 
No. 7542 require a special use permit in the B-3 zoning district per 
Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Table 15-3.0603. 
 
City Development staff has no objections to the proposed use provided 
the applicant will comply with recommended conditions of approval set 
forth in the attached resolution. 
 

B. Dimensional 
Requirements. 

The proposed principal building and accessory structures comply with the 
required setbacks and maximum building height for the B-3 zoning 
district set forth in UDO Table 15-3.0303. 
 
Per staff comment #4, the applicant adjusted the building location to 
comply with the 40-foot setback required from an arterial roadway 
(Lovers Lane Road). 
 

C. Site Intensity and 
Site Capacity 
Calculations to be 
Reviewed. 

The applicant submitted Site Intensity and Capacity Calculations, the 
maximum permitted floor area for this site is 16,117 square feet while the 
applicant is proposing a total floor area of 5,400 square feet, including the 
principal building (5,200 sf), pump house (100 sf) and sales booth (100 
sf).  
 

D. Use and Design 
Provisions. 

The proposed development complies with off street parking requirements 
(UDO Division 15-5.0200), required landscaping (15-5.0300), exterior 
lighting (15-5.0400) and architectural standards (15-7.0802). 
 
The applicant has addressed City Development department comments as 
noted in responses to staff comments dated July 1, 2024. 
 



 
 

5 

Summary of 
Standard 

Staff’s Finding 

E. Relation to Existing 
and Proposed 
Streets and 
Highways. 

The proposed development would have access to Whitnall Edge Road by 
an existing curb cut. There no existing public sidewalks along the site 
perimeter. 
 

F. Impacts on 
Surrounding Uses. 

City Development staff does not anticipate major adverse impacts to 
surrounding uses because the proposal meets landscape requirements and 
the illumination levels at site boundaries. 
 
With regards to predicted sound levels, see Special Use Standard #2 
Adverse Impacts. 
 

G. Natural Resource 
Features Protection. 

The applicant is not proposing to impact protected natural resources as 
defined in the UDO. 

H. Required 
Landscaping and 
Landscape 
Bufferyards. 

Landscape bufferyard easements are not required for this development 
zoned B-2 as the abutting properties are zoned B-2 and B-3. 
 
City Development staff reviewed the proposed landscape plans and 
provided comments to the applicant in memorandum dated May 1. The 
applicant has addressed all comments regarding the landscape plans in 
memorandum dated July 1, 2024. 
 

I. Provision of 
Emergency Vehicle 
Accessibility. 

The proposed drives meet the minimum width of 24 feet, and the parking 
lot meets the minimum width of 65 feet for double row parking (UDO 
§15-5.0204). The proposal meets the requirements for ADA parking, one 
space with the appropriate dimensions and sign. 
 

J. Building Location. The location of proposed structures meets required building setbacks. 
 
There is a 20-foot utility easement on site, therefore, staff recommends 
that the applicant is responsible for obtaining authorization from the 
easement holder, Wisconsin Electric Power Company, for work within the 
20-foot utility easement along South Whitnall Edge Road.  
 

K. Location and 
Design of On-Site 
Waste Disposal and 
Loading Facilities. 

The proposed trash dumpster is enclosed by a masonry wall and has a 
concrete pad as required by the UDO. 

L. Consistency with 
Intent of UDO. 

The proposed development is consistent with the intent of the B-3 zoning 
district (UDO Section 15-3.0303A), specifically: 

• “Provide on-site parking for customer automobiles combined with 
a pedestrian-oriented shopping environment”. However, staff 
acknowledges that this location is not pedestrian oriented as there 
are no sidewalks along the street frontage. 

• “Provide for relatively large groupings of retail sales and customer 
service establishments in a community-serving shopping area”.  

 



 
 

6 

Summary of 
Standard 

Staff’s Finding 

M. Consistency with 
Intent of 
Comprehensive 
Plan. 

The proposed development is consistent with the comprehensive plan as 
this site is designated as commercial. 

N. Determination of 
“Suitability” of Site. 

Pursuant to UDO Section 15-7.0103G, City Development staff requested 
the applicant to submit a geotechnical report in memorandum dated May 
1, 2024. The applicant submitted a Geotechnical Engineering Exploration 
and Analysis report, which is attached to this packet. 
 
City Development staff has no objections to this request because this 
proposal is not impacting natural resources and complies with the B-3 
district standards (UDO Sec. 15-3.0303) as well as design standards 
(UDO Part 5). 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
City Development staff recommends approval of the subject Special Use and Site Plan applications subject 
to the conditions set forth in the attached resolutions. 
 



STATE OF WISCONSIN             CITY OF FRANKLIN               MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
[draft 7-22-24] 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-_____ 
 

A RESOLUTION IMPOSING CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS 
 FOR THE APPROVAL OF A SPECIAL USE FOR TSUNAMI EXPRESS CAR WASH, A 

CARWASH FACILITY LOCATED AT 6449 S WHITNALL EDGE ROAD 
(TSUNAMI EXPRESS CAR WASH, APPLICANT) 

              
 
 WHEREAS, Christopher B. Schuldt, CEO of Tsunami Express Car Wash having 
petitioned the City of Franklin for the approval of a Special Use to allow for carwash facility 
in the B-3 Community Business District, upon property located at 6449 S. Whitnall Edge Road  
more particularly described as follows:  
 

PARCEL 1 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 5375 RECORDED IN THE OFFICE 
OF THE REGISTER OF DEEDS FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, WISCONSIN, ON 
FEBRUARY 15, 1990 IN REEL 2420, IMAGE 890, AS DOCUMENT NO. 6354945, 
AND BEING CORRECTED BY AFFIDAVIT OF CORRECTION RECORDED 
JULY 11, 1990 IN REEL 2468 IMAGE 655 AS DOCUMENT NO. 6396945, BEING 
A RE-DIVISION OF PARCEL 1 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 3247, 
OUTLOT 2 OF WHITNALL EDGE SUBDIVISION, AND UNPLATTED LANDS 
IN THE NORTHWEST 1/4 AND THE SOUTHWEST 1/4 OF THE NORTHWEST 
1/4 OF SECTION 5, TOWNSHIP 5 NORTH, RANGE 21 EAST, IN THE CITY OF 
FRANKLIN, COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE, STATE OF WISCONSIN. 

 
 WHEREAS, such petition having been duly referred to the Plan Commission of the 
City of Franklin for a public hearing, pursuant to the requirements of §15-9.0103D. of the 
Unified Development Ordinance, and a public hearing having been held before the Plan 
Commission on the ___ day of ______________, 2024, and the Plan Commission thereafter 
having determined to recommend that the proposed Special Use be approved, subject to certain 
conditions, and the Plan Commission further finding that the proposed Special Use upon such 
conditions, pursuant to §15-3.0701 of the Unified Development Ordinance, will be in harmony 
with the purposes of the Unified Development Ordinance and the Comprehensive Master Plan; 
that it will not have an undue adverse impact upon adjoining property; that it will not interfere 
with the development of neighboring property; that it will be served adequately by essential 
public facilities and services; that it will not cause undue traffic congestion; and that it will not 
result in damage to property of significant importance to nature, history or the like; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Common Council having found that the proposed Special Use, subject 
to conditions, meets the standards set forth under §15-3.0701 of the Unified Development 
Ordinance. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Common Council of the 
City of Franklin, Wisconsin, that the petition of Tsunami Express Car Wash for the approval 



TSUNAMI EXPRESS CAR WASH – SPECIAL USE 
RESOLUTION NO. 2024-_____ 
Page 2 
 
of a Special Use for the property particularly described in the preamble to this Resolution, be 
and the same is hereby approved, subject to the following conditions and restrictions: 
 

1. That this Special Use is approved only for the use of the subject property by Tsunami 
Express Car Wash, successors and assigns, as a carwash facility, in the B-3 Community 
Business District, which shall be constructed, operated and maintained by Tsunami 
Express Car Wash, pursuant to those plans date-stamped June 21, 2024 and annexed 
hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit A. 

2. Tsunami Express Car Wash, successors and assigns, shall pay to the City of Franklin 
the amount of all development compliance, inspection and review fees incurred by the 
City of Franklin, including fees of consults to the City of Franklin, for the Lake Grove 
Place multi-family residential development, within 30 days of invoice for same.  Any 
violation of this provision shall be a violation of the Unified Development Ordinance, 
and subject to §15-9.0502 thereof and §1-19 of the Municipal Code, the general 
penalties and remedies provisions, as amended from time to time. 

3. The approval granted hereunder is conditional upon Tsunami Express Car Wash, and 
the carwash use, for the property located at 6449 S Whitnall Edge Road: (i) being in 
compliance with all applicable governmental laws, statutes, rules, codes, orders and 
ordinances; and (ii) obtaining all other governmental approvals, permits, licenses and 
the like, required for and applicable to the project to be developed and as presented for 
this approval. 

4. The applicant, property owner, successors or assigns must install a sound barrier along 
the south property line to the specifications described in the Noise Assessment report 
prepared by Soundscape Engineering, dated June 21, 2024, only in the event that city 
staff finds a violation of the maximum sound level of 65 dBA set forth in the Unified 
Development Ordinance. 

5. The applicant must adhere to the design elements recommended in the Noise 
Assessment report prepared by Soundscape Engineering: (a) The central vacuum must 
be located in a masonry building with sealed steel doors. If a vacuum pump exhaust 
muffler was used at the Waukesha location then the vacuum pump at this location 
should also be fit with a muffler, (b) The blowers must turn off when the exit doors 
open. 

6. The applicant must obtain approval from the Engineering Department for grading, 
stormwater management, utilities and erosion control, prior to any land disturbance 
activity. 

7. The applicant must adhere to the recommendations of the City of Franklin Fire 
Department: (a) Follow all relevant WI DSPS and IBC code requirements for fire 
protection systems for given occupancy, use, and construction types, (b) Fire 
Extinguisher placement as per NFPA 10, (c) Fire Department Connection (FDC), and 



TSUNAMI EXPRESS CAR WASH – SPECIAL USE 
RESOLUTION NO. 2024-_____ 
Page 3 
 

hydrant placement and density must be acceptable to AHJ (applies to new 
construction), (d) At no time may any Hazardous, Combustible, or Flammable 
Materials exceed allowable quantities, (e) Master Key set required for placement in 
Knox Box (if required). 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that in the event Tsunami Express Car Wash, 
successors or assigns, or any owner of the subject property, does not comply with one or any 
of the conditions and restrictions of this Special Use Resolution, following a ten (10) day notice 
to cure, and failure to comply within such time period, the Common Council, upon notice and 
hearing, may revoke the Special Use permission granted under this Resolution. 

 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that any violation of any term, condition or restriction 
of this Resolution is hereby deemed to be, and therefore shall be, a violation of the Unified 
Development Ordinance, and pursuant to §15-9.0502 thereof and §1-19. of the Municipal 
Code, the penalty for such violation shall be forfeiture of no more than $2,500.00, or such 
other maximum amount and together with such other costs and terms as may be specified 
therein from time to time. Each day that such violation continues shall be a separate violation. 
Failure of the City to enforce any such violation shall not be a waiver of that or any other 
violation. 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be construed to be such 
Special Use Permit as is contemplated by §15-9.0103 of the Unified Development Ordinance. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, Pursuant to §15-9.0103G. of the Unified Development 
Ordinance, the Special Use permission granted under this Resolution shall be null and void 
upon the expiration of one year from the date of adoption of this Resolution, unless the Special 
Use has been established by way of the issuance of building permits. 
 

BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, that the City Clerk be and is hereby directed to obtain 
the recording of a certified copy of this Resolution in the Office of the Register of Deeds for 
Milwaukee County, Wisconsin. 
  
 Introduced at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Franklin this 
_______ day of ____________________, 2024. 
 
 Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Franklin 
this ________ day of ____________________, 2024. 
 
       APPROVED: 
 
       _________________________________  
       John R. Nelson, Mayor 
 
 



TSUNAMI EXPRESS CAR WASH – SPECIAL USE 
RESOLUTION NO. 2024-_____ 
Page 4 
 
ATTEST: 
 
___________________________________       
Shirley J. Roberts, City Clerk 
 
AYES ______ NOES ______ ABSENT ______ 



Exhibit A 

 



STATE OF WISCONSIN             CITY OF FRANKLIN               MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
                                                       PLAN COMMISSION 

Draft [7-22-24] 
RESOLUTION NO. 2024-__ 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN FOR TSUNAMI EXPRESS CAR WASH,  
A CARWASH FACILITY 

 (6449 S WHITNALL EDGE ROAD) 
(TSUNAMI EXPRESS CAR WASH, APPLICANT) 

              
 
 WHEREAS, Christopher B. Schuldt, CEO of Tsunami Express Car Wash having 
applied for a site plan approval for a carwash facility, consisting of a single-story 5,200-sf 
principal building for the carwash bay, mechanical room, storage, office and restroom, as well 
as accessory buildings: 100-sf employee sales booth, 100-sf vacuum pump house and dumpster 
enclosure, at 6449 S Whitnall Edge Road; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Plan Commission having reviewed the proposed carwash Site Plan 
and having found same to be in compliance with and in furtherance of those express standards 
and purposes of a site plan review pursuant to Division 15-7.0100 of the Unified Development 
Ordinance. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Plan Commission of the City of 
Franklin, Wisconsin, that the Tsunami Express Car Wash Site Plan as depicted upon and being 
the plans dated June 21, 2024, attached hereto and incorporated herein, be and the same is 
hereby approved, subject to the following conditions and restrictions: 

 
1. The property subject to the Site Plan shall be developed in substantial compliance with 

and operated and maintained pursuant to the Site Plan for Tsunami Express Car Wash, 
plans dated June 21, 2024. 

 
2. Tsunami Express Car Wash, successors and assigns, and any developer of the carwash 

project, shall pay to the City of Franklin the amount of all development compliance, 
inspection and review fees incurred by the City of Franklin, including fees of consults 
to the City of Franklin, for the Tsunami Express Car Wash project, within 30 days of 
invoice for same.  Any violation of this provision shall be a violation of the Unified 
Development Ordinance, and subject to 15-9.0502 thereof and §1-19 of the Municipal 
Code, the general penalties and remedies provisions, as amended from time to time. 

3. The approval granted hereunder is conditional upon the Tsunami Express Car Wash 
project (i) being in compliance with all applicable governmental laws, statutes, rules, 
codes, orders and ordinances; and (ii) obtaining all other governmental approvals, 
permits, licenses and the like, required for and applicable to the project to be developed 
and as presented for this approval. 



TSUNAMI EXPRESS CAR WASH - SITE PLAN 
RESOLUTION NO. 2024-__ 
Page 2 
 

4. That the Tsunami Express Car Wash project shall be developed and constructed 
pursuant to such Site Plan within one year from the date of adoption of this Resolution, 
or this Resolution and all rights and approvals granted hereunder shall be null and void, 
without any further action by the City of Franklin. 

5. This Site Plan is conditioned upon the approval of a Special Use permit for carwash 
use. This Resolution shall be null and void if such Special Use permit is not approved. 

6. The applicant is responsible for obtaining authorization from the easement holder, 
Wisconsin Electric Power Company, for work within the 20-foot utility easement along 
South Whitnall Edge Road. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Tsunami Express Car Wash building permit 
shall be issued for such Site Plan within one year from the date of adoption of this Resolution, 
or this Resolution and all rights and approvals granted hereunder shall be null and void, without 
any further action by the City of Franklin. 
 

Introduced at a regular meeting of the Plan Commission of the City of Franklin this 
__th day of      . 
 
 Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Plan Commission of the City of Franklin 
this __th  day of      . 
 
       APPROVED: 
 
 
       _________________________________  
       John R. Nelson, Chairman 
 
ATTEST: 
 
___________________________________       
Shirley J. Roberts, City Clerk 
 
 
AYES    -    NOES    -    ABSENT    -    
 
 
 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

6449 S. Whitnall Edge Road
TKN: 705 8997 003

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

B-3 

B-2 

M-1 
LOVERS LANE

RD

WHITNALL EDGE

RD

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 125 25062.5 Feet

Property

 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

6449 S. Whitnall Edge Road
TKN: 705 8997 003

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

LOVERS LANE
RD

WHITNALL EDGE

RD

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 125 25062.5 Feet

Property

 





 
 

14 March 2024 
 
Planning Department – City of Franklin 
6229 West Loomis Road 
Franklin, WI 53132 
 
RE: Tsunami Express Carwash – 6514 Lovers Lane 
 
 
To Whom It May Concern, 
 
Tsunami Express Carwash (“Tsunami”) is proudly presenting the proposed development plans for a 
state-of-the-art facility that will serve Franklin (the “City”) and the surrounding communities. 
 
Introduction 

The proposed development is located at the southeast corner of Lovers Lane and Whitnall Edge 
Road, and the parcel number is 705-8997-003. The property is a 1.39 acre vacant lot currently 
zoned as B-3 “Community Business District.” The B-3 zoning district allows a car wash as a 
special use. The proposed facility is a single-story 5,200 SF building including the car wash bay, 
mechanical room, storage, office, and restroom. Accessory buildings include a 100 SF 
employee sales booth, 100 SF vacuum pump house, and dumpster enclosure. 

 
Business Operations 

Tsunami Express Carwash (“Tsunami”) is a high-quality express car wash that uses state-of-
the-art equipment and provides customers with a wide variety of services. For washes, Tsunami 
offers several levels of memberships, or customers can pay for a single wash at every visit. The 
wash cycles are offered at varying price points to suit the needs of each customer.  
 
The site will house 11 vacuums to serve 22 parking stalls. These stalls will be 13’-0” wide and 
18’-0” deep. This is wider than the average parking stall to allow for more maneuverability 
around the vehicle. The vacuums will be available to customers for free regardless of whether 
they go through the wash. 
 
In addition to regular business operations, Tsunami also fosters community connections and is 
an advocate for supporting local organizations. They offer an opportunity to host fundraisers, 
giving a modern spin on the famous “community car wash” that was once a popular method of 
raising funds for various community organizations. Supporters of the organizations will receive a 
high-quality car wash, and the organization receives 50% of the proceeds from every wash 
donated back to them. 
 
Regular business hours extend from 7:00 am to 8:00 pm daily. There will be attendants on duty 
for the full duration of the operating hours to assist customers and maintain the cleanliness of 
the site. Each shift will employ 2-3 employees with a total staff of approximately 8-10 
employees. During these hours, Tsunami expects to service 200-400 customers per day. 
 
Tsunami currently has four (4) facilities in the Milwaukee area including: Oak Creek, Greenfield, 
Waukesha, and one under construction on Fond du Lac Avenue in Milwaukee. 



 
 

 
Entitlement Strategy & Timeline 

Tsunami will comply with the local approval process by submitting a Special Use application for 
Plan Commission recommendation and Common Council approval. They anticipate receiving 
municipal approvals in spring of 2024 with single-phase construction beginning mid-summer. 
The facility is anticipated to be open and operational in early spring of 2025. 
 

Site Plan 
The site is arranged such that the main car wash building is located on the west end of the site 
and oriented parallel to Lovers Lane Road. While a car wash requires a special use permit for 
this site, it coordinates with the surrounding businesses. With Boucher Volkswagen to the 
north, Hiller Ford to the east, Kwik Trip and Tires Plus to the southwest, and Ewald CDRJ and 
Holz Auto Body Shop just down the road, residents of Franklin and the surrounding 
communities already associate this area with automobile service and sales. 
 

- Layout: The plan shows (24) parking stalls with (2) being dedicated ADA spaces. The 
entrance to the wash includes (3) pay stations that allow space for the stacking of up to 
(30) vehicles.  

- Vacuum Design & Placement: The vacuums are aligned along both sides of the parking 
lot with one vacuum post serving two parking stalls. Each vacuum has (2) hoses that are 
attached to a central vacuum system that routes to either the main building or the 
detached pump house at the southeast corner of the site. Each vacuum station is also 
equipped with a trash bin, a mat clip for easy vacuuming, and a central blower system 
to help clean those hard-to-reach places. 

- Landscaping/Screening: There is ample landscaping throughout the site that has been 
designed by a professional landscape architect. The dumpster is screened by an 
enclosure constructed of materials that match the main building, and the pump house 
is a fully-enclosed secondary building also constructed of similar materials. 

- Access: The main entrance to the site is located off South Whitnall Edge Road to 
minimally impact the heavy traffic on South Lovers Lane Road. Immediately after 
entering the site, vehicles can turn right to enter the queue for the washes, or proceed 
straight to access the free vacuums. 

- Signage: A full signage package complying with all code standards will be submitted for 
approval. There will be signage on the building as well as one monument sign on 
Whitnall Edge Road directly adjacent to the site entrance. 

- Lighting: The proposed lighting plan includes general pole lighting, wall packs, and 
canopy lighting that provide an average illumination of 2.0 footcandles. Additional 
information on each proposed lighting fixture has also been provided.  

 
Architecture 

The design of the building consists of beige split-faced concrete block, red masonry, clear 
anodized aluminum storefront windows, and a blue standing seam metal roof. The long façade 
is broken up with brick accent piers. The windows located on the side of the building facing 
Lovers Lane Road are translucent glass – allowing a view into the bright and colorfully lit inside 
of the wash tunnel; the windows located in the mechanical room will be spandrel glazing. 
 



 
 

The main structure of the building consists of structural CMU walls, precast hollow core planks 
for the roof of the wash tunnel, steel joists and metal deck for the roof of the 
mechanical/support rooms, and poured-in-place concrete foundation walls. A geotechnical 
survey was completed for the site and it was recommended that rammed aggregate piers be 
installed to stabilize the soil to make the site suitable for construction. 
 
The tunnel contains dual overhead doors at both the entrance and the exit. The interior door will 
be insulated metal with vision lites to provide thermal protection and security during non-
operational hours; the exterior overhead door will be vinyl roll-up doors that will correspond 
with Tsunami’s blue and yellow branding. These vinyl doors are intended to provide protection 
from the elements in the winter months when the metal doors are open.  

 
Conclusion 

Tsunami Express Carwash is excited for the opportunity to submit their state-of-the-art facility 
to the Plan Commission to be considered for this site. They will prove to be a valuable addition 
to the Franklin community. 
 

Documents 
Accompanying this narrative are all of the documents required for the site plan review as noted 
on the Special Use Permit Application. Also included are supplemental documents that provide 
additional information that may be of use to the Plan Commission while reviewing our 
submittal. These supplemental documents include: 
 

• Exhibit 1: Lighting Cut Sheets Specific information on all proposed lighting fixtures to 
supplement the site photometric plan. (Included in digital submittal only to conserve 
paper.) 

• Exhibit 2: Sound Study A sound study performed at the Tsunami Greenfield location on 
Layton Ave. showing the decibel levels at different points on that site for reference.  

• Exhibit 3: Reclaim System & Equipment Information regarding the reclaim system and 
equipment. 

 
Other documents are available upon request. These documents include a geotechnical survey 
and safety data sheets for all chemicals used for operations. 
 

Please do not hesitate to contact us with any additional questions.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
Craig Wojtczak 
Project Designer 
The Redmond Company 



 

03/14/2024 

 

 

General Standards for Special Uses 

 

General Standards. No special use permit shall be recommended or granted pursuant to this Ordinance unless 

the applicant shall establish the following: 

 

1. Ordinance and Comprehensive Master Plan Purposes and Intent. The proposed use and development will be 

in harmony with the general and specific purposes for which this Ordinance was enacted and for which the 

regulations of the zoning district in question were established and with the general purpose and intent of the 

City of Franklin Comprehensive Master Plan or element thereof. 

The proposed car wash is in harmony with this Ordinance as well as the Comprehensive Master Plan. 

 

2. No Undue Adverse Impact. The proposed use and development will not have a substantial or undue adverse 

or detrimental effect upon or endanger adjacent property, the character of the area, or the public health, 

safety, morals, comfort, and general welfare and not substantially diminish and impair property values within 

the community or neighborhood. 

The proposed car wash will have no adverse effects to the adjacent property or area. 

 

3. No Interference with Surrounding Development. The proposed use and development will be constructed, 

arranged, and operated so as not to dominate the immediate vicinity or to interfere with the use and 

development of neighboring property in accordance with the applicable zoning district regulations. 

The proposed car wash will be constructed with high quality materials and will not interfere with the development of 

neighboring properties. 

 

4. Adequate Public Facilities. The proposed use and development will be served adequately by essential 

public facilities and services such as streets, public utilities including public water supply system and 

sanitary sewer, police and fire protection, refuse disposal, public parks, libraries, schools, and other public 

facilities and utilities or the applicant will provide adequately for such facilities. 

The proposed car wash will be served adequately by required essential facilities as listed above. 

 

5. No Traffic Congestion. The proposed use and development will not cause undue traffic congestion nor draw 

significant amounts of traffic through residential streets. Adequate measures will be taken to provide ingress 

and egress so designed as to minimize traffic congestion in the public streets. 

The proposed car wash has taken adequate measures to create safe and efficient traffic flow through the site and 

ingress/egress to public streets. Three lanes of queueing are provided to ensure cars aren’t backed up into the public 

street. 



 

 

 

6. No Destruction of Significant Features. The proposed use and development will not result in the destruction, 

loss, or damage of any natural, scenic, or historic feature of significant importance. 

The proposed car wash will not damage any natural or historical features of the site. 

 

7. Compliance with Standards. The special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable 

regulations of the district in which it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified 

by the Common Council pursuant to the recommendations of the Plan Commission. The proposed use and 

development shall comply with all additional standards imposed on it by the particular provision of this 

Division and Ordinance authorizing such use. 

The proposed car wash conforms to all applicable regulations found in the B-3 zoning code. 

 

B. Special Standards for Specified Special Uses. When the zoning district regulations authorize a special use 

in a particular zoning district and that special use is indicated as having special standards, as set forth in § 15-

3.0702 and 15-3.0703 of this Division, a Special Use Permit for such use in such zoning district shall not be 

recommended or granted unless the applicant shall establish compliance with all such special standards. 

All applicable standards will be met. 

 

C. Considerations. In determining whether the applicant's evidence establishes that the foregoing standards 

have been met, the Plan Commission and the Common Council shall consider the following: 

 

1. Public Benefit. Whether and to what extent the proposed use and development at the particular location 

requested is necessary or desirable to provide a service or a facility that is in the interest of the public 

convenience or that will contribute to the general welfare of the neighborhood or community. 

The proposed car wash will provide a desirable and useful service for the neighborhood and community. 

 

2. Alternative Locations. Whether and to what extent such public goals can be met by the location of the 

proposed use and development at some other site or in some other area that may be more appropriate than 

the proposed site. 

The proposed car wash provides a full service car wash open to the public in a convenient and easily accessible 

location. 

 

3. Mitigation of Adverse Impacts. Whether and to what extent all steps possible have been taken to minimize 

any adverse effects of the proposed use and development on the immediate vicinity through building design, 

site design, landscaping, and screening. 

The proposed car wash building, site, landscaping, and screening have been designed to meet all applicable city 

standards. Site traffic and navigation has been carefully designed to ensure safe and efficient travel throughout the 

site as well as entering and exiting onto the public street. 

 



 

 

4. Establishment of Precedent of Incompatible Uses in the Surrounding Area. Whether the use will establish a 

precedent of, or encourage, more intensive or incompatible uses in the surrounding area. 

The building blends in and reflects its surrounding neighbors with the use of high-quality materials. 

 



 

Date: July 1st, 2024 

From: Craig Wojtczak. The Redmond Company. 

To: Department of City Development 

 Régulo Martínez-Montilva, AICP, CNUa, Principal Planner 

RE:  Staff comments for Special Use and Site Plan, Tsunami Car Wash 

 6299 S. Whitnall Edge Road 

 

 

Below are comments and recommendations for the above-referenced applications received on April 8, 2024.   

 

Note: In your responses to these comments, please add where the additional information and/or revision is provided. 

For example, Landscape Plan sheet L1, project narrative, etc. 

 

City Development Department comments 

1. Site Plan submittal requirements. Pursuant to the Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) §15-7.0103 

Applications for Site Plan Review, please add the following information to the Site Plan: 

 C. Seal. Please add architect, engineer and landscape architect’s seal.  

 F. Please add vertical datum to the grading plan (sheet C-5), it must be National Geodetic Vertical Datum 

of 1929. 

 G. Soils Data. Please submit the characteristics and types of soils present on site. 

 S. Please submit Site Intensity and Capacity calculations (worksheet attached). 

 

2. Sound study. The submitted sound study is for another location, please submit a sound study for this site. 

A sound study has been conducted for this site, please see attached document titled “Tsunami Franklin 

Sound Study”. The report recommends installing an 8’ sound barrier along the south property line to meet 

the sound ordinance. Our proposal is to delay the installation of the wall until after construction. If the city 

and/or neighbors deem the noise to be an issue, the wall would be installed at that time. 

3. Floor Area Ratio (FAR). Please add the proposed net FAR and gross FAR to site information block on the 

architectural site plan. In the B-3 zoning district, the maximum gross FAR is 0.34 and net FAR is 0.57. See 

definitions below: 

FLOOR AREA RATIO, GROSS (GFAR) 

An intensity measured as a ratio derived by dividing the total gross floor area of a building or structure by the 

base site area. Where the lot is part of a larger development and has no required bufferyard, that lot area may 

be used instead of the base site area to calculate the lot's development potential.  

FLOOR AREA RATIO, NET (NFAR) 

An intensity measured as a ratio derived by dividing the total gross floor area of a building or structure by the 

net buildable site area. 

Proposed NFAR and GFAR ratios have been added to Site Information box on Architectural Site Plan Sheet in 

revised drawing packet. Calculation worksheet is also included in submittal separately entitled “Site 

Intensity Calcs Worksheet” 

4. Setback from arterial roadways. Pursuant to UDO §15-5.0108, the minimum building setback is 40 feet 

along an arterial roadway such as Lovers Land Road. The proposed carwash building is encroaching into this 

setback, please revise your design accordingly. 



 

 

The building has been adjusted to comply with the setbacks as shown on sheet C-3 and architectural site 

plan on AS-100 in the revised drawing packet. 

5. Utility easement. The Alta Survey depicts a 20-foot utility easement to Wisconsin Electric Power Company 

along Whitnall Edge Road. Have you received authorization from the easement holder for the proposed drive 

and sign encroaching into this easement? 

The drive has been adjusted to not encroach into the utility easement as shown on Sheet C-3 in the revised 

drawing packet. 

6. Will Tsunami Car Wash be the operator for this carwash? If so, please revise the application forms with 

Tsunami Car Wash as applicant and The Redmond Company as applicant’s representative.  

A revised review application is attached entitled “Revised Application” 

Parking (UDO Div. 15-5.0200) 

7. Parking space size. The proposed regular parking space (next to ADA parking) is 162 square feet (9 x 18 feet). 

The minimum parking space size is 180 square feet per UDO §15-5.0202B, please revise accordingly. 

 

Parking sizes have been adjusted to meet the minimum size standards as shown on Sheet C-3 in the revised 

drawing packet. 

 

8. ADA parking. The architectural site plan depicts one space for ADA parking (Americans with Disabilities Act) 

but the pavement grading plan (sheet C-7) depicts two ADA parking spaces, please clarify. Note that for this 

site, one ADA parking space is sufficient per UDO Table 15-5.0202(I)(1). The minimum dimensions for ADA 

parking are 13 feet wide by 20 feet long, the proposed ADA parking space is 18 feet long, please revise. 

 

Civil plans have been updated to reflect one ADA parking stall. Plans have also been updated for ADA parking 

stall to be 20’ in length as shown on Sheet C-3 in the revised drawing packet. 

 

9. Minimum distance of required concrete curbing from property lines. Even though the architectural site 

plan depicts the required 10-foot separation from the drive to the south properly line, this distance must be 

measured from the back of curb per UDO §15-5.0202.E.2. This distance is less than 10 feet in the pavement 

grading plan (sheet C-7), please revise accordingly.  

 

The pavement has been adjusted to comply with this standard as shown on Sheet C-3 in the revised drawing 

packet. 

 

10. Parking aisles. Pursuant to UDO Table 15-5.0204, the minimum width for double row 90° angle parking is 65 

feet, the proposed design is 64 feet wide, please revise accordingly. 

 

The width of the parking lot has been increased to meet the 65’ minimum as shown on Sheet C-3 in the 

revised drawing packet. 

 

11. Snow storage plan required. Pursuant to UDO 15-5.0210B, please submit a snow storage plan, see UDO 

§15-5.0210 (attached) for plan requirements and standards.  

Snow storage shall be in the detention basin as noted on Sheet C-3 in the revised drawing packet. 



 

 

Required Landscaping (UDO Div. 15-5.0300) 

12. Species of plantings. Pursuant to UDO 15-5.0302F.2, at least two of plantings of each species are required. 

Please revise the proposed quantity of canopy/shade trees.  

Revised quantity of proposed canopy/shade trees shown on L 1.0 and L 1.2 in the revised drawing packet. 

 

13. Species of plantings (native). Pursuant to UDO §15-5.0302F, at least two species of canopy/shade trees 

must be native to the City (Ash, Elm, Sugar Maple, Red Oak, Basswood or Walnut). Please revise accordingly. 

Note that native species of shade trees shall be placed away from the highest vehicular and pedestrian traffic 

areas (UDO §15-5.0302.H.2). 

 

Revised species of trees as shown on L 1.0 and L 1.2 in the revised drawing packet. 

 

14. Irrigation. Are you planning on providing an irrigation system? Please note that a permanent, on-site, outdoor 

water supply (underground or drip irrigation, hose bibs, etc.) that provides complete coverage to all new living 

landscaped areas is required (UDO §15-5.0303.D). 

A permanent irrigation system will be installed. 

15. Plant replacement. UDO §15-5.0303.G states that “any plant materials included in an approved 

landscaping plan that do not survive a plant establishment period of two years after installation shall be 

replaced”. Please revise sheet L 1.2, note 13 accordingly. 

Note 13 on L 1.2 has been updated to have a two year warranty period after installation as shown in the 

revised drawing packet. 

Architecture (UDO Div. 15-7.0800) 

16. Any proposed metal furnace vents? If so, please submit plans attesting compliance with UDO 15-7.0802I: 

“All chimney and fireplace vents shall be enclosed in a chase constructed of materials similar to those 

materials used on the building elevations; metal housings designed by the vent manufacturer to enclose the 

chimney vents are acceptable”. 

Document entitled “Mechanical Venting Reference” shows a similar Tsunami project with compliance of 

venting. All venting will be lower than parapet height. No side wall vents are proposed. 

Miscellaneous 

17. Any roof-mounted mechanical equipment? If so, please submit a sight line diagram from Lovers Lane Road 

and Whitnall Edge Road. 

Site diagram has been included for Lovers Lane Road and Whitnall Edge Road as shown in document entitled 

“Site Line Diagram” 

Separate approvals and fees 

18. This review is not for the proposed sign. Please note that separate review and approval with the Department 

of City Development are required for signs. 

 

19. Please be aware of City impact fees. The impact fee schedule can be found on the City’s website at 

https://www.franklinwi.gov/Departments/Inspection-Services/Impact-Fees.htm.  

 



 

 

20. Please note that stormwater, grading, erosion control and utility plans are subject to separate review and 

approval by the Engineering Department. 

Engineering Department comments 

1. Engineering has no objection to the applicant's request for Special Use. However, an engineering and storm 

water management plan review application must be submitted with required materials for review and 

approval.  

 

2. Consider the following comments: 

• Confirm with WisDOT regarding the minimum building setback. 

• Refer to the City of Franklin Design Standard for retaining wall construction (Chapter 6.9). 

• A plat of survey is required for applying for a building permit. 

• Refer to UDO - 15-0207 (A); the driveway must have a 6 ft minimum from all property lines. 

 

Inspection Services Department comments 

1. Structure shall be designed and constructed in accordance with the Wisconsin Commercial Building Code. 

 



DIVISION 15-3.0500  ..... SITE INTENSITY AND CAPACITY CALCULATIONS 

SECTION 15-3.0501   NATURAL RESOURCE PROTECTION AND SITE INTENSITY AND 

CAPACITY CALCULATIONS FOR RESIDENTIAL AND 

NONRESIDENTIAL USES REQUIRED 
A. Recognition of Natural Resource Features. This Ordinance recognizes that landforms, parcel size and shape, and natural 

resource features vary from site to site and that development regulations must take into account these variations. The 

maximum density or intensity of use allowed in any zoning district is controlled by the various district standards set forth 

for each of the various zoning districts of this Ordinance. 

B. When Natural Resource Protection and Site Intensity and Capacity Calculations Are Required. Natural resource 

protection is required for all development and the site intensity and capacity calculations set forth in this Division shall be 

made for each parcel of land to be used or built upon in the City of Franklin including all new Certified Survey Maps, 

Final Plats, condominiums, multiple-family residential developments, all nonresidential development, and as may be 

required elsewhere in this Ordinance except as excluded under the provisions of Section 15-3.0501C. of the Unified 

Development Ordinance. 

C. Exclusions (When Natural Resource Protection and Site Intensity and Capacity Calculations Are Not Required). 

Natural resource protection shall not be required and the site intensity and capacity calculations set forth in this Division shall 

not be required for the construction of single-family and two-family residential development located on non-divisible existing 

lots of record within existing platted Subdivisions (with an approved Final Plat), Certified Survey Maps, and Condominiums 

existing on August 1, 1998, the effective date of this Ordinance or for which a natural resource protection plan and site 

intensity capacity calculations were filed at the time of division after August 1, 1998. 

SECTION 15-3.0502 CALCULATION OF BASE SITE AREA  
The base site area shall be calculated as indicated in Table 15-3.0502 for each parcel of land to be used or built upon in the City of 

Franklin as referenced in Section 15-3.0501 of this Ordinance. 

Table 15-3.0502 

WORKSHEET FOR THE CALCULATION OF BASE SITE AREA 

FOR BOTH RESIDENTIAL AND NONRESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 

 

STEP 1: 
Indicate the total gross site area (in acres) as determined by an actual on-

site boundary survey of the property. 1.449 acres 

STEP 2: 

Subtract (-) land which constitutes any existing dedicated public street 

rights-of-way, land located within the ultimate road rights-of-way of 

existing roads, the rights-of-way of major utilities, and any dedicated public 

park and/or school site area. 

.35                     

acres 

STEP 3: 
Subtract (-) land which, as a part of a previously approved development or 

land division, was reserved for open space. 0                    acres 

STEP 4: 

In the case of "Site Intensity and Capacity Calculations" for a proposed 

residential use, subtract ( - ) the land proposed for nonresidential uses; 

or 

In the case of "Site Intensity and Capacity Calculations" for a proposed 

nonresidential use, subtract ( - ) the land proposed for residential uses. 0                   acres 

STEP 5: Equals "Base Site Area" 
=  1.099                 

acres 

 



SECTION 15-3.0503  CALCULATION OF THE AREA OF NATURAL RESOURCES TO BE 

PROTECTED 
All land area with those natural resource features as described in Division 15-4.0100 of this Ordinance and as listed in Table 15-

3.0503 and lying within the base site area (as defined in Section 15-3.0502), shall be measured relative to each natural resource 

feature present. The actual land area encompassed by each type of resource is then entered into the column of Table 15-3.0503 titled 

"Acres of Land in Resource Feature." The acreage of each natural resource feature shall be multiplied by its respective natural 

resource protection standard (to be selected from Table 15-4.0100 of this Ordinance for applicable agricultural, residential, or 

nonresidential zoning district) to determine the amount of resource protection land or area required to be kept in open space in order 

to protect the resource or feature. The sum total of all resource protection land on the site equals the total resource protection land. 

The total resource protection land shall be calculated as indicated in Table 15-3.0503. 

Table 15-3.0503 

WORKSHEET FOR THE CALCULATION OF RESOURCE PROTECTION LAND 

Natural Resource Feature 

Protection Standard Based  

Upon Zoning District Type 

(circle applicable standard from 

Table 15-4.0100 for the type of zoning district 

in which the parcel is located) 
Acres of Land in Resource Feature 

Agricultural 

District 
Residential 

District 

Non- 

Residential 
District 

Steep Slopes: 

  10-19% 

   

  20-30% 

   

  + 30% 

 

0.00 

  

0.65 

  

0.90 

 

0.60 

 

0.75 

 

0.85 

 

 

0.40 

 

0.70 

 

0.80 

 

X  ________= 

 

X  __.13______= 

 

X  _________= 

 

_________ 

 

____.09_______ 

 

___________ 

 

Woodlands & Forests: 

  Mature 

  Young 

 

0.70 

0.50 

 

0.70 

0.50 

 

0.70 

0.50 

 

X  _________= 

X  ________= 

 

 

___________ 

___________ 

Lakes & Ponds 1 1 1 X  _________=  

Streams 1 1 1 X  _________=  

Shore Buffer 1 1 1 X  _________=  

Floodplains/Floodlands 1 1 1 X  _________=  

Wetland Buffers 1 1 1 X  _________=  

Wetlands & Shoreland 

Wetlands 
1 1 1 

X  _________=  

TOTAL RESOURCE PROTECTION LAND 

(Total of Acres of Land in Resource Feature to be Protected) 

 

 
Note:  In conducting the calculations in Table 15-3.0503, if two or more natural resource features are present on the same area of land, only the 

most restrictive resource protection standard shall be used. For example, if floodplain and young woodlands occupy the same space on a parcel 

of land, the resource protection standard would be 1.0 which represents the higher of the two standards. 



SECTION 15-3.0504   CALCULATION OF SITE INTENSITY AND CAPACITY FOR 

RESIDENTIAL USES 

In order to determine the maximum number of dwelling units which may be permitted on a parcel of land zoned in a residential 

zoning district, the site intensity and capacity calculations set forth in Table 15-3.0504 shall be performed. 

 

Table 15-3.0504 

WORKSHEET FOR THE CALCULATION OF SITE INTENSITY AND 

CAPACITY FOR RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 

STEP 1: 

CALCULATE MINIMAL REQUIRED ON-SITE OPEN SPACE 

 
Take Base Site Area (from Step 5 in Table 15-3.0502): __________ 
 

Multiple by Minimum Open Space Ratio (OSR) 

(see specific residential zoning district OSR standard): X __________ 
 

Equals MINIMUM REQUIRED ON-SITE OPEN SPACE                  =                 

 

 

 

 

 

acres 

 

STEP 2: 

CALCULATE NET BUILDABLE SITE AREA: 
 

Take Base Site Area (from Step 5 in Table 15-3.0502):  __________ 

 
Subtract Total Resource Protection Land from Table 15-3.0503) or Minimum Required 

On-Site Open Space (from Step 1 above), whichever is greater:                                                  - 

__________ 
 

Equals NET BUILDABLE SITE AREA                                             = 

 

 

 

 

 

acres 

 

STEP 3: 

CALCULATE MAXIMUM NET DENSITY YIELD OF SITE: 

 

Take Net Buildable Site Area (from Step 2 above):  ____________ 
 

Multiply by Maximum Net Density (ND) 

(see specific residential zoning district ND standard): X ___________ 
 

Equals MAXIMUM NET DENSITY YIELD OF SITE                       = 

 

 

 

 

 

D.U.s 

 

STEP 4: 

CALCULATE MAXIMUM GROSS DENSITY YIELD OF SITE: 
 

Take Base Site Area (from Step 5 of Table 15-3.0502): __________ 
 

Multiple by Maximum Gross Density (GD) 

(see specific residential zoning district GD standard): X ___________ 
 

Equals MAXIMUM GROSS DENSITY YIELD OF SITE                    = 

 

 

 

 

 

D.U.s 

 

STEP 5: 

DETERMINE MAXIMUM PERMITTED D.U.s OF SITE: 

 
Take the lowest of Maximum Net Density Yield of Site (from Step 3 above) or Maximum 

Gross Density Yield of Site (from Step 4 above): 

 

 

 

D.U.s 

 

 



SECTION 15-3.0505   CALCULATION OF SITE INTENSITY AND CAPACITY FOR 

NONRESIDENTIAL USES 
 

In order to determine the maximum floor area which may be permitted on a parcel of land zoned in a nonresidential 

zoning district, the site intensity and capacity calculations set forth in Table 15-3.0505 shall be performed. 

Table 15-3.0505 

 

WORKSHEET FOR THE CALCULATION OF SITE INTENSITY AND 

CAPACITY FOR NONRESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 

 

STEP 1: 

CALCULATE MINIMUM REQUIRED LANDSCAPE SURFACE: 

    

Take Base Site Area (from Step 5 in Table 15-3.0502):        ___1.099_______ 
 

Multiple by Minimum Landscape Surface Ratio (LSR)     

(see specific zoning district LSR standard):                    X     __.40_________  
 

Equals MINIMUM REQUIRED ON-SITE LANDSCAPE SURFACE            = 

 

 

 
 

 

 
.44 acres 

 

STEP 2: 

CALCULATE NET BUILDABLE SITE AREA: 
 

Take Base Site Area (from Step 5 in Table 15-3.0502):         ____1.099______ 

 
Subtract Total Resource Protection Land from Table 15-3.0503) 

or Minimum Required Landscape Surface (from Step 1 above), whichever is greater:                                                        

-   _____.44_____ 
 

Equals NET BUILDABLE SITE AREA                                                      = 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
.66 acres 

 

STEP 3: 

CALCULATE MAXIMUM NET FLOOR AREA YIELD OF SITE: 

 
Take Net Buildable Site Area (from Step 2 above):             ____.66______ 

 

Multiple by Maximum Net Floor Area Ratio (NFAR) 
(see specific nonresidential zoning district NFAR standard): X  ___.57_______  

 

Equals MAXIMUM NET FLOOR AREA YIELD OF SITE                          = 

 

 
 

 

 
 

.38 acres 

 

STEP 4: 

CALCULATE MAXIMUM GROSS FLOOR AREA YIELD OF SITE: 

 

Take Base Site Area (from Step 5 of Table 15-3.0502):           ____1.099_____ 
 

Multiple by Maximum Gross Floor Area Ratio (GFAR) 

(see specific nonresidential zoning district GFAR standard):    X  ___.34______  
 

Equals MAXIMUM GROSS FLOOR AREA YIELD OF SITE                      = 

 

 

 
 

 

 
.37 acres 

 

STEP 5: 

DETERMINE MAXIMUM PERMITTED FLOOR AREA OF SITE: 

 
Take the lowest of Maximum Net Floor Area Yield of Site (from Step 3 

above) or Maximum Gross Floor Area Yield of Site (from Step 4 above): 

 
(Multiple results by 43,560 for maximum floor area in square feet): 

 

 

 
 

.37 acres 

 
( ___16,117 ______ s.f.) 

 



 

 Soundscape Engineering 
3711 N. Ravenswood Ave., Ste. 104  •  Chicago, IL  60613  •  (312) 436-0032 

729 W. Ann Arbor Trl., Ste. 150  •  Plymouth, MI  48170  •  (734) 418-8663 
www.SoundscapeEngineering.com 

 
June 21, 2024 
 
 
 
 
Mr. Craig Wojtczak      Mr. Jerry Mortier 
Project Designer      Director of Design 
(262) 896-8742 Direct      (262) 896-8753 Direct 
(262) 549-9600 T      (262) 613-1684 M 
cwojtczak@theredmondco.com      jmortier@theredmondco.com 
 
 
The Redmond Company 
W228 N745 Westmound Drive 
Waukesha, WI 53186 
 
 
Subject:  Noise Assessment for Proposed Tsunami Car Wash at 6514 S. Lovers Lane, Franklin, 

Wisconsin  
 
 
Dear Mr. Wojtczak and Mr. Mortier: 
 
Soundscape Engineering has completed the noise prediction and assessment for the proposed Tsunami 
Car Wash at 6514 S. Lovers Lane, Franklin, Wisconsin 53132.  This report provides the results of our 
ambient measurements, prediction of the carwash-related sound transmission to the nearest properties, 
and comparison with the local noise ordinance. 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The proposed Tsunami Car in Franklin, Wisconsin is planned to operate from 7:00 am and 8:00 pm daily. 
The Franklin noise ordinance defines the daytime (7:00 am to 10:00 pm) noise limit for Business zones at 
65 dBA at the property lines and 50 dBA at the residential boundaries.   Our calculations indicate that the 
carwash-related noise levels with the planned layout will meet at residential boundaries but not at the 
property line to adjacent business zones.  With the addition of an 8’ sound barrier fence located along the 
western half of the south property line, The ordinance will be met at the parking lot property line.  
 
Background 
 

You hired Soundscape Engineering to assess the proposed Tsunami Express Carwash 70 located at 6514 
S. Lovers Lane, Franklin, WI 53132.  The proposed building will be a 5,000 SF car wash with 18 
vacuums, a sales booth, and vacuum pump house.  It is our understanding that the car wash will be open 7 
days per week from 7:00 am to 8:00 pm. 

The largest concerns are the blowers inside the car wash and the vacuums/pump house in the parking lot 
area. 



Tsunami Car Wash - Acoustic Report  June 21, 2024 
SE No. 2240 Page 2 of 14 

 Soundscape Engineering 
3711 N. Ravenswood Ave., Ste. 104  •  Chicago, IL  60613  •  (312) 436-0032 

729 W. Ann Arbor Trl., Ste. 150  •  Plymouth, MI  48170  •  (734) 418-8663 
www.SoundscapeEngineering.com 

Noise levels emanating from the carwash will need to meet the City of Franklin, Wisconsin’s Noise 
Ordinance Section 15-3.1107. 

The designed layout for the Franklin location is shown in Figure 1.  

 

 
Figure 1: Aerial View of Proposed Car Wash, Franklin, Wisconsin  

 
 
Instrumentation 
 
An NTi Audio model XL2-TA acoustic analyzer with model MC230 microphone and model MA220 
preamp was used for all measurements reported here.  This system is Class 1 Type Approved, meeting the 
requirements of IEC 61672 and ANSI S1.4. 
 
 
  



Tsunami Car Wash - Acoustic Report  June 21, 2024 
SE No. 2240 Page 3 of 14 

 Soundscape Engineering 
3711 N. Ravenswood Ave., Ste. 104  •  Chicago, IL  60613  •  (312) 436-0032 

729 W. Ann Arbor Trl., Ste. 150  •  Plymouth, MI  48170  •  (734) 418-8663 
www.SoundscapeEngineering.com 

Measurements 
 
Ambient Franklin Measurements  
Soundscape measured the existing ambient noise level at four locations (Figure 2) on Thursday, June 
13th, 2024, starting at 11:30 am.  Each location was measured for approximately 10 minutes. The 
measured ambient sound level sources were primarily traffic and construction on Lover’s Lane. The 
construction noise impacted measurements as all traffic was routed into the eastern lanes instead of the 
typical split lane traffic, causing more traffic to pass closer to east-side property measurements. During 
measurements, a backhoe was observed moving earth in the southbound lane with occasional thumping 
and hydraulic noise, but traffic sounds overpowered the construction sound the majority of the time. The 
measured time slot reflects a heavier traffic time during the lunch period.  We can expect traffic levels to 
be greatest during the morning and evening rush hours. Ambient levels during the later evening hours will 
likely be lower than the measured ambient.  
 

 

Figure 2: Measurement Locations 

65 dBA 

69 dBA 

58 dBA 

60 dBA 



Tsunami Car Wash - Acoustic Report  June 21, 2024 
SE No. 2240 Page 4 of 14 

 Soundscape Engineering 
3711 N. Ravenswood Ave., Ste. 104  •  Chicago, IL  60613  •  (312) 436-0032 

729 W. Ann Arbor Trl., Ste. 150  •  Plymouth, MI  48170  •  (734) 418-8663 
www.SoundscapeEngineering.com 

 

Figure 3: Construction Equipment near South West Measurement Point 
 
Waukesha Equipment Measurements  
To determine the equipment sound levels, we measured the sound level produced by equipment at the 
existing Tsunami Car Wash located at 300 W. Sunset Drive in Waukesha, Wisconsin. We understand that 
the Franklin location will install the same blower system as the Waukesha location.  The measured octave 
band sound levels at the car wash entry and exit are shown in Table 1.  
 

Table 1: Sound levels Measured at a Waukesha Location (dB)  

 Octave Band Center Frequency, Hz 

31.5 63 125 250 500 1000 2000 4000 8000 
Wash Exit, Blowers On, 

Doors Open  
78 80 80 81 89 88 86 82 74 

Wash Exit, Blowers On, 
Doors Closed 

74 79 77 77 79 73 69 63 53 

Wash Entrance,  
Doors Open 

73 74 72 69 71 72 71 66 56 

1) These measurements were made directly in front of the entrance or exit, at a distance of 20 feet. 
 



Tsunami Car Wash - Acoustic Report  June 21, 2024 
SE No. 2240 Page 5 of 14 

 Soundscape Engineering 
3711 N. Ravenswood Ave., Ste. 104  •  Chicago, IL  60613  •  (312) 436-0032 

729 W. Ann Arbor Trl., Ste. 150  •  Plymouth, MI  48170  •  (734) 418-8663 
www.SoundscapeEngineering.com 

 
Figure 4: Waukesha Tsunami Car Wash Exit 

 

Figure 5: Waukesha Tsunami Car Wash Layout 
 
 
Measurements were also taken outside the vacuum pump house and near a car being vacuumed (Figure 
6). The pump house is constructed of masonry block and has steel doors with perimeter seals. This 
construction is advantageous for noise control. We are not aware if the existing vacuum system has a 
muffler.  These measured levels are presented in Table 2.  
 
 



Tsunami Car Wash - Acoustic Report  June 21, 2024 
SE No. 2240 Page 6 of 14 

 Soundscape Engineering 
3711 N. Ravenswood Ave., Ste. 104  •  Chicago, IL  60613  •  (312) 436-0032 

729 W. Ann Arbor Trl., Ste. 150  •  Plymouth, MI  48170  •  (734) 418-8663 
www.SoundscapeEngineering.com 

Table 2: Measured Vacuum Related Sound Levels at Waukesha Location 

 Octave Band Center Frequency, Hz 

31.5 63 125 250 500 1000 2000 4000 8000 

Vacuum Pump House at 3’   71 75 67 64 60 59 58 55 51 

Car Vacuuming at  ~ 6’  70 72 70 66 64 64 68 69 62 

 

 
Figure 6: Vacuum Pump House 

  



Tsunami Car Wash - Acoustic Report  June 21, 2024 
SE No. 2240 Page 7 of 14 

 Soundscape Engineering 
3711 N. Ravenswood Ave., Ste. 104  •  Chicago, IL  60613  •  (312) 436-0032 

729 W. Ann Arbor Trl., Ste. 150  •  Plymouth, MI  48170  •  (734) 418-8663 
www.SoundscapeEngineering.com 

Ordinance and Criteria 
 
The City of Franklin, WI Hazard Abatement Performance Standards - Part 3 Zoning Districts, Division 
15-3.1107 Noise - Section C. Maximum Permitted Sound Levels in All Zoning Districts. See Figure 7.  
 
 

 
Figure 7: City of Franklin Noise Limits 

 
The future Tsunami Car Wash will be located in a Zone B-3 district, surrounded by other B-2 and B-3 
properties, with residential areas located east of the property but with a direct line of sight. Refer to Figure 
8.  As we interpret the ordinance language, the limits listed in Figure 7 are enforced at the Tsunami Car 
Wash property lines and must be applied to the boundary of the nearby residential zones.  The carwash 
plans to operate from 7:00 AM to 8:00 PM.  This falls within the ordinance daytime hours and so we have 
used a limit of 65 dBA for the business district zoning and 50 dBA for the residential zone that begins 
about 270 feet from the Tsunami Car Wash property line. 
 



Tsunami Car Wash - Acoustic Report  June 21, 2024 
SE No. 2240 Page 8 of 14 

 Soundscape Engineering 
3711 N. Ravenswood Ave., Ste. 104  •  Chicago, IL  60613  •  (312) 436-0032 

729 W. Ann Arbor Trl., Ste. 150  •  Plymouth, MI  48170  •  (734) 418-8663 
www.SoundscapeEngineering.com 

 
Figure 8: Franklin Zoning Map  

Tsunami Property 

Brown – Residential Zones 



Tsunami Car Wash - Acoustic Report  June 21, 2024 
SE No. 2240 Page 9 of 14 

 Soundscape Engineering 
3711 N. Ravenswood Ave., Ste. 104  •  Chicago, IL  60613  •  (312) 436-0032 

729 W. Ann Arbor Trl., Ste. 150  •  Plymouth, MI  48170  •  (734) 418-8663 
www.SoundscapeEngineering.com 

Computer Model Calculation of Sound Levels around Carwash 
 
We modeled the Franklin site and surrounding area in the commercial environmental noise modeling 
software, SoundPLAN.  Site topography, existing and proposed buildings, sound sources, and receiver 
locations were inputted as elements into the computer model.  A 3D view of the propagation model is 
shown in Figure 9. The red-shaded areas represent sound area sources. We have modeled the worst-case 
scenario with all vacuum stations in use and carwash entry door open. Vacuum stations are indicated by 
the red asterisks below. Sources included in the model are based on measurements made at the Waukesha 
Tsunami and are as follows:  
 

 Carwash Entry Door Open  
 Carwash Exit Door Closed – Blowers On  
 Vacuum pump house with Sealed metal doors 
 Car Vacuum Stations (red asterisks)  

 
 

 
Figure 9: Soundplan 3D Model View  

 
  



Tsunami Car Wash - Acoustic Report  June 21, 2024 
SE No. 2240 Page 10 of 14 

 Soundscape Engineering 
3711 N. Ravenswood Ave., Ste. 104  •  Chicago, IL  60613  •  (312) 436-0032 

729 W. Ann Arbor Trl., Ste. 150  •  Plymouth, MI  48170  •  (734) 418-8663 
www.SoundscapeEngineering.com 

Figure 10 presents the predicted radiated sound levels due to the Tsunami Car Wash. The darkest red 
shaded area represents a sound level that exceeds the 65 dBA noise ordinance limits. The limit is 
predicted to exceed only at the parking lot south property line.  
 
 

 
Figure 10: Sound Contour Map Predicted Sound Level Propagation – Current Design 

 
 
  

Vacuum Pump House  

Active Car Vacuuming 
at all stations Carwash Exit – 

Doors Closed 

Carwash Entry – Doors Open 



Tsunami Car Wash - Acoustic Report  June 21, 2024 
SE No. 2240 Page 11 of 14 

 Soundscape Engineering 
3711 N. Ravenswood Ave., Ste. 104  •  Chicago, IL  60613  •  (312) 436-0032 

729 W. Ann Arbor Trl., Ste. 150  •  Plymouth, MI  48170  •  (734) 418-8663 
www.SoundscapeEngineering.com 

Recommendations 
 
To prevent the sound level from exceeding the 65 dBA noise ordinance at the property line, install an 8’ 
sound barrier along the south border. Refer to Figure 11 for barrier extent and predicted sound levels. A 
solid, air-tight construction of the sound barrier walls with a face weight that is greater than or equal to 
¾” plywood is required.   
 
There are minimum acoustical requirements for the sound barrier wall.  It must have a minimum height of 
8-ft along the south property line where indicated.  It must be constructed from a material with a 
minimum acoustical rating of STC 22 or a mass no less than 2 pounds per square foot.  An example of a 
suitable material would be overlapping, 1” (nominal thickness) cedar or pine planks, assembled such that 
no place along with wall is the total, actual thickness less than 1-½”.  They would need to be screwed 
together rather than nailed so that warping of the planks over time does not cause them to pull apart 
enough for gaps to open up between them.  Because this is a “sound barrier wall” rather than a “fence,” 
there must not be any gaps and it must be constructed tight to the ground. 
 
In addition to the sound barrier, the acoustic analysis for this project depends upon the following design 
elements:  

 
a. The central vacuum will be located in a masonry building with sealed steel doors. If a vacuum 

pump exhaust muffler was used at the Waukesha location then the vacuum pump at this location 
should also be fit with a muffler. 
 

b. The blowers will turn off when the exit doors open. The entrance door is controlled by a separate 
set of photo-eye sensors placed at the tunnel entrance.  Our analysis relies on the exit door being 
closed while the blowers are operating.  We have assumed that the entry doors may be open while 
the blowers are operating. 

 



Tsunami Car Wash - Acoustic Report  June 21, 2024 
SE No. 2240 Page 12 of 14 

 Soundscape Engineering 
3711 N. Ravenswood Ave., Ste. 104  •  Chicago, IL  60613  •  (312) 436-0032 

729 W. Ann Arbor Trl., Ste. 150  •  Plymouth, MI  48170  •  (734) 418-8663 
www.SoundscapeEngineering.com 

 
Figure 11: Sound Contour Map – Tsunami Car Wash with 8-ft Property Line Barrier 

(Darkest Red Shaded Areas exceed the Ordinance) 
 

 
 
  

Vacuum Pump House  

Active Vacuuming 

8’ Air-tight, solid fence   



Tsunami Car Wash - Acoustic Report  June 21, 2024 
SE No. 2240 Page 13 of 14 

 Soundscape Engineering 
3711 N. Ravenswood Ave., Ste. 104  •  Chicago, IL  60613  •  (312) 436-0032 

729 W. Ann Arbor Trl., Ste. 150  •  Plymouth, MI  48170  •  (734) 418-8663 
www.SoundscapeEngineering.com 

Conclusion 
 
The proposed carwash design includes several elements that are beneficial in terms of noise transmission 
to the residential neighborhood.  The carwash is oriented so that the loudest part of the building (the exit) 
is pointed away from residences and sound levels due to the car wash will not exceed 50 dBA.  Airlift 
doors will be installed and the exit door will be kept closed while the blowers are operating.  The central 
vacuums will be located within a masonry building with sealed steel doors. Finally, the addition of a 
solid, 8’ tall, air-tight fence will serve as a sound barrier along the southern border, allowing the carwash-
related sound levels at the property lines to meet the Franklin noise ordinance threshold of 65 dBA. 
 
 
This concludes our assessment and recommendations.  We will be happy to elaborate on anything 
contained within this report. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
Soundscape Engineering  
Per: 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

Nathan Sevener, Principal Consultant 
PE, LEED AP, INCE Bd. Cert. 
nsevener@SoundscapeEngineering.com 
(734) 418-8663 x100 

Anna Catton, Consultant 
MSAE 
acatton@SoundscapeEngineering.com 
 (734) 418-8663 x106 
 

  
 
 
 
 

 

Luis (Louie) N. Sunga, Jr 
Senior Consultant 
lsunga@SoundscapeEngineering.com 
(312) 436-0032 x104 

 

  



Tsunami Car Wash - Acoustic Report  June 21, 2024 
SE No. 2240 Page 14 of 14 

 Soundscape Engineering 
3711 N. Ravenswood Ave., Ste. 104  •  Chicago, IL  60613  •  (312) 436-0032 

729 W. Ann Arbor Trl., Ste. 150  •  Plymouth, MI  48170  •  (734) 418-8663 
www.SoundscapeEngineering.com 

Appendix A: Acoustical Terminology 
 
Sound level is measured in units called decibels (abbreviated dB).  Decibels are logarithmic rather than 
linear quantities and thus a doubling of the sound level does not translate to a doubling of decibels.  Also, 
the human ear does not interpret a doubling of sound energy as a doubling of loudness.  For these reasons, 
the following approximate relationships should be kept in mind when reading this report. 
 
The logarithmic nature of dB and the human subjective perception of relative sound levels result in the 
following approximate rules for judging increases in noise.  A 3 dB sound level increase (or decrease) 
typically cannot be heard or is barely perceptible.  A 5 dB sound level increase is perceptible and is often 
considered significant.  A sound level which increases by 10 dB will be perceived as twice as loud.  These 
perceived changes in the noise level are mostly independent of the absolute noise level.  That is, a 35 dB 
noise will be perceived as twice as loud as a 25 dB noise, and a 60 dB noise will be perceived as twice as 
loud as a 50 dB noise. 
 
Audible sound occurs over a wide frequency range, from low pitched sounds at approximately 20 Hertz 
(Hz) to high pitched sounds at 20,000 Hz.  These frequencies are commonly grouped into octave bands or 
1/3 octave bands.  Building mechanical systems generally produce noise in the 63 Hz to 1000 Hz octave 
bands, with the lower frequency noise generated by large fans.  Human speech is predominantly 
contained in the 250 Hz to 2000 Hz octave bands. 
 
Humans do not hear equally well at all frequencies.  We are especially poor at hearing low frequency 
sound and are best at hearing sound in the frequency range of human speech.  A microphone does not 
have these same characteristics.  Therefore, when sound is being measured to determine how well people 
will be able to hear it, a "weighting" is applied to the sound level measured using a microphone.  The 
most common weighting is the "A-weighting" and the resulting sound level is expressed in A-weighted 
decibels (dBA).  This weighting reduces the low frequency sound, slightly increases the sound at the 
dominant frequencies of human speech, and slightly lowers the sound level at high frequencies. 
 
Sound Power and Sound Pressure Levels - Sound pressure can be directly measured by a microphone.  
Outdoor sound pressure levels are influenced by the distance and orientation of the receiver, obstructions 
and ground absorption between the source and receiver, the temperature, and wind gradients.  Sound 
power is a physical property of the source alone and is not influenced by the external environment.  It is 
an important parameter which is used for rating and comparing sound sources.  The sound power is 
calculated by taking sound pressure or sound intensity measurements according to strict standards and 
calculation procedures.  Conversely, the Sound Pressure Level at a particular location can be calculated 
from the Sound Power Level for a given source and the environmental factors affecting the sound 
propagation path between the source and receiver.   
 



 

  

Geotechnical Engineering 
Exploration and Analysis 

 
 
 

Proposed Tsunami Express Car Wash 
6514 S. Lovers Lane Road 

Franklin, Wisconsin 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared for: 
 

Tsunami Express Car Wash 
Lake Oswego, Oregon 

 
 

February 21, 2024 
Project No. 1G-2401015 

 





 

     GILES ENGINEERING ASSOCIATES, INC. 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING EXPLORATION AND ANALYSIS 
 

PROPOSED TSUNAMI EXPRESS CAR WASH 
6514 S. LOVERS LANE ROAD 

FRANKLIN, WISCONSIN 
PROJECT NO. 1G-2401015 

 
 
Section No. Description Page No. 
 
 
1.0 SCOPE OF SERVICES .................................................................................................. 1 
2.0 SITE DESCRIPTION ...................................................................................................... 1 
3.0 PROJECT DESCRIPTION ............................................................................................. 1 
4.0 GEOTECHNICAL SUBSURFACE EXPLORATION PROGRAM ..................................... 2 
5.0 GEOTECHNICAL LABORATORY SERVICES ............................................................... 2 
6.0 MATERIAL CONDITIONS .............................................................................................. 3 

6.1. Surface Materials ................................................................................................ 3 
6.2. Fill Material ......................................................................................................... 3 
6.3. Possible Fill ......................................................................................................... 4 
6.4. Buried Topsoil ..................................................................................................... 4 
6.5. Non-Organic Native Soil ...................................................................................... 4 

7.0 GROUNDWATER CONDITIONS ................................................................................... 4 
8.0 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS ............................................................... 4 

8.1. Seismic Design Considerations ........................................................................... 4 
8.2. Ground Improvement .......................................................................................... 5 
8.3. Building Foundation Recommendations .............................................................. 5 
8.4. At-Grade Floor Slab Recommendations .............................................................. 5 
8.5. Car Wash Pit Recommendations ........................................................................ 6 
8.6. Pavement Recommendations ............................................................................. 7 
8.7. Generalized Site Preparation Recommendations ................................................ 8 
8.8. Generalized Construction Considerations ..........................................................10 
8.9. Recommended Construction Materials Testing Services ...................................11 

9.0 BASIS OF REPORT ......................................................................................................11 
 
APPENDICES 
Appendix A - Figure (1) and Test Boring Logs (7) 
Appendix B - Field Procedures 
Appendix C - Laboratory Testing and Classification 
Appendix D - General Information and Important Information about This Geotechnical Report 
 
© Giles Engineering Associates, Inc. 2024 
 



 

     GILES ENGINEERING ASSOCIATES, INC. 

GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEERING EXPLORATION AND ANALYSIS 
 

PROPOSED TSUNAMI EXPRESS CAR WASH 
6514 S. LOVERS LANE ROAD 

FRANKLIN, WISCONSIN 
PROJECT NO. 1G-2401015 

 
1.0 SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 
This report provides the results of the Geotechnical Engineering Exploration and Analysis that 
Giles Engineering Associates, Inc. (“Giles”) conducted for the proposed car wash project. The 
Geotechnical Engineering Exploration and Analysis included a geotechnical subsurface 
exploration program, geotechnical laboratory services, and geotechnical engineering. The scope 
of each service area was narrow and limited as directed by our client and based on our 
understanding and assumptions about the proposed project. Service areas are briefly described 
later. 
 
Geotechnical-related recommendations for design and construction of the foundation, floor slab, 
and below-grade pit for the proposed car wash building are provided in this report. Geotechnical-
related recommendations are also provided for new pavement. Furthermore, site preparation 
recommendations are given, but these recommendations are only preliminary, as the means and 
methods of site preparation will depend on factors that were unknown when this report was 
prepared. Those factors include, but are not limited to, the weather before and during 
construction, the subsurface conditions that are exposed during construction, and the finalized 
details of the proposed development.  
 
2.0 SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
The subject site is at the intersection of South Lovers Lane Road and South Whitnall Edge Road 
in Franklin, Wisconsin. The site area is shown on the Test Boring Location Plan, enclosed as 
Figure 1 in Appendix A. When the test borings (described later) were performed, the site was 
vacant and grass-covered. Also, the site was relatively flat but gradually sloped down to the 
northwest. The ground elevations at the test boring locations varied between ±El. 94.3 and ±El. 
101.4; these elevations are referenced to Giles’ adopted benchmark, shown on the Test Boring 
Location Plan. 
 
3.0 PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 

Proposed Building 
 
The proposed location of the car wash building is shown on the Test Boring Location Plan. It is 
assumed that the building will be a single-story steel-frame and masonry structure that will not 
have a basement. Also, it is assumed that columns and bearing walls will support the building. 
The maximum foundation loads were not provided to us but are assumed to be 50,000 pounds 
per column and 3,000 pounds per lineal foot from bearing walls. It is assumed that the car wash 
area of the building will include a shallow below-grade pit for car wash equipment. A ground-
bearing floor slab is planned for the building. The maximum floor load is assumed to be 100 
pounds per square foot (psf). 
 



Geotechnical Engineering Exploration and Analysis 
Proposed Tsunami Express Car Wash 
Franklin, Wisconsin 
Project No. 1G-2401015 
Page 2 
 

     GILES ENGINEERING ASSOCIATES, INC. 

The floor elevation for the proposed building was not provided to us; therefore, to complete this 
report, it was necessary to assume the floor elevation. This report assumes that the floor will be 
at El. 97 referenced to Giles’ adopted benchmark, shown on the Test Boring Location Plan. The 
ground elevation at the building-area test borings varied between ±El. 94.3 and ±El. 97.7. 
Therefore, relatively minor grade changes are expected in the proposed building area.  
 

Proposed Pavement Areas 
 
It is assumed that asphalt-concrete pavement is planned for the parking lot, but Portland cement 
concrete pavement is expected in areas of higher traffic stress, such as within drive-thru lanes. 
Because traffic information was not provided to us, the pavement recommendations provided 
herein are based on an arbitrarily assumed traffic condition. The recommendations also assume 
that pavement grades will be within about two feet of the current site grades. 
 
4.0 GEOTECHNICAL SUBSURFACE EXPLORATION PROGRAM 
 
To explore subsurface conditions, seven test borings were conducted at the site. Test Borings 1 
through 4 were in the proposed building area and were advanced to ±16 feet below-ground. Test 
Borings 5, 6, and 7 were in the proposed pavement area and were advanced to ±11 feet below-
ground. The test boring locations were positioned at the site based on area features and by 
approximating right angles. Approximate locations of the test borings are shown on the Test 
Boring Location Plan. 
 
Samples were collected from each test boring, at certain depths, using the Standard Penetration 
Test (SPT), conducted with the drill rig. A brief description of the SPT is given in Appendix B along 
with descriptions of other field procedures. Immediately after sampling, select portions of the SPT 
samples were placed in containers that were labeled at the site for identification. A Standard 
Penetration Resistance value (N-value) was determined from each SPT. N-values are reported 
on the Test Boring Logs (in Appendix A), which are records of the test borings. 
 
The boreholes were backfilled upon completion; however, backfill material will likely settle or 
heave, creating a hazard that can injure people and animals. The borehole areas should, 
therefore, be carefully and routinely monitored by the property owner or by others; settlement and 
heave of backfill materials should be repaired immediately. Giles will not monitor or repair 
backfilled boreholes. 
 
The ground elevations at the test boring locations were determined by differential leveling relative 
to Giles’ adopted benchmark, shown on the Test Boring Location Plan. The test boring elevations 
are noted on the Test Boring Logs and are considered accurate within about one foot. 
 
5.0 GEOTECHNICAL LABORATORY SERVICES 
 
The soil samples that were retained from the test borings were transported to Giles’ geotechnical 
laboratory where the samples were classified using the descriptive terms and particle-size criteria 
shown on the General Notes in Appendix D and by using the Unified Soil Classification System 



Geotechnical Engineering Exploration and Analysis 
Proposed Tsunami Express Car Wash 
Franklin, Wisconsin 
Project No. 1G-2401015 
Page 3 
 

     GILES ENGINEERING ASSOCIATES, INC. 

(ASTM D 2488) as a general guide. The classifications are shown on the Test Boring Logs along 
with horizontal lines that show estimated depths of material change; the actual material change 
could be gradual, especially within native soil. Field-related information pertaining to the test 
borings is also shown on the Test Boring Logs. For simplicity and abbreviation, terms and symbols 
are used on the Test Boring Logs; the terms and symbols are defined on the General Notes. 
 
Unconfined compression (without measured strain), penetrometer resistance, and water content 
tests were performed on select soil samples to evaluate their engineering properties. The test 
results are on the Test Boring Logs. Because testing was conducted on SPT samples, which are 
categorized as disturbed samples, the results of the strength-related tests (unconfined 
compression and penetrometer resistance) are approximate. Laboratory procedures are briefly 
described in Appendix C. 
 
6.0 MATERIAL CONDITIONS 
 
Because material sampling at the test borings was discontinuous, it was necessary to estimate 
the subsurface conditions between sample intervals. The estimated subsurface conditions at the 
test borings are briefly discussed in this section and are described in more detail on the Test 
Boring Logs. The conclusions and recommendations in this report are only based on the 
estimated subsurface conditions shown on the Test Boring Logs. 
 

6.1. Surface Materials 
 
Topsoil that was between ±4 and ±8 inches thick was at the surface of the test borings. In general, 
the topsoil consisted of lean clay and silty clay and included estimated trace to little amounts of 
organic matter. 
 

6.2. Fill Material 
 
Material classified as fill was below the surficial topsoil and was encountered to depths between 
±4 and ±10 feet below-ground, depending on the test boring. The fill material was highly variable 
and generally consisted of silty clay, silty sand, lean clay, and sandy clay. Also, the fill material at 
Test Boring 2 included asphalt-concrete rubble. Rubble might also have been encountered at 
Test Boring 1. Based on laboratory testing, the cohesive fill material (silty clay, lean clay, and 
sandy clay) exhibited highly variable strength characteristics with comparative consistencies that 
varied between medium stiff and hard. The in-place relative density of the silty sand (encountered 
at Test Boring 1) could not be determined from SPT N-values due to the material’s gravel content 
and because cobbles, boulders, or rubble was possibly encountered. Because of its highly 
variable strength characteristics, the existing fill does not appear to have been properly placed 
and compacted.  
 
 
 



Geotechnical Engineering Exploration and Analysis 
Proposed Tsunami Express Car Wash 
Franklin, Wisconsin 
Project No. 1G-2401015 
Page 4 
 

     GILES ENGINEERING ASSOCIATES, INC. 

6.3. Possible Fill 
 
At Test Boring 2, soil classified as possible fill was below the fill material and was encountered to 
about 11½ feet below-ground. In general, the possible fill consisted of lean clay and exhibited a 
very stiff comparative consistency, based on laboratory testing. 
 

6.4. Buried Topsoil 
 
Soil classified as buried topsoil was between ±7½ and ±8½ feet below-ground at Test Boring 4 
and between ±7 and ±8½ feet below-ground at Test Boring 5. In general, the buried topsoil at 
Test Boring 4 consisted of black silty clay with an estimated little amount of organic matter, and 
the buried topsoil at Test Boring 5 consisted of dark gray lean clay with an estimated trace amount 
of organic matter (roots). 
 

6.5. Non-Organic Native Soil 
 
Non-organic native soil was beneath the materials described above and extended to the 
termination depth at each test boring. In general, the non-organic native soil consisted of silty clay 
and lean clay. Based on laboratory testing, the non-organic native soil exhibited variable strength 
characteristics with comparative consistencies ranging between stiff and hard. 
 
7.0 GROUNDWATER CONDITIONS 
 
It is estimated that the water table was about 6 to 10 feet below-ground at the test boring locations 
when the test borings were conducted; however, the site appears to be subject to shallower 
perched-groundwater conditions, where groundwater perches within the existing fill. Perched 
groundwater is expected to be variable in terms of area and depth. 
 
The groundwater conditions discussed above are only an approximation based on the colors and 
moisture conditions of the retained soil samples. The water table could be higher or lower than 
estimated. If a precise determination of the water table is needed, groundwater observation wells 
are recommended to be installed and monitored at the site. Giles can install and monitor 
observation wells if those services are needed. 
 
8.0 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

8.1. Seismic Design Considerations 
 
A soil Site Class C is recommended for seismic design. By definition, Site Class is based on the 
average properties of subsurface materials to 100 feet below-ground. Because 100-foot test 
borings were not requested for the project, it was necessary to estimate Site Class based on the 
test borings, presumed area geology, and the International Building Code. 
 



Geotechnical Engineering Exploration and Analysis 
Proposed Tsunami Express Car Wash 
Franklin, Wisconsin 
Project No. 1G-2401015 
Page 5 
 

     GILES ENGINEERING ASSOCIATES, INC. 

8.2. Ground Improvement  
 
Material classified as fill was encountered to depths between ±4 and ±10 feet below-ground at 
the test borings. The fill material was highly variable and generally consisted of silty clay, silty 
sand, lean clay, and sandy clay. Also, the fill material at Test Boring 2 included asphalt-concrete 
rubble. Rubble might also have been encountered at Test Boring 1. The cohesive fill material (silty 
clay, lean clay, and sandy clay) exhibited highly variable strength characteristics with comparative 
consistencies that generally varied between medium stiff and hard.  
 
Because of its highly variable strength characteristics, and considering the buried topsoil at Test 
Borings 4 and 5, the existing fill does not appear to have been properly placed and compacted. 
Therefore, the existing fill is unsuitable for direct or indirect support of the foundation and floor 
slab for the proposed building. Because the existing fill is unsuitable for structural support, the 
foundation areas and floor area of the proposed building are recommended to be improved using 
specialized ground-improvement techniques, such as by installing compacted-aggregate piers or 
stone columns at predetermined locations within the proposed building area. Compacted-
aggregate piers and stone columns are proprietary systems designed and installed by specialty 
ground-improvement contractors. The actual length and spacing of ground-improvement 
elements must be determined by the ground-improvement contractor. 
 
General recommendations regarding the foundation and floor for the proposed building are 
provided in Sections 8.3 and 8.4, respectively.  
 

8.3. Building Foundation Recommendations 
 
Assuming that all proposed foundation areas will be properly improved by ground improvement, 
it is expected that a spread-footing foundation can be used to support the proposed building. For 
budgeting purposes and assuming proper ground improvement, it is expected that spread footings 
could be designed using a maximum, net, allowable bearing capacity of about 2,000 to 4,000 
pounds per square foot (psf). However, the ground-improvement contractor must provide the 
actual bearing capacity for foundation design. 
 
The building code requires a minimum 48-inch foundation-embedment depth for frost protection. 
It is, therefore, recommended that footings for perimeter walls and other exterior elements of the 
proposed building bear at least 48 inches below the adjacent (finished) ground grade. Interior 
footings within the building can bear above the 48-inch embedment depth if the building will be 
heated.  
 

8.4. At-Grade Floor Slab Recommendations 
 
Assuming that the proposed building area (including the floor area) will be properly improved by 
ground improvement, it is expected that ground-bearing floor slabs can be used for the proposed 
building. It is recommended that a structural engineer design/specify the floor slab thickness, 
reinforcing, joint details, and other parameters based on the expected load conditions and the 
details of the ground-improvement program. 



Geotechnical Engineering Exploration and Analysis 
Proposed Tsunami Express Car Wash 
Franklin, Wisconsin 
Project No. 1G-2401015 
Page 6 
 

     GILES ENGINEERING ASSOCIATES, INC. 

A minimum 4-inch-thick base course is recommended below the floor slabs to serve as a capillary 
break. It is recommended that the base course consist of free-draining aggregate that has been 
tested and approved by a geotechnical engineer. Depending on aggregate gradation and the 
subgrade condition, geotextile might need to be below the base course to serve as a separator. 
The need for geotextile should be determined during construction with the assistance of a 
geotechnical engineer. 
 
A minimum 10-mil vapor retarder is recommended to be directly above or below the base course 
throughout the office/customer areas. The position (above or below the base course) of the vapor 
retarder should be specified by the project structural engineer or architect. Vapor retarder sheets 
are recommended to be overlapped at least 6 inches, and the overlaps are recommended to be 
continuously taped. Also, vapor retarder must extend to all foundation walls. Vapor retarder is 
recommended to be in accordance with ASTM E 1745, entitled Standard Specification for Plastic 
Water Vapor Retarders Used in Contact with Soil or Granular Fill under Concrete Slabs, and other 
relevant documents. If the base course has sharp aggregate, protecting the vapor retarder with 
geotextile or by other means is recommended.  
 
It is assumed that floor slabs in the car wash area will be watertight or will be underlain by a 
watertight membrane; it was not within Giles’ scope to provide specific recommendations 
regarding watertight construction. 
 
Certain areas (such as near exterior doors and within the car wash) of the floor slabs might be 
susceptible to freeze-thaw movement. Installation of insulation or other protective measures 
against freeze-thaw movement should be considered for areas that are susceptible to freeze-thaw 
movement. Pavement and ground grades are recommended to be sloped away from the 
proposed building. 
 

8.5. Car Wash Pit Recommendations 
 
It is assumed that the car wash area of the building will include a below-grade pit for car wash 
equipment. This report assumes that the pit will be constructed of reinforced cast-in-place 
concrete and will be a maximum of 4 feet deep. Based on the assumed floor elevation (El. 97), it 
is assumed that the pit floor will be at or above El. 93; this elevation is referenced to Giles’ adopted 
benchmark, shown on the Test Boring Location Plan. Because the pit will be in the wash area, 
the pit is recommended to be watertight. It is recommended that watertight construction include 
water stops at all control joints, construction joints, and at all other junctures. Furthermore, the pit 
is recommended to be surrounded by waterproofing membrane. Alternative waterproofing 
materials (such as a concrete admixture) could also be used to waterproof the pit. Waterproofing 
materials are to be specified by the project architect or structural engineer and are recommended 
to be installed in accordance with the manufacturer’s recommendations. 
 
It is assumed that pit walls will be cast near existing soil and that engineered fill between the walls 
and surrounding soil will consist of properly compacted well-graded aggregate. Aggregate fill 
along the pit walls is recommended to consist of dense-graded crushed stone that meets the 



Geotechnical Engineering Exploration and Analysis 
Proposed Tsunami Express Car Wash 
Franklin, Wisconsin 
Project No. 1G-2401015 
Page 7 
 

     GILES ENGINEERING ASSOCIATES, INC. 

gradation requirements of dense-graded base (1¼ inch) in Section 305 of the Wisconsin 
Department of Transportation Standard Specifications. Based on the test borings and considering 
that the site appears to be subject to perched groundwater, the pit walls are recommended to be 
designed for an equivalent “at-rest” fluid pressure of 110 psf/ft. Horizontal pressures caused by 
surface and subsurface surcharge loads (such as floor loads) must be added to the "at-rest" fluid 
pressure. Giles can provide supplemental recommendations regarding surface and subsurface 
surcharge loads on a case-by-case basis but would require specific structural information. Pit 
walls that are not designed to resist actual pressures could move laterally and possibly fail. 
 

8.6. Pavement Recommendations 
 
Giles was not given traffic-related information for pavement design; therefore, the pavement 
recommendations provided herein are based on a light-duty traffic condition consisting of five 18-
kip Equivalent Single Axle Loads (ESALs) per day. Therefore, the recommended pavement 
sections given below are only for pavement areas that are subject to passenger vehicles along 
with infrequent heavy-vehicle traffic due to trash removal and occasional deliveries. The 
recommended pavement sections assume no increase in traffic volume and no changes in vehicle 
type or traffic pattern. Also, it is assumed that the ESALs noted above will be in one direction for 
each lane. 
 
The project owner, developer, civil engineer, and other design professionals involved with the 
project should confirm that the ESALs noted above are appropriate for the expected traffic 
condition. If requested, Giles will provide supplemental pavement recommendations based on 
other traffic conditions. The recommended pavement sections could underperform or fail 
prematurely if the design ESALs are exceeded.  
 
Based on the test borings, it is expected that pavement support materials will consist of variable 
existing fill materials. The recommended pavement sections were, therefore, developed based 
on an assumed field CBR value of 3 and a Modulus of Subgrade Reaction (Ks) value of 75 psi/in. 
Engineered fill that is placed in proposed pavement areas is recommended to have a field CBR 
value and a field Modulus of Subgrade Reaction value at least equivalent to the design values. 
New fill material is recommended to be placed and compacted per this report. Subgrade 
improvement might be necessary to develop a proper subgrade for pavement support due to the 
existing fill material. 
 

Asphalt-Concrete Pavement 
 
The following table shows the recommended thicknesses for asphalt-concrete pavement with an 
aggregate base-course. State specifications are also included in the table. The recommended 
pavement section is based on the traffic condition described above. 
 
 
 



Geotechnical Engineering Exploration and Analysis 
Proposed Tsunami Express Car Wash 
Franklin, Wisconsin 
Project No. 1G-2401015 
Page 8 
 

     GILES ENGINEERING ASSOCIATES, INC. 

TABLE 1 
RECOMMENDED HMA PAVEMENT SECTION 

Materials Pavement Thickness Wisconsin DOT Standard 
Specifications 

Hot-Mix Asphalt 
Surface Course 1.5 inches Section 460 

Hot-Mix Asphalt 
Binder Course 2.5 inches Section 460 

Dense-Graded Aggregate 
Base Course 8.0 inches Section 305,  

1¼-inch Crushed Stone 

 
Portland Cement Concrete 

 
Portland cement concrete (PCC) pavement is recommended in areas of higher traffic stress, such 
as the lot entrance/exit aprons, at the refuse/recyclables enclosure, in areas where trucks will turn 
or will be parked, and in areas of concentrated vehicular traffic. Concrete pavement is 
recommended to be at least 6 inches thick and is recommended to be underlain by a minimum 6-
inch-thick aggregate base course. It is recommended that concrete pavement have load-transfer 
reinforcement, where appropriate. Control-joint spacing should be determined in accordance with 
the current ACI code. Expansion joints should be provided where pavement abuts fixed objects, 
such as the building and light poles. It is recommended and assumed that a civil engineer will 
provide specific recommendations for concrete pavement, including reinforcing details and 
control-joint spacing. The recommended PCC pavement thickness assumes that the 28-day 
compressive strength of concrete will be at least 4,000 psi, and the concrete should be air-
entrained for proper freeze-thaw durability. Materials and construction procedures for concrete 
pavement and the aggregate base are recommended to be in accordance with Wisconsin DOT 
specifications. 
 

General Pavement Considerations 
 
The pavement recommendations assume that the subgrade will be prepared per this report, the 
base course will be properly drained, and a geotechnical engineer will observe pavement 
construction. Pavement was designed based on AASHTO parameters for a twenty-year design 
period, but the actual service life will likely be much shorter due to the variable fill material, which 
is also moisture-sensitive. Local codes may require specific testing to determine soil support 
characteristics, or a minimum pavement section might be required. Maintenance and repair of the 
pavement should be expected due to the existing fill. 
 

8.7. Generalized Site Preparation Recommendations 
 
This section provides recommendations for site preparation, including preparation of the proposed 
building, pavement, and engineered fill areas. The means and methods of site preparation will 
greatly depend on the weather conditions before and during construction, the soil and 
groundwater conditions that are encountered during earthwork operations, and the finalized 



Geotechnical Engineering Exploration and Analysis 
Proposed Tsunami Express Car Wash 
Franklin, Wisconsin 
Project No. 1G-2401015 
Page 9 
 

     GILES ENGINEERING ASSOCIATES, INC. 

details of the proposed development. Therefore, only generalized site preparation 
recommendations are given. In addition to being generalized, the following recommendations are 
abbreviated; the Guide Specifications in Appendix D give further recommendations. The Guide 
Specifications should be read along with this section. Also, the Guide Specifications are 
recommended to be used as an aid to develop the project specifications. 
 

Removal and Stripping 
 
Surface vegetation, trees and bushes (including root-balls), topsoil, and other unsuitable materials 
are recommended to be removed from the proposed development area of the site. Stripping 
should extend at least several feet beyond the proposed development area, where feasible.  
 

Proof-Rolling and Fill Placement 
 
After the removal and stripping operations, and once the site is cut (lowered) as needed, the 
subgrade within the proposed development area is recommended to be proof-rolled with a fully-
loaded tandem-axle dump truck to help locate unstable soil based on subgrade deflection caused 
by the wheel loads of the proof-roll equipment. The entire development area is recommended to 
be thoroughly proof-rolled. Where feasible, proof-rolling should extend at least several feet 
beyond the proposed development limits. However, for safety, proof-roll equipment should not 
travel near excavations or slopes. It is critical that a geotechnical engineer observe the proof-roll 
operations and evaluate subgrade stability based on those observations. Areas that are not safely 
accessible to proof-roll equipment are recommended to be evaluated and approved by a 
geotechnical engineer using appropriate means and methods.  
 
Because of the existing fill, it is expected that unsuitable material will be encountered during 
subgrade preparation. Unsuitable material is recommended to be removed and replaced with 
engineered fill or improved. Recommendations for subgrade improvement should, however, be 
made by a geotechnical engineer based on the site conditions during construction. Depending on 
the conditions during construction, areas requiring soil improvement might be large and 
improvement methods might need to extend significantly below the planned subgrade. Areas 
requiring subgrade improvement should be defined during construction with the assistance of a 
geotechnical engineer. Specific improvement methods should be determined during construction 
on an area-by-area basis. Where subgrade improvement is needed, it might be necessary to 
construct “test strips” to determine the most cost-effective and appropriate means of developing 
a suitable subgrade. Depending on the subgrade conditions at the time of construction, it might 
be necessary to install geotextile or geogrid within future pavement areas, possibly along with a 
granular subbase. Depending on the soil conditions, lime stabilization might be needed to develop 
a suitable subgrade. 
 
The development area is recommended to be raised, where necessary, to the planned finished 
grades with engineered fill immediately after the subgrade is confirmed to be stable and suitable 
to support the proposed development. Engineered fill is recommended to be placed in relatively 
thin layers (lifts) that are uniform in elevation. Each layer of engineered fill is recommended to be 



Geotechnical Engineering Exploration and Analysis 
Proposed Tsunami Express Car Wash 
Franklin, Wisconsin 
Project No. 1G-2401015 
Page 10 
 

     GILES ENGINEERING ASSOCIATES, INC. 

compacted to at least 95 percent of the fill material’s maximum dry density determined from the 
Standard Proctor compaction test (ASTM D698). As an exception, the in-place dry density of 
engineered fill within one foot of a pavement subgrade is recommended to be compacted to at 
least 100 percent of the fill material’s maximum dry density. The water content of fill material is 
recommended to be uniform and within a narrow range of the optimum moisture content, 
determined from the Standard Proctor compaction test. Item Nos. 4 and 5 of the Guide 
Specifications give more information pertaining to selection and compaction of engineered fill.  
 
Engineered fill that does not meet the density and water content requirements is recommended 
to be replaced, or possibly it could be scarified to a sufficient depth (likely 6 to 12 inches, or more), 
moisture-conditioned, and compacted to the required density. A subsequent lift of fill should only 
be placed after a geotechnical engineer confirms that the previous lift was properly placed and 
compacted. Subgrade soil might need to be recompacted immediately before construction since 
equipment traffic and adverse weather could reduce soil stability. 
 

Use of Site Soil as Engineered Fill 
 
Site soil that does not contain adverse organic content or other deleterious materials, as noted in 
the Guide Specifications, could be used as engineered fill to raise site grades. However, site soil 
will likely need to be moisture-conditioned (uniformly moistened or dried) prior to use as 
engineered fill. If construction is during adverse weather, drying site soil will likely not be feasible. 
In that case, aggregate fill (or other fill material with a low water-sensitivity) might need to be 
imported to the site. Recommendations regarding fill selection, placement, and compaction are 
given in the Guide Specifications. 
 

8.8. Generalized Construction Considerations 
 

Adverse Weather 
 
Site soil is extremely sensitive to moisture and will become unstable when exposed to adverse 
weather, such as rain, snow, and freezing temperatures. Therefore, site soil is recommended to 
be protected during construction. It might be necessary to remove or stabilize the upper 8 to 12 
inches (or more) of site soil due to adverse weather, which commonly occurs during late fall, 
winter, and early spring. At least some over-excavation or stabilization of unstable soil should be 
expected if construction is during or after adverse weather. Because site preparation is weather 
dependent, bids for site preparation and other earthwork activities should consider the time of 
year that construction will be conducted. 
 
To protect soil from adverse weather, the site surface is recommended to be smoothly graded 
and contoured during construction to divert surface water from construction areas. Contoured 
subgrades are recommended to be rolled with a smooth-drum compactor before precipitation to 
“seal” the surface. Furthermore, construction traffic should be restricted to certain aggregate-
covered areas to control traffic-related soil disturbance. Foundation, floor slab, and pavement 
construction should begin immediately after suitable support is confirmed. 



Geotechnical Engineering Exploration and Analysis 
Proposed Tsunami Express Car Wash 
Franklin, Wisconsin 
Project No. 1G-2401015 
Page 11 
 

     GILES ENGINEERING ASSOCIATES, INC. 

Dewatering 
 
Dewatering might be necessary due to precipitation or if perched groundwater is encountered. 
Water that accumulates in construction areas is recommended to be removed along with unstable 
soil as soon as possible. Filtered sump pumps, drawing water from sump pits excavated in the 
bottom of construction trenches, are expected to be adequate to remove water that collects in 
excavations that are above the water table. Excavated sump pits should be lined with geotextile 
and filled with open-graded, free-draining aggregate. 
 

Excavation Stability 
 
All excavations are recommended to be made in accordance with OSHA excavation and trench 
safety standards and other applicable requirements. Where required, excavations must be 
sloped, benched, or braced to develop and maintain a safe work environment. Temporary shoring 
must be designed according to applicable regulatory requirements. Contractors are responsible 
for excavation safety. 
 

Questionable Material 
 
Questionable material, if encountered, is recommended to be evaluated by a geotechnical 
engineer to determine if removal and replacement with engineered fill is necessary. Disposal of 
unsuitable material should be in accordance with local, state, and federal regulations for the 
material type. This report might need to be revised if the subsurface conditions that are 
encountered during construction differ from those noted on the Test Boring Logs. 
 

8.9. Recommended Construction Materials Testing Services 
 
This report was prepared assuming that a geotechnical engineer will perform Construction 
Materials Testing (“CMT”) services during construction of the proposed development. 
Supplemental geotechnical recommendations may be needed based on the results of CMT 
services and specific details of the project not known at this time. 
 
9.0 BASIS OF REPORT 
 
This report is strictly based on the project description given in Section 3.0. Giles must be notified 
if the project description or our assumptions are not accurate so that this report can be amended, 
if needed. This report assumes that the facility will be designed and constructed according to the 
codes that govern construction at the site. 
 
The conclusions and recommendations in this report are based on the estimated subsurface 
conditions shown on the Test Boring Logs. Giles must be notified if the subsurface conditions that 
are encountered during construction of the proposed development differ from those shown on the 
Test Boring Logs; revision of this report might be necessary. General comments and limitations 
of this report are given in the appendix. 



Geotechnical Engineering Exploration and Analysis 
Proposed Tsunami Express Car Wash 
Franklin, Wisconsin 
Project No. 1G-2401015 
Page 12 
 

     GILES ENGINEERING ASSOCIATES, INC. 

The conclusions and recommendations in this report have been promulgated in accordance with 
generally accepted professional engineering practices in the field of geotechnical engineering. No 
other warranty is either expressed or implied. 
 
© Giles Engineering Associates, Inc. 2024     



APPENDIX A  
  

FIGURES AND TEST BORING LOGS  
  
  
  

The Test Boring Location Plan contained herein was prepared based upon information supplied 
by Giles’ client, or others, along with Giles’ field measurements and observations. The diagram is 
presented for conceptual purposes only and is intended to assist the reader in report 
interpretation.  
  

The Test Boring Logs and related information enclosed herein depict the subsurface (soil and 
water) conditions encountered at the specific boring locations on the date that the exploration was 
performed. Subsurface conditions may differ between boring locations and within areas of the site 
that were not explored with test borings. The subsurface conditions may also change at the boring 
locations over the passage of time.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



S.  LO
VERS  LANE  RD.

S.  WHITNALL  EDGE  RD.

AUTO DEALERSHIP
(6420 S. 108th ST.)

PROPOSED
BUILDING

PROPOSED
SIGN

PROPOSED
CANOPY

PROPOSED
ENCLOSURE

PROPOSED
VACUUM

PUMP HOUSE

PROPOSED
CURBING

MULTI-TENANT
SHOPPING CENTER

DATE

CAD No.
01-26-24

1G-2401015

TEST BORING LOCATION PLAN

PROJECT NO.:

FRANKLIN, WISCONSIN

DESIGNED

ERA

FIGURE 1

DRAWN SCALE

approx. 1"=40'

REVISED

1g2401015-blp
--

BENCHMARK: RIM OF MANHOLE.
ASSUMED ELEVATION = 100.0'

6514 S. LOVERS LANE ROAD

0 20' 40'

APPROXIMATE
SCALE

ILES          NGINEERING           SSOCIATES, INC.

WAUKESHA, WI 53186   (262)544-0118
N8 W22350 JOHNSON DRIVE, SUITE A1

www.gilesengr.com

NOTES:
1.) TEST BORING LOCATIONS ARE APPROXIMATE.

2.) PROPOSED FEATURES ARE APPROXIMATE BASED ON 

     PREPARED BY THE REDMOND CO.
     THE "SITE PLAN" (OPTION 2), DATED 1-11-2024,

PROPOSED TSUNAMI EXPRESS CAR WASH

LEGEND:

GEOTECHNICAL TEST BORING

PROPERTY LINE

MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
BM

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
BM

AutoCAD SHX Text
1



±6" Topsoil: Dark Brown Silty Clay, trace
Sand and Organic Matter-Moist

Fill: Brown Silty Clay, little Sand, trace
Gravel-Moist

Fill: Light Brown Silty fine to medium Sand
with Gravel (Possibly includes Cobbles,
Boulders, or Rubble)-Moist

Fill: Dark Brown lean Clay, little Sand-Moist

Blue-Gray Silty Clay, trace Sand-Moist

Gray Silty Clay, little Sand, trace
Gravel-Moist

Boring Terminated at about 16 feet (EL.
78.3')

1-SS

2-SS

3-SS

4-SS

5-SS

6-SS

4

8

37

33

31

23

1.9

5.0

3.0

2.0

3.5

1.5

1.5

3.0

13

16

19

23

17

Water Observation Data

GILES ENGINEERING
ASSOCIATES, INC.

Remarks:

TEST BORING LOG1

94.3 feet

01/25/24

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

5

10

15

E
le

va
ti

o
n

90

85

80

MATERIAL DESCRIPTION

S
am

p
le

N
o

. &
 T

yp
e

PROJECT NO:  1G-2401015

PROPOSED TSUNAMI EXPRESS CAR WASH

Changes in strata indicated by the lines are approximate boundary between soil types.  The actual transition may be gradual and may vary considerably between test borings. Location of test boring
is shown on the Boring Location Plan.

BORING NO. & LOCATION:

Water Level At End of Drilling:

Water Level After Drilling:

FIELD REP:

NOTES

DAVIS LUCKETT

N

6514 S. LOVERS LANE ROAD
FRANKLIN, WISCONSIN

Qu

(tsf)

Qp

(tsf)

Qs

(tsf)

W

(%)
PID

SURFACE ELEVATION:

COMPLETION DATE:

Water Encountered During Drilling:

Cave Depth At End of Drilling:

Cave Depth After Drilling:G
IL

E
S

 L
O

G
 R

E
P

O
R

T
  1

G
2

40
10

1
5.

G
P

J 
 G

IL
E

S
.G

D
T

  2
/2

1/
2

4



±8" Topsoil: Dark Brown lean Clay, little
Sand and Organic Matter-Moist

Fill: Brown lean Clay, little Sand-Moist

Fill: Dark Brown Sandy Clay, little Gravel
(Includes Asphalt-Concrete Rubble)-Moist

Fill: Brown and Dark Brown lean Clay, trace
Sand and Gravel-Moist

Blue-Gray mottled with Brown lean
Clay-Moist

Gray lean Clay, trace Sand-Moist

Boring Terminated at about 16 feet (EL.
78.7')

1-SS

2-SS

3-SS

4-SS

5-SS

6-SS

4

15

27

24

29

28

5.4

0.8

1.2

2.5

4.5+

1.5

1.0

3.0

15

19

21

40

26

Water Observation Data

GILES ENGINEERING
ASSOCIATES, INC.

Remarks:

TEST BORING LOG2

94.7 feet

01/25/24

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

5

10

15

E
le

va
ti

o
n

90

85

80

MATERIAL DESCRIPTION

S
am

p
le

N
o

. &
 T

yp
e

PROJECT NO:  1G-2401015

PROPOSED TSUNAMI EXPRESS CAR WASH

Changes in strata indicated by the lines are approximate boundary between soil types.  The actual transition may be gradual and may vary considerably between test borings. Location of test boring
is shown on the Boring Location Plan.

BORING NO. & LOCATION:

Water Level At End of Drilling:

Water Level After Drilling:

FIELD REP:

NOTES

DAVIS LUCKETT

N

6514 S. LOVERS LANE ROAD
FRANKLIN, WISCONSIN

Qu

(tsf)

Qp

(tsf)

Qs

(tsf)

W

(%)
PID

SURFACE ELEVATION:

COMPLETION DATE:

Water Encountered During Drilling:

Cave Depth At End of Drilling:

Cave Depth After Drilling:G
IL

E
S

 L
O

G
 R

E
P

O
R

T
  1

G
2

40
10

1
5.

G
P

J 
 G

IL
E

S
.G

D
T

  2
/2

1/
2

4



±4" Topsoil: Dark Brown lean Clay, little
Sand and Organic Matter-Moist

Fill: Brown Sandy Clay, trace Gravel-Moist

Fill: Dark Grayish Brown Silty Clay, little
Sand, trace Gravel-Moist

Fill: Dark Brown Sandy Clay, little Gravel,
trace Roots-Moist

Possible Fill: Dark Gray lean Clay, trace
Sand and Gravel-Moist

Gray lean Clay, trace Sand (Includes Iron
Staining)-Moist

Boring Terminated at about 16 feet (EL.
81.7')

1-SS

2-SS

3-SS

4-SS

5-SS

6-SS

7-SS

(a)

5

16

31

21

17

35

33

3.0

1.8

4.5+

4.5+

3.5

3.5

3.0

4.5+

14

11

13

16

23

14

11

Water Observation Data

GILES ENGINEERING
ASSOCIATES, INC.

Remarks:

TEST BORING LOG3

97.7 feet

02/08/24

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

5

10

15

E
le

va
ti

o
n

95

90

85

MATERIAL DESCRIPTION

S
am

p
le

N
o

. &
 T

yp
e

(a) Poor Sample Recovery

PROJECT NO:  1G-2401015

PROPOSED TSUNAMI EXPRESS CAR WASH

Changes in strata indicated by the lines are approximate boundary between soil types.  The actual transition may be gradual and may vary considerably between test borings. Location of test boring
is shown on the Boring Location Plan.

BORING NO. & LOCATION:

Water Level At End of Drilling:

Water Level After Drilling:

FIELD REP:

NOTES

JAMES BLAIR

N

6514 S. LOVERS LANE ROAD
FRANKLIN, WISCONSIN

Qu

(tsf)

Qp

(tsf)

Qs

(tsf)

W

(%)
PID

SURFACE ELEVATION:

COMPLETION DATE:

Water Encountered During Drilling:

Cave Depth At End of Drilling:

Cave Depth After Drilling:G
IL

E
S

 L
O

G
 R

E
P

O
R

T
  1

G
2

40
10

1
5.

G
P

J 
 G

IL
E

S
.G

D
T

  2
/2

1/
2

4



±4" Topsoil: Dark Brown lean Clay, little
Sand, trace Organic Matter-Moist

Fill: Gray lean Clay, trace Sand-Moist

Fill: Brown and Gray Sandy Clay, trace
Gravel-Moist

Buried Topsoil: Black Silty Clay, little
Organic Matter-Moist

Dark Gray and Gray lean Clay, trace
Gravel-Moist

Gray mottled with Brown lean Clay, trace
Sand-Moist

Boring Terminated at about 16 feet (EL.
80.9')

1-SS

2-SS

3-SS

4-SS

5-SS

6-SS

7-SS

3

15

22

20

13

17

24

4.5

2.0

4.5

2.8

1.5

4.5+

4.5+

15

18

14

32

25

13

12

Water Observation Data

GILES ENGINEERING
ASSOCIATES, INC.

Remarks:

TEST BORING LOG4

96.9 feet

02/08/24

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

5

10

15

E
le

va
ti

o
n

95

90

85

MATERIAL DESCRIPTION

S
am

p
le

N
o

. &
 T

yp
e

PROJECT NO:  1G-2401015

PROPOSED TSUNAMI EXPRESS CAR WASH

Changes in strata indicated by the lines are approximate boundary between soil types.  The actual transition may be gradual and may vary considerably between test borings. Location of test boring
is shown on the Boring Location Plan.

BORING NO. & LOCATION:

Water Level At End of Drilling:

Water Level After Drilling:

FIELD REP:

NOTES

JAMES BLAIR

N

6514 S. LOVERS LANE ROAD
FRANKLIN, WISCONSIN

Qu

(tsf)

Qp

(tsf)

Qs

(tsf)

W

(%)
PID

SURFACE ELEVATION:

COMPLETION DATE:

Water Encountered During Drilling:

Cave Depth At End of Drilling:

Cave Depth After Drilling:G
IL

E
S

 L
O

G
 R

E
P

O
R

T
  1

G
2

40
10

1
5.

G
P

J 
 G

IL
E

S
.G

D
T

  2
/2

1/
2

4



±6" Topsoil: Dark Brown lean Clay, little
Organic Matter-Moist

Fill: Brown to Dark Brown lean Clay, little
Sand, trace Gravel -Moist

Buried Topsoil: Dark Gray lean Clay, trace
Root Matter-Moist

Brown lean Clay, trace Sand and Gravel
(Includes Calcareous Deposits)-Moist

Boring Terminated at about 11 feet (EL.
87.6')

1-SS

2-SS

3-SS

4-SS

5-SS

5

8

26

9

14

2.0

3.8

2.0

1.3

3.5

18

18

19

25

15

Water Observation Data

GILES ENGINEERING
ASSOCIATES, INC.

Remarks:

TEST BORING LOG5

98.6 feet

02/08/24

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

5

10

E
le

va
ti

o
n

95

90

MATERIAL DESCRIPTION

S
am

p
le

N
o

. &
 T

yp
e

PROJECT NO:  1G-2401015

PROPOSED TSUNAMI EXPRESS CAR WASH

Changes in strata indicated by the lines are approximate boundary between soil types.  The actual transition may be gradual and may vary considerably between test borings. Location of test boring
is shown on the Boring Location Plan.

BORING NO. & LOCATION:

Water Level At End of Drilling:

Water Level After Drilling:

FIELD REP:

NOTES

JAMES BLAIR

N

6514 S. LOVERS LANE ROAD
FRANKLIN, WISCONSIN

Qu

(tsf)

Qp

(tsf)

Qs

(tsf)

W

(%)
PID

SURFACE ELEVATION:

COMPLETION DATE:

Water Encountered During Drilling:

Cave Depth At End of Drilling:

Cave Depth After Drilling:G
IL

E
S

 L
O

G
 R

E
P

O
R

T
  1

G
2

40
10

1
5.

G
P

J 
 G

IL
E

S
.G

D
T

  2
/2

1/
2

4



±4" Topsoil: Dark Brown lean Clay, little
Sand, trace Organic Matter-Moist

Fill: Brown lean Clay, trace Sand-Moist

Fill: Dark Brown-Gray Sandy Clay-Moist

Fill: Brown and Dark Brown lean Clay, little
Sand-Moist

Brown mottled with Gray lean Clay, trace
Sand and Gravel-Moist

Boring Terminated at about 11 feet (EL.
89.8')

1-SS

2-SS

3-SS

4-SS

5-SS

5

8

25

20

27

3.2

0.8

0.8

4.0

3.5

4.5

16

15

21

25

15

Water Observation Data

GILES ENGINEERING
ASSOCIATES, INC.

Remarks:

TEST BORING LOG6

100.8 feet

02/08/24

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

5

10

E
le

va
ti

o
n

100

95

90

MATERIAL DESCRIPTION

S
am

p
le

N
o

. &
 T

yp
e

PROJECT NO:  1G-2401015

PROPOSED TSUNAMI EXPRESS CAR WASH

Changes in strata indicated by the lines are approximate boundary between soil types.  The actual transition may be gradual and may vary considerably between test borings. Location of test boring
is shown on the Boring Location Plan.

BORING NO. & LOCATION:

Water Level At End of Drilling:

Water Level After Drilling:

FIELD REP:

NOTES

JAMES BLAIR

N

6514 S. LOVERS LANE ROAD
FRANKLIN, WISCONSIN

Qu

(tsf)

Qp

(tsf)

Qs

(tsf)

W

(%)
PID

SURFACE ELEVATION:

COMPLETION DATE:

Water Encountered During Drilling:

Cave Depth At End of Drilling:

Cave Depth After Drilling:G
IL

E
S

 L
O

G
 R

E
P

O
R

T
  1

G
2

40
10

1
5.

G
P

J 
 G

IL
E

S
.G

D
T

  2
/2

1/
2

4



±4" Topsoil: Dark Brown lean Clay, little
Organic Matter-Moist

Fill: Dark Brown Sandy Clay, trace
Gravel-Moist to Wet

Brown lean Clay, trace Sand and Gravel
(Includes Cobbles)-Moist

Gray lean Clay, trace Sand-Moist

Boring Terminated at about 11 feet (EL.
90.4')

1-SS

2-SS

3-SS

4-SS

5-SS

(a)

(a)

6

8

22

23

15

3.3

1.0

3.0

1.8

26

19

20

Water Observation Data

GILES ENGINEERING
ASSOCIATES, INC.

Remarks:

TEST BORING LOG7

101.4 feet

01/25/24

D
ep

th
 (

ft
)

5

10

E
le

va
ti

o
n

100

95

MATERIAL DESCRIPTION

S
am

p
le

N
o

. &
 T

yp
e

(a) Poor Sample Recovery

PROJECT NO:  1G-2401015

PROPOSED TSUNAMI EXPRESS CAR WASH

Changes in strata indicated by the lines are approximate boundary between soil types.  The actual transition may be gradual and may vary considerably between test borings. Location of test boring
is shown on the Boring Location Plan.

BORING NO. & LOCATION:

Water Level At End of Drilling:

Water Level After Drilling:

FIELD REP:

NOTES

DAVIS LUCKETT

N

6514 S. LOVERS LANE ROAD
FRANKLIN, WISCONSIN

Qu

(tsf)

Qp

(tsf)

Qs

(tsf)

W

(%)
PID

SURFACE ELEVATION:

COMPLETION DATE:

Water Encountered During Drilling:

Cave Depth At End of Drilling:

Cave Depth After Drilling:G
IL

E
S

 L
O

G
 R

E
P

O
R

T
  1

G
2

40
10

1
5.

G
P

J 
 G

IL
E

S
.G

D
T

  2
/2

1/
2

4



 
 

APPENDIX B  
  

FIELD PROCEDURES  
  
  
  

The field operations were conducted in general accordance with the procedures recommended 
by the American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) designation D  

420 entitled “Standard Guide for Sampling Rock and Rock” and/or other relevant specifications. 
Soil samples were preserved and transported to Giles’ laboratory in general accordance with the 
procedures recommended by ASTM designation D 4220 entitled “Standard Practice for 
Preserving and Transporting Soil Samples.” Brief descriptions of the sampling, testing and field 
procedures commonly performed by Giles are provided herein. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 



     GILES ENGINEERING ASSOCIATES, INC. 
 

GENERAL FIELD PROCEDURES 
 

 
Test Boring Elevations 
 
The ground surface elevations reported on the Test Boring Logs are referenced to the 
assumed benchmark shown on the Boring Location Plan (Figure 1). Unless otherwise 
noted, the elevations were determined with a conventional hand-level and are accurate 
to within about 1 foot. 
 
Test Boring Locations 
 
The test borings were located on-site based on the existing site features and/or apparent 
property lines. Dimensions illustrating the approximate boring locations are reported on 
the Boring Location Plan (Figure 1). 
 
Water Level Measurement 
 
The water levels reported on the Test Boring Logs represent the depth of “free” water 
encountered during drilling and/or after the drilling tools were removed from the 
borehole. Water levels measured within a granular (sand and gravel) soil profile are 
typically indicative of the water table elevation. It is usually not possible to accurately 
identify the water table elevation with cohesive (clayey) soils, since the rate of seepage 
is slow. The water table elevation within cohesive soils must therefore be determined 
over a period of time with groundwater observation wells. 
 
It must be recognized that the water table may fluctuate seasonally and during periods of 
heavy precipitation. Depending on the subsurface conditions, water may also become 
perched above the water table, especially during wet periods. 
 
Borehole Backfilling Procedures 
 
Each borehole was backfilled upon completion of the field operations. If potential 
contamination was encountered, and/or if required by state or local regulations, 
boreholes were backfilled with an “impervious” material (such as bentonite slurry). 
Borings that penetrated pavements, sidewalks, etc. were “capped” with Portland Cement 
concrete, asphaltic concrete, or a similar surface material. It must, however, be 
recognized that the backfill material may settle, and the surface cap may subside, over a 
period of time. Further backfilling and/or re-surfacing by Giles’ client or the property 
owner may be required.  
 
 
 
 
 
 



     GILES ENGINEERING ASSOCIATES, INC. 
 

FIELD SAMPLING AND TESTING PROCEDURES 
 
 

Auger Sampling (AU) 
 
Soil samples are removed from the auger flights as an auger is withdrawn above the 
ground surface. Such samples are used to determine general soil types and identify 
approximate soil stratifications. Auger samples are highly disturbed and are therefore not 
typically used for geotechnical strength testing. 
 
Split-Barrel Sampling (SS) – (ASTM D-1586) 
 
A split-barrel sampler with a 2-inch outside diameter is driven into the subsoil with a 140-
pound hammer free-falling a vertical distance of 30 inches. The summation of hammer-
blows required to drive the sampler the final 12-inches of an 18-inch sample interval is 
defined as the “Standard Penetration Resistance” or N-value is an index of the relative 
density of granular soils and the comparative consistency of cohesive soils. A soil 
sample is collected from each SPT interval. 
 
Shelby Tube Sampling (ST) – (ASTM D-1587) 
 
A relatively undisturbed soil sample is collected by hydraulically advancing a thin-walled 
Shelby Tube sampler into a soil mass. Shelby Tubes have a sharp cutting edge and are 
commonly 2 to 5 inches in diameter. 
 
Bulk Sample (BS) 
 
A relatively large volume of soils is collected with a shovel or other manually-operated 
tool. The sample is typically transported to Giles’  materials laboratory in a sealed bag or 
bucket. 
 
Dynamic Cone Penetration Test (DC) – (ASTM STP 399) 
 
This test is conducted by driving a 1.5-inch-diameter cone into the subsoil using a 15-
pound steel ring (hammer), free-falling a vertical distance of 20 inches. The number of 
hammer-blows required to drive the cone 1¾ inches is an indication of the soil strength 
and density, and is defined as “N”. The Dynamic Cone Penetration test is commonly 
conducted in hand auger borings, test pits and within excavated trenches.  
 
 
 
 
 

- Continued - 
 

 



     GILES ENGINEERING ASSOCIATES, INC. 
 

Ring-Lined Barrel Sampling – (ASTM D 3550) 
 
In this procedure, a ring-lined barrel sampler is used to collect soil samples for 
classification and laboratory testing. This method provides samples that fit directly into 
laboratory test instruments without additional handling/disturbance. 
 
Sampling and Testing Procedures 
 
The field testing and sampling operations were conducted in general accordance with 
the procedures recommended by the American Society for Testing and Materials 
(ASTM) and/or other relevant specifications. Results of the field testing (i.e. N-values) 
are reported on the Test Boring Logs. Explanations of the terms and symbols shown on 
the logs are provided on the appendix enclosure entitled “General Notes”.  

 



 
 

APPENDIX C  
  

LABORATORY TESTING AND CLASSIFICATION  
  
  
  

The laboratory testing was conducted under the supervision of a geotechnical engineer in 
accordance with the procedures recommended by the American Society for Testing and Materials 
(ASTM) and/or other relevant specifications. Brief descriptions of laboratory tests commonly 
performed by Giles are provided herein.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 



     GILES ENGINEERING ASSOCIATES, INC. 
 

LABORATORY TESTING AND CLASSIFICATION 
 

 
Photoionization Detector (PID) 
 
In this procedure, soil samples are “scanned” in Giles’ analytical laboratory using a 
Photoionization Detector (PID). The instrument is equipped with an 11.7 eV lamp 
calibrated to a Benzene Standard and is capable of detecting a minute concentration of 
certain Volatile Organic Compound (VOC) vapors, such as those commonly associated 
with petroleum products and some solvents. Results of the PID analysis are expressed 
in HNu (manufacturer’s) units rather than actual concentration. 
 
Moisture Content (w) (ASTM D 2216) 
 
Moisture content is defined as the ratio of the weight of water contained within a soil 
sample to the weight of the dry solids within the sample. Moisture content is expressed 
as a percentage. 
 
Unconfined Compressive Strength (qu) (ASTM D 2166) 
 
An axial load is applied at a uniform rate to a cylindrical soil sample. The unconfined 
compressive strength is the maximum stress obtained or the stress when 15% axial 
strain is reached, whichever occurs first.  
 
Calibrated Penetrometer Resistance (qp) 
 
The small, cylindrical tip of a hand-held penetrometer is pressed into a soil sample to a 
prescribed depth to measure the soils capacity to resist penetration. This test is used to 
evaluate unconfined compressive strength. 
 
Vane-Shear Strength (qs) 
 
The blades of a vane are inserted into the flat surface of a soil sample and the vane is 
rotated until failure occurs. The maximum shear resistance measured immediately prior 
to failure is taken as the vane-shear strength. 
 
Loss-on-Ignition (ASTM D 2974; Method C) 
 
The Loss-on-Ignition (L.O.I.) test is used to determine the organic content of a soil 
sample. The procedure is conducted by heating a dry soil sample to 440°C in order to 
burn-off or “ash” organic matter present within the sample. The L.O.I. value is the ratio of 
the weight loss due to ignition compared to the initial weight of the dry sample. L.O.I. is 
expressed as a percentage.  
 
 
 



     GILES ENGINEERING ASSOCIATES, INC. 
 

Particle Size Distribution (ASTB D 421, D 422, and D 1140) 
 
This test is performed to determine the distribution of specific particle sizes (diameters) 
within a soil sample. The distribution of coarse-grained soil particles (sand and gravel) is 
determined from a “sieve analysis,” which is conducted by passing the sample through a 
series of nested sieves. The distribution of fine-grained soil particles (silt and clay) is 
determined from a “hydrometer analysis” which is based on the sedimentation of 
particles suspended in water.  
 
Consolidation Test (ASTM D 2435) 
 
In this procedure, a series of cumulative vertical loads are applied to a small, laterally 
confined soil sample. During each load increment, vertical compression (consolidation) 
of the sample is measured over a period of time. Results of this test are used to estimate 
settlement and time rate of settlement.  
 
Classification of Samples 
 
Each soil sample was visually-manually classified, based on texture and plasticity, in 
general accordance with the Unified Soil Classification System (ASTM D-2488-75). The 
classifications are reported on the Test Boring Logs. 
 
Laboratory Testing 
 
The laboratory testing operations were conducted in general accordance with the 
procedures recommended by the American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) 
and/or other relevant specifications. Results of the laboratory tests are provided on the 
Test Boring Logs or other appendix enclosures. Explanation of the terms and symbols 
used on the logs is provided on the appendix enclosure entitled “General Notes.” 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



    GILES ENGINEERING ASSOCIATES, INC. 

California Bearing Ratio (CBR) Test ASTM D-1833 

The CBR test is used for evaluation of a soil subgrade for pavement design. The test 
consists of measuring the force required for a 3-square-inch cylindrical piston to 
penetrate 0.1 or 0.2 inch into a compacted soil sample. The result is expressed as a 
percent of force required to penetrate a standard compacted crushed stone. 

Unless a CBR test has been specifically requested by the client, the CBR is estimated 
from published charts, based on soil classification and strength characteristics. A typical 
correlation chart is below.  



APPENDIX D 

GENERAL INFORMATION

AND 
IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT 
THIS GEOTECHNICAL REPORT



     GILES ENGINEERING ASSOCIATES, INC. 
 

 
GENERAL COMMENTS 

 
 
The soil samples obtained during the subsurface exploration will be retained for a period 
of thirty days. If no instructions are received, they will be disposed of at that time. 
 
This report has been prepared exclusively for the client in order to aid in the evaluation 
of this property and to assist the architects and engineers in the design and preparation 
of the project plans and specifications. Copies of this report may be provided to 
contractor(s), with contract documents, to disclose information relative to this project. 
The report, however, has not been prepared to serve as the plans and specifications for 
actual construction without the appropriate interpretation by the project architect, 
structural engineer, and/or civil engineer. Reproduction and distribution of this report 
must be authorized by the client and Giles.  
 
This report has been based on assumed conditions/characteristics of the proposed 
development where specific information was not available. It is recommended that the 
architect, civil engineer and structural engineer along with any other design 
professionals involved in this project carefully review these assumptions to ensure they 
are consistent with the actual planned development. When discrepancies exist, they 
should be brought to our attention to ensure they do not affect the conclusions and 
recommendations provided herein. The project plans and specifications may also be 
submitted to Giles for review to ensure that the geotechnical related conclusions and 
recommendations provided herein have been correctly interpreted.  
 
The analysis of this site was based on a subsoil profile interpolated from a limited 
subsurface exploration. If the actual conditions encountered during construction vary 
from those indicated by the borings, Giles must be contacted immediately to determine if 
the conditions alter the recommendations contained herein. 
 
The conclusions and recommendations presented in this report have been promulgated 
in accordance with generally accepted professional engineering practices in the field of 
geotechnical engineering. No other warranty is either expressed or implied. 



 
 

GUIDE SPECIFICATIONS FOR SUBGRADE AND GRADE PREPARATION 
FOR FILL, FOUNDATION, FLOOR SLAB AND PAVEMENT SUPPORT; 
AND SELECTION, PLACEMENT AND COMPACTION OF FILL SOILS 

USING STANDARD PROCTOR PROCEDURES 
 

 
1. Construction monitoring and testing of subgrades and grades for fill, foundation, floor slab and pavement; and fill   selection, 

placement and compaction shall be performed by an experienced soils engineer and/or his representatives. 
 
2. All compaction fill, subgrades and grades shall be (a) underlain by suitable bearing material; (b) free of all organic, frozen, or other 

deleterious material, and (c) observed, tested and approved by qualified engineering personnel representing an experienced soils 
engineer. Preparation of subgrades after stripping vegetation, organic or other unsuitable materials shall consist of (a) proof-rolling to 
detect soil, wet yielding soils or other unstable materials that must be undercut, (b) scarifying top 6 to 8 inches, (c) moisture 
conditioning the soils as required, and (d) recompaction to same minimum in-situ density required for similar materials indicated 
under Item 5. Note: compaction requirements for pavement subgrade are higher than other areas. Weather and construction 
equipment may damage compacted fill surface and reworking and retesting may be necessary to assure proper performance.  

 
3. In overexcavation and fill areas, the compacted fill must extend (a) a minimum 1 foot lateral distance beyond the exterior edge of the 

foundation at bearing grade or pavement subgrade and down to compacted fill subgrade on a maximum 0.5(H):1(V) slope, (b) 1 foot 
above footing grade outside the building, and (c) to floor subgrade inside the building.  Fill shall be placed and compacted on a 
5(H):1(V) slope or must be stepped or benched as required to flatten if not specifically approved by qualified personnel under the 
direction of an experienced soil engineer. 

 
4. The compacted fill materials shall be free of deleterious, organic, or frozen matter, shall contain no chemicals that may result in the 

material being classified as “contaminated”, and shall be low-expansive with a maximum Liquid Limit (ASTM D-423) and Plasticity 
Index (ASTM D-424) of 30 and 15, respectively, unless specifically tested and found to have low expansive properties and approved 
by an experienced soils engineer.  The top 12 inches of compacted fill should have a maximum 3-inch-particle diameter and all 
underlying compacted fill a maximum 6-inch-diameter unless specifically approved by an experienced soils engineer.  All fill 
materials must be tested and approved under the direction of an experienced soils engineer prior to placement.  If the fill is to provide 
non-frost susceptible characteristics, it must be classified as a clean GW, GP, SW or SP per the Unified Soil Classification System 
(ASTM D-2487). 

 
5. For structural fill depths less than 20 feet, the density of the structural compacted fill and scarified subgrade and grades shall not be 

less than 95 percent of the maximum dry density as determined by Standard Proctor (ASTM-698) with the exception of the top 12 
inches of pavement subgrade which shall have a minimum in-situ density of 100 percent of maximum dry density, or 5 percent higher 
than underlying fill materials.  Where the structural fill depth is greater than 20 feet, the portions below 20 feet should have a 
minimum in-place density of 100 percent of its maximum dry density of 5 percent greater than the top 20 feet. The moisture content 
of cohesive soil shall not vary by more than -1 to +3 percent and granular soil ±3 percent of the optimum when placed and compacted 
or recompacted, unless specifically recommended/approved by the soils engineer monitoring the placement and compaction.  
Cohesive soils with moderate to high expansion potentials (PI>15) should, however, be placed, compacted and maintained prior to 
construction at a moisture content 3±1 percent above optimum moisture content to limit further heave.  The fill shall be placed in 
layers with a maximum loose thickness of 8 inches for foundations and 10 inches for floor slabs and pavement, unless specifically 
approved by the soils engineer taking into consideration the type of materials and compaction equipment being used.  The 
compaction equipment should consist of suitable mechanical equipment specifically designed for soil compaction.  Bulldozers or 
similar tracked vehicles are typically not suitable for compaction. 

 
6. Excavation, filling, subgrade and grade preparation shall be performed in a manner and sequence that will provide drainage at all 

times and proper control of erosion.  Precipitation, springs and seepage water encountered shall be pumped or drained to provide a 
suitable working platform.  Springs or water seepage encountered during grading/foundation construction must be called to the soil 
engineer’s attention immediately for possible construction procedure revision or inclusion of an underdrain system. 

 
7. Non-structural fill adjacent to structural fill should typically be placed in unison to provide lateral support.  Backfill along walls must 

be placed and compacted with care to ensure excessive unbalanced lateral pressures do not develop.  The type of fill material placed 
adjacent to below-grade walls (i.e. basement walls and retaining walls) must be properly tested and approved by an experienced soils 
engineer with consideration for the lateral pressure used in the wall design. 

 
8. Whenever, in the opinion of the soils engineer or the Owner’s Representatives, an unstable condition is being created either by 

cutting or filling, the work shall not proceed into that area until an appropriate geotechnical exploration and analysis has been 
performed and the grading plan revised, if found necessary. 

 
 

     GILES ENGINEERING ASSOCIATES, INC. 



With Dust 
Palliative

With 
Bituminous 
Treatment

GW Good: tractor, rubber-tired, steel 
wheel or vibratory roller

125-135 Almost none Good drainage, 
pervious

Very stable Excellent Good Fair to
poor

Excellent

GP Good: tractor, rubber-tired, steel 
wheel or vibratory roller

115-125 Almost none Good drainage, 
pervious

Reasonably 
stable

Excellent to 
good

Poor to fair Poor

GM Good: rubber-tired or light 
sheepsfoot roller

120-135 Slight Poor drainage, 
semipervious

Reasonably 
stable

Excellent to 
good

Fair to poor Poor Poor to fair

GC Good to fair: rubber-tired or 
sheepsfoot roller

115-130 Slight Poor drainage, 
impervious

Reasonably 
stable

Good Good to fair 
**

Excellent Excellent

SW Good: tractor, rubber-tired or 
vibratory roller

110-130 Almost none Good drainage, 
pervious

Very stable Good Fair to poor Fair to
poor

Good

SP Good: tractor, rubber-tired or 
vibratory roller

100-120 Almost none Good drainage, 
pervious

Reasonably 
stable when 
dense

Good to fair Poor Poor Poor to fair

SM Good: rubber-tired or sheepsfoot 
roller

110-125 Slight Poor drainage, 
impervious

Reasonably 
stable when 
dense

Good to fair Poor Poor Poor to fair

SC Good to fair: rubber-tired or 
sheepsfoot roller

105-125 Slight to
medium

Poor drainage, 
impervious

Reasonably 
stable

Good to fair Fair to poor Excellent Excellent

ML Good to poor: rubber-tired or 
sheepsfoot roller

95-120 Slight to
medium

Poor drainage, 
impervious

Poor stability, 
high density 
required

Fair to poor Not suitable Poor Poor

CL Good to fair: sheepsfoot or rubber-
tired roller

95-120 Medium No drainage, 
impervious

Good stability Fair to poor Not suitable Poor Poor

OL Fair to poor: sheepsfoot or rubber-
tired roller

80-100 Medium to high Poor drainage, 
impervious

Unstable, should 
not be used

Poor Not suitable Not suitable Not suitable

MH Fair to poor: sheepsfoot or rubber-
tired roller

70-95 High Poor drainage, 
impervious

Poor stability, 
should not be 
used

Poor Not suitable Very poor Not suitable

CH Fair to poor: sheepsfoot roller 80-105 Very high No drainage, 
impervious

Fair stability, 
may soften on 
expansion

Poor to very 
poor

Not suitable Very poor Not suitable

OH Fair to poor: sheepsfoot roller 65-100 High No drainage, 
impervious

Unstable, should 
not be used

Very poor Not suitable Not
suitable

Not suitable

Pt Not suitable Very high Fair to poor 
drainage

Should not be 
used

Not suitable Not suitable Not
suitable

Not suitable

*      "The Unified Classification: Appendix A - Characteristics of Soil, Groups Pertaining to Roads and Airfields, and Appendix B - Characteristics of Soil Groups Pertaining to Embankments
        and Foundations," Technical Memorandum 357, U.S. Waterways Ixperiment Station, Vicksburg, 1953.

**    Not suitable if subject to frost.

                 GILES ENGINEERING ASSOCIATES, INC.
 

CHARACTERISTICS AND RATINGS OF UNIFIED SOIL SYSTEM CLASSES FOR SOIL CONSTRUCTION *
Value as Temporary 

Pavement
Class Compaction

Characteristics

Max. Dry 
Density 

Standard 
Proctor 

(pcf)

Compressibility 
and Expansion

Drainage and 
Permeability

Value as an 
Embankment 

Material

Value as 
Subgrade 
When Not 
Subject to 

Frost

Value as Base 
Course



Giles Engineering Associates, Inc.

UNIFIED SOIL CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM (ASTM D-2487)

Major Divisions
Group 

Symbols
Typical Names Laboratory Classifi cation Criteria

C
o

ar
se

-g
ra

in
ed

 s
o

ils
(m

o
re

 t
h

an
 h

al
f o

f m
at

er
ia

l i
s 

la
rg

er
 t

h
an

 N
o.

 2
00

 s
ie

ve
 s

iz
e)

G
ra

ve
ls

(M
o

re
 t

h
an

 h
al

f o
f c

o
ar

se
 fr

ac
ti

o
n

 is
 la

rg
er

 
th

an
 N

o.
 4

 s
ie

ve
 s

iz
e)

C
le

an
 g

ra
ve

ls
(li

tt
le

 o
r 

n
o

 
fi n

es
)

GW
Well-graded gravels, 

gravel-sand mixtures, 
little or no fi nes

D
et

er
m

in
e 

p
er

ce
n

ta
g

es
 o

f s
an

d
 a

n
d

 g
ra

ve
l f

ro
m

 g
ra

in
-s

iz
e 

cu
rv

e.
D

et
er

m
in

e 
p

er
ce

n
ta

g
es

 o
f s

an
d

 a
n

d
 g

ra
ve

l f
ro

m
 g

ra
in

-s
iz

e 
cu

rv
e.

D
ep

en
d

in
g

 o
n

 p
er

ce
n

ta
g

e 
o

f fi
 n

es
 (f

ra
ct

io
n

 s
m

al
le

r t
h

an
 N

o.
 2

00
 s

ie
ve

 s
iz

e)
, c

o
ar

se
-

D
ep

en
d

in
g

 o
n

 p
er

ce
n

ta
g

e 
o

f fi
 n

es
 (f

ra
ct

io
n

 s
m

al
le

r t
h

an
 N

o.
 2

00
 s

ie
ve

 s
iz

e)
, c

o
ar

se
-

D
ep

en
d

in
g

 o
n

 p
er

ce
n

ta
g

e 
o

f fi
 n

es
 (f

ra
ct

io
n

 s
m

al
le

r t
h

an
 N

o.
 2

00
 s

ie
ve

 s
iz

e)
, c

o
ar

se
-

D
ep

en
d

in
g

 o
n

 p
er

ce
n

ta
g

e 
o

f fi
 n

es
 (f

ra
ct

io
n

 s
m

al
le

r t
h

an
 N

o.
 2

00
 s

ie
ve

 s
iz

e)
, c

o
ar

se
-

D
ep

en
d

in
g

 o
n

 p
er

ce
n

ta
g

e 
o

f fi
 n

es
 (f

ra
ct

io
n

 s
m

al
le

r t
h

an
 N

o.
 2

00
 s

ie
ve

 s
iz

e)
, c

o
ar

se
-

g
ra

in
ed

 s
o

ils
 a

re
 c

la
ss

ifi 
ed

 a
s 

fo
llo

w
s:

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
Le

ss
 t

h
an

 5
 p

er
ce

n
t: 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
G

W
, G

P, 
SW

, S
P

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
Le

ss
 t

h
an

 5
 p

er
ce

n
t: 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
G

W
, G

P, 
SW

, S
P

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
Le

ss
 t

h
an

 5
 p

er
ce

n
t: 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
G

W
, G

P, 
SW

, S
P

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
Le

ss
 t

h
an

 5
 p

er
ce

n
t: 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
G

W
, G

P, 
SW

, S
P

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
M

o
re

 t
h

an
 1

2 
p

er
ce

n
t: 

   
   

   
   

   
 G

M
, G

C
, S

M
, S

C
   

   
   

   
   

  
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

M
o

re
 t

h
an

 1
2 

p
er

ce
n

t: 
   

   
   

   
   

 G
M

, G
C

, S
M

, S
C

   
   

   
   

   
  

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
M

o
re

 t
h

an
 1

2 
p

er
ce

n
t: 

   
   

   
   

   
 G

M
, G

C
, S

M
, S

C
   

   
   

   
   

  
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

M
o

re
 t

h
an

 1
2 

p
er

ce
n

t: 
   

   
   

   
   

 G
M

, G
C

, S
M

, S
C

   
   

   
   

   
  

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
5 

to
 1

2 
p

er
ce

n
t: 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
5 

to
 1

2 
p

er
ce

n
t: 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 B

or
de

rl
in

e 
 c

as
es

 re
q

u
ir

in
g

 d
u

al
 s

ym
b

o
ls

b

C
u
 =        greater than 4; C

c
 =                  between 1 and 3

GP
Poorly graded gravels, 
gravel-sand mixtrues, 

little or no fi nes
Not meeting all gradation requirements for GW

G
ra

ve
ls

 w
it

h
 fi 

n
es

(a
p

p
re

ci
ab

le
 a

m
o

u
n

t 
o

f 
fi n

es
)

GMa

d

Silty gravels, gravel-
sand-silt mixtures

Atterberg limits 
below “A” line or P.I. 

less than 4

Limits plotting within shaded 
area,  above “A” line with P.I. 

between 4 and 7 are 
borderline cases requiring       

use of dual symbols

u

GC
Clayey gravels, gravel-

sand-clay mixtures

Atterberg limits 
above “A” line or P.I. 

greater than 7

Sa
n

d
s

(M
o

re
 t

h
an

 h
al

f o
f c

o
ar

se
 fr

ac
ti

o
n

 is
 

sm
al

le
r 

th
an

 N
o.

 4
 s

ie
ve

 s
iz

e)

C
le

an
 s

an
d

s
(L

it
tl

e 
o

r 
n

o
 

fi n
es

)

SW
Well-graded sands, 

gravelly sands, little or 
no fi nes

C
u
 =        greater than 4; C

c
 =                   between 1 and 3

SP
Poorly graded sands, 

gravelly sands, little or 
no fi nes

Not meeting all gradation requirements for SW

Sa
n

d
s 

w
it

h
 fi 

n
es

(A
p

p
re

ci
ab

le
 a

m
o

u
n

t 
o

f fi
 n

es
) SMa

d
Silty sands, sand-silt 

mixtures

Atterberg limits 
below “A” line or P.I. 

less than 4

Limits plotting within shaded 
area,  above “A” line with P.I. 

between 4 and 7 are 
borderline cases requiring       

use of dual symbols

u

SC
Clayey sands, sand-clay Clayey sands, sand-clay Clayey sands, sand-clay 

mixtures

Atterberg limits 
above “A” line or P.I. 

greater than 7

Fi
n

e-
g

ra
in

ed
 s

o
ils

(M
o

re
 t

h
an

 h
al

f m
at

er
ia

l i
s 

sm
al

le
r 

th
an

 N
o.

 2
00

 s
ie

ve
 s

iz
e)

Si
lt

s 
an

d
 c

la
ys

(L
iq

u
id

 li
m

it
 le

ss
 t

h
an

 5
0) ML

Inorganic silts and 
very fi ne sands, rock 

fl our, silty or clayey fi ne 
sands, or clayey silts 
with slight plasticity 

CL

Inorganic clays of low 
to medium plasticity, 
gravelly clays, sandy 

clays, silty clays

OL
Organic silts and 

organic silty clays of 
low plasticity

Si
lt

s 
an

d
 c

la
ys

(L
iq

u
id

 li
m

it
 g

re
at

er
 t

h
an

 5
0)

MH

Inorganic silts, mica-
ceous or diatomaceous 
fi ne sandy or silty soils, 

elastic silts

CH
Inorganic clays of high 

plasticity, fat clays

OH
Organic clays of 
medium to high 

plasticity, organic silts

H
ig

h
ly

 
o

rg
an

ic
 

so
ils Pt

Peat and other highly 
organic soils

D
 =        greater than 4; C

D
 =        greater than 4; C60 =        greater than 4; C60 =        greater than 4; C

D
 =        greater than 4; C

D
 =        greater than 4; C

10

 =        greater than 4; C
   (D

 =                  between 1 and 3
   (D

 =                  between 1 and 330 =                  between 1 and 330 =                  between 1 and 3
)

 =                  between 1 and 3
)

 =                  between 1 and 3
2

D
 =                  between 1 and 3

D
 =                  between 1 and 3

10
 x D

 =                  between 1 and 3
 x D

 =                  between 1 and 3
60

 =                  between 1 and 3

D
60 =        greater than 4; C60 =        greater than 4; C

D
 =        greater than 4; C

D
 =        greater than 4; C

10

 =        greater than 4; C
   (D

 =                   between 1 and 3
   (D

 =                   between 1 and 330 =                   between 1 and 330 =                   between 1 and 3
)

 =                   between 1 and 3
)

 =                   between 1 and 3
2

D
 =                   between 1 and 3

D
 =                   between 1 and 3

10
 x D

 =                   between 1 and 3
 x D

 =                   between 1 and 3
60

 =                   between 1 and 3

Plasticity Chart

P
la

st
ic

it
y 

In
d

ex

0 10 50 1000 10 50 10020 900 10 50 1000 10 50 100800 10 50 10020 900 10 50 100800 10 50 1000 10 50 100700 10 50 10020 900 10 50 100700 10 50 1000 10 50 100600 10 50 10020 900 10 50 100600 10 50 1000 10 50 100400 10 50 10020 900 10 50 100400 10 50 1000 10 50 100300 10 50 10020 900 10 50 100300 10 50 100
0

10

50

60

40

20

30

CH

OH and MHOH and MH

CL

ML and OLML and OL

CL-ML

“A
” l

in
e

Liquid Limit

a Division of GM and SM groups into subdivisions of d and u are for roads and airfi elds only. Subdivision is based on Atterberg limits, suffi x d used 
when L.L. is 28 or less and the P.I. is 6 or less; the suffi x u is used when L.L. is greater than 28.
b Borderline classifi cations, used for soils possessing characteristics of two groups, are designated by combinations of group sympols. For 
example GW-GC, well-graded gravel-sand mixture with clay binder.



  
                         GILES ENGINEERING ASSOCIATES, INC. 

 

GENERAL NOTES 
SAMPLE IDENTIFICATION 
All samples are visually classified in general accordance with the Unified Soil Classification System (ASTM D-2487-75 or D-2488-75) 
 
DESCRIPTIVE TERM (% BY DRY WEIGHT)  PARTICLE SIZE (DIAMETER) 
Trace:   1-10%    Boulders: 8 inch and larger 
Little:   11-20%    Cobbles:  3 inch to 8 inch 
Some:   21-35%    Gravel:  coarse - ¾ to 3 inch 
And/Adjective  36-50%      fine – No. 4 (4.76 mm) to ¾ inch 
       Sand:  coarse – No. 4 (4.76 mm) to No. 10 (2.0 mm) 
         medium – No. 10 (2.0 mm) to No. 40 (0.42 mm) 
         fine – No. 40 (0.42 mm) to No. 200 (0.074 mm) 
       Silt:  No. 200 (0.074 mm) and smaller (non-plastic) 
       Clay:  No 200 (0.074 mm) and smaller (plastic) 
 
SOIL PROPERTY SYMBOLS    DRILLING AND SAMPLING SYMBOLS 
Dd: Dry Density (pcf)     SS: Split-Spoon 
LL: Liquid Limit, percent    ST: Shelby Tube – 3 inch O.D. (except where noted) 
PL: Plastic Limit, percent    CS: 3 inch O.D. California Ring Sampler 
PI: Plasticity Index (LL-PL)    DC: Dynamic Cone Penetrometer per ASTM 
LOI: Loss on Ignition, percent     Special Technical Publication No. 399 
Gs: Specific Gravity     AU: Auger Sample 
K: Coefficient of Permeability    DB: Diamond Bit 
w: Moisture content, percent    CB: Carbide Bit 
qp: Calibrated Penetrometer Resistance, tsf   WS: Wash Sample 
qs: Vane-Shear Strength, tsf    RB: Rock-Roller Bit 
qu: Unconfined Compressive Strength, tsf   BS: Bulk Sample 
qc: Static Cone Penetrometer Resistance   Note: Depth intervals for sampling shown on Record of 
 (correlated to Unconfined Compressive Strength, tsf)  Subsurface Exploration are not indicative of sample 
PID: Results of vapor analysis conducted on representative  recovery, but position where sampling initiated 
 samples utilizing a Photoionization Detector calibrated 
 to a benzene standard.  Results expressed in HNU-Units.  (BDL=Below Detection Limit) 
N: Penetration Resistance per 12 inch interval, or fraction thereof, for a standard 2 inch O.D. (1⅜ inch I.D.) split spoon sampler driven 

with a 140 pound weight free-falling 30 inches.  Performed in general accordance with Standard Penetration Test Specifications (ASTM D-
1586).  N in blows per foot equals sum of N-Values where plus sign (+) is shown. 

Nc: Penetration Resistance per 1¾ inches of Dynamic Cone Penetrometer.  Approximately equivalent to Standard Penetration Test  
N-Value in blows per foot. 

Nr: Penetration Resistance per 12 inch interval, or fraction thereof, for California Ring Sampler driven with a 140 pound weight free-falling 30 
inches per ASTM D-3550.  Not equivalent to Standard Penetration Test N-Value. 

 
SOIL STRENGTH CHARACTERISTICS 

 
COHESIVE (CLAYEY) SOILS     NON-COHESIVE (GRANULAR) SOILS 

      UNCONFINED 
COMPARATIVE BLOWS PER  COMPRESSIVE  RELATIVE BLOWS PER 
CONSISTENCY FOOT (N)  STRENGTH (TSF)  DENSITY FOOT (N) 
 
Very Soft   0 - 2   0 - 0.25    Very Loose 0 - 4 
Soft   3 - 4   0.25 - 0.50   Loose  5 - 10 
Medium Stiff  5 – 8   0.50 - 1.00   Firm  11 - 30 
Stiff   9 – 15   1.00 - 2.00   Dense  31 - 50 
Very Stiff  16 – 30   2.00 - 4.00   Very Dense 51+ 
Hard   31+   4.00+ 
 
     DEGREE OF 
DEGREE OF    EXPANSIVE 
PLASTICITY  PI  POTENTIAL       PI 
 
None to Slight  0 - 4  Low        0 - 15 
Slight   5 - 10  Medium        15 - 25 
Medium   11 - 30  High        25+ 
High to Very High  31+ 



Geotechnical-Engineering Report
Important Information about This

Subsurface problems are a principal cause of construction delays, cost overruns, claims, and disputes. 

While you cannot eliminate all such risks, you can manage them. The following information is provided to help.

The Geoprofessional Business Association (GBA) 
has prepared this advisory to help you – assumedly 
a client representative – interpret and apply this 
geotechnical-engineering report as effectively as 
possible. In that way, you can benefit from a lowered 
exposure to problems associated with subsurface 
conditions at project sites and development of 
them that, for decades, have been a principal cause 
of construction delays, cost overruns, claims, 
and disputes. If you have questions or want more 
information about any of the issues discussed herein, 
contact your GBA-member geotechnical engineer. 
Active engagement in GBA exposes geotechnical 
engineers to a wide array of risk-confrontation 
techniques that can be of genuine benefit for 
everyone involved with a construction project.

Understand the Geotechnical-Engineering Services 
Provided for this Report
Geotechnical-engineering services typically include the planning, 
collection, interpretation, and analysis of exploratory data from 
widely spaced borings and/or test pits. Field data are combined 
with results from laboratory tests of soil and rock samples obtained 
from field exploration (if applicable), observations made during site 
reconnaissance, and historical information to form one or more models 
of the expected subsurface conditions beneath the site. Local geology 
and alterations of the site surface and subsurface by previous and 
proposed construction are also important considerations. Geotechnical 
engineers apply their engineering training, experience, and judgment 
to adapt the requirements of the prospective project to the subsurface 
model(s).  Estimates are made of the subsurface conditions that 
will likely be exposed during construction as well as the expected 
performance of foundations and other structures being planned and/or 
affected by construction activities.

The culmination of these geotechnical-engineering services is typically a 
geotechnical-engineering report providing the data obtained, a discussion 
of the subsurface model(s), the engineering and geologic engineering 
assessments and analyses made, and the recommendations developed 
to satisfy the given requirements of the project. These reports may be 
titled investigations, explorations, studies, assessments, or evaluations. 
Regardless of the title used, the geotechnical-engineering report is an  
engineering interpretation of the subsurface conditions within the context 
of the project and does not represent a close examination, systematic 
inquiry, or thorough investigation of all site and subsurface conditions.

Geotechnical-Engineering Services are Performed 
 for Specific Purposes, Persons, and Projects,  
and At Specific Times
Geotechnical engineers structure their services to meet the specific 
needs, goals, and risk management preferences of their clients. A 
geotechnical-engineering study conducted for a given civil engineer 

will not likely meet the needs of a civil-works constructor or even a 
different civil engineer. Because each geotechnical-engineering study 
is unique, each geotechnical-engineering report is unique, prepared 
solely for the client.

Likewise, geotechnical-engineering services are performed for a specific 
project and purpose. For example, it is unlikely that a geotechnical-
engineering study for a refrigerated warehouse will be the same as 
one prepared for a parking garage; and a few borings drilled during 
a preliminary study to evaluate site feasibility will not be adequate to 
develop geotechnical design recommendations for the project.

Do not rely on this report if your geotechnical engineer prepared it: 
• for a different client;
• for a different project or purpose;
• for a different site (that may or may not include all or a portion of 

the original site); or
• before important events occurred at the site or adjacent to it; 

e.g., man-made events like construction or environmental 
remediation, or natural events like floods, droughts, earthquakes, 
or groundwater fluctuations.

 
Note, too, the reliability of a geotechnical-engineering report can 
be affected by the passage of time, because of factors like changed 
subsurface conditions; new or modified codes, standards, or 
regulations; or new techniques or tools. If you are the least bit uncertain 
about the continued reliability of this report, contact your geotechnical 
engineer before applying the recommendations in it. A minor amount 
of additional testing or analysis after the passage of time – if any is 
required at all – could prevent major problems.

Read this Report in Full
Costly problems have occurred because those relying on a geotechnical-
engineering report did not read the report in its entirety. Do not rely on 
an executive summary. Do not read selective elements only. Read and 
refer to the report in full.

You Need to Inform Your Geotechnical Engineer  
About Change
Your geotechnical engineer considered unique, project-specific factors 
when developing the scope of study behind this report and developing 
the confirmation-dependent recommendations the report conveys. 
Typical changes that could erode the reliability of this report include 
those that affect:

• the site’s size or shape;
• the elevation, configuration, location, orientation,  

function or weight of the proposed structure and  
the desired performance criteria;

• the composition of the design team; or 
• project ownership.

As a general rule, always inform your geotechnical engineer of project 
or site changes – even minor ones – and request an assessment of their 
impact. The geotechnical engineer who prepared this report cannot accept 



responsibility or liability for problems that arise because the geotechnical 
engineer was not informed about developments the engineer otherwise 
would have considered.

Most of the “Findings” Related in This Report  
Are Professional Opinions
Before construction begins, geotechnical engineers explore a site’s 
subsurface using various sampling and testing procedures. Geotechnical 
engineers can observe actual subsurface conditions only at those specific 
locations where sampling and testing is performed. The data derived from 
that sampling and testing were reviewed by your geotechnical engineer, 
who then applied professional judgement to form opinions about 
subsurface conditions throughout the site. Actual sitewide-subsurface 
conditions may differ – maybe significantly – from those indicated in 
this report. Confront that risk by retaining your geotechnical engineer 
to serve on the design team through project completion to obtain 
informed guidance quickly, whenever needed.

This Report’s Recommendations Are  
Confirmation-Dependent
The recommendations included in this report – including any options or 
alternatives – are confirmation-dependent. In other words, they are not 
final, because the geotechnical engineer who developed them relied heavily 
on judgement and opinion to do so. Your geotechnical engineer can finalize 
the recommendations only after observing actual subsurface conditions 
exposed during construction. If through observation your geotechnical 
engineer confirms that the conditions assumed to exist actually do exist, 
the recommendations can be relied upon, assuming no other changes have 
occurred. The geotechnical engineer who prepared this report cannot assume 
responsibility or liability for confirmation-dependent recommendations if you 
fail to retain that engineer to perform construction observation.

This Report Could Be Misinterpreted
Other design professionals’ misinterpretation of geotechnical-
engineering reports has resulted in costly problems. Confront that risk 
by having your geotechnical engineer serve as a continuing member of 
the design team, to: 

• confer with other design-team members;
• help develop specifications;
• review pertinent elements of other design professionals’ plans and 

specifications; and
• be available whenever geotechnical-engineering guidance is needed.

You should also confront the risk of constructors misinterpreting this 
report. Do so by retaining your geotechnical engineer to participate in 
prebid and preconstruction conferences and to perform construction-
phase observations. 

Give Constructors a Complete Report and Guidance
Some owners and design professionals mistakenly believe they can shift 
unanticipated-subsurface-conditions liability to constructors by limiting 
the information they provide for bid preparation. To help prevent 
the costly, contentious problems this practice has caused, include the 
complete geotechnical-engineering report, along with any attachments 
or appendices, with your contract documents, but be certain to note 

conspicuously that you’ve included the material for information purposes 
only. To avoid misunderstanding, you may also want to note that 
“informational purposes” means constructors have no right to rely on 
the interpretations, opinions, conclusions, or recommendations in the 
report. Be certain that constructors know they may learn about specific 
project requirements, including options selected from the report, only 
from the design drawings and specifications. Remind constructors 
that they may perform their own studies if they want to, and be sure to 
allow enough time to permit them to do so. Only then might you be in 
a position to give constructors the information available to you, while 
requiring them to at least share some of the financial responsibilities 
stemming from unanticipated conditions. Conducting prebid and 
preconstruction conferences can also be valuable in this respect.

Read Responsibility Provisions Closely
Some client representatives, design professionals, and constructors do 
not realize that geotechnical engineering is far less exact than other 
engineering disciplines. This happens in part because soil and rock on 
project sites are typically heterogeneous and not manufactured materials 
with well-defined engineering properties like steel and concrete. That 
lack of understanding has nurtured unrealistic expectations that have 
resulted in disappointments, delays, cost overruns, claims, and disputes. 
To confront that risk, geotechnical engineers commonly include 
explanatory provisions in their reports. Sometimes labeled “limitations,” 
many of these provisions indicate where geotechnical engineers’ 
responsibilities begin and end, to help others recognize their own 
responsibilities and risks. Read these provisions closely. Ask questions. 
Your geotechnical engineer should respond fully and frankly.

Geoenvironmental Concerns Are Not Covered
The personnel, equipment, and techniques used to perform an 
environmental study – e.g., a “phase-one” or “phase-two” environmental 
site assessment – differ significantly from those used to perform a 
geotechnical-engineering study. For that reason, a geotechnical-engineering 
report does not usually provide environmental findings, conclusions, or 
recommendations; e.g., about the likelihood of encountering underground 
storage tanks or regulated contaminants. Unanticipated subsurface 
environmental problems have led to project failures. If you have not 
obtained your own environmental information about the project site, 
ask your geotechnical consultant for a recommendation on how to find 
environmental risk-management guidance.

Obtain Professional Assistance to Deal with  
Moisture Infiltration and Mold
While your geotechnical engineer may have addressed groundwater, 
water infiltration, or similar issues in this report, the engineer’s 
services were not designed, conducted, or intended to prevent 
migration of moisture – including water vapor – from the soil 
through building slabs and walls and into the building interior, where 
it can cause mold growth and material-performance deficiencies. 
Accordingly, proper implementation of the geotechnical engineer’s 
recommendations will not of itself be sufficient to prevent 
moisture infiltration. Confront the risk of moisture infiltration by 
including building-envelope or mold specialists on the design team. 
Geotechnical engineers are not building-envelope or mold specialists.

Copyright 2019 by Geoprofessional Business Association (GBA). Duplication, reproduction, or copying of this document, in whole or in part, by any means whatsoever, is strictly 
prohibited, except with GBA’s specific written permission. Excerpting, quoting, or otherwise extracting wording from this document is permitted only with the express written permission of 
GBA, and only for purposes of scholarly research or book review. Only members of GBA may use this document or its wording as a complement to or as an element of a report of any kind. 

Any other firm, individual, or other entity that so uses this document without being a GBA member could be committing negligent or intentional (fraudulent) misrepresentation.

Telephone: 301/565-2733
e-mail: info@geoprofessional.org www.geoprofessional.org





c The Redmond Company2021

24056 06.20.2024

Tsunami Express Car Wash
Cover Sheet





ST
H 

10
0 

- S
. L

O
VE

RS
 LA

NE
 R

O
AD

WHITNALL EDGE ROAD

DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

40'

SCALE 1"=20'

20' 0' 20' 40'

MRM
SCB

2-12-2024
ALJ

7-8-2024

2024.0021.01

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

LEGEND
5/8" REBAR FOUND

1-1/4" IRON PIPE FOUND

REBAR W/CAP FOUND

LIGHT POLE

SIGN

SANITARY SEWERCATCH BASIN

STORM MANHOLE

STORM SEWER

SANITARY MANHOLE

WATER MAIN

HYDRANT

WATER VALVEELECTRIC LINE

COMMUNICATION LINE

GAS MAIN

GAS VALVEDECIDUOUS TREE

CONIFEROUS TREE

SOIL BORING

NOTES
BEARING BASE: GRID NORTH, WISCONSIN
COORDINATE SYSTEM, SOUTH ZONE.
BASED UPON NAD 1983 / 2011.

ALL ELEVATIONS REFER TO NATIONAL
GEODETIC DATUM OF 1929.

EXISTING UTILITIES ARE SHOWN FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES
ONLY AND ARE NOT GUARANTEED TO BE ACCURATE OR ALL
INCLUSIVE.  CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR VERIFYING THE
TYPE, LOCATION, SIZE AND ELEVATION OF UNDERGROUND UTILITIES
AS THEY DEEM NECESSARY FOR PROPOSED UTILITY CONNECTIONS
AND / OR TO AVOID DAMAGE THERETO, CONTRACTOR SHALL CALL
“DIGGER'S HOTLINE” PRIOR TO ANY CONSTRUCTION.

UTILITY NOTE

EXISTING UTILITY DATA
STM 1
RIM 782.33
IE. 10" S 778.38
IE. 10" N 778.43
IE. 27" E 777.88
IE. 30" W 777.78

STM 2
RIM 787.38
IE. 27" SE 780.88
IE. 27" W 779.48

STM 3
RIM 789.89
IE. 27" E 781.89
IE. 27" W 781.84
IE. NE 782.19

STM 4
RIM 795.42
IE. 18" E 787.02
IE. 27" W 784.67
IE. 10" N 789.07
IE. 10" S 789.27

CB 1
RIM 782.08
IE. 10" N 778.68

CB 2
RIM 795.16
IE. 10" N 789.91

CB 3
RIM 795.11
IE. 10" S 790.41

CB 4
RIM 781.99
IE. 10" S 778.79

SAN 1
RIM 782.57
IE. 8" S 774.87
IE. 8" E 775.67
IE. 8" N 774.67

SAN 2
RIM 787.28
IE. 8" SE/W 778.78

SAN 3
RIM 795.54
IE. 8" NW/SE 782.14

TS
U

N
AM

I E
XP

RE
SS

 C
AR

 W
AS

H
 E

XI
ST

IN
G 

CO
N

DI
TI

O
N

S
FO

R
TS

U
N

AM
I E

XP
RE

SS
 C

AR
 W

AS
H 

FR
AN

KL
IN

, L
LC

.
CI

TY
 O

F 
FR

AN
KL

IN
, C

O
U

N
TY

 O
F 

M
IL

W
AU

KE
E,

 W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

C-2 IS
S
U
E
D
 F

O
R
 A

P
P
R
O
V
A
L
: 
7
-1

0
-2

0
2
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
BENCHMARK  HYDRANT TOP NUT  ELEV. 785.57

AutoCAD SHX Text
2:12:16 PM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Thursday, July 11, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
STM

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
CM

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"



ST
H 

10
0 

- S
. L

O
VE

RS
 LA

NE
 R

O
AD

WHITNALL EDGE ROAD

DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

40'

SCALE 1"=20'

20' 0' 20' 40'

MRM
SJF

5-28-2024

2024.0021.01

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

TS
U

N
AM

I E
XP

RE
SS

 C
AR

 W
AS

H
 D

IM
EN

SI
O

N
ED

 S
IT

E 
PL

AN
FO

R
TS

U
N

AM
I E

XP
RE

SS
 C

AR
 W

AS
H 

FR
AN

KL
IN

, L
LC

.
CI

TY
 O

F 
FR

AN
KL

IN
, C

O
U

N
TY

 O
F 

M
IL

W
AU

KE
E,

 W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

ALJ
7-8-2024

EXISTING UTILITIES ARE SHOWN FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES
ONLY AND ARE NOT GUARANTEED TO BE ACCURATE OR ALL
INCLUSIVE.  CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR VERIFYING THE
TYPE, LOCATION, SIZE AND ELEVATION OF UNDERGROUND UTILITIES
AS THEY DEEM NECESSARY FOR PROPOSED UTILITY CONNECTIONS
AND / OR TO AVOID DAMAGE THERETO, CONTRACTOR SHALL CALL
“DIGGER'S HOTLINE” PRIOR TO ANY CONSTRUCTION.

UTILITY NOTE

C-3 IS
S
U
E
D
 F

O
R
 A

P
P
R
O
V
A
L
: 
7
-1

0
-2

0
2
4

PARKING INFORMATION
PROPOSED

HC STALLS   1
STANDARD STALLS 19
TOTAL STALLS 20

STACKING BAYS   3
STALLS PER BAY   5
TOTAL SPACES 15

PROPOSED SITE INFORMATION
63,077 s.f. TOTAL LOT AREA
 
  5,179 s.f. BUILDING AREAS

25,030 s.f. PAVEMENT AREAS

32,868 s.f. GREEN SPACE AREA

47.89% IMPERVIOUS SURFACE RATIO

EXISTING SITE INFORMATION
63,077 s.f. TOTAL LOT AREA

63,077 s.f. GREEN SPACE AREA

ZONING INFORMATION
ZONING DISTRICT :  B-3 COMMUNITY BUSINESS DISTRICT

PR
O

PO
SED

 C
AR

 W
ASH

PROPOSED PUMP
HOUSE

PROPOSED
DUMPSTER

ENCLOSURE

PROPOSED
SALES BOOTH

PROPOSED
PAYMENT KIOSKS

PROPOSED
DETENTION BASIN

MONUMENT SIGN

SNOW STORAGE
THE DETENTION BASIN SHALL ACT AS THE
DESIGNATED SNOW STORAGE AREA

PAVED AREA SERVED = 20.25%

AutoCAD SHX Text
2:12:22 PM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Thursday, July 11, 2024



ST
H 

10
0 

- S
. L

O
VE

RS
 LA

NE
 R

O
AD

WHITNALL EDGE ROAD

DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

40'

SCALE 1"=20'

20' 0' 20' 40'

MRM
SJF

6-3-2024
ALJ

7-8-2024

2024.0021.01

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

EXISTING UTILITIES ARE SHOWN FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES
ONLY AND ARE NOT GUARANTEED TO BE ACCURATE OR ALL
INCLUSIVE.  CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR VERIFYING THE
TYPE, LOCATION, SIZE AND ELEVATION OF UNDERGROUND UTILITIES
AS THEY DEEM NECESSARY FOR PROPOSED UTILITY CONNECTIONS
AND / OR TO AVOID DAMAGE THERETO, CONTRACTOR SHALL CALL
“DIGGER'S HOTLINE” PRIOR TO ANY CONSTRUCTION.

UTILITY NOTE

DEMOLITION LEGEND
SAW CUT PAVEMENT (FULL DEPTH)

REMOVE CURB & GUTTER

REMOVE CONCRETE PAVEMENT

STRIP & SALVAGE TOPSOIL

MOVE SIGN

TS
U

N
AM

I E
XP

RE
SS

 C
AR

 W
AS

H
 S

IT
E 

DE
M

O
LI

TI
O

N
 P

LA
N

FO
R

TS
U

N
AM

I E
XP

RE
SS

 C
AR

 W
AS

H 
FR

AN
KL

IN
, L

LC
.

CI
TY

 O
F 

FR
AN

KL
IN

, C
O

U
N

TY
 O

F 
M

IL
W

AU
KE

E,
 W

IS
CO

N
SI

N

C-4 IS
S
U
E
D
 F

O
R
 A

P
P
R
O
V
A
L
: 
7
-1

0
-2

0
2
4

REMOVE &
SALVAGE ROCKS

REMOVE &
SALVAGE ROCKS

AutoCAD SHX Text
2:12:26 PM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Thursday, July 11, 2024



ST
H 

10
0 

- S
. L

O
VE

RS
 LA

NE
 R

O
AD

WHITNALL EDGE ROAD

DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

40'

SCALE 1"=20'

20' 0' 20' 40'

MRM
SJF

6-3-2024

2024.0021.01

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

TS
U

N
AM

I E
XP

RE
SS

 C
AR

 W
AS

H
 S

IT
E 

GR
AD

IN
G 

PL
AN

FO
R

TS
U

N
AM

I E
XP

RE
SS

 C
AR

 W
AS

H 
FR

AN
KL

IN
, L

LC
.

CI
TY

 O
F 

FR
AN

KL
IN

, C
O

U
N

TY
 O

F 
M

IL
W

AU
KE

E,
 W

IS
CO

N
SI

N
14

58
 H

or
izo

n 
Bl

vd
. S

ui
te

 2
00

, R
ac

in
e,

 W
I. 

53
40

6
Te

le
: (

26
2)

63
4-

55
88

  W
eb

sit
e:

 w
w

w
.n

m
bs

c.
ne

t

ALJ
7-8-2024

EXISTING CONTOURS

PROPOSED CONTOURS

EXISTING SPOT GRADES

GRADING LEGEND

EXISTING UTILITIES ARE SHOWN FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES
ONLY AND ARE NOT GUARANTEED TO BE ACCURATE OR ALL
INCLUSIVE.  CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR VERIFYING THE
TYPE, LOCATION, SIZE AND ELEVATION OF UNDERGROUND UTILITIES
AS THEY DEEM NECESSARY FOR PROPOSED UTILITY CONNECTIONS
AND / OR TO AVOID DAMAGE THERETO, CONTRACTOR SHALL CALL
“DIGGER'S HOTLINE” PRIOR TO ANY CONSTRUCTION.

UTILITY NOTE

C-5 IS
S
U
E
D
 F

O
R
 A

P
P
R
O
V
A
L
: 
7
-1

0
-2

0
2
4

PR
O

PO
SED

 C
AR

 W
ASH

FFE: 794.85

FFE: 795.05

AutoCAD SHX Text
2:12:31 PM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Thursday, July 11, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
702

AutoCAD SHX Text
692

AutoCAD SHX Text
604.88



ST
H 

10
0 

- S
. L

O
VE

RS
 LA

NE
 R

O
AD

WHITNALL EDGE ROAD

DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

40'

SCALE 1"=20'

20' 0' 20' 40'

MRM
SJF

6-3-2024

2024.0021.01

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

TS
U

N
AM

I E
XP

RE
SS

 C
AR

 W
AS

H
 E

RO
SI

O
N

 C
O

N
TR

O
L 

PL
AN

FO
R

TS
U

N
AM

I E
XP

RE
SS

 C
AR

 W
AS

H 
FR

AN
KL

IN
, L

LC
.

CI
TY

 O
F 

FR
AN

KL
IN

, C
O

U
N

TY
 O

F 
M

IL
W

AU
KE

E,
 W

IS
CO

N
SI

N
14

58
 H

or
izo

n 
Bl

vd
. S

ui
te

 2
00

, R
ac

in
e,

 W
I. 

53
40

6
Te

le
: (

26
2)

63
4-

55
88

  W
eb

sit
e:

 w
w

w
.n

m
bs

c.
ne

t

ALJ
7-8-2024

STORM SEWER INLET PROTECTION
(TYPE "C" UNLESS SPECIFIED OTHERWISE)

SILT FENCE

CONSTRUCTION FENCE

SLOPE EROSION MAT
(CLASS 1, TYPE A, URBAN)

STONE TRACKING PAD

LIMITS OF DISTURBANCE
(53,874 S.F. = 1.214 AC)

EROSION CONTROL LEGEND

EXISTING UTILITIES ARE SHOWN FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES
ONLY AND ARE NOT GUARANTEED TO BE ACCURATE OR ALL
INCLUSIVE.  CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR VERIFYING THE
TYPE, LOCATION, SIZE AND ELEVATION OF UNDERGROUND UTILITIES
AS THEY DEEM NECESSARY FOR PROPOSED UTILITY CONNECTIONS
AND / OR TO AVOID DAMAGE THERETO, CONTRACTOR SHALL CALL
“DIGGER'S HOTLINE” PRIOR TO ANY CONSTRUCTION.

UTILITY NOTE

C-6 IS
S
U
E
D
 F

O
R
 A

P
P
R
O
V
A
L
: 
7
-1

0
-2

0
2
4

PR
O

PO
SED

 C
AR

 W
ASH

FFE: 794.85

FFE: 795.05

AutoCAD SHX Text
2:12:36 PM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Thursday, July 11, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
\\



ST
H 

10
0 

- S
. L

O
VE

RS
 LA

NE
 R

O
AD

WHITNALL EDGE ROAD

DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

40'

SCALE 1"=20'

20' 0' 20' 40'

MRM
SJF

6-3-2024

2024.0021.01

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

TS
U

N
AM

I E
XP

RE
SS

 C
AR

 W
AS

H
PA

VE
M

EN
T 

GR
AD

IN
G 

PL
AN

FO
R

TS
U

N
AM

I E
XP

RE
SS

 C
AR

 W
AS

H 
FR

AN
KL

IN
, L

LC
.

CI
TY

 O
F 

FR
AN

KL
IN

, C
O

U
N

TY
 O

F 
M

IL
W

AU
KE

E,
 W

IS
CO

N
SI

N
14

58
 H

or
izo

n 
Bl

vd
. S

ui
te

 2
00

, R
ac

in
e,

 W
I. 

53
40

6
Te

le
: (

26
2)

63
4-

55
88

  W
eb

sit
e:

 w
w

w
.n

m
bs

c.
ne

t

ALJ
7-8-2024

EXISTING SPOT GRADES

FINISHED PAVEMENT GRADES

FINISHED TOP OF CURB GRADES
FINISHED CURB FLANGE GRADES

TOP OF RETAINING WALL
FINISHED GRADE AT BOTTOM OF WALL

PAVEMENT SWALE CENTERLINE

PAVEMENT RIDGE LINE

PAVEMENT GRADING LEGEND
MEDIUM-DUTY ASPHALT PAVEMENT

LIGHT-DUTY CONCRETE PAVEMENT

MEDIUM-DUTY CONCRETE PAVEMENT

VERTICAL FACE, CURB & GUTTER

REVERSE PAN, CURB & GUTTER

DRIVEWAY APPROACH CURB

ISA-W/B - INTERNATIONAL SYMBOL FOR ACCESSIBILITY - WHITE ON BLUE BACKGROUND

SWSL/4"/45°/4' - SINGLE WHITE SOLID LINE / 4" WIDE EACH, 45°, 4' O.C.

SWSL/4" - SINGLE WHITE SOLID LINE / 4" WIDE EACH

PAVEMENT MARKING LEGEND
A

C-Y

EXISTING UTILITIES ARE SHOWN FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES
ONLY AND ARE NOT GUARANTEED TO BE ACCURATE OR ALL
INCLUSIVE.  CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR VERIFYING THE
TYPE, LOCATION, SIZE AND ELEVATION OF UNDERGROUND UTILITIES
AS THEY DEEM NECESSARY FOR PROPOSED UTILITY CONNECTIONS
AND / OR TO AVOID DAMAGE THERETO, CONTRACTOR SHALL CALL
“DIGGER'S HOTLINE” PRIOR TO ANY CONSTRUCTION.

UTILITY NOTE

C-7 IS
S
U
E
D
 F

O
R
 A

P
P
R
O
V
A
L
: 
7
-1

0
-2

0
2
4

SCALE 1" = 10'

TRASH ENCLOSURE / PUMP HOUSE DETAIL

SCALE 1" = 10'

HANDICAP STALL PAVEMENT DETAIL

SCALE 1" = 10'

WARMING HOUSE PAVEMENT DETAIL

PR
O

PO
SED

 C
AR

 W
ASH

FFE: 794.85

FFE: 795.05

REMOVE CURB HEAD

FFE: 794.13

FFE: 794.38

PROPOSED
PUMP HOUSE

PROPOSED
DUMPSTER

ENCLOSURE

AutoCAD SHX Text
2:12:44 PM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Thursday, July 11, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
804.85

AutoCAD SHX Text
804.85

AutoCAD SHX Text
804.35

AutoCAD SHX Text
804.85

AutoCAD SHX Text
804.35

AutoCAD SHX Text
804.85



ST
H 

10
0 

- S
. L

O
VE

RS
 LA

NE
 R

O
AD

WHITNALL EDGE ROAD

DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

40'

SCALE 1"=20'

20' 0' 20' 40'

MRM
SJF

6-3-2024

2024.0021.01

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

TS
U

N
AM

I E
XP

RE
SS

 C
AR

 W
AS

H
 S

IT
E 

U
TI

LI
TY

 P
LA

N
FO

R
TS

U
N

AM
I E

XP
RE

SS
 C

AR
 W

AS
H 

FR
AN

KL
IN

, L
LC

.
CI

TY
 O

F 
FR

AN
KL

IN
, C

O
U

N
TY

 O
F 

M
IL

W
AU

KE
E,

 W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

ALJ
7-8-2024

PROPOSED 6" SANITARY SEWER

PROPOSED 4" WATER SERVICE

PROPOSED STORM SEWER
(VARIOUS SIZES)

SITE UTILITY LEGEND

WM STUB 5.0
IE. 4" (E) 790.05

116' - 4" WM @ 1.63%

WATER CONNECTION/
CURB STOP 1.0

IE. 4" (NE) 786.1± (EX.)
IE. 4" (SW) 786.1± (PROP.)

EXISTING UTILITIES ARE SHOWN FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES
ONLY AND ARE NOT GUARANTEED TO BE ACCURATE OR ALL
INCLUSIVE.  CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR VERIFYING THE
TYPE, LOCATION, SIZE AND ELEVATION OF UNDERGROUND UTILITIES
AS THEY DEEM NECESSARY FOR PROPOSED UTILITY CONNECTIONS
AND / OR TO AVOID DAMAGE THERETO, CONTRACTOR SHALL CALL
“DIGGER'S HOTLINE” PRIOR TO ANY CONSTRUCTION.

UTILITY NOTE

C-8

SAN CONNECTION/
CLEANOUT  1.0
RIM 792.23
IE. 6" (NE) 781.6± (EX.)
IE. 6" (SW) 781.6± (PROP.)

SAN BACKFLOW PREVENTOR 6.0
RIM 794.67
IE. 6" (N/S) 785.09
12' - 6" SAN @ 2.08%

SETTLING TANK 6.3

OVERFLOW TANK 6.1

SUCTION TANK 6.2

OIL & WATER SEPARATOR 4.0
RIM 794.55

IE. (NE) 6" 784.47
IE. (SW) 6" 784.64

27' - 6" SAN @ 2.66%

SAN 30° BEND/CO 3.1
RIM 794.58

IE. 6" (SW/E) 783.97
10' - 6" SAN @ 2.20%

SAN STUB 3.3
IE. (E) 6" 784.61

16' - 6" SAN @ 1.40% SAN 30° BEND/CO/WYE 5.0
RIM 794.67
IE. 6" (NE/S) 784.85
10' - 6" SAN @ 2.08%

SAN JCT 7.0
IE. 6" (N/S/SW) 785.38
21' - 6" SAN @ 2.08%

SAN CO 8.0
RIM 794.32
IE. 6" (E) 785.48
5' - 6" SAN @ 2.08%

TRENCH PIT SAN STUB 8.2
IE. (NE) 6" 786.84

46' - 6" SAN @ 2.08%

SAN STUB 6.1.1

TRENCH PIT SAN STUB 8.1
IE. (NE) 6" 786.92

50' - 6" SAN @ 2.08%

TRENCH PIT SAN
STUBS 6.3.3 & 6.3.4

SAN JCT 8.0
IE. (NW/SE/SW) 6" 785.88
57' - 6" SAN @ 2.06%

SAN STUBS 6.2.1 & 6.2.2

SAN STUBS 6.3.1 & 6.3.2

SCALE 1" = 10'

WATER RECLAMATION SYSTEM DETAIL

IS
S
U
E
D
 F

O
R
 A

P
P
R
O
V
A
L
: 
7
-1

0
-2

0
2
4

SUCTION TANK 6.2
RIM 794.79
IE. 6" (S) 786.62 (j)
IE. 3" (E) 790.52 (k)
IE. 3" (E) 790.52 (l)
2' - 6" SAN @ 0.00%

OVERFLOW TANK 6.1
RIM 794.70
IE. 6" (N) 786.62 (f)
IE. 6" (S) 785.44 (g)
IE. 1.5" (E) 790.92 (h)
IE. 6" (S) 789.62 (i)
3' - 6" SAN @ 1.04%

SETTLING TANK 6.3
RIM 794.59

IE. 2" (S) 790.52 (a)
IE. 6" (E) 790.02 (b)
IE. 6" (E) 790.02 (c)

IE. 1.5" (E) 790.52 (d)
IE. 6" (E) 789.62 (e)

2' - 6" SAN @ 0.00%

SAN STUB 6.1.1
IE. 1.5" (W) 791.04
12' - 1.5" SAN @ 1.04%

SAN JCT 6.0
IE. 6" (N/S/SW) 783.72
21' - 6" SAN @ 1.04%

(c)

(e)

(b)

(f)

(h)

(i) (j)

(d) (k)

(g)

SUCTION
LINES

FLUSH
LINE

CIRCULATION/
OZONE LINE

(l)

(a)

SAN STUB 6.2.1
IE. 3" (W) 790.83
30' - 3" SAN @ 1.04%

SAN STUB 6.2.2
IE. 3" (W) 790.83
30' - 3" SAN @ 1.04%

SAN STUB 6.3.1
IE. 1.5" (W) 790.59

7' - 1.5" SAN @ 1.04%

SAN STUB 6.3.2
IE. 2" (W) 790.74

21' - 2" SAN @ 1.04%

TRENCH PIT
SAN STUB 6.3.3
IE. 6" (W) 790.09

7' - 6" SAN @ 1.04%

TRENCH PIT
SAN STUB 6.3.4
IE. 6" (W) 790.09

7' - 6" SAN @ 1.04%

6" DRAIN LINES
FROM PIT

UNDERFLOW

WATER  45° BEND 3.0
IE. 4" (N/SW) 788.03
111' - 4" WM @ 1.63%

WATER  45° BEND 4.0
IE. 4" (NE/W) 788.16
8' - 4" WM @ 1.63%

WATER  45° BEND /
GRADE BREAK 2.0
IE. 4" (NE/S) 786.24

11' - 4" WM @ 1.03%

SAN 30° BEND 3.2
IE. 6" (W/NE) 784.39

30' - 6" SAN @ 1.40%

SAN 43° BEND 2.0
IE. 6" (NE/W) 781.96
11' - 6" SAN @ 3.10%

SAN JCT 3.0
IE. 6" (E/W/SW) 783.75

82' - 6" SAN @ 2.20%

UTILITY CONFLICT RESOLUTION TABLE
LOCATION UTILITY CLEARANCE

BOTTOM
OF

TOP
OF

PIPE PIPE

A  6" SAN
 4" WTR

782.01
786.25

782.55
786.65 3.68'

B  4" WTR
 6" STM

789.99
787.91

790.38
788.76 1.23'

TRENCH PIT SAN STUB 8.2
IE. (W) 6" 786.84
46' - 6" SAN @ 2.08%

TRENCH PIT SAN STUB 8.1
IE. (W) 6" 786.92
50' - 6" SAN @ 2.08%

AutoCAD SHX Text
2:12:47 PM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Thursday, July 11, 2024



ST
H 

10
0 

- S
. L

O
VE

RS
 LA

NE
 R

O
AD

WHITNALL EDGE ROAD

DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

40'

SCALE 1"=20'

20' 0' 20' 40'

MRM
SJF

6-3-2024

2024.0021.01

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

TS
U

N
AM

I E
XP

RE
SS

 C
AR

 W
AS

H
ST

O
RM

 S
EW

ER
 P

LA
N

FO
R

TS
U

N
AM

I E
XP

RE
SS

 C
AR

 W
AS

H 
FR

AN
KL

IN
, L

LC
.

CI
TY

 O
F 

FR
AN

KL
IN

, C
O

U
N

TY
 O

F 
M

IL
W

AU
KE

E,
 W

IS
CO

N
SI

N
14

58
 H

or
izo

n 
Bl

vd
. S

ui
te

 2
00

, R
ac

in
e,

 W
I. 

53
40

6
Te

le
: (

26
2)

63
4-

55
88

  W
eb

sit
e:

 w
w

w
.n

m
bs

c.
ne

t

ALJ

PROPOSED SANITARY SEWER

PROPOSED WATER SERVICE

PROPOSED STORM SEWER
(VARIOUS SIZES)

STORM SEWER LEGEND

EXISTING UTILITIES ARE SHOWN FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES
ONLY AND ARE NOT GUARANTEED TO BE ACCURATE OR ALL
INCLUSIVE.  CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR VERIFYING THE
TYPE, LOCATION, SIZE AND ELEVATION OF UNDERGROUND UTILITIES
AS THEY DEEM NECESSARY FOR PROPOSED UTILITY CONNECTIONS
AND / OR TO AVOID DAMAGE THERETO, CONTRACTOR SHALL CALL
“DIGGER'S HOTLINE” PRIOR TO ANY CONSTRUCTION.

UTILITY NOTE

C-9

RD 23.0
IE. 6" (NE) 789.95

84' - 6" STM @ 0.26%

RD 20.1
IE. 6" (SW) 789.54
10' - 6" STM @ 0.26%

RD 19.1
IE. 6" (SW) 789.54
10' - 6" STM @ 1.22%

INLET 10.0
RIM 781.66

IE. 8" (NE) 779.00
(BY OTHERS)

MH 11.0
RIM 788.70

IE. 8" (NE) 780.22
IE. 8" (SW) 780.22

37' - 8" STM @ 3.30%

GRADE BREAK 12.0
IE. 8" (NW) 781.98
IE. 8" (SE) 781.98

156' - 8" STM @ 1.01%

BEND 13.0
IE. 8" (NW) 782.02
IE. 8" (NE) 782.02

8' - 8" STM @ 0.52%

JCT 19.0
IE. 6" (NW) 789.42
IE. 8" (SE) 789.42
IE. 8" (NE) 789.42

73' - 8" STM @ 1.30%

JCT 20.0
IE. 6" (NW) 789.51
IE. 8" (SE) 789.51
IE. 6" (NE) 789.51

35' - 8" STM @ 0.26%

GRADE BREAK 21.0
IE. 6" (NE) 789.70
IE. 6" (SE) 789.70

37' - 6" STM @ 0.51%

TRENCH DRAIN 21.1
RIM 794.40
IE. 6" (SW) 792.40
8' - 6" STM @ 33.18%

JCT 14.0
IE. 8" (SW) 782.22
38' - 8" STM @ 0.52%

GRADE BREAK 18.0
IE. 8" (NW) 788.47
IE. 8" (NE) 788.47

40' - 8" STM @ 2.16%

JCT 16.0
IE. 6" (SW) 787.49

OUTLET CONTROL
STRUCTURE
1 - 1.5" ORIFICE @ 786.22
1 - 6" X 8" WEIR @ 789.72

RISER 14.1
RIM 794.11
IE. 96" 782.22

RISER 14.2
RIM 794.07
IE. 96" 782.22

RISER 14.3
RIM 796.22
IE. 96" 782.22

RISER 14.6
RIM 794.72
IE. 96" 782.22

UNDERGROUND DETENTION SYSTEM
400 LF - 96" CMP @ 0.00%
IE. 96" 782.22

PROPOSED STORM
SEWER & INLET

(BY OTHERS)

PROPOSED STORM
SEWER & INLET

(BY OTHERS)

RD 17.2
IE. 6" (NE) 789.95

37' - 6" STM @ 5.82%

JCT 17.0
IE. 6" (NW) 787.62
IE. 8" (SW/NE) 787.62
8' - 8" STM @ 1.56%

JCT 22.0
IE. 6" (NE) 789.73
IE. 6" (NE) 789.73
IE. 6" (SW) 789.73

12' - 6" STM @ 0.26%

EW 14.4.1
IE. 12" (SE) 791.22
18' - 12" STM @ 11.11%

JCT 14.4
IE. 12" (NW) 789.22
IE. 96" (NE/SW) 782.22

GRADE BREAK 17.1
IE. 8" (SW/NE) 787.90
27' - 8" STM @ 1.04%

CB 14.5.2
RIM 792.72
IE. 12" (SE) 788.72
18' - 12" STM @ 0.26%

INLET 14.5.1
IE. 12" (NW) 788.67
3' - 12" STM @ 0.26%

JCT 14.4
IE. 12" (NW) 788.66
IE. 96" (NE/SW) 782.22

7-8-2024

IS
S
U
E
D
 F

O
R
 A

P
P
R
O
V
A
L
: 
7
-1

0
-2

0
2
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
2:12:51 PM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Thursday, July 11, 2024



DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

MRM
SJF

6-3-2024
ALJ

2024.0021.01

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

TS
U

N
AM

I E
XP

RE
SS

 C
AR

 W
AS

H
 T

YP
IC

AL
 S

EC
TI

O
N

S 
&

 C
O

N
ST

RU
CT

IO
N

 D
ET

AI
LS

FO
R

TS
U

N
AM

I E
XP

RE
SS

 C
AR

 W
AS

H 
FR

AN
KL

IN
, L

LC
.

CI
TY

 O
F 

FR
AN

KL
IN

, C
O

U
N

TY
 O

F 
M

IL
W

AU
KE

E,
 W

IS
CO

N
SI

N

C-10

SILT FENCE
DETAIL N.T.S.1 TRACKING PAD

DETAIL N.T.S.2

INLET PROTECTION
DETAIL N.T.S.3

7-8-2024

IS
S
U
E
D
 F

O
R
 A

P
P
R
O
V
A
L
: 
7
-1

0
-2

0
2
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
2:12:55 PM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Thursday, July 11, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
*SILT FENCE SHALL BE FURNISHED, INSTALLED AND MAINTAINED IN ACCORDANCE WITH WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES TECHNICAL STANDARD 1056.

AutoCAD SHX Text
*TRACKING PAD SHALL BE FURNISHED, INSTALLED AND MAINTAINED IN ACCORDANCE WITH WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES TECHNICAL STANDARD 1057 INCLUDING PAVEMENT CLEANING WHEN NECESSARY. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
*INLET PROTECTION SHALL BE FURNISHED, INSTALLED AND MAINTAINED IN ACCORDANCE WITH WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES TECHNICAL STANDARD 1060.



DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

MRM
SJF

6-3-2024
ALJ

2024.0021.01

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

TS
U

N
AM

I E
XP

RE
SS

 C
AR

 W
AS

H
 T

YP
IC

AL
 S

EC
TI

O
N

S 
&

 C
O

N
ST

RU
CT

IO
N

 D
ET

AI
LS

FO
R

TS
U

N
AM

I E
XP

RE
SS

 C
AR

 W
AS

H 
FR

AN
KL

IN
, L

LC
.

CI
TY

 O
F 

FR
AN

KL
IN

, C
O

U
N

TY
 O

F 
M

IL
W

AU
KE

E,
 W

IS
CO

N
SI

N

C-11

18" VERTICAL FACE
CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER DETAIL N.T.S.4 18" VERTICAL FACE REVERSE PAN

CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER DETAIL N.T.S.5

N.T.S.
CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER
DETAIL NOTES1 INTEGRAL CONCRETE SIDEWALK /

BARRIER CURB DETAIL N.T.S.2 N.T.S.
CURB HEAD TAPER DETAIL3

MEDIUM-DUTY ASPHALT PAVEMENT (4")
(TYPICAL SECTION)

N.T.S.6 LIGHT-DUTY CONCRETE PAVEMENT (5")
(TYPICAL SECTION)

N.T.S.7

MEDIUM-DUTY CONCRETE PAVEMENT
(6") (TYPICAL SECTION)

N.T.S.8 TYPICAL CONCRETE FLUME
DETAIL N.T.S.9

7-8-2024

IS
S
U
E
D
 F

O
R
 A

P
P
R
O
V
A
L
: 
7
-1

0
-2

0
2
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
2:13:00 PM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Thursday, July 11, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
6" MIN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
4%. SLOPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
18"

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
2" R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.46'

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMPACTED DENSE AGGREGATE BASE (PER PLAN)

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMPACTED EARTH SUBGRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/2"/FT.  BATTER  CURB FACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
3/4" MAX. R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
-0.04'

AutoCAD SHX Text
6" MIN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
4%. SLOPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
18"

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMPACTED DENSE AGGREGATE BASE (PER PLAN)

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMPACTED EARTH SUBGRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
2" R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.54'

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/2"/FT.  BATTER  CURB FACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
3/4" MAX. R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0.04'

AutoCAD SHX Text
INSTALLATION NOTES FOR CURB AND GUTTER DETAILS 1. CONCRETE CURB & GUTTER SHALL BE PLACED ON THOROUGHLY COMPACTED DENSE CONCRETE CURB & GUTTER SHALL BE PLACED ON THOROUGHLY COMPACTED DENSE AGGREGATE BASE COURSE EXTENDING A MINIMUM OF 12 INCHES BEHIND THE BACK OF CURB. 2. CURB PAN SHALL BE A MINIMUM OF SIX INCHES (6") THICK, EXPECT AT DRIVEWAY CURB PAN SHALL BE A MINIMUM OF SIX INCHES (6") THICK, EXPECT AT DRIVEWAY LOCATIONS WHERE IT SHALL BE A MINIMUM OF EIGHT INCHES (8") THICK. 3. INSTALL TWO (2) NO. 4, 18-INCH LONG EPOXY COATED TIE BARS ANCHORED WITH AN INSTALL TWO (2) NO. 4, 18-INCH LONG EPOXY COATED TIE BARS ANCHORED WITH AN EPOXY, EVENLY SPACED, DRIVEN NINE INCHES (9") INTO TO EXISTING OR PREVIOUSLY INSTALLED CURB AND GUTTER. 4. WHEN PLACED ADJACENT TO NEW CONCRETE, INSTALL NO. 4 18-INCH LONG EPOXY COATED WHEN PLACED ADJACENT TO NEW CONCRETE, INSTALL NO. 4 18-INCH LONG EPOXY COATED TIE BARS, 36" ON CENTER PLACED A MINIMUM OF THREE AND ONE HALF INCHES (3 ") 12") BELOW THE TOP OF THE CURB PAN. 5. LATERAL CONTRACTION JOINTS TO BE PLACED AT AN INTERVAL OF 10 FEET TO A MINIMUM LATERAL CONTRACTION JOINTS TO BE PLACED AT AN INTERVAL OF 10 FEET TO A MINIMUM DEPTH OF TWO INCHES (2"). 6. EXPANSION JOINTS SHALL BE PLACED TRANSVERSELY AT POINTS OF CURVATURE, ANGLE EXPANSION JOINTS SHALL BE PLACED TRANSVERSELY AT POINTS OF CURVATURE, ANGLE POINTS, THREE FEET (3') FROM EACH SIDE OF EVERY INLET AND EVERY 300 FEET ALONG TANGENT SECTIONS OR AS DIRECTED BY THE ENGINEER.  EXPANSION JOINT FILLER MATERIAL SHALL MEET WISDOT SPECIFICATIONS HAVING THE SAME DIMENSIONS AS THE CURB & GUTTER WITH A 3/4" THICKNESS. 7. APPLY CONCRETE CURING COMPOUND PER WISDOT SPECIFICATIONS.APPLY CONCRETE CURING COMPOUND PER WISDOT SPECIFICATIONS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLOPE PER PLAN*

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMPACTED EARTH SUBGRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"X6" W1.4 X W1.4 WELDED WIRE FABRIC 

AutoCAD SHX Text
4" COMPACTED DENSE AGGREGATE BASE  (1 1/4" GRADATION) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
5" CONCRETE GRADE A-FA 3,500 PSI (MIN.) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
* SIDEWALKS: 1.5% CROSS-SLOPE (TYP.) 2.08% CROSS-SLOPE (MAX.)    PATIOS, PLAZAS, AND LANDINGS: 2.08% SLOPE IN ANY DIRECTION (MAX.)    ALL OTHER PAVEMENTS: SLOPE PER PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
10" COMPACTED DENSE AGGREGATE BASE  (1 1/4" GRADATION) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
2 1/4" LOWER COURSE   (3 LT 58-28 S) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 3/4" UPPER COURSE OVER TACK COAT (4 LT 58-28 S)

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
18"

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
2% SLOPE (MAX.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
WIDTH PER PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMPACTED EARTH SUBGRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"X6" W1.4 X W1.4 WELDED WIRE FABRIC

AutoCAD SHX Text
TWO (2) No. 4 BARS (ENTIRE LENGTH) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAVEMENT SECTION (PER PLAN)

AutoCAD SHX Text
2" TOOLED RADIUS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMPACTED DENSE AGGREGATE BASE (PER PLAN)

AutoCAD SHX Text
4" MINIMUM

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMPACTED EARTH SUBGRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"X6" W2.9 X W2.9 WELDED WIRE FABRIC

AutoCAD SHX Text
8" COMPACTED DENSE AGGREGATE BASE (1 1/4" GRADATION) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
6" CONCRETE GRADE A-FA 3,500 PSI (MIN.)  

AutoCAD SHX Text
SLOPE PER PLAN*

AutoCAD SHX Text
* SIDEWALKS: 1.5% CROSS-SLOPE (TYP.) 2.08% CROSS-SLOPE (MAX.)    PATIOS, PLAZAS, AND LANDINGS: 2.08% SLOPE IN ANY DIRECTION (MAX.)    ALL OTHER PAVEMENTS: SLOPE PER PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURB HEAD TRANSITION  (6" TO 0" HIGH)

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPICAL PLAN LABEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT-1.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURB HEAD TAPER

AutoCAD SHX Text
LABEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT-1.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT-3

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT-6

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT-10

AutoCAD SHX Text
LENGTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
18" (1.5')

AutoCAD SHX Text
36" (3.0')

AutoCAD SHX Text
72" (6.0')

AutoCAD SHX Text
120" (10')

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE PLAN FOR TAPER LABELS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEE CHART FOR TAPER LENGTHS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURB & GUTTER (PER SPECIFICATIONS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAVEMENT SECTION (PER SPECIFICATIONS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMPACTED EARTH SUBGRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMPACTED DENSE AGGREGATE BASE (PER PLAN)

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
48"

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
60"

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO. 4 BARS 12" O.C. IN ALL DIRECTIONS. BARS TO TIE INTO CONCRETE APRON MINIMUM 3'

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECTION A-A

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASPHALT PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE FLUME

AutoCAD SHX Text
4" ROLLER FACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE: CONCRETE FLUME TO BE TIED TO ADJACENT CURB AND GUTTER  WITH 8 LF OF NO. 4 BAR IN EACH DIRECTION.

AutoCAD SHX Text
8 LF - NO. 4 REBAR (TYP)



DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

MRM
SJF

6-3-2024
ALJ

2024.0021.01

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

TS
U

N
AM

I E
XP

RE
SS

 C
AR

 W
AS

H
 T

YP
IC

AL
 S

EC
TI

O
N

S 
&

 C
O

N
ST

RU
CT

IO
N

 D
ET

AI
LS

FO
R

TS
U

N
AM

I E
XP

RE
SS

 C
AR

 W
AS

H 
FR

AN
KL

IN
, L

LC
.

CI
TY

 O
F 

FR
AN

KL
IN

, C
O

U
N

TY
 O

F 
M

IL
W

AU
KE

E,
 W

IS
CO

N
SI

N

C-12

N.T.S.SEWER CLEANOUT (CO) RISER
DETAIL2

STANDARD STORM SEWER MANHOLE
DETAIL N.T.S.

≥

1 N.T.S.
CAST IN PLACE TRENCH DRAIN
DETAIL3 REINFORCED CONCRETE JOINT TIE PIPE

DETAIL N.T.S.4

TRASH GUARD FOR FLARED ENDS
DETAIL N.T.S.5 RIP RAP

DETAIL N.T.S.6
7-8-2024

IS
S
U
E
D
 F

O
R
 A

P
P
R
O
V
A
L
: 
7
-1

0
-2

0
2
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
2:13:05 PM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Thursday, July 11, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE: SEWER CLEANOUTS TO BE LOCATED A MAXIMUM OF 5' OUTSIDE OF BUILDING WALL AND WHERE SHOWN ON PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXTEND RISER 2" ABOVE FINISHED GRADE IN ALL LAWN AND/OR LANDSCAPE AREAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
FROST SLEEVE TO BE PROVIDED WITH A SCREW-ON CAP IN ALL LAWN & LANDSCAPE AREAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEWER MAIN (SIZE PER PLAN)

AutoCAD SHX Text
WYE (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
6" CLEANOUT RISER (6" MAIN OR LARGER) 4" CLEANOUT RISER (4" MAIN) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
8" FROST SLEEVE (6" MAIN OR LARGER) 6" FROST SLEEVE (4" MAIN) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXTEND TRACER WIRE TO SURFACE (INCLUDE 12" OF SLACK)

AutoCAD SHX Text
FROST SLEEVE TO BE INSTALLED WITH A 850 OR 851 SERIES CAST IRON ADJUSTABLE CLEANOUT AS MANUFACTURED BY SIOUX CHIEF COMPANY (OR APPROVED EQUAL) IN ALL PAVED AREAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACER WIRE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCREW ON CAPS

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXTEND FROST SLEEVE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TO TOP OF TEE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
2" MAX.

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
INSTALL 18" DIAMETER CONCRETE COLLAR WHEN LOCATED IN PAVEMENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
**MINIMUM THICKNESS SHALL NOT BE LESS THAN THAT REQUIRED TO MEET AASHTO H-20   LOADINGS

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMPACTED EARTH SUBGRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEENAH R-2080 FRAME W/ GRATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
16"

AutoCAD SHX Text
26''

AutoCAD SHX Text
STANDARD PRECAST MANHOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROVIDE 3"-12" OF ADJUSTING RINGS

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPROVED BEDDING MATERIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM SEWER 

AutoCAD SHX Text
(C) 

AutoCAD SHX Text
POURED CONCRETE BENCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
(A)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(B)

AutoCAD SHX Text
FINGER DRAIN  (WITHIN PAVEMENT SECTIONS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
NON-SHRINKING MORTAR REQUIRED

AutoCAD SHX Text
4'

AutoCAD SHX Text
8' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
STRUCTURE DIAMETER (A)*

AutoCAD SHX Text
MINIMUM WALL THICKNESS (B)**

AutoCAD SHX Text
MINIMUM BASE AND TOP THICKNESS (C)**

AutoCAD SHX Text
9"

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'

AutoCAD SHX Text
6'

AutoCAD SHX Text
7'

AutoCAD SHX Text
5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
7"

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
*STRUCTURE DIAMETER SHALL BE STANDARD 48" UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED ON PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"*

AutoCAD SHX Text
36"

AutoCAD SHX Text
SECTION A-A

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMPACTED EARTH SUBGRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMPACTED DENSE AGGREGATE BASE (PER PLAN)

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'

AutoCAD SHX Text
10"

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE (PER PLAN)

AutoCAD SHX Text
22"

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"*

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEENAH R-4990-CX TYPE A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
(MIN.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
(MIN.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTLET PIPE (PER PLAN)

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
*VERIFY EXACT OPENING WIDTH REQUIRED WITH GRATE MANUFACTURER 

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
XX'

AutoCAD SHX Text
GALVANIZED EYE BOLT AND TIE ROD SHALL BE LOCATED ON EACH SIDE OF PIPE AT 75° FROM THE TOP CENTERLINE OF THEPIPE FOR THE FIRST THREE JOINTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
EYE BOLT DIMENSION TABLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PIPE SIZE

AutoCAD SHX Text
18" TO 24"

AutoCAD SHX Text
30" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
36"

AutoCAD SHX Text
TONGUE & GROOVE PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
4-1/2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
5-1/2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
MODIFIED BELL PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
6-1/4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
7"

AutoCAD SHX Text
7"

AutoCAD SHX Text
L = LENGTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
42"

AutoCAD SHX Text
48"

AutoCAD SHX Text
60"

AutoCAD SHX Text
66"

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
6-1/2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
7-1/2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
8-1/2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
27±"

AutoCAD SHX Text
24"

AutoCAD SHX Text
4" MIN. THREADED

AutoCAD SHX Text
3/4" MIN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
90°

AutoCAD SHX Text
CUT WASHER (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
HEX NUT (TYP.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
3/4" MIN. EYE BOLT

AutoCAD SHX Text
2" MIN. THREADED

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
GALVANIZED EYE BOLT DETAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROFILE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FRONT

AutoCAD SHX Text
*TO BE INSTALLED ON ALL REINFORCED CONCRETE PIPE FLARED END SECTIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
6" MAX.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PIPE SIZE

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
PIPE SIZE

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"

AutoCAD SHX Text
15"

AutoCAD SHX Text
18"-24"

AutoCAD SHX Text
27"-36"

AutoCAD SHX Text
42"-54"

AutoCAD SHX Text
60"-72"

AutoCAD SHX Text
78"-90"

AutoCAD SHX Text
2-1/2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
7"

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
22"-29"

AutoCAD SHX Text
36"-44"

AutoCAD SHX Text
51"-65"

AutoCAD SHX Text
73"-102"

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
7"

AutoCAD SHX Text
"V" BAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERMEDIATE  CROSS BAR(S)  5/8" (12"-24" DIA.) 3/4" (27"-48" DIA.) 1" (54" DIA. AND UP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALL GUARDS TO HAVE ONE CROSS BAR. PIPE DIAMETER 60" AND LARGER TO HAVE TWO BARS EQUALLY SPACED 

AutoCAD SHX Text
HINGED CONNECTIONS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
"V" BAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERMEDIATE CROSS BAR(S)

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTES: FINAL SIZE AND SHAPE OF RIP RAP TO MATCH DIMENSIONS SHOWN ON THE SHEET 

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTLET PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MINIMUM 18" DEPTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTLET PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
VARIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
VARIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEDIUM RIP-RAP AT DIMENSIONS SHOWN ON PLANS W/ GEOTEXTILE FABRIC (TYPE "HR")

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'

AutoCAD SHX Text
W'

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'

AutoCAD SHX Text
C-6



DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

MRM
SJF

6-3-2024
ALJ

2024.0021.01

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

TS
U

N
AM

I E
XP

RE
SS

 C
AR

 W
AS

H
 T

YP
IC

AL
 S

EC
TI

O
N

S 
&

 C
O

N
ST

RU
CT

IO
N

 D
ET

AI
LS

FO
R

TS
U

N
AM

I E
XP

RE
SS

 C
AR

 W
AS

H 
FR

AN
KL

IN
, L

LC
.

CI
TY

 O
F 

FR
AN

KL
IN

, C
O

U
N

TY
 O

F 
M

IL
W

AU
KE

E,
 W

IS
CO

N
SI

N

C-13

N.T.S.
TIMBER RAIL GUARD
DETAIL2 PAINTED INTERNATIONAL SYMBOL

FOR ACCESSIBILITY DETAIL N.T.S.3N.T.S.
BLOCK RETAINING WALL
DETAIL1

RESERVED
PARKING

VEHICLES WITH
VEET OR DIS PLATED OR
STATE DISABLED CARD

THIS SPACE

ADA "RESERVED PARKING"
SIGN DETAIL N.T.S.4

7-8-2024

IS
S
U
E
D
 F

O
R
 A

P
P
R
O
V
A
L
: 
7
-1

1
-2

0
2
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
2:13:10 PM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Thursday, July 11, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"X8" TIMBER POST

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"X10" TIMBER RAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
2"X6" TIMBER RAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
FINISH GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
8'-0" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
6" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
3/4" STANDARD CARRIAGE BOLT

AutoCAD SHX Text
8" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
2" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
4" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-9" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
13" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
10" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
13" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
6" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
3" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
4" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
3" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
FRONT VIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE VIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPLICE VIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'-0" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
WHITE SYMBOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLUE BACKGROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text
4" WHITE BORDER

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'

AutoCAD SHX Text
INSTALLED 4" WRAPPED, PERFORATED UNDERDRAIN TILE BEHIND WALL. CONNECT TO PROPOSED STORM SEWER SYSTEM

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP OF WALL GRADE (A)

AutoCAD SHX Text
MODULAR BLOCK 

AutoCAD SHX Text
10"

AutoCAD SHX Text
4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
GEOTEXTILE FABRIC FILTER CLOTH (TYPE "SAS")

AutoCAD SHX Text
3/8" CHIPS BACKFILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
FINISHED GRADE AT BOTTOM OF WALL (B)

AutoCAD SHX Text
FINISHED SECTION (PER PLAN)

AutoCAD SHX Text
VARIES 

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXTEND WALL BELOW GRADE PER MANUFACTURER'S SPECIFICATIONS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
4:1 (MAX.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMPACTED DENSE AGGREGATE BASE PER MANUFACTURER'S RECOMMENDATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
24"

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED CHANNEL SLOPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTES: 1. OWNER TO APPROVE BLOCK MATERIAL AND COLOR PRIOR TO INSTALLATION OWNER TO APPROVE BLOCK MATERIAL AND COLOR PRIOR TO INSTALLATION 2. SEE GRADING PLAN FOR RETAINING WALL LIMITS SEE GRADING PLAN FOR RETAINING WALL LIMITS 3. INSTALL GEOGRID REINFORCEMENT PER MANUFACTURERS RECOMMENDATIONS. INSTALL GEOGRID REINFORCEMENT PER MANUFACTURERS RECOMMENDATIONS. 4. PROVIDE RETAINING WALL DESIGN STAMP BY LICENSED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER PROVIDE RETAINING WALL DESIGN STAMP BY LICENSED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER FOR ANY WALL EXCEEDING 48" IN HEIGHT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETAINING WALL ELEVATION LEGEND:

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
B

AutoCAD SHX Text
72"

AutoCAD SHX Text
R7-8WI  HIGH INTENSITY PRISMATIC (HIP) 5052-ALUMINUM      WIDTH X     HEIGHT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIGN POST (PER PLAN)

AutoCAD SHX Text
FINISHED GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"

AutoCAD SHX Text
18"



DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

MRM
SJF

6-3-2024
ALJ

2024.0021.01

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

TS
U

N
AM

I E
XP

RE
SS

 C
AR

 W
AS

H
 T

YP
IC

AL
 S

EC
TI

O
N

S 
&

 C
O

N
ST

RU
CT

IO
N

 D
ET

AI
LS

FO
R

TS
U

N
AM

I E
XP

RE
SS

 C
AR

 W
AS

H 
FR

AN
KL

IN
, L

LC
.

CI
TY

 O
F 

FR
AN

KL
IN

, C
O

U
N

TY
 O

F 
M

IL
W

AU
KE

E,
 W

IS
CO

N
SI

N

C-14

7-8-2024

IS
S
U
E
D
 F

O
R
 A

P
P
R
O
V
A
L
: 
7
-1

0
-2

0
2
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
2:13:16 PM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Thursday, July 11, 2024



DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

MRM
SJF

6-3-2024
ALJ

2024.0021.01

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

TS
U

N
AM

I E
XP

RE
SS

 C
AR

 W
AS

H
 T

YP
IC

AL
 S

EC
TI

O
N

S 
&

 C
O

N
ST

RU
CT

IO
N

 D
ET

AI
LS

FO
R

TS
U

N
AM

I E
XP

RE
SS

 C
AR

 W
AS

H 
FR

AN
KL

IN
, L

LC
.

CI
TY

 O
F 

FR
AN

KL
IN

, C
O

U
N

TY
 O

F 
M

IL
W

AU
KE

E,
 W

IS
CO

N
SI

N

C-15

7-8-2024

IS
S
U
E
D
 F

O
R
 A

P
P
R
O
V
A
L
: 
7
-1

0
-2

0
2
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
2:13:25 PM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Thursday, July 11, 2024



DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

MRM
SJF

6-3-2024
ALJ

2024.0021.01

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

TS
U

N
AM

I E
XP

RE
SS

 C
AR

 W
AS

H
 P

RO
JE

CT
 S

PE
CI

FI
CA

TI
O

N
S

FO
R

TS
U

N
AM

I E
XP

RE
SS

 C
AR

 W
AS

H 
FR

AN
KL

IN
, L

LC
.

CI
TY

 O
F 

FR
AN

KL
IN

, C
O

U
N

TY
 O

F 
M

IL
W

AU
KE

E,
 W

IS
CO

N
SI

N

C-16

DEMOLITION NOTES
1. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE DEMOLITION, REMOVAL, AND DISPOSAL AT A LOCATION

APPROVED (BY ALL GOVERNING AUTHORITIES) OF ALL TREES & BRUSH, STRUCTURES, PADS, WALLS,
FLUMES, FOUNDATIONS, PAVEMENTS, DRIVES, DRAINAGE STRUCTURES, UTILITIES, ETC., SUCH THAT
THE PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS SHOWN CAN BE CONSTRUCTED. ALL FACILITIES TO BE REMOVED SHALL
BE UNDERCUT TO SUITABLE MATERIAL AND BROUGHT TO GRADE WITH SUITABLY COMPACTED FILL
MATERIAL PER THE SPECIFICATIONS.

2. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR REMOVING ALL DEBRIS FROM THE SITE AND DISPOSING THE
DEBRIS IN A LAWFUL MANNER. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR OBTAINING ALL PERMITS
REQUIRED FOR DEMOLITION, SITE CLEARING, AND DISPOSAL.

3. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE WITH RESPECTIVE UTILITY COMPANIES PRIOR TO THE REMOVAL
AND/OR RELOCATION OF UTILITIES. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE WITH THE UTILITY
COMPANY CONCERNING PORTIONS OF WORK WHICH MAY BE PERFORMED BY THE UTILITY COMPANY'S
FORCES AND ANY FEES WHICH ARE TO BE PAID TO THE UTILITY COMPANY FOR THEIR SERVICES. THE
CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR PAYING ALL FEES AND CHARGES.

4. THE LOCATIONS OF ALL EXISTING UTILITIES SHOWN ON THIS PLAN HAVE BEEN DETERMINED FROM THE
BEST INFORMATION AVAILABLE AND ARE GIVEN FOR THE CONVENIENCE OF THE CONTRACTOR. THE
LAND SURVEYOR AND  ENGINEER OF RECORD ASSUME NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR THEIR ACCURACY. PRIOR
TO THE START OF ANY DEMOLITION ACTIVITY, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE UTILITY
COMPANIES FOR ON-SITE LOCATIONS OF EXISTING UTILITIES.

5. ALL EXISTING SEWERS, PIPING, AND UTILITIES SHOWN ARE NOT TO BE INTERPRETED AS THE EXACT
LOCATION OR AS THE ONLY OBSTACLES THAT MAY OCCUR ON THE SITE. VERIFY EXISTING CONDITIONS
AND PROCEED WITH CAUTION AROUND ANY ANTICIPATED FEATURES. GIVE NOTICE TO ALL UTILITY
COMPANIES REGARDING DESTRUCTION AND REMOVAL OF ALL SERVICE LINES AND CAP ALL LINES
BEFORE PROCEEDING WITH THE WORK.

6. ELECTRICAL, TELEPHONE, CABLE, WATER, FIBER OPTIC CABLE, AND/OR GAS LINES NEEDING TO BE
REMOVED OR RELOCATED SHALL BE COORDINATED WITH THE AFFECTED UTILITY COMPANY. ADEQUATE
TIME SHALL BE PROVIDED FOR RELOCATION AND CLOSE COORDINATION WITH THE UTILITY COMPANY IS
NECESSARY TO PROVIDE A SMOOTH TRANSITION IN UTILITY SERVICE.

7. IT SHALL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CONTRACTOR TO CALL DIGGERS HOTLINE AT 1-800-242-8511 A
MINIMUM OF 3 WORKING DAYS PRIOR TO EXCAVATION ACTIVITIES TO LOCATE AND MARK ALL
UNDERGROUND UTILITIES.

8. IT SHALL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CONTRACTOR TO HIRE A PRIVATE UTILITY LOCATING SERVICE
TO LOCATE AND MARK ALL UNDERGROUND PRIVATE UTILITIES.

9. CONTRACTOR MUST PROTECT THE PUBLIC AT ALL TIMES WITH SIGNS, FENCING, BARRICADES,
ENCLOSURES, ETC.,  (AND OTHER APPROPRIATE BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES) AS APPROVED BY THE
OWNER. TEMPORARY CLOSURE OF ANY PUBLIC ROADWAY OR SIDEWALK SHALL BE APPROVED BY THE
AUTHORITY HAVING JURISDICTION.

10. CONTINUOUS ACCESS SHALL BE MAINTAINED FOR THE SURROUNDING PROPERTIES AT ALL TIMES
DURING THE COURSE OF WORK.

11. PRIOR TO DEMOLITION OCCURRING, ALL EROSION CONTROL DEVICES SHALL BE INSTALLED.

12. EXISTING ITEMS TO REMAIN INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, FENCES, SIGNS, UTILITIES, BUILDINGS,
TREES, PAVEMENTS, AND LIGHT POLES SHALL BE CAREFULLY PROTECTED DURING THE DEMOLITION
PROCESS.   ANY DAMAGE SUSTAINED TO ITEMS TO REMAIN IN PLACE SHALL BE RESTORED OR REPLACED
AT THE CONTRACTOR'S EXPENSE AT NO ADDITIONAL COST TO THE OWNER.

13. PROPERTY CORNERS AND BENCHMARKS SHALL BE CAREFULLY PROTECTED UNTIL THEY HAVE BEEN
REFERENCED BY A  PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYOR. PROPERTY MONUMENTS DISTURBED BY THE
CONTRACTOR'S OPERATIONS SHALL BE REPLACED AT THE CONTRACTOR'S EXPENSE AT NO
ADDITIONAL COST TO THE OWNER.

14. IF PREVIOUSLY UNIDENTIFIED HAZARDOUS, CONTAMINATED MATERIALS, OR OTHER ENVIRONMENTAL
RELATED CONDITIONS ARE DISCOVERED, STOP WORK IMMEDIATELY AND NOTIFY THE PROJECT
CONSTRUCTION MANAGER FOR ACTION TO BE TAKEN. DO NOT RESUME WORK UNTIL SPECIFICALLY
AUTHORIZED BY THE OWNER.

15. AT THE COMPLETION OF THE PROJECT, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL REMOVE AND DISPOSE OF ALL
ABANDONED, EXCESS, WASTE, STOCKPILED AND SPOIL MATERIAL IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION
205.3.12 OF THE "STATE SPECIFICATIONS". THIS WORK SHALL BE DONE AT THE CONTRACTOR'S EXPENSE.

GENERAL NOTES
EROSION CONTROL, EARTHWORK, AND SITE GRADING SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE
"STATE OF WISCONSIN, STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR HIGHWAY AND STRUCTURE CONSTRUCTION",
CURRENT EDITION, HEREIN REFERRED TO AS THE "STATE SPECIFICATIONS".

EROSION CONTROL
ALL EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL MEASURES AND DEVICES SHALL BE INSPECTED BY THE CONTRACTOR
AS REQUIRED IN THE WISCONSIN ADMINISTRATIVE CODE (SPS 360.21) AND MAINTAINED PER SPS 360.22:

1.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CHECK THE EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL PRACTICES FOR MAINTENANCE
NEEDS AT ALL THE FOLLOWING INTERVALS UNTIL THE SITE IS STABILIZED:

(A) AT LEAST WEEKLY.
(B) WITHIN 24 HOURS AFTER A RAINFALL EVENT OF 0.5 INCHES OR GREATER.  A RAINFALL EVENT 
      SHALL BE CONSIDERED TO BE THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF RAINFALL RECORDED IN ANY CONTINUOUS
      24-HOUR PERIOD.

2.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN A MONITORING RECORD WHEN THE LAND DISTURBING
CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY INVOLVES ONE OR MORE ACRES.  THE MONITORING RECORD SHALL CONTAIN
AT LEAST THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION:

(A) THE CONDITION OF THE EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL PRACTICES AT THE INTERVALS 
      SPECIFIED ABOVE.
(B) A DESCRIPTION OF THE MAINTENANCE CONDUCTED TO REPAIR OR REPLACE EROSION AND 
      SEDIMENT CONTROL PRACTICES.

EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL INSPECTIONS AND ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS MAY BE CONDUCTED BY THE
DEPARTMENT OF SAFETY AND PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AND AUTHORIZED AGENTS DURING AND AFTER THE
CONSTRUCTION OF THIS PROJECT.

ALL EROSION CONTROL DEVICES SHALL BE INSTALLED PRIOR TO COMMENCING EARTH DISTURBING
ACTIVITIES.  CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN ALL EROSION CONTROL DEVICES UNTIL THE SITE HAS
ESTABLISHED A VEGETATIVE COVER AND IS STABILIZED.  ADDITIONAL EROSION CONTROL MAY BE REQUIRED
BY THE OWNER, ENGINEER OR MUNICIPALITY TO MEET FIELD CONDITIONS.

INSTALL SILT FENCE PER SECTION 628 OF THE "STATE SPECIFICATIONS" AND WDNR TECHNICAL STANDARD
1056 AT THE LOCATIONS SHOWN ON THE PLAN.  ERECT SILT FENCE PRIOR TO STARTING A CONSTRUCTION
OPERATION THAT MIGHT CAUSE SEDIMENTATION OR SILTATION AT THE SITE OF THE PROPOSED SILT FENCE.
THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR INSTALLATION, MAINTENANCE AND REMOVAL OF ALL
REQUIRED SILT FENCE MATERIAL.

A MINIMUM 20' WIDE X 25' LONG TRACKING PAD (3-6 INCH STONE) SHALL BE INSTALLED AT THE ENTRANCE
TO THE SITE (AS SHOWN) TO PREVENT SOIL FROM BEING TRACKED ONTO ADJACENT PAVEMENTS AND
PUBLIC ROADS.  INSTALLATION AND MAINTENANCE OF THE TRACKING PAD SHALL BE PERFORMED
ACCORDING TO WDNR TECHNICAL STANDARD 1057. ALL TRACKED SOIL FROM THE CONSTRUCTION SITE
SHALL BE COLLECTED FROM PAVED STREETS AT THE END OF EACH WORKING DAY.  PERIODIC STREET
SWEEPING SHALL BE CONDUCTED BY THE CONTRACTOR TO KEEP THE PUBLIC AND/OR PRIVATE ROADWAYS
FREE OF DUST AND DIRT.

THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR CONTROLLING WIND EROSION (DUST) DURING CONSTRUCTION AT
HIS/HER EXPENSE (WHEN NECESSARY OR AS REQUIRED BY LOCAL INSPECTORS).

SITE GRADING & SUB-GRADE PREPARATION
ALL EXISTING TOPSOIL AND OTHER NON-STRUCTURAL MATERIAL WITHIN THE PROPOSED BUILDING PADS,
PAVEMENT SECTIONS AND STRUCTURAL FILL AREAS SHALL BE STRIPPED AND STOCKPILED AT THE LOCATION
SHOWN OR AS DIRECTED BY THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR.

EXCAVATE, GRADE AND SHAPE SUBGRADE TO THE LINES AND GRADES SHOWN ON THE PLANS. SEE TYPICAL
SECTIONS FOR PAVEMENT THICKNESS AND MATERIALS.

FOR STRUCTURAL FILL DEPTHS LESS THAN 20 FEET, THE DENSITY OF THE STRUCTURAL COMPACTED FILL AND
SCARIFIED SUBGRADE AND GRADES SHALL NOT BE LESS THAN 95 PERCENT OF THE MAXIMUM DRY DENSITY
AS DETERMINED BY STANDARD PROCTOR (ASTM D-698) WITH THE EXCEPTION OF THE TOP 12 INCHES OF
PAVEMENT SUBGRADE WHICH SHALL HAVE A MINIMUM IN-SITU DENSITY OF 100 PERCENT OF MAXIMUM
DRY DENSITY, OR 5 PERCENT HIGHER THAN UNDERLYING FILL MATERIALS.

THE MOISTURE CONTENT OF COHESIVE SOIL SHALL NOT VARY BY MORE THAN -1 TO +3 PERCENT AND
GRANULAR SOIL ±3 PERCENT OF THE OPTIMUM WHEN PLACED AND COMPACTED OR RECOMPACTED,
UNLESS SPECIFICALLY RECOMMENDED / APPROVED BY THE SOILS ENGINEER MONITORING THE PLACEMENT
AND COMPACTION.  COHESIVE SOILS WITH MODERATE TO HIGH EXPANSIVE POTENTIALS (PI>15) SHOULD,
HOWEVER, BE PLACED, COMPACTED AND MAINTAINED PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION AT A MOISTURE CONTENT
OF 3±1 PERCENT ABOVE OPTIMUM MOISTURE CONTENT TO LIMIT FUTURE HEAVE.

THE FILL SHALL BE PLACED IN LAYERS WITH A MAXIMUM LOOSE THICKNESS OF 9 INCHES.  THE COMPACTION
EQUIPMENT SHOULD CONSIST OF SUITABLE MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT SPECIFICALLY DESIGNED FOR SOIL
COMPACTION.  BULLDOZERS OR SIMILAR TRACKED VEHICLES ARE TYPICALLY NOT SUITABLE FOR
COMPACTION.

UPON COMPLETION OF THE GRADING AND COMPACTION OF THE SUBGRADE, A PROOF ROLL SHALL BE
CONDUCTED BY THE CONTRACTOR ON ALL SUBGRADES THAT RECEIVE DENSE AGGREGATE BASE COURSE.
THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE A FULLY LOADED QUAD-AXLE TRUCK (18 TON MINIMUM LOAD) TO
PERFORM THE PROOF ROLL.  CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE THE PROOF ROLL WITH THE OWNER AND
THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR'S GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER.

SOIL COMPACTION IN ALL FILL AND EMBANKMENT AREAS SHALL BE APPROVED BY A QUALIFIED
GEOTECHNICAL ENGINEER.

TEMPORARY SEEDING IS REQUIRED FOR ALL STOCKPILES AND OTHER EXPOSED LAND AREAS IF NOT ACTIVELY
WORKED WITHIN 30 DAYS.  AT THE COMPLETION OF THE PAVEMENT WORK, RE-SPREAD SALVAGED TOPSOIL
OR IMPORT TOPSOIL AS NECESSARY TO PROVIDE A MINIMUM SIX-INCH (6") LAYER IN ALL LANDSCAPE AND
LAWN AREAS.  ALL DISTURBED AREAS SHALL BE RESTORED PER THE LANDSCAPE PLAN.

EXCESS TOPSOIL NOT BEING USED FOR THE PROJECT SHALL BE HAULED OFF-SITE.

PAVEMENT SPECIFICATIONS
DENSE AGGREGATE BASE COURSE SHALL MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 305 OF THE "STATE
SPECIFICATIONS". THE COMPLETED BASE SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE "TYPICAL SECTIONS &
CONSTRUCTION DETAILS" SHEET(S) OF THE PLAN SET AND SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED IN FOUR-INCH (4") LIFTS
AND COMPACTED ACCORDING TO SUBSECTION 305.3.2.2 OF THE "STATE SPECIFICATIONS".

ASPHALTIC CONCRETE PAVEMENT SHALL BE WISC DOT 4 LT-58-34-S MEETING THE REQUIREMENTS OF
SECTION 460 OF THE "STATE SPECIFICATIONS".  PAVEMENT SHALL BE INSTALLED IN ONE (1) LIFT IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE "TYPICAL SECTIONS & CONSTRUCTION DETAILS" SHEET(S) OF THE PLAN SET.

CONTRACTOR SHALL ADJUST AND/OR RECONSTRUCT ALL UTILITY COVERS (SUCH AS MANHOLES, VALVE
BOXES, ETC.) TO MATCH THE FINISHED GRADES OF THE AREA AFFECTED BY THE CONSTRUCTION.

PAVEMENT STRIPING, STOP BARS / WORDS, CROSSWALKS AND HANDICAPPED ACCESSIBLE SYMBOLS SHALL
BE INSTALLED WITH WISCONSIN DOT APPROVED TRAFFIC PAINT IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 646 OF THE
"STATE SPECIFICATIONS". ALL PARKING STALL STRIPING SHALL BE FOUR INCHES (4") IN WIDTH AND SHALL BE
INSTALLED AT THE LOCATIONS SHOWN ON THE PLANS OR AS DIRECTED BY THE OWNER. SEE THE TYPICAL
SECTIONS AND CONSTRUCTION DETAILS FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING PAVEMENT
MARKINGS.

REFERENCES
STATE OF WISCONSIN STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR HIGHWAY AND STRUCTURE CONSTRUCTION, 2020
EDITION, HEREIN REFERRED TO AS "STATE SPECIFICATIONS."  THE CURRENT VERSION OF THE "STATE
SPECIFICATIONS" IS AVAILABLE ON THE WisDOT WEBSITE AT
http://roadwaystandards.dot.wi.gov/standards/stndspec/index.htm

"MANUAL ON UNIFORM TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES" (MUTCD), 2009 EDITION WITH REVISIONS 1 AND 2
INCORPORATED.

STORM SEWER SPECIFICATIONS
MATERIAL FOR STORM SEWERS SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE STATE OF WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT
OF SAFETY AND PROFESSIONAL SERVICES (SPS) AND CITY OF RACINE SPECIFICATIONS.

STORM SEWER CONSTRUCTION SHALL BE COMPLETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE "STANDARD
SPECIFICATIONS FOR SEWER & WATER CONSTRUCTION IN WISCONSIN", 6TH EDITION, DECEMBER 22, 2003
WITH ADDENDA NO. 1 AND NO. 2, HEREIN REFERRED TO AS THE "STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS".

STORM SEWER PIPE AND TUBING MATERIALS SHALL CONFORM TO SPS 384.30 OF THE WISCONSIN
ADMINISTRATIVE CODE.  REINFORCED CONCRETE PIPE (RCP) AND POLYVINYL CHLORIDE (PVC) MATERIALS
SHALL BE SELECTED FROM TABLE 384.30-6. CORRUGATED HIGH DENSITY POLYETHYLENE (HDPE) PIPE
MATERIAL (IF SELECTED) SHALL MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF AASHTO M-252  FOR 4"-10" DIAMETER SIZES
AND AASHTO M294 FOR 12"-48" DIAMETER SIZES.

BEDDING AND COVER MATERIAL SHALL BE SAND, CRUSHED STONE CHIPS OR CRUSHED STONE SCREENINGS
CONFORMING TO CHAPTER 8.43.2 OF THE "STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS".

ALL STORM SEWERS INSTALLED IN EXISTING OR PROPOSED PAVED AREAS SHALL BE BACKFILLED WITH
COMPACTED GRANULAR MATERIAL IN ACCORDANCE WITH TABLE 37, CHAPTER 8.43.4 OF THE "STANDARD
SPECIFICATIONS".  BACKFILL MATERIAL SHALL EXTEND A MINIMUM OF FIVE FEET (5') OUTSIDE OF THE
PAVEMENT LIMITS.  TRENCHES RUNNING PARALLEL TO AND LESS THAN FIVE FEET (5') FROM THE EDGE OF
PAVEMENT SHALL ALSO REQUIRE COMPACTED GRANULAR BACKFILL.

SLURRY BACKFILL SHALL BE USED WHERE INDICATED ON THE PLANS. MATERIALS SHALL BE PLACED IN A
CLEAN CEMENT MIXER TRUCK AND THOROUGHLY MIXED, IN THE FOLLOWING QUANTITIES:

1,350 LBS SAND
  775 LBS #1 STONE
1,150 LBS #2 STONE
   25 GAL (+0 TO 0.5 GALS) WATER/CU. YD.

THE SLURRY BACKFILL MATERIAL SHALL BE PLACED AND MECHANICALLY COMPACTED IN LAYERS NOT TO
EXCEED 8 INCHES IN DEPTH.  NO ADDITIONAL WATER SHALL BE ALLOWED.  THE ABOVE WEIGHTS ARE DAMP
WEIGHTS.  JUST PRIOR TO PLACING THE SLURRY, THE MIXER SHALL BE RUN AT MIXING SPEED FOR ONE FULL
MINUTE TO ENSURE AN EVEN MIXTURE.

AT THE COMPLETION OF THE PROJECT THE CONTRACTOR SHALL REMOVE AND DISPOSE OF ALL ABANDONED,
EXCESS, WASTE, STOCKPILED AND SPOIL MATERIAL IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 205.3.12 OF THE "STATE
SPECIFICATIONS". THIS WORK SHALL BE DONE AT THE CONTRACTOR'S EXPENSE.

WATER MAIN / SEWER SPECIFICATIONS
ALL APPLICATIONS AND CONNECTION FEES FOR SANITARY SEWER SERVICES MUST BE SUBMITTED AND PAID
PRIOR TO CONNECTION TO THE PUBLIC SYSTEMS.

ANY UTILITY WORK IN THE PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY (OR EASEMENTS) AND ALL SANITARY SEWER
CONSTRUCTION TO BE INSPECTED BY THE CITY OF FRANKLIN.  NOTIFY THE CITY OF FRANKLIN 48 HOURS IN
ADVANCE OF CONNECTING TO SEWER.

CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL ELEVATIONS, LOCATIONS AND SIZES OF EXISTING SANITARY AND STORM
SEWERS, WATER MAINS, GAS & ELECTRIC LINES AND OTHER ADJACENT UTILITIES PRIOR TO COMMENCING
CONSTRUCTION.  AS-BUILT (FIELD) DATA SHALL BE USED TO CHECK ALL PROPOSED UTILITY CROSSINGS FOR
CONFLICTS.

THE EXACT LOCATION OF THE SANITARY SEWER LATERAL, DOMESTIC WATER LINE, FIRE PROTECTION LEAD,
NATURAL GAS SERVICE, ELECTRIC, PHONE AND CABLE LINES (AS THEY ENTER THE BUILDING) SHALL BE PER
THE ARCHITECTURAL OR MECHANICAL DRAWINGS.

MATERIALS FOR WATERMAIN CONSTRUCTION SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE STATE OF WISCONSIN
DEPARTMENT OF SAFETY AND PROFESSIONAL SERVICES (SPS) AND THE CITY OF FRANKLIN WATER UTILITY
SPECIFICATIONS.

A BLUE 12-GAUGE TRACER WIRE SHALL BE INSTALLED THE ENTIRE LENGTH OF ALL PRIVATE WATER LATERALS
PER SPS 382.40(8)(k). THE TRACER WIRE SHALL BE EXTENDED TO THE SURFACE AT THE BUILDING WALL AND
ALL OTHER SYSTEM LIMITS (FOR EACH SYSTEM INSTALLED) AND ENCLOSED IN A RISER BOX WITH "WATER"
ON THE COVER.

SANITARY SEWER LATERALS SHALL HAVE A GREEN 12 GAUGE TRACER WIRE INSTALLED ALONG THE ENTIRE
LENGTH.  LOCATOR WIRE SHALL BE BROUGHT TO THE SURFACE AT THE EDGE OF THE BUILDING WITHIN THE
CLEANOUT RISER FROST SLEEVE.

SANITARY SEWER LATERAL PIPE MATERIAL SHALL BE 4" PVC CLASS SDR-26, CONFORMING TO THE
REQUIREMENTS OF ASTM D3034 AND F-789/P546 WITH RUBBER GASKETS.  CLEAN-OUT RISERS SHALL BE 6"
DIAMETER WITH 8" DIAMETER FROST SLEEVE CONSTRUCTED OF THE SAME MATERIAL.

ALL SEWER AND WATER LINES INSTALLED IN PROPOSED PRIVATE PAVED AREAS SHALL BE BACKFILLED WITH
COMPACTED GRANULAR MATERIAL IN ACCORDANCE WITH TABLE 37, CHAPTER 8.43.4 OF THE "STANDARD
SPECIFICATIONS".  BACKFILL MATERIAL SHALL EXTEND A MINIMUM OF FIVE FEET (5') OUTSIDE OF THE
PAVEMENT LIMITS.  TRENCHES RUNNING PARALLEL TO AND LESS THAN FIVE FEET (5') FROM THE EDGE OF
PAVEMENT SHALL ALSO REQUIRE COMPACTED GRANULAR BACKFILL.

PROVIDE FIVE FEET (5') OF COVER OVER ALL SANITARY SEWERS AND FIVE AND ONE HALF FEET (5-1/2') OF
COVER OVER ALL WATER MAINS.  MINIMUM HORIZONTAL SEPARATION OF UTILITY MAINS IS EIGHT FEET (8').
PROVIDE VERTICAL SEPARATION OF UTILITIES PER CODE.

AT THE COMPLETION OF THE PROJECT THE CONTRACTOR SHALL REMOVE AND DISPOSE OF ALL ABANDONED,
EXCESS, WASTE, STOCKPILED AND SPOIL MATERIAL IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 205.3.12 OF THE "STATE
SPECIFICATIONS". THIS WORK SHALL BE DONE AT THE CONTRACTOR'S EXPENSE.

CONSTRUCTION SEQUENCING
1. OBTAIN PLAN APPROVAL AND ALL APPLICABLE PERMITS.
2. HOLD A PRE-CONSTRUCTION CONFERENCE AT LEAST ONE (1) WEEK PRIOR TO

STARTING CONSTRUCTION.
3. NOTIFY THE CITY ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT OF THE PROJECT START DATE.
4. INSTALL CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE.
5. INSTALL SILT FENCE BARRIER.
6. INSTALL INLET PROTECTION.
7. BEGIN CLEARING AND GRUBBING WORK.
8. BEGIN GRADING OPERATIONS.
9. INSTALL ALL UTILITIES
10. GRADE SWALES AND DETENTION BASIN.
11. CONSTRUCT BUILDINGS AND PAVEMENT AREAS.
12. RESTORE AND INSTALL EROSION MAT WHERE NOTED ON PLANS.

7-8-2024

IS
S
U
E
D
 F

O
R
 A

P
P
R
O
V
A
L
: 
7
-1

0
-2

0
2
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
2:13:30 PM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Thursday, July 11, 2024



ST
H 

10
0 

- S
. L

O
VE

RS
 LA

NE
 R

O
AD

WHITNALL EDGE ROAD

DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

40'

SCALE 1"=20'

20' 0' 20' 40'

MRM
SJF

6-4-2024

2024.0021.01

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

TS
U

N
AM

I E
XP

RE
SS

 C
AR

 W
AS

H
ST

O
RM

 S
EW

ER
 &

 D
RA

IN
AG

E 
PL

AN
FO

R
TS

U
N

AM
I E

XP
RE

SS
 C

AR
 W

AS
H 

FR
AN

KL
IN

, L
LC

.
CI

TY
 O

F 
FR

AN
KL

IN
, C

O
U

N
TY

 O
F 

M
IL

W
AU

KE
E,

 W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

ALJ
6-4-2024

STM1

PROPOSED SANITARY SEWER

PROPOSED WATER SERVICE

PROPOSED STORM SEWER
(VARIOUS SIZES)

DRAINAGE BOUNDARY

STORM SEWER LEGEND

EXISTING UTILITIES ARE SHOWN FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY AND
ARE NOT GUARANTEED TO BE ACCURATE OR ALL INCLUSIVE.  CONTRACTOR IS
RESPONSIBLE FOR VERIFYING THE TYPE, LOCATION, SIZE AND ELEVATION OF
UNDERGROUND UTILITIES AS THEY DEEM NECESSARY FOR PROPOSED UTILITY
CONNECTIONS AND / OR TO AVOID DAMAGE THERETO, CONTRACTOR SHALL
CALL “DIGGER'S HOTLINE” PRIOR TO ANY CONSTRUCTION.

UTILITY NOTE

RD 20.1
IE. 6" (SW) 789.32

10' - 6" STM @ 0.26%
CAPACITY:130 GPM (0.29 CFS)

Q10: 56 GPM (0.12 CFS)

RD 19.1
IE. 6" (SW) 789.32

10' - 6" STM @ 1.22%
CAPACITY:130 GPM (0.29 CFS)

Q10: 56 GPM (0.12 CFS)

INLET 10.0
RIM 781.66

IE. 8" (NE) 779.00
(BY OTHERS)

MH 11.0
RIM 785.35

IE. 8" (NE) 780.00
IE. 8" (SW) 780.00

37' - 8" STM @ 2.72%
CAPACITY: 2624 GPM (5.85 CFS)

Q10: 40 GPM (0.09 CFS)

GRADE BREAK 12.0
IE. 8" (NW) 781.76
IE. 8" (SE) 781.76

156' - 8" STM @ 1.01%
CAPACITY: 1606 GPM (3.58 CFS)

Q10: 40 GPM (0.09 CFS)

JCT 19.0
IE. 8" (NW) 789.20
IE. 8" (SE) 789.20
IE. 6" (NE) 789.20

73' - 8" STM @ 1.30%
CAPACITY: 620 GPM (1.38 CFS)

Q10: 193 GPM (0.42 CFS)

JCT 20.0
IE. 6" (NW) 789.29
IE. 8" (SE) 789.29
IE. 6" (NE) 789.29

35' - 8" STM @ 0.26%
CAPACITY: 280 GPM (0.62 CFS)

Q10: 137 GPM (0.30 CFS)

GRADE BREAK 21.0
IE. 6" (NE) 789.48
IE. 6" (SE) 789.48

37' - 6" STM @ 0.51%
CAPACITY:180 GPM (0.40 CFS)

Q10: 81 GPM (0.18 CFS)

TRENCH DRAIN 22.1
RIM 794.18
IE. 6" (SW) 792.18
8' - 6" STM @ 33.18%
CAPACITY: 1447 GPM (3.23 CFS)
Q10: 53 GPM (0.12 CFS)

JCT 14.0
IE. 8" (SW) 782.00
38' - 8" STM @ 0.52%
CAPACITY: 1150 GPM (2.65 CFS)
Q10:  40 GPM (0.09 CFS)

GRADE BREAK 18.0
IE. 8" (NW) 788.25
IE. 8" (NE) 788.25

40' - 8" STM @ 2.16%
CAPACITY: 799 GPM (1.789 CFS)

Q10: 193 GPM (0.43 CFS)

JCT 16.0
IE. 6" (SW) 787.27

OUTLET CONTROL
STRUCTURE
1 - 1.5" ORIFICE @ 786.00
1 - 6" X 8" WEIR @ 789.50

UNDERGROUND DETENTION SYSTEM
400 LF - 96" CMP @ 0.00%
IE. 96" 782.00

PROPOSED STORM
SEWER & INLET

(BY OTHERS)

PROPOSED STORM
SEWER & INLET

(BY OTHERS)

RD 17.2
IE. 6" (NE) 789.73
37' - 6" STM @ 5.82%
CAPACITY: 604 GPM (1.35 CFS)
Q10: 28 GPM (0.06 CFS)

JCT 17.0
IE. 6" (NW) 787.40

IE. 8" (SW/NE) 787.40
8' - 8" STM @ 1.56%

CAPACITY: 679 GPM (1.51 CFS)
Q10: 221 GPM (0.49 CFS)

JCT 22.0
IE. 6" (NE) 789.51
IE. 6" (NE) 789.51
IE. 6" (SW) 789.51

12' - 6" STM @ 0.26%
CAPACITY:130 GPM (0.29 CFS)

Q10: 81 GPM (0.18 CFS)

EW 14.4.1
IE. 12" (SE) 791.00
18' - 6" STM @ 11.11%
CAPACITY: 5269 GPM (11.74 CFS)
Q10: 65 GPM (0.14 CFS)

JCT 14.4
IE. 6" (NW) 789.00
IE. 96" (NE/SW) 782.00

CB 14.5.2
RIM 792.50
IE. 12" (SE) 788.50
18' - 12" STM @ 0.26%
CAPACITY: 820 GPM (1.83 CFS)
Q10: 547 GPM (1.22 CFS)

INLET 14.5.1
IE. 12" (NW) 788.45
3' - 12" STM @ 0.26%
CAPACITY: 820 GPM (1.83 CFS)
Q10: 788 GPM (1.76 CFS)

JCT 14.4
IE. 12" (NW) 788.44
IE. 96" (NE/SW) 782.00

RD 23.0
ROOF: 721 SF
28 GPM (0.06 CFS)

RD 17.2
ROOF: 721 SF
28 GPM / 0.06 CFS

RD 20.1
ROOF: 1465 SF
56 GPM (0.13 CFS)

RD 19.1
ROOF: 1465 SF
56 GPM (0.13 CFS)

RD 23.0
IE. 6" (NE) 789.73
84' - 6" STM @ 0.26%
CAPACITY: 130 GPM (0.29 CFS)

GRADE BREAK 17.1
IE. 6" (SW/NE) 787.68
27' - 6" STM @ 1.04%
CAPACITY: 260 GPM (0.58 CFS)
Q10: 28 GPM (0.06 CFS)

EW 14.4.1
LAWN: 6785 SF
65 GPM (0.15 CFS)

INLET 14.5.1
LAWN: 3389 SF
PAVEMENT: 6797 SF
242 GPM (0.54 CFS)

CB 14.5.2
LAWN: 2346 SF
PAVEMENT: 16028 SF
ROOF: 807 SF
547 GPM (1.22 CFS)

TD 22.1
PAVEMENT: 1444 SF
LAWN: 891 SF
53 GPM (0.12 CFS)

BEND 13.0
IE. 8" (NW) 781.80
IE. 8" (SE) 781.80

8' - 8" STM @ 0.52%
CAPACITY: 1150 GPM (2.65 CFS)

Q10: 40 GPM (0.09 CFS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
11:28:00 AM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Friday, June 14, 2024



ST
H 

10
0 

- S
. L

O
VE

RS
 LA

NE
 R

O
AD

WHITNALL EDGE ROAD

DA
TE

RE
VI

SI
O

N
BY

N
O

.

SHEET

PROJ. MGR:
DRAFTED:
DATE:
CHECKED:
DATE:

40'

SCALE 1"=20'

20' 0' 20' 40'

MRM
SJF

6-14-2024

2024.0021.01

CI
VI

L 
 E

N
GI

N
EE

RS
  A

N
D 

 L
AN

D 
 S

U
RV

EY
O

RS

TS
U

N
AM

I E
XP

RE
SS

 C
AR

 W
AS

H
 N

AT
U

RA
L 

RE
SO

U
RC

E 
PR

O
TE

CT
IO

N
 P

LA
N

ST
EE

P 
SL

O
PE

S
FO

R
TS

U
N

AM
I E

XP
RE

SS
 C

AR
 W

AS
H 

FR
AN

KL
IN

, L
LC

.
CI

TY
 O

F 
FR

AN
KL

IN
, C

O
U

N
TY

 O
F 

M
IL

W
AU

KE
E,

 W
IS

CO
N

SI
N

14
58

 H
or

izo
n 

Bl
vd

. S
ui

te
 2

00
, R

ac
in

e,
 W

I. 
53

40
6

Te
le

: (
26

2)
63

4-
55

88
  W

eb
sit

e:
 w

w
w

.n
m

bs
c.

ne
t

ALJ
6-14-2024

EXISTING CONTOURS

PROPOSED CONTOURS

EXISTING SPOT GRADES

20-30% STEEP SLOPE AREA

GRADING LEGEND

NRPP-1

EXISTING 20-30% SLOPE AREA

DISTURBED SLOPE AREA

20-30% STEEP SLOPE PROTECTION

STEEP SLOPES DATA

5605 SF

      0 SF

  100%

NOTES
BEARING BASE: GRID NORTH, WISCONSIN
COORDINATE SYSTEM, SOUTH ZONE.
BASED UPON NAD 1983 / 2011.

ALL ELEVATIONS REFER TO NAVD 1988 (12).

PARCEL 1 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 5375 RECORDED IN THE OFFICE OF THE REGISTER OF
DEEDS FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, WISCONSIN, ON FEBRUARY 15, 1990 IN REEL 2420, IMAGE
890, AS DOCUMENT NO. 6354945, AND BEING CORRECTED BY AFFIDAVIT OF CORRECTION
RECORDED JULY 11, 1990 IN REEL 2468 IMAGE 655 AS DOCUMENT NO. 6396945, BEING A
RE-DIVISION OF PARCEL 1 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 3247, OUTLOT 2 OF WHITNALL EDGE
SUBDIVISION, AND UNPLATTED LANDS IN THE NORTHWEST 1/4 AND THE SOUTHWEST 1/4 OF
THE NORTHWEST 1/4 OF SECTION 5, TOWNSHIP 5 NORTH, RANGE 21 EAST, IN THE CITY OF
FRANKLIN, COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE, STATE OF WISCONSIN.

Tax Parcel ID:  705-8997-003
Parcel Address:  Vacant Land - South Lovers Lane, Franklin, WI  53132

LEGAL DESCRIPTION

Certificate
The above-described property has been surveyed
under my direction and the map hereon drawn is a
correct representation thereof to the best of my
knowledge and belief.

04/02/2024___________________________

AutoCAD SHX Text
1:22:13 PM

AutoCAD SHX Text
Friday, June 14, 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
702

AutoCAD SHX Text
692

AutoCAD SHX Text
604.88



ST
H 

10
0 

- S
. L

O
VE

RS
 LA

NE
 R

O
AD

WHITNALL EDGE ROAD

3 TOR SPIREA
14 SUMMER BEAUTY ALLIUM
9 PRAIRIE DROPSEED

1 QUICK FIRE HYDRANGEA
9 GOLDMOUND SPIREA

5 NICK'S COMPACT JUNIPER
9 GOLDMOUND SPIREA

5 NICK'S COMPACT JUNIPER
1 QUICK FIRE HYDRANGEA

11 SONIC BLOOM WEIGELA
1 BLACK HILLS SPRUCE

1 NORTHERN RED OAK
1 NORWAY SPRUCE

1 ACCOLADE ELM

1 PRAIRIE FIRE CRABAPPLE
1 ACCOLADE ELM

3 EASTERN WHITE PINE
INFILTRATION BASIN SEED MIX

INFILTRATION BASIN SEED MIX

1 JAPANESE TREE LILAC

1 AUTUMN FLAME MAPLE

1 IRONWOOD

1 PRAIRIE FIRE CRABAPPLE

1 NORTHERN RED OAK

1 IRONWOOD

4 HETZI COMPACT JUNIPER

GRAVEL

GRAVEL

SHEET NUMBER

DATE

PROJECT NUMBER

SHEET TITLE

PROJECT MANAGER

PROJECT

DESCRIPTIONDATE

ISSUANCE AND REVISIONS

07.02.24

24-014

WDH

3.08.24 FIRST ISSUE

TSUNAMI
EXPRESS
CAR WASH
6614 S. Lovers Lane
Franklin, WI

Information contained herein is based on survey information, field
inspection, and believed to be accurate.

These plans were prepared by:
W. David Heller, ASLA

Registered Landscape Architect
#438-014

6.20.24 REVISED SITE PLAN
7.02.24 IRRIGATION NOTE

L 1.0

OVERALL
LANDSCAPE
PLAN

OVERALL LANDSCAPE PLAN
NORTH

Scale: 1" = 16'0"

H
EL

LE
R 

&
A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S,

 LL
C

L 
A

 N
 D

 S
 C

 A
 P

 E
  A

 R
 C

 H
 I 

T 
E 

C
 T

 U
 R

 E

P.
O.

 B
ox

 13
59

La
ke

 G
en

ev
a, 

W
isc

on
sin

 53
14

7-
13

59
ph

 26
2.6

39
.97

33
da

vid
@

wd
av

idh
ell

er
.co

m
ww

w.
wd

av
idh

ell
er

.co
m

CODE REQUIREMENTS

Project Note:
A permanent, automatic irrigation

system will be installed

AutoCAD SHX Text
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CB 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
STM 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
CB 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
STM 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
STM 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
STM 3

AutoCAD SHX Text
794

AutoCAD SHX Text
798

AutoCAD SHX Text
797

AutoCAD SHX Text
796

AutoCAD SHX Text
795

AutoCAD SHX Text
794

AutoCAD SHX Text
793

AutoCAD SHX Text
792

AutoCAD SHX Text
791

AutoCAD SHX Text
790

AutoCAD SHX Text
789

AutoCAD SHX Text
788

AutoCAD SHX Text
787

AutoCAD SHX Text
786

AutoCAD SHX Text
785

AutoCAD SHX Text
784

AutoCAD SHX Text
797

AutoCAD SHX Text
796

AutoCAD SHX Text
795

AutoCAD SHX Text
794

AutoCAD SHX Text
793

AutoCAD SHX Text
792

AutoCAD SHX Text
791

AutoCAD SHX Text
790

AutoCAD SHX Text
789

AutoCAD SHX Text
788

AutoCAD SHX Text
787

AutoCAD SHX Text
786

AutoCAD SHX Text
785

AutoCAD SHX Text
784

AutoCAD SHX Text
783

AutoCAD SHX Text
782

AutoCAD SHX Text
783

AutoCAD SHX Text
785

AutoCAD SHX Text
788

AutoCAD SHX Text
792

AutoCAD SHX Text
795

AutoCAD SHX Text
796

AutoCAD SHX Text
795

AutoCAD SHX Text
793

AutoCAD SHX Text
792

AutoCAD SHX Text
791

AutoCAD SHX Text
789

AutoCAD SHX Text
788

AutoCAD SHX Text
787

AutoCAD SHX Text
786

AutoCAD SHX Text
785

AutoCAD SHX Text
784

AutoCAD SHX Text
783

AutoCAD SHX Text
782

AutoCAD SHX Text
783

AutoCAD SHX Text
782

AutoCAD SHX Text
783

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 73°36'13" W 275.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 18°56'24" W 85.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 62°44'47" E 180.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 76°35'47" E 124.48' A=125.70' R=260.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 89°33'13" E 81.71

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 14°31'13" W 249.87' A=250.00' R=2221.83'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 18°06'52" W 28.18' A=28.18' R=2172.21'

AutoCAD SHX Text
790

AutoCAD SHX Text
794

AutoCAD SHX Text
786.36

AutoCAD SHX Text
793.10

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.31

AutoCAD SHX Text
797.62

AutoCAD SHX Text
797.83

AutoCAD SHX Text
796.88

AutoCAD SHX Text
796.19

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.60

AutoCAD SHX Text
793.56

AutoCAD SHX Text
791.95

AutoCAD SHX Text
791.20

AutoCAD SHX Text
783.03

AutoCAD SHX Text
785.95

AutoCAD SHX Text
786.68

AutoCAD SHX Text
789.36

AutoCAD SHX Text
783.87

AutoCAD SHX Text
784.21

AutoCAD SHX Text
784.47

AutoCAD SHX Text
785.75

AutoCAD SHX Text
795.01 794.47

AutoCAD SHX Text
795.19 794.65

AutoCAD SHX Text
795.55 795.01

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.98 794.44

AutoCAD SHX Text
795.82 795.28

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.86 794.32

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.35 793.81

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.17 793.63

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.59 794.05

AutoCAD SHX Text
796.40 795.86

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.87 794.33

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.82 794.28

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.74 794.20

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.24 793.70

AutoCAD SHX Text
793.60 793.06

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.55 794.01

AutoCAD SHX Text
795.26 794.72

AutoCAD SHX Text
796.52 795.98

AutoCAD SHX Text
796.02 795.48

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.15 790.72

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.14 791.32

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.14 791.73

AutoCAD SHX Text
793.83 793.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
793.34 792.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.43 793.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.84 788.85

AutoCAD SHX Text
795.01 793.03

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.33 791.63

AutoCAD SHX Text
795.00 790.77

AutoCAD SHX Text
793.36 789.85

AutoCAD SHX Text
791.84 788.74

AutoCAD SHX Text
790

AutoCAD SHX Text
789

AutoCAD SHX Text
791

AutoCAD SHX Text
792

AutoCAD SHX Text
793

AutoCAD SHX Text
794

AutoCAD SHX Text
795

AutoCAD SHX Text
791

AutoCAD SHX Text
792

AutoCAD SHX Text
793

AutoCAD SHX Text
794

AutoCAD SHX Text
795

AutoCAD SHX Text
792

AutoCAD SHX Text
793

AutoCAD SHX Text
794

AutoCAD SHX Text
796

AutoCAD SHX Text
796

AutoCAD SHX Text
793

AutoCAD SHX Text
793

AutoCAD SHX Text
793

AutoCAD SHX Text
793

AutoCAD SHX Text
794

AutoCAD SHX Text
794

AutoCAD SHX Text
794

AutoCAD SHX Text
791

AutoCAD SHX Text
792

AutoCAD SHX Text
793

AutoCAD SHX Text
787

AutoCAD SHX Text
794

AutoCAD SHX Text
796

AutoCAD SHX Text
795

AutoCAD SHX Text
795

AutoCAD SHX Text
795

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.92 794.38

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.08 793.54

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.72 794.18

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.87 794.33

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.87 794.33

AutoCAD SHX Text
797

AutoCAD SHX Text
796

AutoCAD SHX Text
795

AutoCAD SHX Text
795

AutoCAD SHX Text
795.29 793.96

AutoCAD SHX Text
32

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
16



ST
H 

10
0 

- S
. L

O
VE

RS
 LA

NE
 R

O
AD

WHITNALL EDGE ROAD

1 QUICK FIRE HYDRANGEA
9 GOLDMOUND SPIREA

5 NICK'S COMPACT JUNIPER
9 GOLDMOUND SPIREA

5 NICK'S COMPACT JUNIPER
1 QUICK FIRE HYDRANGEA

1 NORTHERN RED OAK
1 NORWAY SPRUCE

1 ACCOLADE ELM

1 PRAIRIE FIRE CRABAPPLE
1 ACCOLADE ELM

3 EASTERN WHITE PINE
INFILTRATION BASIN SEED MIX

INFILTRATION BASIN SEED MIX

1 JAPANESE TREE LILAC

1 IRONWOOD

1 PRAIRIE FIRE CRABAPPLE

1 IRONWOOD

4 HETZI COMPACT JUNIPER

GRAVEL

GRAVEL

SHEET NUMBER

DATE

PROJECT NUMBER

SHEET TITLE

PROJECT MANAGER

PROJECT

DESCRIPTIONDATE

ISSUANCE AND REVISIONS

07.02.24

24-014

WDH

3.08.24 FIRST ISSUE

TSUNAMI
EXPRESS
CAR WASH
6614 S. Lovers Lane
Franklin, WI

Information contained herein is based on survey information, field
inspection, and believed to be accurate.

These plans were prepared by:
W. David Heller, ASLA

Registered Landscape Architect
#438-014

6.20.24 REVISED SITE PLAN
7.02.24 IRRIGATION NOTE

L 1.1

ENLARGED
LANDSCAPE
PLAN

ENLARGED LANDSCAPE PLAN
NORTH

Scale: 1" = 10'0"

H
EL

LE
R 

&
A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S,

 LL
C

L 
A

 N
 D

 S
 C

 A
 P

 E
  A

 R
 C

 H
 I 

T 
E 

C
 T

 U
 R

 E

P.
O.

 B
ox

 13
59

La
ke

 G
en

ev
a, 

W
isc

on
sin

 53
14

7-
13

59
ph

 26
2.6

39
.97

33
da

vid
@

wd
av

idh
ell

er
.co

m
ww

w.
wd

av
idh

ell
er

.co
m

Project Note:
A permanent, automatic irrigation

system will be installed

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
SAN 4

AutoCAD SHX Text
794

AutoCAD SHX Text
797

AutoCAD SHX Text
796

AutoCAD SHX Text
795

AutoCAD SHX Text
794

AutoCAD SHX Text
793

AutoCAD SHX Text
794

AutoCAD SHX Text
793

AutoCAD SHX Text
792

AutoCAD SHX Text
791

AutoCAD SHX Text
790

AutoCAD SHX Text
792

AutoCAD SHX Text
796

AutoCAD SHX Text
795

AutoCAD SHX Text
793

AutoCAD SHX Text
792

AutoCAD SHX Text
791

AutoCAD SHX Text
789

AutoCAD SHX Text
788

AutoCAD SHX Text
787

AutoCAD SHX Text
786

AutoCAD SHX Text
785

AutoCAD SHX Text
784

AutoCAD SHX Text
783

AutoCAD SHX Text
782

AutoCAD SHX Text
783

AutoCAD SHX Text
782

AutoCAD SHX Text
783

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 62°44'47" E 180.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
793.56

AutoCAD SHX Text
791.95

AutoCAD SHX Text
791.20

AutoCAD SHX Text
783.87

AutoCAD SHX Text
784.21

AutoCAD SHX Text
784.47

AutoCAD SHX Text
795.01 794.47

AutoCAD SHX Text
795.19 794.65

AutoCAD SHX Text
795.55 795.01

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.98 794.44

AutoCAD SHX Text
795.82 795.28

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.86 794.32

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.35 793.81

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.17 793.63

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.59 794.05

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.87 794.33

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.82 794.28

AutoCAD SHX Text
793.60 793.06

AutoCAD SHX Text
795.26 794.72

AutoCAD SHX Text
796.02 795.48

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.15 790.72

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.14 791.32

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.14 791.73

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.43 793.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.84 788.85

AutoCAD SHX Text
795.01 793.03

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.33 791.63

AutoCAD SHX Text
795.00 790.77

AutoCAD SHX Text
793.36 789.85

AutoCAD SHX Text
791.84 788.74

AutoCAD SHX Text
790

AutoCAD SHX Text
789

AutoCAD SHX Text
791

AutoCAD SHX Text
792

AutoCAD SHX Text
793

AutoCAD SHX Text
794

AutoCAD SHX Text
791

AutoCAD SHX Text
792

AutoCAD SHX Text
793

AutoCAD SHX Text
794

AutoCAD SHX Text
795

AutoCAD SHX Text
792

AutoCAD SHX Text
793

AutoCAD SHX Text
794

AutoCAD SHX Text
793

AutoCAD SHX Text
793

AutoCAD SHX Text
793

AutoCAD SHX Text
793

AutoCAD SHX Text
794

AutoCAD SHX Text
794

AutoCAD SHX Text
794

AutoCAD SHX Text
787

AutoCAD SHX Text
795

AutoCAD SHX Text
795

AutoCAD SHX Text
795

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.92 794.38

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.08 793.54

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.72 794.18

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.87 794.33

AutoCAD SHX Text
794.87 794.33

AutoCAD SHX Text
796

AutoCAD SHX Text
795

AutoCAD SHX Text
795.29 793.96

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
10



SHADE TREE PLANTING1 N.T.S. SECTION

EVERGREEN TREE PLANTING
SECTIONN.T.S.

DECIDUOUS SHRUB PLANTING (B&B)
N.T.S. SECTION

GROUNDCOVER / PERENNIAL PLANTING

      DECIDUOUS SHRUB PLANTING (POTTED)
N.T.S. SECTION

DETAIL EVERGREEN SHRUB PLANTING
N.T.S. SECTION

BALLED & BURLAPPED POTTED
FIBER POT CONTAINER

PLANT SHRUB AT SAME
LEVEL AS PREVIOUS

GROWING CONDITION AT
ROOT FLARE.

CAREFULLY
REMOVE PLANT
FROM PLASTIC POT
& SCORE ROOTS 1"
DEEP WITH A
SHARP KNIFE.

N.T.S. SECTION

PER SCHEDULE

(6-24" TYP.)
N.T.S. SECTION

SPADE EDGE PLANT BED EDGE DETAILDETAIL

DETAILDETAILDETAIL

DETAIL DETAIL

ORNAMENTAL GRASS PLANTING
N.T.S. SECTION

PER SCHEDULE

(15-36" TYP.)

DETAIL

2 3 4

5 6 7 8

PLANT TREE AT SAME LEVEL AS PREVIOUS
GROWING CONDITION AT ROOT FLARE.  PLANT
SLIGHTLY HIGHER THAN SURROUNDING
FINISHED GRADE.

WATER IMMEDIATELY AFTER PLANTING WITH A
THOROUGH AND DEEP, SLOW RELEASE WATERING.

REMOVE 'V' CROTCHES, STUBS, DOUBLE
LEADERS AND OVERLAPPING / RUBBING PRUNE
PLANTS (IF NEEDED) ONLY AFTER PLANTING.
PRUNING IS SUBJECT TO TIME OF YEAR, AND
SPECIFIC TREE SPECIES.
WRAP TREE IN FALL FOR PROTECTION FROM
DEER (IF APPLICABLE).
3" DEPTH WOOD MULCH OVER SOIL RING;
DO NOT PLACE MULCH AGAINST TREE TRUNK.
REMOVE BURLAP, SYNTHETIC TWINE, AND WIRE
CAGE FROM TOP 13  OF ROOTBALL.  SCORE
REMAINING 2 3 OF BURLAP ONCE TREE IS IN PLACE,
AND STRAIGHTENED.  CAREFULLY BEND
REMAINING CAGE DOWN TO BOTTOM OF HOLE.
INSTALL ONE (1) SLOW RELEASE FERTILIZER
PACKET PER 1" CALIPER OF TREE.  PLACE
AGAINST ROOT BALL.
DIG HOLE 2X WIDER THAN DIAMETER OF ROOT
BALL.  BACK FILL WITH SPECIFIED SOIL - AVOID
AIR POCKETS BY TAMPING SOIL MIXTURE IN
4" LIFTS.
EXISTING SUBGRADE

PLANT TREE AT SAME LEVEL AS PREVIOUS
GROWING CONDITION AT ROOT FLARE.  PLANT
SLIGHTLY HIGHER THAN SURROUNDING
FINISHED GRADE.
REMOVE STUBS, AND OVERLAPPING, BROKEN
OR RUBBING BRANCHES.  PRUNE PLANTS (IF
NEEDED) ONLY AFTER PLANTING.
PRUNING IS SUBJECT TO TIME OF YEAR, AND
SPECIFIC TREE SPECIES.
3" DEPTH WOOD MULCH OVER SOIL RING;
DO NOT PLACE MULCH AGAINST TREE TRUNK.
REMOVE BURLAP, SYNTHETIC TWINE, AND WIRE
CAGE FROM TOP 13  OF ROOTBALL.  SCORE
REMAINING 23 OF BURLAP ONCE TREE IS IN PLACE,
AND STRAIGHTENED.  CAREFULLY BEND
REMAINING CAGE DOWN TO BOTTOM OF HOLE.
INSTALL ONE (1) SLOW RELEASE FERTILIZER
PACKET PER 24" HEIGHT OF TREE.  PLACE
AGAINST ROOT BALL.
DIG HOLE 2X WIDER THAN DIAMETER OF ROOT
BALL.  BACK FILL WITH SPECIFIED SOIL - AVOID
AIR POCKETS BY TAMPING SOIL MIXTURE IN
4" LIFTS.
EXISTING SUBGRADE

WATER IMMEDIATELY AFTER PLANTING WITH A
THOROUGH AND DEEP, SLOW RELEASE WATERING.

PRUNE OUT DEAD & BROKEN BRANCHES; RETAIN
NORMAL PLANT SHAPE.
3" DEPTH WOOD MULCH OVER SOIL RING;  DO NOT
PLACE MULCH AGAINST STEMS, OR BURY BOTTOM
BRANCHES.
REMOVE BURLAP AND SYNTHETIC TWINE FROM TOP
1

3  OF ROOTBALL.  SCORE REMAINING 2 3 OF BURLAP.
INSTALL ONE SLOW RELEASE FERTILIZER PACKETS
AGAINST ROOT BALL.
DIG HOLE 2X WIDER THAN DIAMETER OF ROOT BALL.
BACK FILL WITH SPECIFIED PLANTING MIX - AVOID AIR
POCKETS BY TAMPING MIXTURE IN 4" LIFTS.
WATER IMMEDIATELY AFTER PLANTING WITH A
THOROUGH AND DEEP, SLOW RELEASE WATERING.

PLANT SHRUB AT SAME LEVEL AS PREVIOUS
GROWING CONDITION AT ROOT FLARE.
PRUNE OUT DEAD & BROKEN BRANCHES; RETAIN
NORMAL PLANT SHAPE.
3" DEPTH WOOD MULCH OVER SOIL RING;  DO NOT
PLACE MULCH AGAINST STEMS, OR BURY BOTTOM
BRANCHES.
REMOVE BURLAP AND SYNTHETIC TWINE FROM TOP
1

3  OF ROOTBALL.  SCORE REMAINING 23 OF BURLAP.
INSTALL ONE SLOW RELEASE FERTILIZER PACKETS
AGAINST ROOT BALL.
DIG HOLE 2X WIDER THAN DIAMETER OF ROOT BALL.
BACK FILL WITH SPECIFIED PLANTING MIX - AVOID AIR
POCKETS BY TAMPING MIXTURE IN 4" LIFTS.
WATER IMMEDIATELY AFTER PLANTING WITH A
THOROUGH AND DEEP, SLOW RELEASE WATERING.

LANDSCAPE FABRIC

CAREFULLY REMOVE
PLANT FROM PLASTIC POT
& SCORE ROOTS 1" DEEP
WITH A SHARP KNIFE.

USE EDGING AROUND
PERIMETER OF GRAVEL
MULCH AREA OR ALONG

BEDLINE

PLANT SHRUB AT SAME LEVEL AS PREVIOUS
GROWING CONDITION AT ROOT FLARE.
PRUNE OUT DEAD & BROKEN BRANCHES; RETAIN
NORMAL PLANT SHAPE.
3" DEPTH WOOD MULCH OVER SOIL RING;  DO NOT
PLACE MULCH AGAINST STEMS, OR BURY BOTTOM
BRANCHES.
REMOVE BURLAP AND SYNTHETIC TWINE FROM TOP
1

3  OF ROOTBALL.  SCORE REMAINING 2 3 OF BURLAP.
INSTALL ONE SLOW RELEASE FERTILIZER PACKETS
AGAINST ROOT BALL.
DIG HOLE 2X WIDER THAN DIAMETER OF ROOT BALL.
BACK FILL WITH SPECIFIED PLANTING MIX - AVOID AIR
POCKETS BY TAMPING MIXTURE IN 4" LIFTS.
WATER IMMEDIATELY AFTER PLANTING WITH A
THOROUGH AND DEEP, SLOW RELEASE WATERING.

SPACING OF PERENNIALS WILL VARY ON THE VARIETY
OF PERENNIAL SELECTED.
SPACING PLAN - IF NOT INDICATED ON PLANT & MATERIAL
LIST. WATER IMMEDIATELY AFTER PLANTING WITH A
THOROUGH AND DEEP, SLOW RELEASE WATERING.
PLANTING MIX DEPTH OF 9" TO BE ROTO-TILLED AT ALL
PERENNIAL AREAS.
2" DOUBLE SHREDDED HARDWOOD MULCH OR LEAF COMPOST.

REMOVE BROKEN, BENT, DEAD OR DISEASED
LEAVES/STEMS AFTER PLANTING.
CAREFULL REMOVE PLANT FROM CONTAINER;
SCORE ROOTS ON ALL SIDES; HAND TAMP INTO
PLACE TO PROTECT PLANT.

PLANT SHRUB AT SAME LEVEL AS PREVIOUS
GROWING CONDITION AT ROOT FLARE.

LANDSCAPE FABRIC
SCARIFY EXISTING SUBGRADE

SPACING OF PERENNIALS WILL VARY ON THE VARIETY
OF PERENNIAL SELECTED.
SPACING PLAN - IF NOT INDICATED ON PLANT & MATERIAL
LIST. WATER IMMEDIATELY AFTER PLANTING WITH A
THOROUGH AND DEEP, SLOW RELEASE WATERING.
PLANTING MIX DEPTH OF 9" TO BE ROTO-TILLED AT ALL
PERENNIAL AREAS.
2" DBL SHREDDED HARDWOOD MULCH OR LEAF COMPOST.

REMOVE BROKEN, BENT, DEAD OR DISEASED
LEAVES/STEMS AFTER PLANTING.
CAREFULL REMOVE PLANT FROM CONTAINER;
SCORE ROOTS ON ALL SIDES; HAND TAMP INTO
PLACE TO PROTECT PLANT.

PLANT SHRUB AT SAME LEVEL AS PREVIOUS
GROWING CONDITION AT ROOT FLARE.

LANDSCAPE FABRIC
SCARIFY EXISTING SUBGRADE

TOP OF MULCH SHOULD BE CRESTED 1-2" ABOVE
TURF FOR POSITIBE DRAINGE. SLOPE GRADUALLY.
BEDLINES ARE TO BE CUT CRISP AS PER PLAN.  A
CLEAN DEFINITION BETWEEN TURF AND PLANTING
BED IS REQUIRED.

3" SHREDDED HARDWOOD MULCH BED

TOPSOIL/PLANTING MIX
TURFGRASS (TYPICAL)

LANDSCAPE GENERAL NOTES:

1.  Contractor responsible for contacting Diggers Hotline (811 or 800-242-8511) to have site marked prior to excavation or planting.

2.  Contractor to verify all plant quantities shown on Plant & Material List and landscape planting symbols and report any discrepancies to Landscape Architect or
General Contractor.

3.  All plantings shall comply with standards as described in American Standard of Nursery Stock - Z60.1 ANSI (latest version).  Landscape Architect reserves
the right to inspect, and potentially reject any plants that are inferior, compromised, undersized, diseased, improperly transported, installed incorrectly or
damaged. No sub-standard "B Grade" or "Park Grade" plant material shall be accepted.  Plant material shall originate from nursery(ies) with a similar climate as
the planting site.

4.  Any potential plant substitutions must be approved by Landscape Architect or Owner.  All plants must be installed as per sizes indicated on Plant &  Material
Schedule, unless approved by Landscape Architect.  Any changes to sizes shown on plan must be submitted in writing to the Landscape Architect prior to
installation.

5.  Topspoil in Parking Lot Islands (if applicable):  All parking lot islands to be backfilled with topsoil to a minimum depth of 12" to insure long-term plant health.
Topsoil should be placed within 3" of finish grade by General Contractor / Excavation Contractor during rough grading operations/activity.  The landscape
contractor shall be responsible for the fine grading of all disturbed areas, planting bed areas, and lawn areas.  Crown all parking lot islands a minimum of 4" to
provide proper drainage, unless otherwise specified.

6.  Tree Planting:  Plant all trees slightly higher than finished grade at the root flare.  Remove excess soil from the top of the root ball, if needed.  Remove and
discard non-biodegradable ball wrapping and support wire.  Removed biodegradable burlap and wire cage (if present) from the top 13 of the rootball and carefully
bend remaining wire down to the bottom of the hole.  Once the tree has been placed into the hole and will no longer be moved, score the remaining 23  of the
burlap and remove the twine.  Provide one slow release fertilizer packets (per 1" caliper) for each tree planted.

7.  Tree Planting:  Backfill tree planting holes 80% existing soils removed from excavation and 20% Soil Amendments (see Note 11).  Avoid air pockets and do
not tamp soil down.  Discard any gravel, rocks, heavy clay, or concrete pieces.  When hole is 23 full, trees shall be watered thoroughly, and water left to soak in
before proceeding to fill the remainder of the hole.  Water again to full soak in the new planting.  Each tree shall receive a 3" deep, 4-5' diameter (see planting
details or planting plan) shredded hardwood bark mulch ring / saucer around all trees.  Do not build up any mulch onto the trunk of any tree.  Trees that are
installed incorrectly will be replaced at the time and expense of the Landscape Contractor.

8.  Shrub Planting:  All shrubs to be planted in groupings as indicated on the Landscape Plan.  Install with the planting of shrubs a 50
50 mix of Soil Amendments

with blended, pulverized topsoil.  Install topsoil into all plant beds as needed to achieve proper grade and displace undesirable soils (see planting detail).
Remove all excessive gravel, clay and stones from plant beds prior to planting.  When hole(s) are 2 3 full, shrubs shall be watered thoroughly, and water left to
soak in before proceeding.  Provide slow-release fertilizer packets at the rater of 1 per 24" height/diameter of shrub at planting.

9.  Mulching:  All tree rings to receive a 3" deep layer of high quality shredded hardwood bark mulch (not pigment dyed or enviro-mulch).  All shrub planting and
perennial planting bed areas (groupings) shall receive a 2" layer of double-shredded hardwood bark mulch, and groundcover areas a 2" layer of the same mulch.
Do not mulch annual flower beds (if applicable).  Do not allow mulch to contact plant stems and tree trunks.

10.  Edging:  All planting beds shall be edged with a 4" deep spade edge using a flat landscape spade or a mechanical edger.  Bedlines are to be cut crisp,
smooth as per plan.  A clean definition between landscape beds and lawn is required.  Pack mulch against lawn edge to hold in place.

11.  Plant bed preparation/Soil Amendment composition:  All perennial, groundcover and annual areas (if applicable) are required to receive a blend of organic
soil (Soil Amendments) amendments prior to installation.  Roto-till the following materials at the following ratio, into existing soil beds or installed topsoil beds to a
depth of approximately 8"-10".  Containerized and balled & burlapped plant material should be back-filled with amended soil:

Per 100 SF of bed area (Soil Amendment composition):
3

4 CY Peat Moss or Mushroom Compost
3

4  CY blended/pulverized Topsoil
1

4  CY composted manure

In roto-tilled beds only, also include in above mixture:
2   lbs Starter Fertilizer

12.  Installation preparation for all seeded areas:  remove/kill off any existing unwanted vegetation prior to seeding.  Prepare the topsoil (if adequate or provide
as in item #6 above) and seed bed by removing all surface stones 1" or larger.  Apply a starter fertilizer (20-10-5, or approved comparable) and specified seed
uniformly at the specified rate, and provide mulch covering suitable to germinate and establish turf.  Provide seed and fertilizer specifications to Landscape
Architect and Owner prior to installation.  Erosion control measures are to be used in swales and on slopes in excess of 1:3 and where applicable (see Civil
Engineering Drawings).  Methods of installation may vary are the discretion of the Landscape Contractor on his/her responsibility to establish and guarantee a
smooth, uniform, quality turf.  A minimum of 2" of blended, prepared and non-compacted topsoil is required for all lawn areas.  If straw mulch is used as a mulch
covering, a tackifier may be necessary to avoid wind dispersal of mulch covering.  Marsh hay containing reed canary grass is NOT acceptable as a mulch
covering.

An acceptable quality seed installation is defined as having:
No bare spots larger than one (1) square foot
No more than 10% of the total area with bare areas larger than one (1) square foot
A uniform coverage through all turf areas

13.  Warranty and Replacements:  All plantings are to be watered thoroughly at the time of planting, through construction and upon completion of project as
required.  Trees, Evergreens, and Shrubs (deciduous and evergreen) shall be guaranteed (100% replacement) for a minimum of two (2) years from the date of
project completion.  Perennials, groundcovers, and ornamental grasses shall be guaranteed for a minimum of two (2) growing seasons.  Only one replacement
per plant will be required during the warranty period, except for losses or replacements due to failure to comply with specified requirements.  Watering and
general ongoing maintenance instructions are to be supplied by the Landscape Contractor to the Architect, General Contractor, or Owner upon completion of the
project.

14.  The Landscape Contractor is responsible for the watering and maintenance of all landscape areas for a period of 45 days after the substantial completion of
the landscape installation.  This shall include all trees, shrubs, evergreens, perennials, ornamental grasses, turf grass, no-mow grass, and native prairie seed
mix / stormwater seed mix.  Work also includes weeding, edging, mulching (only if required), fertilizing, trimming, sweeping up grass clippings, pruning and
deadheading.

15.  Project Completion:  Landscape Contractor is responsible to conduct a final review of the project, upon completion, with the Landscape Architect, Client or
Owner / Client Representative, and the General Contractor to answer questions, provide written care instructions for new plantings and turf, and insure that all
specifications have been met.

N.T.S.

DETAIL STONE MULCH DETAIL
SECTION

TOPSOIL / PLANTING MIX
SUBGRADE
FILTER FABRIC

1
8" x 4" ALUMINUM EDGE RESTRAINT; MILL FINISH;
STAKED EVERY 24"

TOP OF GRAVEL SHOULD BE APPROXIMATELY 14"
BELOW TOP OF THE EDGE RESTAINT
3" (+/-) STONE / GRAVEL MEDIUM (SEE PLAN OR
MATERIAL SCHEDULE FOR TYPE)

PLANTS / LAWN

9

SHEET NUMBER

DATE

PROJECT NUMBER

SHEET TITLE

PROJECT MANAGER

PROJECT

DESCRIPTIONDATE

ISSUANCE AND REVISIONS

07.02.24

24-014

WDH

3.08.24 FIRST ISSUE

TSUNAMI
EXPRESS
CAR WASH
6614 S. Lovers Lane
Franklin, WI

Information contained herein is based on survey information, field
inspection, and believed to be accurate.

These plans were prepared by:
W. David Heller, ASLA

Registered Landscape Architect
#438-014

6.20.24 REVISED SITE PLAN
7.02.24 IRRIGATION NOTE

L 1.2

LANDSCAPE
DETAILS,
NOTES &
SCHEDULES

H
EL

LE
R 

&
A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S,

 LL
C

L 
A

 N
 D

 S
 C

 A
 P

 E
  A

 R
 C

 H
 I 

T 
E 

C
 T

 U
 R

 E

P.
O.

 B
ox

 13
59

La
ke

 G
en

ev
a, 

W
isc

on
sin

 53
14

7-
13

59
ph

 26
2.6

39
.97

33
da

vid
@

wd
av

idh
ell

er
.co

m
ww

w.
wd

av
idh

ell
er

.co
m

PLANTING & HARDSCAPE DETAILS

PLANT & MATERIAL SCHEDULELANDSCAPE GENERAL NOTES

Project Note:
A permanent, automatic irrigation

system will be installed





PROPOSED  

MONUMENT 

SIGNAGE

RETENTION 

POND OPTION

S WHITNALL EDGE RD

PROPOSED 

DUMPSTER 

ENCLOSURE

PROPOSED 
VACUUM PUMP 

HOUSE

PROPOSED 

ESCAPE ROUTE

BLOCKED BY 

CONE OR CHAIN

PROPOSED 
PAYMENT KIOSKS

PROPOSED 
CANOPY

CURRENT ZONING
B3 - COMMUNITY BUSINESS DISTRICT
* CAR WASH AS A SPECIAL USE

SITE SIZE
63,117 SF

MINIMUM YARDS
FRONT: 40'
SIDE: 10'
REAR: 20'
CORNER: 40'

MAX BUILDING HEIGHT
PRINCIPAL STRUCTURE: 25'-0"
PROPOSED PRINCIPAL STRUCTURE: 19'-4"

PARKING REQUIREMENTS
1 SPACE PER BAY, PLUS 10 QUEUING 
SPACES PER WASH BAY FOR AUTOMATIC WASH
TOTAL REQUIRED: 1 + 10 QUEUING
TOTAL PROVIDED: 24 + APPROX. 17 QUEUING

FAR RATIOS
PROPOSED GFAR: 10.8%
PROPOSED NFAR: 18.0%

PROPOSED
SALES BOOTH

S
 LO

V
ER

S
 LA

N
E
 R

D

BUILDING SETBACK

1
8
 -

1
3
' x 2

0
' V

A
C

U
U

M
 S

T
A

LLS

0
2
 -

0
9
' x 2

0
' S

T
A

N
D

A
R

D
 S

T
A

LLS

PROPERTY LINE
2
4
' - 0

"

7' - 0" 20' - 0"

25' - 0"

20' - 0"

65' - 0"

1
2

5
'  -  0

"

EXISTING CURB 

CUT TO REMAIN

1
0
' - 0

"

10' - 0"

SITE INFORMATION

SETBACK
40' - 0"

U
TI

LI
TY

 E
A

S
EM

E
N

T

20
' 
- 

0"

UTILITY EASEMENT

SETBACK

10
' 
- 

0"

UTILITY EASEMENT20' - 0"

VARIABLE WIDTH TEMP. EASEMENT

SANITARY SEWER EASEMENT

UTILITY EASEMENT

T
O

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

5
5
' - 3

"

1
3

' - 0
" T

Y
P

.

20' - 0" TYP.

VACUUM

VACUUM

O
N

E
 W

A
Y

39' - 0"

2
4
' - 0

"

10' - 3"

4' - 0"

10' - 0"

4' - 0"

10' - 9"

35' - 0"

65' - 0"

c The Redmond Company

Date

Project Number

Revisions

W
2

2
8
 N

7
4
5
 W

E
S
T
M

O
U

N
D

 D
R

IV
E
 |
 W

A
U

K
E
S
H

A
, W

IS
C

O
N

S
IN

 5
3
1
8
6
 |
 P

: 
2
6
2
.5

4
9
.9

6
0
0
 

2021

1 2 3 4 5

D

C

B

A

1 2 3 4 5

D

C

B

A

AS100

ARCHITECTURAL SITE
PLAN

24056

06.21.2024

T
su

n
a
m

i 
E
x

p
re

ss
 C

a
r 

W
a
sh

S
 L

O
V

E
R

S
 L

A
N

E
, F

R
A

N
K

LI
N

, W
I 

5
3

1
3

2

CITY SUBMITTAL

# Description Date

6
4

4
9
 S

 W
h

it
n

a
ll 

E
d

g
e
 R

o
a
d

, F
ra

n
k
lin

, W
I 

5
3

1
3
2



1070-02

1070-02

CJ CJ CJ CJ
CJ

C C C C C C

2214-07

BR-4

CS-5

CS-3

CS-4

BR-2

BR-1

CMU-1

CS-6 BR-1

BR-4

AC-1

CS-2CS-2CS-3

BR-1

B
R

-1
B

R
-3

0420-14

1044-04

BR-1

CS-3

BR-2

AC-1

2656-03

MR-1

3
0

' 
- 

4
"

1
4

' 
- 

8
"

1070-02

1070-02
CJ CJ CJ CJ CJ CJ

A A
B B B B B

BR-1

BR-3

AC-1

CS-1

AC-1

BR-4

BR-1

CS-5

0841-01

CS-1

B
R

-1
B

R
-2

B
R

-3

B
R

-2
B

R
-3

BR-1

MR-1

AF-1

0420-14

BR-1

2656-03CMU-2 CS-1 0841-06

AC-1
0420-14

AC-1 0771-050771-05
AC-1

0420-14

AC-1

3
0

' 
- 

4
"

1
6

' 
- 

1
1

"

1
9

' 
- 

7
"

1070-02

1070-02

A

BR-1

BR-4

AC-1

BR-3

BR-3

CS-4
CS-4

0833-02

0841-01

CS-1

CS-6

BR-1

BR-4

AC-1

0724-01

0473-07

1
4

' 
- 

1
1

"

3
0

' 
- 

4
"

1070-02

1070-02

A

CS-6

BR-1

CS-1

0841-01

CS-4

BR-4

AC-1

BR-3

BR-3

AC-1

0473-07

0724-01

1
9

' 
- 

4
"

1
4

' 
- 

8
"

(BR-X): STRUCTURAL BRICK

MANUFACTURER: COUNTY MATERIALS
PRODUCT: HERITAGE (STRUCTURAL BRICK)
COLOR: GRAYSTONE
MORTAR COLOR: SPECMIX SM100 GREY

(BR-1):   4" X 4" X 16" STRUCTURAL BRICK
(BR-2):   8" X 4" X 16" STRUCTURAL BRICK  
(BR-3): 12" X 4" X 16" STRUCTURAL BRICK

(CS-X): CAST STONE  
MANUFACTURER: MARCSTONE
COLOR: DARK SHALE
(SEE CAST STONE PROFILES) 

(MR-1:) STANDING SEAM METAL ROOF: 

MANUFACTURER: PAC-CLAD
PRODUCT: 
COLOR: AWARD BLUE

EXTERIOR MATERIAL LEGEND

(CMU-X): - SPLIT FACE CMU

MANUFACTURER: COUNTY MATERIALS
PRODUCT: SPLIT FACE 
COLOR: STEEL GRAY

(CMU-1): 8" X 8" X 16"
(CMU-2): 12" X 8" X 16"  

(EIFS-1): EXTERIOR FINISH SYSTEM

MANUFACTURER: DRYVIT
PRODUCT: OUTSULATION PLUS MD
COLOR: #SW 7068 GRIZZLE GRAY
FINISH: SANDBLAST

(GTR-1): PREFINISHED ALUMINUM 

GUTTER/DOWNSPOUT

MANUFACTURER: PAC-CLAD
PRODUCT: 5" BEVELED PROFILE GUTTERS
COLOR: PACIFIC BLUE

(AF-1): PREFINISHED ALUMINUM FASCIA 

MANUFACTURER: PAC-CLAD
PRODUCT: FORMED ALUMINUM
COLOR: PACIFIC BLUE

(AC-1): PREFINISHED ALUMINUM COPING 

MANUFACTURER: PAC-CLAD
PRODUCT: PAC-TITE COPING-TAPERED
COLOR: PACIFIC BLUE

(AS-1): PREFINISHED ALUMINUM SOFFIT PANEL 

MANUFACTURER: PAC-CLAD
PRODUCT: VENTED ALUMINUM PANEL 
COLOR: PACIFIC BLUE

c The Redmond Company

Date

Project Number

Revisions

W
2
2
8
 N

7
4
5
 W

E
S

T
M

O
U

N
D

 D
R

IV
E
 |
 W

A
U

K
E
S
H

A
, W

IS
C

O
N

S
IN

 5
3
1
8
6
 |
 P

: 2
6
2

.5
4
9
.9

6
0
0
 

2021

1 2 3 4 5

D

C

B

A

1 2 3 4 5

D

C

B

A

PR2.1
Exterior Elevations

24056

06.20.2024

T
su

n
a
m

i 
E
x

p
re

ss
 C

a
r 

W
a
sh

6
4
4

9
 S

 W
h

it
n

a
ll 

E
d

g
e
 R

o
a
d

, F
ra

n
kl

in
, W

I 
5

3
1

3
2

PROGRESS SET

KEYNOTES PER SHEET

0420-14 BRICK SOLDIER COURSE

0473-07 CAST STONE DECORATIVE ELEMENT

0724-01 EIFS (SEE EXTERIOR MATERIAL SCHEDULE)

0771-05 PREFINISHED ALUMINUM SCUPPER W/ DOWNSPOUT

(TYP.) SEE EXTERIOR MATERIAL LEGEND FOR COLOR.

CONNECT TO STORM SEWER; SEE CIVIL DRAWINGS.

0833-02 OVERHEAD DOOR, SEE DOOR SCHED.

0841-01 THERMALLY BROKEN ALUMINUM STOREFRONT

SYSTEM - CENTER GLAZED - STANDARD 2" X 4-1/2"

MULLIONS, TYPICAL.

0841-06 ALUMINUM FRAMED ENTRANCE DOOR (SEE DOOR

SCHEDULE).

1044-04 KNOX BOX. VERIFY LOCATION WITH AUTHORITY

HAVING JURISDICTION (AHJ) PRIOR TO INSTALLATION.

1070-02 PREFABRICATED ALUMINUM CANOPY

2214-07 OVERFLOW DRAIN WITH LAMB'S TONGUE

APPROXIMATELY 18" A.F.F. (SEE PLUMBING

DRAWINGS)

2656-03 EXTERIOR WALL-MOUNTED LIGHT FIXTURE (SEE

ELECTRICAL DRAWINGS)

AC-1 PREFINISHED ALUMINUM COPING. SEE EXTERIOR

MATERIAL LEGEND.

AF-1 PREFINISHED ALUMINUM FASCIA ON EXTERIOR GRADE

2X12 RAKE BOARD AND 1X6 TRIM BOARD. SEE

EXTERIOR MATERIAL LEGEND.

BR-1 4" X 4" X 16" STRUCTURAL BRICK. SEE EXTERIOR

MATERIAL LEGEND.

BR-2 8" X 4" X 16" STRUCTURAL BRICK. SEE EXTERIOR

MATERIAL LEGEND.

BR-3 12" X 4" X 16" STRUCTURAL BRICK. SEE EXTERIOR

MATERIAL LEGEND.

BR-4 4" X 4" X 16" STRUCTURAL BRICK SOLDIER COURSE.

SEE EXTERIOR MATERIAL LEGEND

CMU-1 8" X 8" X 16" SPLIT FACE CMU. SEE EXTERIOR MATERIAL

LEGEND.

CMU-2 12" X 8" X 16" SPLIT FACE CMU. SEE EXTERIOR

MATERIAL LEGEND.

CS-1 CAST STONE SILL. SEE CAST STONE PROFILES.

CS-2 CAST STONE SILL. SEE CAST STONE PROFILES.

CS-3 CAST STONE BASE. SEE CAST STONE PROFILES.

CS-4 CAST STONE SILL. SEE CAST STONE PROFILES.

CS-5 CAST STONE HEAD. SEE CAST STONE PROFILES.

CS-6 CAST STONE PIER. SEE CAST STONE PROFILES.

MR-1 STANDING SEAM METAL ROOF. SEE EXTERIOR

MATERIAL LEGEND.

3/16" = 1'-0"

FRONT ELEVATION1

3/16" = 1'-0"

REAR ELEVATION2

3/16" = 1'-0"

ENTRANCE ELEVATION3 3/16" = 1'-0"

EXIT ELEVATION4

# Description Date



4
' 

- 
0

"

6
"

6
' 

- 
1

1
"

1
0

' 
- 

1
1

"

WALLS BELOW SHOWN 
DASHED (TYP.)

24' - 0"

12' - 0 3/4" 10' - 0 3/8"
8

' 
- 

0
"

c The Redmond Company2021

24023 06.07.2024

Tsunami Express Car Wash
COM_Pump & Trash Bldg_Presentation

1/2" = 1'-0"

H_PUMP & TRASH - FRONT ELEVATION_PRES21/2" = 1'-0"

H_PUMP & TRASH - ROOF PLAN PRESENTATION1

1/2" = 1'-0"

PUMP & TRASH - FLOOR PLAN PRESENTATION3

3D - PUMP & TRASH4



1
3

' 
- 

4
"

6' - 8"

10' - 3" 4' - 0" 10' - 0" 4' - 0"

4
8

' 
- 

4
 1

/2
"

SALES BOOTH

1' - 0" 2' - 0" 1' - 0"

c The Redmond Company2021

24023 06.07.2024

Tsunami Express Car Wash
DE_Sales Booth - 3 Lane_Presentation

3/8" = 1'-0"

H_DE_SALES BOOTH - FLOOR PLAN PRESENTATION1

3/8" = 1'-0"

H_DE_SALES BOOTH - ROOF PLAN PRESENTATION2



1
0

' 
- 

2
"

4
' 

- 
8

"
2

' 
- 

8
"

7' - 4" 4' - 0" 2' - 0"

3
' 

- 
7

 1
/2

"
3

' 
- 

0
"

6
' 

- 
7

 1
/2

"

1
0

' 
- 

2
"

1' - 8" 6' - 0" 4' - 0" 1' - 8"

1
0

' 
- 

2
"

6' - 8" 11' - 3" 2' - 0" 12' - 0" 2' - 0" 11' - 0"

c The Redmond Company2021

24023 06.07.2024

Tsunami Express Car Wash
DE_Sales Booth - 3 Lane_Presentation

1/2" = 1'-0"

SALES BOOTH - REAR ELEVATION4

1/2" = 1'-0"

SALES BOOTH - SALES LANE ELEVATION31/2" = 1'-0"

SALES BOOTH - FRONT ELEVATION2

1/2" = 1'-0"

SALES BOOTH - APPROACH ELEVATION1

SALES BOOTH - 3D VIEW5



BUILDING FFE @ 794.83

APPROX. STREET ELEV @ 784

NO VISIBILITY ZONE

APPROX. SIZE AND 
HEIGHT OF ROOF TOP 
EQUIPMENT

FFE BUILDING @ 794.83 APPROX. STREET ELEV @ 794.5

NO VISIBILITY ZONE

NO VISIBILITY ZONE

APPROX. SIZE AND 
HEIGHT OF ROOF TOP 
EQUIPMENT

c The Redmond Company

Date

Project Number

Revisions

W
2

2
8
 N

7
4
5
 W

E
S
T
M

O
U

N
D

 D
R

IV
E
 |
 W

A
U

K
E
S
H

A
, W

IS
C

O
N

S
IN

 5
3
1
8
6
 |
 P

: 
2
6
2
.5

4
9
.9

6
0
0
 

2021

1 2 3 4 5

D

C

B

A

1 2 3 4 5

D

C

B

A

PR2.2
SITE LINES DIAGRAM

24056

06.20.2024

T
su

n
a
m

i 
E
x

p
re

ss
 C

a
r 

W
a
sh

6
4

4
9
 S

 W
h

it
n

a
ll 

E
d

g
e
 R

o
a
d

, F
ra

n
k
lin

, W
I 

5
3

1
3
2

PROGRESS SET

# Description Date

1/8" = 1'-0"

SIGHT LINES - LOVERS LANE ROAD1

1/8" = 1'-0"

SIGHT LINES - WHITNALL EDGE ROAD @ ENTRY2



OIL TRAP

DRIER

SERVICE VALVE IF NOT 
FURNISHED WITH UNIT

AIR COOLED
CONDENSING

UNIT

COOLING
COIL

LIQUID
LINE

EXPANSION VALVE

SUCTION
LINE

3'-
0"

MINIMUM 
10'-0"

ROOF

STORM COLLAR

UL APPROVED VENT CAP

UL APPROVED TYPE 'B' 
DOUBLE WALL VENT

PA
RA

PE
T,

 W
AL

L, 
OR

 A
DJ

OI
NI

NG
 B

UI
LD

IN
G

SEE ARCHITECTURAL ROOF DETAILS FOR 
FLASHING

1" MINIMUM CLEAR, OR CLEARANCE 
LISTED BY MFR, WHICHEVER IS 
GREATER

SEAL JOINT BETWEEN SINGLE WALL 
VENT & TYPE "B" VENT, AND THE 
ANNULAR SPACE OF THE TYPE "B" 
VENT.
SINGLE WALL VENT CONNECTOR 24 
GAUGE SEAMLESS GALVANIZED STEEL.  
MAINTAIN A MINIMUM OF 6" FROM 
COMBUSTIBLES.

SPRING ISOLATOR

BIRD SCREEN

GAS FIRED UNIT 
HEATER

DOUBLE 
DEFLECTION 
DIFFUSER

UNION SHUTOFF VALVE

PRESSURE 
REDUCING 
VALVE

GAS BURNER DIRT LEG CAPPED

DRIP PAN 
SEALED 
WATERTIGHT

TYPE 'B' GAS VENT

ROOFING

TALL CONE 
FLASHING BY 
MECH. CONTR.

WEATHER CAP BY 
MECH. CONTR.

STORM COLLAR

BAR JOIST

ANCHOR TO 
BAR JOIST

BALL VALVE

6" HIGH VENT

CONDENSATE DRAIN 
PIPED TO NEAREST 
FLOOR DRAIN.

INTERIOR INSULATED R.A. 
PLENUM SAME SIZE AS 
UNIT OPENING.

FLOAT SWITCH WIRED IN 
SERIES WITH 
THERMOSTAT TO BREAK 
CIRCUIT IF WATER BUILDS 
UP IN DRAIN PAN.

THREADED SUPPORT 
RODS TO STRUCTURE RUN 
SEPARATELY OF HEAT 
PUMP AND ADJUST DEAD 
LEVEL.

INTERIOR INSULATION 
MIN. 10'-0" 
DOWNSTREAM OF UNIT.

FLEX. CONN.

DUCT FLANGE

SPRING VIBRATION 
ISOLATOR (TYP. OF 4)

SUPPORT ROD

UNION

FLOW MEASURING 
DEVICE

SECONDARY 20 GA. GALVANIZED SHEETMETAL 2" DEEP DRAIN 
PAN SOLDERED WATERTIGHT. PROVIDE 1"X1"X1/8" ANGLE 
SUPPORT AROUND ENTIRE PERIMETER.

PLANELEVATION

NEOPRENE
ISOLATORS

ROOF FAN BASE

PROVIDE DRAIN
OPENING IN BOTTOM
OF FAN SCROLL

STAINLESS STEEL
EXHAUST DUCT D

4D

D+1

BRACKETS TO PROVIDE
1/2" SPACE FOR DRAINAGE

ROOF CURB AND FLASHING
FOR DUCT THROUGH ROOF

6"

ROUND RAIN CAP

FLUE - SIZE AS
INDICATED ON PLANS

STORM COLLAR

SUPPORT PLATE

SHEET METAL THIMBLE
SEAL WEATHERTIGHT TO
ROOF CONSTRUCTION

ROOF

ROOF FLASHING

VERIFY HEIGHT
AS REQUIRED
WITH ALL
APPLICABLE
CODES ADJUSTABLE TALL CONE 

ROOF FLASHING

(1) BURNER ASSEMBLY

GASKET

TRANSITION TUBE

(4) TUBE AND 
REFLECTOR 
HANGERS(2) HEAT EXCHANGER 

TUBES

(2) STAINLESS STEEL 
COUPLINGS

(1) TURBULATOR

(1) VENT 
ADAPTER

S-HOOK 
(TYP.)

(4) U-CLIPS 

(2) REFLECTOR 
END CAPS

(4) REFLECTORS 
OVERLAP APPROX. 
10"

TIGHT 
SCREWS

LOOSE 
SCREWS

(4) U-CLIPS

LOOSE 
SCREWS

(1) TUBE 
CLAMP 
PACKAGE

(3) REFLECTOR 
SUPPORTS

POWER SUPPLY  120V, 
1PH, 20A DEDICATED 
CKT

ZONE #1 
BURNERS

PRESSURE 
SWITCH

VACUUM PUMP 
120V, 1PH, 60HZ

CONTROLLER (CP-1)

LOW VOLTAGE 
TYPICAL ZONE #2 

BURNER

T'STAT 
ZONE #2

120 VOLTAGE 
TYPICAL

120V, 1PH DISCONNECT 
AT MOTOR

T'STAT 
ZONE #1

WIRING TO BURNER

6"

MOISTURE RESISTANT 
THERMOSTAT, TYPE 4X

DRIP LEG

110

706050
80

90
10

0

40

NOT TO SCALEM503
7 INFRARED DETAIL 1

NOT TO SCALEM503
9 INFRARED DETAIL 2

NOT TO SCALEM503
8 INFRARED DETAIL 3

NOT TO SCALEM503
3 SPLIT SYSTEM FAN COIL UNIT PIPING SCHEMATIC

NOT TO SCALEM503
4 UNIT HEATER VENT

NOT TO SCALEM503
6 GAS FIRED UNIT HEATER DETAIL

NOT TO SCALEM503
5 HEAT PUMP/ DRAIN PAN DETAIL

NOT TO SCALEM503
2 EXHAUST FAN DISCHARGE DETAIL

NOT TO SCALEM503
1 FLUE VENT AND FLASHING DETAIL

c The Redmond Company

Date

Project Number

Revisions

W
22
8 
N
74
5 
W
ES
TM
O
U
N
D
 D
R
IV
E 
| W
A
U
KE
SH
A
, W
IS
C
O
N
SI
N
 5
31
86
 | 
P:
 2
62
.5
49
.9
60
0 

2024

1 2 3 4 5

D

C

B

A

1 2 3 4 5

D

C

B

A

M503
HVAC EQUIPMENT
DETAILS

24240036.000

6/05/2024

TS
U
N
A
M
I E
X
P
R
ES
S 
C
A
R

W
A
SH

# Description Date



   

CITY OF FRANKLIN 

REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 

Meeting of August 22, 2024 

Area Exception and Variance  
  

RECOMMENDATION: City Development staff recommends approval of this Area Exception 
request. If the variance request is not approved, the applicant must revise the design to comply 
with setback requirements. 
 
City Development staff recommends denial of this variance request because in staff’s opinion 
this variance is not necessary for the preservation of substantial property rights (finding #D) as 
discussed further in this report. 
 
Plan Commission action is requested only on this Area Exception application, as the Variance 
application goes before the Board of Zoning and Building Appeals without a recommendation 
from the Plan Commission. 

Project name: Scheftner, detached garage 

Property Owner: Anthony J. Scheftner Jr. & Roxanne A. Efta 

Applicant: Anthony J. Scheftner Jr. & Roxanne A. Efta  

Property Address/TKN: 10405 W Ryan Road / 893 9996 000 

Aldermanic District: District 6 

Zoning District: R-2 / Estate Single-Family Residence District  

Staff Planner: Régulo Martínez-Montilva, AICP, CNUa, Planning Manager 

Application number: PPZ24-0114/28 
              
 
Introduction 

Area Exception to allow for a 784-squarefoot detached garage while the maximum size for 
accessory structures on this lot is 720 square feet per Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) 
Section 15-3.0801C1. 
 
Variance  to allow for a detached garage encroaching into the front yard while no part of an 
accessory structure shall be located in front yard per Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) 
Section 15-3.0801B1; the applicant is requesting a front setback of 30 feet while the minimum 
setback is 60 feet. 
 
 
 

Item C.2 



Area Exception 

Per Section 15-10.0209, Area Exceptions may be granted to increase the maximum size of an 
accessory structure by no more than 20%. Section 15-10.0209.G. of the Unified Development 
Ordinance (UDO) specifically lists Standards to be reviewed to grant or deny an Area Exception, 
which the Plan Commission and Board of Zoning and Building Appeals will use to consider the 
request. 
 
Maximum size for accessory structure calculation: 

• The lot area is 36,154 square feet.  
• Per UDO Section 15-3.0801.C1, the maximum accessory structure size is 720 square feet 

on lots not exceeding 40,000 square feet.  
• The proposed garage would have an area of 784 square feet (28 x 28 feet). 
• With approval of an Area Exception, the maximum accessory size may be increased up to 

20%, resulting in 864 square feet.  Therefore, the applicant’s request falls within the 
allowable increase if the Area Exception is granted.  

 

 
View of the subject property from Ryan Road, looking south. 
Photo by City Development staff 
 
Variance 

Section 15-10.0206-C(1) of the City of Franklin Unified Development Ordinance specifically 
lists Findings and Factors to be reviewed by the Board of Zoning and Building Appeals to grant 
or deny a Variance or an Appeal.  The Findings are attached as completed by the applicant. 
 



In reviewing the application and evidence relating to a variance the Board of Zoning and 
Building Appeals shall consider the findings statements set forth in Section 15-10.0211 of the 
Unified Development Ordinance. No variance shall be granted by the Board unless it finds 
beyond a reasonable doubt that all the following facts and conditions exist and so indicates in the 
minutes of its proceedings. The Findings are: 
 
A. Preservation of Intent. Variances shall be consistent with the purpose and intent of the 

regulations for the district in which the development is located. No variance shall have the 
effect of permitting a use in any district that is not a stated permitted use, accessory use, or 
special use in that particular district.  
 
Staff comment: Not applicable for this area variance, no use variance is being requested. 

 
B. Exceptional Circumstances. There shall be exceptional, extraordinary, or unusual 

circumstances or conditions applying to the lot or parcel, structure, use, or intended use that 
do not apply generally to other properties or uses in the same district and the granting of the 
variance would not be of so general or recurrent nature as to suggest that the Unified 
Development Ordinance or Chapter 92 “Building Code” of the City of Franklin Municipal 
Code should be changed. 
 
Staff comment: The applicant stated that “the leach bed and septic prevent us from 
building behind the current garage or house”. 

 
C. Economic Hardship and Self-Imposed Hardship Not Grounds for Variance. Variance shall 

not be granted solely on the basis of economic gain or loss. Self-imposed hardships shall not 
be considered as grounds for the granting of the variance.  
 
Staff comment: The location of the leach bed and septic limits the buildable area of this lot 
creating a hardship for the applicant. 

 
D. Preservation of Property Rights. The variance must be necessary for the preservation and 

enjoyment of substantial property rights possessed by other properties in the same district 
and same vicinity. 
 
Staff comment: This variance is not necessary for the preservation of property rights because 
there is an existing 2.5 car detached garage on the subject property. The Unified 
Development Ordinance requires two parking spaces for single-family dwellings. Therefore, 
this variance is not necessary to meet parking requirements. 

 
E. Absence of Detriment. Variances shall not be granted that will create substantial detriment 

to adjacent property and will materially impair or be contrary to the purpose and spirit of 
this Ordinance or the public interest. 
 
Staff comment: It’s unlikely that granting this variance will create a substantial detriment to 
adjacent property because the proposed garage location is in compliance with the side 
setback (20 feet). It’s worth noting that the existing vegetation acts as screening between the 
subject and adjacent lots to the east and west. 



 
No public comments have been received as of writing of this report. 

 
Site Compliance 

City Development staff visited this site as part of the review process, no compliance issues were 
discovered.  
 
Staff Recommendation: 

City Development staff recommends denial of this variance request because the variance is not 
necessary for the preservation of substantial property rights (finding #D) as discussed in this 
report. 
 
City Development staff recommends approval of this Area Exception request. If the variance 
request is not approved, the applicant must revise the design to comply with setback 
requirements. 
 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

10405 W. Ryan Road
TKN: 893 9996 000

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

R-2 A-2 

A-2 R-3 

FW  

RYAN                           RD  

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 200 400100 Feet

Property

 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

10405 W. Ryan Road
TKN: 893 9996 000

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

RYAN                           RD  

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 240 480120 Feet

Property

 





























C I T Y  O F  F R A N K L I N
REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 

Meeting of August 22, 2024 

CMP Amendment, Rezoning, Special Use 

1 

RECOMMENDATION:  Staff recommends approval of the applications for Comprehensive Master 
Plan Amendment, Rezoning, and Special Use. Recommended Conditions of Approval are provided 
in the draft Resolution(s). 

Project Name: Communities of Crocus 
Property Owner: Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance 
Applicant: Amy Hansel, Communities of Crocus 
Property Address/Tax Key Number: 7521 S. 31st St. / 786 9981 004;  and 

0 S 35TH ST / 761 9997 003; and 
0 S 31ST ST / 761 9994 005; and 
0 S 31ST ST / 761 9992 002 

Aldermanic District: District 3 
Agent: Kevin Allenbach, RA, HGA Architects  
Zoning District: 7521 S. 31st St. / 786 9981 004:  R-6 and OL-1 

0 S 35TH ST / 761 9997 003:  R-6 and OL-1 
0 S 31ST ST / 761 9994 005:  R-6 and OL-1 
0 S 31ST ST / 761 9992 002: B-4 S. 27th St. MU 
Commercial  
FW on all lots 

Use of Surrounding Properties: R-6 (North and West)
R-6 and OL-1 (South)
B-4 S. 27th St. MU Commercial (East)
BP Business Park and OL-1

Application Request: CMP Amendment, Rezoning and Special Use
Staff Planner: Marion Ecks, AICP 

APPLICATION DESCRIPTION 
The applicant, Communities of Crocus, is seeking approval of a multifamily residential 
development with supportive services for adults with autism and similar Intellectual 
Developmental Disabilities (IDDs) and their families.  The proposed development includes 
supportive housing for individuals with IDDs, buildings with services for residents, and standard 
housing for their families.  Other buildings will include office spaces and community education 
and recreation facilities. 

The applications before the Commission today are requests for a Special Use to allow for 
development of residential facilities and a community building on the north-most lot of the 

Item C.3. & C.4.



 2 

development. Comprehensive Master Plan Amendment and Rezoning are required so that all lots 
are zoned B-4 Mixed Use Commercial. The applications include conceptual site plans; future 
development will require site plan approval.  The proposed development will occur over multiple 
phases, which are described in the applicants submittals.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

These lots are currently owned by 
Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance, and do 
not have buildings on them.  There are a 
variety of natural resources including a 
tributary of the Root River, floodplain, 
woodland, and wetlands.  In addition, lots A, 
B, and C contain constructed wetlands which 
were installed as part of a project with the 
Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage District 
(MMSD) to increase stormwater capture in 
the area. Lots A, B, and C have frontage on 
both 31st and 35th Streets, but access to 
35th Street is limited by the presence of a 
stream. 
 
The project is located on lands west of 
NWML and the Statesmen multifamily 
development, as well as the Master Halco 
ladder company. To the north and west 
single-family residential neighborhoods, as 
well as vacant land.  The lots contain a 
significant natural resource buffer on their 
western side, as the presence of floodplain 

limits developable area. The applicants are not proposing any impacts to floodplain for this 
development. 
 
The surrounding area has a Future Land Uses of Mixed Use to the north and east, which 

Lot Phase Address & TKN Dev. Acreage App.(s) Zoning 
A 1 0 S 31ST ST 

761 9992 002  
Care Homes 
& Services 

18.4 SU B-4 S. 27th St. 
Mixed Use 

B 2 0 S 31ST ST 
761 9994 005  

Apartments 10.3 CMPa, 
RZ 

R-6 and  
OL-1 

C 3 0 S 35TH ST  
761 9997 003 

Townhome 
duplex 

8.4 CMPa, 
RZ 

R-6 and  
OL-1 

D 3 7521 S. 31st St. 
786 9981 004  

Duplex 5.7 CMPa, 
RZ 

R-6 and  
OL-1    

Total 42.9 
  



 3 

includes residential, commercial, and institutional uses. To the south of the development are 
single family homes with a future land use designation of Office.  To the west are single family 
homes with residential future land use, and vacant land that is designated recreational.  All 
areas include natural resource future land use. (See Locator Maps) 
 
PROJECT ANALYSIS 

Approval of the full development requires a Comprehensive Master Plan Amendment, 
Rezoning, Special Use permits and Site Plan.  The applicant is currently seeking approval 
for a Special Use for lot A, and CMP Amendment and Rezoning on the remaining lots. City 
Development staff has the following comments and concerns about this proposal. Detailed 
comments to the applicant are provided in the Staff Comments memo attached. 
 
Special Use 
Phase one of the project is the core mission of this development: housing and community 
facilities for adults with IDDs.  Subsequent phases will include additional housing for adults with 
IDDs, amenities, and housing for families and caregivers of residents in supportive housing.  The 
applicants have provided detailed information on their work and vision with their application 
submittal.  
 
This property is already zoned B-4 South 27th Street Mixed Use district, which allows for 
multifamily development under the same standards as the R-8 Multifamily zoning district.  
Special Use approval is required by the zoning for all such developments. Mixed use 
developments typically combine residential development with other use types such as retail 
or offices.  
 
For Phase One, the applicants are proposing four (4) four-unit residence buildings, for a final 
total of sixteen dwelling units.  The gross density of this proposed multifamily development 
is 0.86 units per acre (16 unit / 18.5 acres = 0.86), well within the allowable density of the R-8 
district of 8 units per acre, and in fact less than the nearby single-family neighborhood, which 
has a gross density of approximately 2.5 units per acre (16 unit / 6.25 acres = 2.5).   
 
Elements of the Centre at Crocus community center, and proposed uses for the Hub facility 
are generally Permitted uses in B-4 zoning. The Centre will include medical offices, home 
health care services, vocational schools, physical fitness and dance studios, and other 
recreational uses. Staff recommends that this Special Use approval allow for the additional 
primary uses typically allowed in the B-4 district that are related to healthcare, offices and 
nonprofit organizations, and physical fitness facilities in the Hub Building.   
 
Subsequent phases will require separate zoning approval. 
 
Comprehensive Master Plan Amendment and Rezoning 
The City of Franklin 2025 Comprehensive Master Plan designates the properties to be rezoned 
as “Office” with areas of “Natural Resources”. The Natural Resource designation is not 



 4 

intended to preclude development, but to note the presence and importance of natural 
resources on the property.  The property may be developed according to the standards of 
adjoining Future Land Uses with consideration to UDO natural resource protection standards.  
The Office designation only permits office uses. In order to revise the zoning at this location, 
the Comprehensive Master Plan must also be updated to allow for housing. There are 
properties immediately adjacent to these lands that have Mixed Use future land use; Planning 
recommends that these lots also receive the same designation, to allow for rezoning to B-4 
Mixed Use. 
 
The choice to change the zoning of any property is a key decision point for the community.  
These properties are currently zoned R-6 Suburban Single-Family Residence District and OL-
1 Office Overlay District, which do not allow for multifamily development, or community 
housing. Many of the services proposed for Lot A would be allowed, but mixed-use 
development is not permitted under this district, and thus a rezoning of these properties is 
necessary to allow for the development. 
 
Franklin has relatively limited area zoned for multi-family development, and recently opted to 
rezone a comparable acreage from R-8 Multifamily to M-1 Industrial to allow for business 
development.  As the recent Housing Report notes, with the current rate of development, 
Franklin currently has a low vacancy rate, and will have a housing shortfall by 2040.  This 
proposal offers an opportunity to increase housing opportunity and provide options for 
families with children with IDDs to stay in Franklin over the long term.   
 
Site Plan 
The applicants must submit a Site Plan application for Plan Commission approval of final 
project designs for Phase One.  The Site Plan will have to comply with the terms of the Special 
Use approval and comply with the dimensional requirements of B-4 zoning. Subsequent 
phases will require separate approval. 
 
Recommendation 

All resolutions are drafted with a standard set of condition relating to development timelines 
and requirements, approvals from other jurisdictions and departments, etc.  Staff 
recommends the following additional conditions based on review of these applications for 
compliance with the Unified Development Ordinance: 

CMP Amendment: None.   

Rezoning: None.  This request is the key decision point for the proposed development. Rezoning 
applications must comply with the standards of the Comprehensive Master Plan and Zoning 
Ordinance. 

Special Use: 

• Approval of a Site Plan and provision of cross access, conservation, and landscape 
bufferyard easements at the time of a this review. 



 5 

 
Staff recommends approval of the applications, subject to conditions in the draft legislative 
documents. 
 
Exhibits: 
 
• Zoning Information District Standards Handout – B-4 Mixed Use Commercial 
• Applicant Exhibits  



STATE OF WISCONSIN             CITY OF FRANKLIN               MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
       [Draft 08-15-24]  

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-_____ 
 

A RESOLUTION IMPOSING CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS FOR THE 
APPROVAL OF A SPECIAL USE FOR A SIXTEEN UNIT SUPPORTIVE HOUSING 
DEVELOPMENT, RESIDENT COMMUNITY CENTER, AND COMMUNITY HUB 

FACILITY, UPON PROPERTY LOCATED AT 0 S 31ST ST, TKN 761 9992 002  
(BY AMY HANSEL, COMMUNITIES OF CROCUS, APPLICANT, NORTHWESTERN 

MUTUAL LIFE INSURANCE, PROPERTY OWNER) 
              
 

WHEREAS, Amy Hansel, Communities of Crocus having petitioned the City of 
Franklin for the approval of a Special Use to allow for the development of a sixteen unit 
supportive housing development, resident community center, and community Hub facility 
upon property located at 0 S. 31st Street, zoned B-4 S. 27th St. Mixed Use Commercial 
District.  The property which is the subject of the application bears Tax Key No. 761 9992 
002 and is more particularly described as follows: 
 

Lot 1 of certified survey map no. 7905 recorded in the office of the register of 
deeds for Milwaukee County, Wisconsin on April 11, 2007 as document no. 
9415687, said certified survey map being a part of the southwest 1/4 and the 
southeast 1/4 of the Northeast 1/4 of section 12, township 5 north, range 21 
east, in the city of Franklin, Milwaukee County, Wisconsin.; and 
 

 WHEREAS, such petition having been duly referred to the Plan Commission of the 
City of Franklin for a public hearing, pursuant to the requirements of §15-9.0103D. of the 
Unified Development Ordinance, and a public hearing having been held before the Plan 
Commission on the 22nd day of August, 2024, and the Plan Commission thereafter having 
determined to recommend that the proposed Special Use be approved, subject to certain 
conditions, and the Plan Commission further finding that the proposed Special Use upon 
such conditions, pursuant to §15-3.0701 of the Unified Development Ordinance, will be in 
harmony with the purposes of the Unified Development Ordinance and the Comprehensive 
Master Plan; that they will not have an undue adverse impact upon adjoining property; that 
they will not interfere with the development of neighboring property; that they will be served 
adequately by essential public facilities and services; that they will not cause undue traffic 
congestion; and that they will not result in damage to property of significant importance to 
nature, history or the like; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Common Council having received such Plan Commission 
recommendation and also having found that the proposed Special Use, subject to conditions, 
meet the standards set forth under §15-3.0701 of the Unified Development Ordinance. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Common Council of 
the City of Franklin, Wisconsin, that the petition of Amy Hansel, Communities of Crocus, 



AMY HANSEL, COMMUNITIES OF CROCUS – SPECIAL USE  
RESOLUTION NO. 2024-_____ 
Page 2 
 
for the approval of a Special Use for the property particularly described in the preamble to 
this Resolution, be and the same is hereby approved, subject to the following conditions and 
restrictions: 
 

1. That this Special Use is approved only for the use of the subject property by Amy 
Hansel, Communities of Crocus, successors and assigns, for a sixteen-unit 
supportive housing development, resident community center, and community Hub 
facility, pursuant to those plans City file-stamped August 12, 2024 and annexed 
hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit A. 

2. Amy Hansel, Communities of Crocus, successors and assigns, shall pay to the 
City of Franklin the amount of all development compliance, inspection and review 
fees incurred by the City of Franklin, including fees of consults to the City of 
Franklin, for the Amy Hansel, Communities of Crocus, sixteen-unit supportive 
housing development, resident community center, and community Hub facility 
Special Use, within 30 days of invoice for same.  Any violation of this provision 
shall be a violation of the Unified Development Ordinance, and subject to §15-
9.0502 thereof and §1-19 of the Municipal Code, the general penalties and 
remedies provisions, as amended from time to time. 

3. The approval granted hereunder is conditional upon the Amy Hansel, 
Communities of Crocus sixteen-unit supportive housing development, resident 
community center, and community Hub facility Special Use for the property 
located at 0 S 31st Street TKN 761 9992 002:  (i) being in compliance with all 
applicable governmental laws, statutes, rules, codes, orders and ordinances; and 
(ii) obtaining all other governmental approvals, permits, licenses and the like, 
required for and applicable to the project to be developed and as presented for this 
approval. 

4. The applicants shall obtain approval of a site plan for full development of this lot. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that in the event Amy Hansel, Communities of 
Crocus, successors or assigns, or any owner of the subject property, does not comply with 
one or any of the conditions and restrictions of this Special Use Resolution, following a ten 
(10) day notice to cure, and failure to comply within such time period, the Common Council, 
upon notice and hearing, may revoke the Special Use permission granted under this 
Resolution. 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that any violation of any term, condition or 
restriction of this Resolution is hereby deemed to be, and therefore shall be, a violation of the 
Unified Development Ordinance, and pursuant to §15-9.0502 thereof and §1-19 of the 
Municipal Code, the penalty for such violation shall be a forfeiture of no more than 
$2,500.00, or such other maximum amount and together with such other costs and terms as 
may be specified therein from time to time.  Each day that such violation continues shall be a 



AMY HANSEL, COMMUNITIES OF CROCUS – SPECIAL USE  
RESOLUTION NO. 2024-_____ 
Page 3 
 
separate violation.  Failure of the City to enforce any such violation shall not be a waiver of 
that or any other violation. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be construed to be such 
Special Use Permit as is contemplated by §15-9.0103 of the Unified Development 
Ordinance. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, pursuant to §15-9.0103G. of the Unified 
Development Ordinance, that the Special Use permission granted under this Resolution shall 
be null and void upon the expiration of one year from the date of adoption of this Resolution, 
unless the Special Use has been established by way of the issuance of an occupancy permit 
for such use. 
 

BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, that the City Clerk be and is hereby directed to obtain 
the recording of a certified copy of this Resolution in the Office of the Register of Deeds for 
Milwaukee County, Wisconsin. 
  
 Introduced at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Franklin this 
_______ day of ____________________, 2024. 
 

Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of 
Franklin this _______ day of ____________________, 2024. 
 

APPROVED: 
 
 
       _________________________________  
       John R. Nelson, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________________       
Shirley J. Robinson, City Clerk 
 
AYES ______ NOES ______ ABSENT ______ 



STATE OF WISCONSIN              CITY OF FRANKLIN              MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
       [Draft 08-15-24]  

ORDINANCE NO. 2024-____ 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CITY OF FRANKLIN 2025  
COMPREHENSIVE MASTER PLAN TO CHANGE THE CITY OF FRANKLIN  

2025 FUTURE LAND USE MAP FOR  
THREE PROPERTIES GENERALLY LOCATED ON THE EAST SIDE OF  

SOUTH 31ST STREET, ADDRESSED AS 7521 S. 31ST STREET (TKN 786 9981 004),  
0 S 35TH STREET (TKN 761 9997 003) AND 0 S 31ST STREET (TKN 761 9994 005),  

FROM OFFICE USE AND AREAS OF NATURAL RESOURCE FEATURES USE  
TO MIXED USE  (TOTALING APPROXIMATELY 24.5 ACRES) 

(AMY HANSEL, COMMUNITIES OF CROCUS) (NORTHWESTERN MUTUAL LIFE 
INSURANCE, PROPERTY OWNERS) 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Wis. Stat. §§ 62.23(2) and (3) and 66.1001(4), the City of 

Franklin is authorized to prepare and adopt and to amend a comprehensive plan as defined in 
Wis. Stat. §§ 66.1001(1)(a) and 66.1001(2); and 
  
 WHEREAS, Amy Hansel, Communities of Crocus has applied for an amendment to 
the Comprehensive Master Plan to change the City of Franklin 2025 Future Land Use Map 
designation for three properties generally located on the east side of South 31st Street, 
addressed as 7521 S. 31st Street (TKN786 9981 004), 0 S 35th Street (TKN 761 9997 003) 
and 0 S 31st Street (TKN 761 9994 005), from Office Use and Areas of Natural Resource 
Features Use to Mixed Use; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Plan Commission of the City of Franklin by a majority vote of the 
entire Commission on August 22, 2024, recorded in its official minutes, has adopted a 
resolution recommending to the Common Council the adoption of the Ordinance to Amend 
the City of Franklin 2025 Comprehensive Master Plan to change the City of Franklin 2025 
Future Land Use Map for three properties generally located on the east side of South 31st 
Street, addressed as 7521 S. 31st Street (TKN786 9981 004), 0 S 35th Street (TKN 761 9997 
003) and 0 S 31st Street (TKN 761 9994 005), from Office Use and Areas of Natural 
Resource Features Use to Mixed Use; and 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, the Mayor and Common Council of the City of Franklin, 
Wisconsin, do ordain as follows: 
 
SECTION 1: The City of Franklin 2025 Comprehensive Master Plan is hereby 
 

amended to change the City of Franklin 2025 Future Land Use Map 
designation for three properties generally located on the east side of 
South 31st Street, addressed as 7521 S. 31st Street (TKN786 9981 004), 
0 S 35th Street (TKN 761 9997 003) and 0 S 31st Street (TKN 761 9994 



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-____ 
Page 2 
 

005), from Office Use and Areas of Natural Resource Features Use to 
Mixed Use.  Such property is more particularly described within 
Resolution No. 2024 ____ of even-date herewith. 

SECTION 2: The terms and provisions of this ordinance are severable.  Should any 
term or provision of this ordinance be found to be invalid by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, the remaining terms and provisions shall remain 
in full force and effect. 

 
SECTION 3: All ordinances and parts of ordinances in contravention to this 

ordinance are hereby repealed. 
 
SECTION 4: This ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its 

passage and publication. 
 
 Introduced at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Franklin this 
_______ day of __________________, 2024, by Alderman ___________________. 

 
Passed and adopted by a majority vote of the members-elect of the Common Council 

at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Franklin this _______ day of 
____________________, 2024. 
 

      
 APPROVED: 

 
 
       _________________________________  
       John R. Nelson, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________________       
Shirley J. Robinson, City Clerk 
 
AYES ______ NOES ______ ABSENT ______ 
 



 
STATE OF WISCONSIN               CITY OF FRANKLIN             MILWAUKEE COUNTY 

       [Draft 08-15-24]  
ORDINANCE NO. 2024-____ 

 
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE 

(ZONING MAP) TO REZONE THREE PROPERTIES LOCATED ON THE EAST SIDE 
OF SOUTH 31ST STREET, ADDRESSED AS 7521 S. 31ST STREET (TKN 786 9981 
004), 0 S 35TH STREET (TKN 761 9997 003) AND 0 S 31ST STREET (TKN 761 9994 

005), TO B-4 SOUTH 27TH STREET MIXED USE BUSINESS DISTRICT 
(AMY HANSEL, COMMUNITIES OF CROCUS) (NORTHWESTERN MUTUAL LIFE 

INSURANCE, PROPERTY OWNERS) 
               
 
 WHEREAS, Amy Hansel, Communities of Crocus having petitioned the City of 
Franklin for the rezoning of approximately 24.5 acres of land, from R-6 Suburban Single-
Family Residence District and OL-1 Office Overlay District to B-4 South 27th Street Mixed 
Use Business District, such land addressed as 7521 S. 31st Street (TKN786 9981 004), 0 S 
35th Street (TKN 761 9997 003) and 0 S 31st Street (TKN 761 9994 005); and  
 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held before the City of Franklin Plan Commission 
on the 22nd day of August, 2024, upon the aforesaid petition and the Plan Commission 
thereafter having determined that the proposed rezoning would promote the health, safety 
and welfare of the City and having recommended approval thereof to the Common Council; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Common Council having considered the petition and having 
concurred with the recommendation of the Plan Commission and having determined that the 
proposed rezoning is consistent with the 2025 Comprehensive Master Plan of the City of 
Franklin, Wisconsin and would promote the health, safety and welfare of the Community. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, the Mayor and Common Council of the City of Franklin, 
Wisconsin, do ordain as follows: 
 
SECTION 1: §15-3.0102 (Zoning Map) of the Unified Development Ordinance of 

the City of Franklin, Wisconsin, is hereby amended to provide that the 
zoning district designation for 7521 S. 31st Street (TKN 786 9981 004) 
described below, be changed from R-6 Suburban Single-Family 
Residence District and OL-1 Office Overlay District to B-4 South 27th 
Street Mixed Use Business District; and 

 
§15-3.0102 (Zoning Map) of the Unified Development Ordinance of 
the City of Franklin, Wisconsin, is hereby amended to provide that the 
zoning district designation for 0 S 35th Street (TKN 761 9997 003) 
described below, be changed from R-6 Suburban Single-Family 



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-____ 
Page 2 
 

Residence District and OL-1 Office Overlay District to B-4 South 27th 
Street Mixed Use Business District; and 
 
§15-3.0102 (Zoning Map) of the Unified Development Ordinance of 
the City of Franklin, Wisconsin, is hereby amended to provide that the 
zoning district designation for 0 S 31st Street (TKN 761 9994 005) 
described below, be changed from R-6 Suburban Single-Family 
Residence District and OL-1 Office Overlay District to B-4 South 27th 
Street Mixed Use Business District: 

 
 
7521 S. 31st Street (TKN 786 9981 004): Parcel 2 of certified survey map no. 5794 recorded 
in the office of the register of deeds for Milwaukee County, Wisconsin on January 14, 1993, 
in reel 2948 of certified survey maps, image 745 as document no. 6715343, said certified 
survey map being a division of lands in the southeast 1/4 and the southwest 1/4 of the 
northeast 1/4 of section 12, township 5 north, range 21 east, in the city of Franklin, 
Milwaukee County, Wisconsin. 
Excepting therefrom that portion of land conveyed in instrument recorded April 10, 2006 as 
document no. 9215971.; and 
 
0 S 35th Street (TKN 761 9997 003): That part of the northeast 1/4 of section 12 in town 5 
north, range 21 east, in the city of Franklin, county of Milwaukee, state of Wisconsin, which 
is bounded and described as follows, to-wit: 
Commencing at the southwest corner of said 1/4 section; thence north 00° 05' 06" west along 
the west line of said 1/4 section 165.32 feet to the point of beginning of lands to be 
described; thence continuing north 00° 05' 06" west along said line 165.33 feet to a point in 
the south line of certified survey map no. 5794; thence north 87° 41' 30" east along said 
south line 1308.41 feet; thence south 00° 02' 14" west 331.39 feet, said point also being in 
the centerline of south 31st street; thence south 87° 43' 22" west 1037.44 feet to a point in the 
east line of certified survey map no. 3564; thence north 00° 05' 06" west along said east line 
165.32 feet to the northeast corner of said certified survey map; thence south 87° 43' 22" 
west along the north line of said certified survey map 270.23 feet to the point of beginning. 
Excepting therefrom lands dedicated to the public for street purposes. 
Further excepting therefrom that portion of land conveyed in instrument recorded April 10, 
2006 as document no. 9215973.; and 
 
0 S 31st Street (TKN 761 9994 005): All that part of the west 1/2 of the southeast 1/4 section 
12, town 5 north, range 21 east, in the city of Franklin, county of Milwaukee, state of 
Wisconsin, bounded and described as follows: 
Commencing at the northwest corner of the 1/4 section; thence north 89° 44' 10" east on and 
along the north line of the 1/4 section, 1330.13 feet to the northeast corner of the west 1/2 of 
the 1/4 section; thence south 2° 03' west along the east line of the west 1/2, 206.05 feet 
(recorded) south 00°02'11" west, 205.25 feet (measured) to a point; thence west on a line 
which is parallel to and 2448.99 feet north 2° 03' east of the south line of the 1/4 section, 



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-____ 
Page 3 
 
1330.30 feet (recorded) south 88° 00' 24" west 1330.10 feet (measured) to a point in the west 
line of the 1/4 section; thence north 2° 08' east along said west line, 200 feet (recorded) 
198.75 feet (measured) to the place of Commencement. 
Excepting therefrom certified survey map no. 3564 recorded on February 12, 1979 as 
Document no. 5289377. 
Further excepting therefrom that portion of land conveyed in instrument recorded April 10, 
2006 as document no. 9215974; and 
 
SECTION 2:  The terms and provisions of this ordinance are severable.  Should any 

term or provision of this ordinance be found to be invalid by a court of  
competent jurisdiction, the remaining terms and provisions shall remain 
in full force and effect. 

 
SECTION 3: All ordinances and parts of ordinances in contravention to this 

ordinance are hereby repealed. 
 
SECTION 4: This ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its 

passage and publication. 
 
 Introduced at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Franklin this 
_______ day of ____________________, 2024. 
 

Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of 
Franklin this _______ day of ____________________, 2024. 
 

APPROVED: 
 
 
       _________________________________  
       John R. Nelson, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________________       
Shirley J. Robinson, City Clerk 
 
AYES ______ NOES ______ ABSENT ______ 
 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

7521 S. 31st Street
TKNs: 786 9981 004, 761 9997 003, 761 9994 005

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

R-6 

BP  

B-4 

R-6 

R-6 

R-6 

FW  

R-6 

I-1 

P-1 

FFO 
FC  

B-4 

C-1 

B-4 

R-6 

FFO 

R-6 

FC  

FC  

FC  

FC  

FC  

FFO 

B-4 

PR
IV

AT
E

31
ST

    
    

    
    

    
    

   S
T  

 

STATESMAN WAY

37
TH

    
    

    
    

    
    

   P
L

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 625 1,250312.5 Feet

Property

 

Property

Property



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

7521 S. 31st Street
TKNs: 786 9981 004, 761 9997 003, 761 9994 005

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

PR
IV

AT
E

31
ST

    
    

    
    

    
    

   S
T  

 

STATESMAN WAY

MINNESOTA                      AVE  

36
TH

    
    

    
    

    
    

   S
T  

 

35
TH

    
    

    
    

    
    

   S
T  

 

37
TH

    
    

    
    

    
    

   P
L

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 625 1,250312.5 Feet

Property

 

Property

Property



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

TKN: 761 9992 002

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

R-6 B-4 

BP  
R-6 

I-1 

B-4 

R-6 

FW  

R-6 

R-6 

P-1 

FC  

B-4 

C-1 FFO 

B-4 

R-6 

FFO 

FFO 

FFO 

FC  

FC  

FC  

FFO 

FFO 

FFO 

31
ST

ST

PRIVATE

31
ST

    
    

    
    

    
    

   S
T  

 

36
TH

    
    

    
    

    
    

   S
T  

 

STATESMAN WAY

37
TH

    
    

    
    

    
    

   P
L  

 
37

TH
    

    
    

    
    

    
   P

L

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 625 1,250312.5 Feet

Property

 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

TKN: 761 9992 002

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

31
ST

ST

PRIVATE
35

TH
    

    
    

    
    

    
   S

T  
 

31
ST

    
    

    
    

    
    

   S
T  

 

36
TH

    
    

    
    

    
    

   S
T  

 MINNESOTA                      AVE  

STATESMAN WAY

37
TH

    
    

    
    

    
    

   P
L  

 
37

TH
    

    
    

    
    

    
   P

L

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 625 1,250312.5 Feet

Property

 











APPLICATION DATE: 06/13/2024 

Planning Department - STJl,IVlP DATE: city use onlv 
9229 West Loomis Road 

iiiiFranklin Franklin, Wisconsin 53132 

(414) 425-4024 
franklinwi.gov w I s C 0 N s I N

COMMON COUNCIL REVIEW APPLICATION 

PROJECT INFORMATION [print legibly) 

APPLICANT [FULL LEGAL NAMES] APPLICANT IS REPRESENTED BY [CONTACT PERSON] 
NAME: Amy Hansel 

COMPANY: Communities of Crocus 

MAI LI NG ADDRESS: PO Box 580165 

cirvtsrATE: Pleasant Prairie, Wiscc ziP: 53158

PHONE: 864-593-2457

EMAIL ADDRESS: autastic0327@gmail.com

NAME: Kevin Allebach, RA 

coMPANY: HGA Architects

MAILING ADDREss: 333 East Erie Street

ciTY/STATE: Milwaukee Wisconsin' 
PHONE: Cell:414-520-6513

ZIP: 53202

EMAIL ADDRESS: kallebach@hga.com

PROJECT PROPERTY INFORMATION 
PROPERTY ADDRESS: 7521 South 31st Street, Franklin, WI TAX KEY NUMBER: 

761-9994-005, 761-9997-003, 786-9981-004
PROPERTY owNER: The Northwestern Mutual Life lnsuranc PHONE: 414-665-5080

MAILING ADDREss: 720 E Wisconsin Ave EMAIL ADDREss: briankonyn@northwesternmutual.com 
ciTY/sTATE: Milwaukee, WI ZIP: 53202 DATE OF COMPLETION: 

APPLICATION TYPE 
Please check the application type that you are applying for 

□Concept Review D Comprehensive Master Plan Amendment D Planned Development District BRezoning

D Special Use/ Special Use Amendment D Unified Development Ordinance Text Amendment 

Most requests require Plan Commission review and Common Council approval. 
Applicant is responsible for providing Plan Commission resubmittal materials up to 12 copies pending staff request and comments. 

SIGNATURES 
The applicant and property owner(s) hereby certify that: (1) all statements and other information submitted as part of this application are true and correct to the best 
of applicant's and property owner(s)' knowledge; (2) the applicant and property owner{s) has/have read and understand all information in this application; and (3) the 
applicant and property owner(s) agree that any approvals based on representations made by them in this Application and its submittal, and any subsequently issued 
building permits or other type of permits, may be revoked without notice if there is a breach of such representation{s) or any condition(s) of approval. By execution of 
this application, the property owner(s) authorize the City of Franklin and/or its agents to enter upon the subject property(ies) between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 7:00 
p.m. daily for the purpose of inspection while the application is under review. The property owner(s) grant this authorization even if the property has been posted against
trespassing pursuant to Wis. Stat. §943.13.
{The applicant's signature must be from a Managing Member if the business is an LLC, or from the President or Vice President if the business is a corporation. A signed 

applicant's authorization letter may be provided in lieu of the applicant's signature below, and a signed property owner's authorization letter may be provided in lieu 

of the property owner's signature[s] below. If more than one, all of the owners of the property must sign this Application). 

bl I, the applicant, certify that I have read the following page detailing the requirements for plan commission and common council approval and 
submittals and understand that incomplete applications and submittals cannot be reviewed. 

PROPERTY OWNER SIGNATURE: 

�.✓.�'o/-
NAME&TITLE:° Brian J. Konyn, Its: Dire, DATE:

PROPERTY OWNER SIGNATURE: 

NAME & TITLE: DATE: 

06/10/2024 

' I I 

APPLICANT SIGNATURE: 1tY11l1 rran.1er,, 

NAME & TITLE: 

Amy Ha?t1el (Jun 12, 2024 14:04 CDT) 

Amy R. Hansel/COG Pn 
DATE: 

06/10/2024
APPLICANT REPRESENTATIVE SIGNATURE+ 

i 1\['�� 
1'L

NAME & TITLE: 
•'-'v. • 

Kevin Allebach/Vice Pre� 
DATE: 

06/10/2024





Communities of Crocus 
06/12/2024 

Parcel Legal Descriptions 
 

Legal description per First American Title Insurance Company Commitment No.NCS-1201499-

CHI2, with an effective date of November 29, 2023: 
 

Parcel II: 

Parcel 2 of certified survey map no. 5794 recorded in the office of the register of deeds for 

Milwaukee County, Wisconsin on January 14, 1993, in reel 2948 of certified survey maps, image 

745 as document no. 6715343, said certified survey map being a division of lands in the 

southeast 1/4 and the southwest 1/4 of the northeast 1/4 of section 12, township 5 north, range 

21 east, in the city of Franklin, Milwaukee County, Wisconsin. 

Excepting therefrom that portion of land conveyed in instrument recorded April 10, 2006 as 

document no. 9215971. 

 

Parcel III: 

That part of the northeast 1/4 of section 12 in town 5 north, range 21 east, in the city of Franklin, 

county of Milwaukee, state of Wisconsin, which is bounded and described as follows, to-wit: 

Commencing at the southwest corner of said 1/4 section; thence north 00° 05' 06" west along 

the west line of said 1/4 section 165.32 feet to the point of beginning of lands to be described; 

thence continuing north 00° 05' 06" west along said line 165.33 feet to a point in the south line 

of certified survey map no. 5794; thence north 87° 41' 30" east along said south line 1308.41 feet; 

thence south 00° 02' 14" west 331.39 feet, said point also being in the centerline of south 31st 

street; thence south 87° 43' 22" west 1037.44 feet to a point in the east line of certified survey 

map no. 3564; thence north 00° 05' 06" west along said east line 165.32 feet to the northeast 

corner of said certified survey map; thence south 87° 43' 22" west along the north line of said 

certified survey map 270.23 feet to the point of beginning. 

Excepting therefrom lands dedicated to the public for street purposes. 

Further excepting therefrom that portion of land conveyed in instrument recorded April 10, 

2006 as document no. 9215973. 

 

Parcel IV: 

All that part of the west 1/2 of the southeast 1/4 section 12, town 5 north, range 21 east, in the 

city of Franklin, county of Milwaukee, state of Wisconsin, bounded and described as follows: 

Commencing at the northwest corner of the 1/4 section; thence north 89° 44' 10" east on and 

along the north line of the 1/4 section, 1330.13 feet to the northeast corner of the west 1/2 of the 

1/4 section; thence south 2° 03' west along the east line of the west 1/2, 206.05 feet (recorded) 

south 00°02'11" west, 205.25 feet (measured) to a point; thence west on a line which is parallel 

to and 2448.99 feet north 2° 03' east of the south line of the 1/4 section, 1330.30 feet (recorded) 

south 88° 00' 24" west 1330.10 feet (measured) to a point in the west line of the 1/4 section; 

thence north 2° 08' east along said west line, 200 feet (recorded) 198.75 feet (measured) to the 

place of Commencement. 

Excepting therefrom certified survey map no. 3564 recorded on February 12, 1979 as 

Document no. 5289377.  

Further excepting therefrom that portion of land conveyed in instrument recorded April 10, 

2006 as document no. 9215974. 



















COMMUNITIES OF CROCUS

JUNE 10, 20247521 SOUTH 31st STREET, FRANKLIN, WI
SITE PLAN

Parcel 761-9992-002

18.458 Acres

Parcel 761-9994-005

8.46 Acres

Parcel 761-9997-003

10.658 Acres

Parcel 786-9981-004

5.75 Acres



COMMUNITIES OF CROCUS

JUNE 10, 20247521 SOUTH 31st STREET, FRANKLIN, WI
Communities of Crocus Phases



APPLICATION DATE: 06/13/2024

Planning Department -

STPdVIP DATE citv use only 
9229 West Loomis Road 

_,Franklin Franklin, Wisconsin 53132 

(414) 425-4024 4 

franklinwi.gov w I s C 0 N s I N 

COMMON COUNCIL REVIEW APPLICATION 

PROJECT INFORMATION [print legibly] 
APPLICANT [FULL LEGAL NAMES] 

NAME: Amy Hansel 
COMPANY: Communities of Crocus 
MAILING ADDREss: PO Box 580165 
ciTY/STATE: Pleasant Prairie WI ' 

PHONE: 
864-593-2457

ZIP: 
53158

EMAIL ADDRESS: autastic0327@gmail.com 

APPLICANT IS REPRESENTED BY [CONTACT PERSON] 
NAME: Kevin Allebach, RA 
coMPANY: HGA Architects 
MAILING ADDREss: 333 East Erie Street 
ciTY/sTATE: Milwaukee Wisconsin ' 
PHONE: Cell :414-520-6513 

ZIP: 
53012

EMAIL ADDRESS: kallebach@hga.com 
PROJECT PROPERTY INFORMATION 

PROPERTY ADDREss: 7521 South 31st Street, Franklin, WI 
PROPERTY owNER: The Northwestern Mutual Life lnsuranc 
MAILING ADDREss: 720 E Wisconsin Ave 
ciTY/sTATE: Milwaukee ZIP: 

53202

TAX KEY NUMBER:
761-9992-002,761-9994-005,761-9997-003,786-9981-004

PHONE: 
414-665-5080

EMAIL ADDREss: briankonyn@northwesternmutual.com 
DATE OF COMPLETION: 

APPLICATION TYPE 
Please check the application type that you are applying for 

□Concept Review,illcomprehensive Master Plan Amendment O Planned Development District O Rezoning

0 Special Use/ Special Use Amendment O Unified Development Ordinance Text Amendment 

Most requests require Plan Commission review and Common Council approval. 
Applicant is responsible for providing Plan Commission resubmittal materials up to 12 copies pending staff request and comments. 

SIGNATURES 
The applicant and property owner(s) hereby certify that: (1) all statements and other information submitted as part of this application are true and correct to the best 
of applicant's and property owner(s)' knowledge; (2) the applicant and property owner(s) has/have read and understand all information in this application; and (3) the
applicant and property owner(s) agree that any approvals based on representations made by them in this Application and its submittal, and any subsequently issued 
building permits or other type of permits, may be revoked without notice if there is a breach of such representation(s) or any condition(s) of approval. By execution of 
this application, the property owner(s) authorize the City of Franklin and/or its agents to enter upon the subject property(ies) between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 7:00 
p.m. daily for the purpose of inspection while the application ls under review. The property owner(s) grant this authorization even if the property has been posted against 
trespassing pursuant to Wis. Stat. §943.13. 
{The applicant's signature must be from a Managing Member if the business is an LLC, or fram the President or Vice President if the business is a corporation. A signed 

applicant's authorization letter may be provided in lieu of the applicant's signature be/aw, and a signed property owner's authorization letter may be provided in lieu 

of the property owner's signature[s] below. If more than one, all of the owners of the property must sign this Application). 

g I, the applicant, certify that I have read the following page detailing the requirements for plan commission and common council approval and 
submittals and understand that incomplete applications and submittals cannot be reviewed. 

PROPERTY OWNER SIGNATURE: 

�d& ,, 

NAME & TITLE'.' Brian J. Konyn/Its: Di rec DATE: 

PROPERTY OWNER SIGNATURE: 

NAME & TITLE: DATE: 

06/10/2024 

APPLICANT SIGNATURE: �� 

NAME & TITLE: 

Amy Hansel (Jun 12, 202414:02 CDT) 

Amy R. Hansel/COG Pn DATE: 

APPLICANT REPRESENTATIVE SIGNATURE: 
l Q�i''I\L
,I.._)_ 

06/10/2024 

NAME & TITLE: Kevin Allebach/ Vice Pre DATE: 06/10/2024





Communities of Crocus 
06/12/2024 
 

Parcel Legal Descriptions 
 
Legal description per First American Title Insurance Company Commitment No.NCS-1201499-

CHI2, with an effective date of November 29, 2023: 

 

Parcel I: 

Lot 1 of certified survey map no. 7905 recorded in the office of the register of deeds for 

Milwaukee County, Wisconsin on April 11, 2007 as document no. 9415687, said certified survey 

map being a part of the southwest 1/4 and the southeast 1/4 of the Northeast 1/4 of section 12, 

township 5 north, range 21 east, in the city of Franklin, Milwaukee County, Wisconsin. 

 

Parcel II: 

Parcel 2 of certified survey map no. 5794 recorded in the office of the register of deeds for 

Milwaukee County, Wisconsin on January 14, 1993, in reel 2948 of certified survey maps, image 

745 as document no. 6715343, said certified survey map being a division of lands in the 

southeast 1/4 and the southwest 1/4 of the northeast 1/4 of section 12, township 5 north, range 

21 east, in the city of Franklin, Milwaukee County, Wisconsin. 

Excepting therefrom that portion of land conveyed in instrument recorded April 10, 2006 as 

document no. 9215971. 

 

Parcel III: 

That part of the northeast 1/4 of section 12 in town 5 north, range 21 east, in the city of Franklin, 

county of Milwaukee, state of Wisconsin, which is bounded and described as follows, to-wit: 

Commencing at the southwest corner of said 1/4 section; thence north 00° 05' 06" west along 

the west line of said 1/4 section 165.32 feet to the point of beginning of lands to be described; 

thence continuing north 00° 05' 06" west along said line 165.33 feet to a point in the south line 

of certified survey map no. 5794; thence north 87° 41' 30" east along said south line 1308.41 feet; 

thence south 00° 02' 14" west 331.39 feet, said point also being in the centerline of south 31st 

street; thence south 87° 43' 22" west 1037.44 feet to a point in the east line of certified survey 

map no. 3564; thence north 00° 05' 06" west along said east line 165.32 feet to the northeast 

corner of said certified survey map; thence south 87° 43' 22" west along the north line of said 

certified survey map 270.23 feet to the point of beginning. 

Excepting therefrom lands dedicated to the public for street purposes. 

Further excepting therefrom that portion of land conveyed in instrument recorded April 10, 

2006 as document no. 9215973. 

 

Parcel IV: 

All that part of the west 1/2 of the southeast 1/4 section 12, town 5 north, range 21 east, in the 

city of Franklin, county of Milwaukee, state of Wisconsin, bounded and described as follows: 

Commencing at the northwest corner of the 1/4 section; thence north 89° 44' 10" east on and 

along the north line of the 1/4 section, 1330.13 feet to the northeast corner of the west 1/2 of the 

1/4 section; thence south 2° 03' west along the east line of the west 1/2, 206.05 feet (recorded) 

south 00°02'11" west, 205.25 feet (measured) to a point; thence west on a line which is parallel 

to and 2448.99 feet north 2° 03' east of the south line of the 1/4 section, 1330.30 feet (recorded) 



Communities of Crocus 
06/12/2024 
 

south 88° 00' 24" west 1330.10 feet (measured) to a point in the west line of the 1/4 section; 

thence north 2° 08' east along said west line, 200 feet (recorded) 198.75 feet (measured) to the 

place of Commencement. 

Excepting therefrom certified survey map no. 3564 recorded on February 12, 1979 as 

Document no. 5289377.  

Further excepting therefrom that portion of land conveyed in instrument recorded April 10, 

2006 as document no. 9215974. 



















COMMUNITIES OF CROCUS

JUNE 10, 20247521 SOUTH 31st STREET, FRANKLIN, WI
SITE PLAN

Parcel 761-9992-002

18.458 Acres

Parcel 761-9994-005

8.46 Acres

Parcel 761-9997-003

10.658 Acres

Parcel 786-9981-004

5.75 Acres



COMMUNITIES OF CROCUS

JUNE 10, 20247521 SOUTH 31st STREET, FRANKLIN, WI
Communities of Crocus Phases



APPLICATION DATE: 0_2/13/2024 

Planning Department -
STAMP DATE: citv use 0111\! 

9229 West Loomis Road 

•FranklinFranklin, Wisconsin 53132 

(414) 425-4024
franklinwi.gov w I s C 0 N s I N 

COMMON COUNCIL REVIEW APPLICATION 

PROJECT INFORMATION [print legibly] 

APPLICANT [FULL LEGAL NAMES] 
NAME: Amy Hansel 

COMPANY: Communities of Crocus 

MAILING ADDREss: PO Box 580165

ciTY/STATE: Pleasant Prairie, Wiscc ziP: 53158

PHONE: 
864-593-2457

EMAIL ADDRESS: autastic0327@gmail.com

APPLICANT IS REPRESENTED BY [CONTACT PERSON] 
NAME: Kevin Allebach, RA 

COMPANY: HGA Architects

MAILING ADDREss: 333 East Erie Street

CITY/STATE: Milwaukee Wisconsin
I 

PHONE: Cell:414-520-6513 

ZIP: 53012

EMAIL ADDRESS: kallebach@hga.com

PROJECT PROPERTY INFORMATION 
PROPERTY ADDRESS: 7521 South 31st Street, Franklin, WI

PROPERTY owNER: 
The Northwestern Mutual Life lnsuranc 

MAILING ADDREss: 720 E Wisconsin Ave

ciTY/STATE: 
Milwaukee WI

I 

ZIP: 53202

TAX KEY NUMBER: 761-9992-002

PHONE: 414-665-5080
EMAIL ADDREss: 

briankonyn@northwesternmutual.com 

DATE OF COMPLETION: 

APPLICATION TYPE 

Please check the application type that you are applying for 

□Concept Review D Comprehensive Master Plan Amendment D Planned Development District D Rezoning

Ill Special Use/ Special Use Amendment D Unified Development Ordinance Text Amendment 

Most requests require Plan Commission review and Common Council approval. 
Applicant is responsible for providing Plan Commission resubmittal materials up to 12 copies pending staff request and comments. 

SIGNATURES 
The applicant and property owner(s) hereby certify that: (1) all statements and other information submitted as part of this application are true and correct to the best 
of applicant's and property owner(s)' knowledge; (21 the applicant and property owner(s) has/have read and understand all information in this application; and (3) the 
applicant and property owner(s) agree that any approvals based on representations made by them in this Application and its submittal, and any subsequently issued 
building permits or other type of permits, may be revoked without notice if there is a breach of such representation{s) or any condition{s) of approval. By execution of 
this application, the property owner(s) authorize the City of Franklin and/or its agents to enter upon the subject property{ies) between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 7:00 
p.m. daily for the purpose of inspection while the application is under review. The property owner(s) grant this authorization even If the property has been posted against 
trespassing pursuant to Wis. Stat. §943.13.
{The applicant's signature must be from a Managing Member if the business is an LLC, or from the President or Vice President if the business is o corporation. A signed 

applicant's authorization letter may be provided in lieu of the applicant's signature below, and a signed property owner's authorization letter may be provided in lieu 

of the property owner's signature[s/ belaw. If more than one, all of the owners of the property must sign this Application}. 

g I, the applicant, certify that I have read the following page detailing the requirements for plan commission and common council approval and 
submittals and understand that incomplete applications and submittals cannot be reviewed. 

PROPERTY OWNER SIGNATURE: 

-;zg:;__;___/4u , 
NAME & TITLE/Brian Konyn/Its: Directo1

DATE: 06/10/2024 

PROPERTY OWNER SIGNATURE: 

NAME & TITLE: DATE: 

I I I 

APPLICANT SIGNATURE: ftm {1 fTU.n, \ e,r,,,

NAME & TITLE: 

Amy Han� (Jun 12, 2024 14:04 CDT) 

Amy R. Hansel/COG Pn 
DATE: 

06/10/2024 

APPLICANT REPRESENTATIVE SIGNATURE: 

��i� 
NAME & TITLE: 

Kevin Allebach/ Vice Pre 
DATE: 

06/10/2024 





Communities of Crocus 

06/12/2024 
 

Parcel Legal Descriptions 
 
Legal description per First American Title Insurance Company Commitment No.NCS-1201499-

CHI2, with an effective date of November 29, 2023: 

 

Parcel I: 

Lot 1 of certified survey map no. 7905 recorded in the office of the register of deeds for 

Milwaukee County, Wisconsin on April 11, 2007 as document no. 9415687, said certified survey 

map being a part of the southwest 1/4 and the southeast 1/4 of the Northeast 1/4 of section 12, 

township 5 north, range 21 east, in the city of Franklin, Milwaukee County, Wisconsin. 

 



















COMMUNITIES OF CROCUS

JUNE 10, 20247521 SOUTH 31st STREET, FRANKLIN, WI
SITE PLAN

Parcel 761-9992-002

18.458 Acres

Parcel 761-9994-005

8.46 Acres

Parcel 761-9997-003

10.658 Acres

Parcel 786-9981-004

5.75 Acres



COMMUNITIES OF CROCUS

JUNE 10, 20247521 SOUTH 31st STREET, FRANKLIN, WI
Communities of Crocus Phases



Page | 1  

 

DIVISION 15-3.0700 SPECIAL USE STANDARDS AND REGULATIONS 
 
SECTION 15-3.0701 GENERAL STANDARDS FOR SPECIAL USES 
 
A. General Standards. No special use permit shall be recommended or granted pursuant to 

this Ordinance unless the applicant shall establish the following: 
 
1. Ordinance and Comprehensive Master Plan Purposes and Intent. The proposed use and 

development will be in harmony with the general and specific purposes for which this Ordinance 
was enacted and for which the regulations of the zoning district in question were established 
and with the general purpose and intent of the City of Franklin Comprehensive Master Plan or 
element thereof. 
 
Response: This objective is understood and mutually shared by the owner in the proposed use 
of the development.  Along with the Special Use Application, we have also submitted a 
Comprehensive Master Plan application that shows how the proposed development will be 
configured and how it is in harmony with the surrounding neighborhood, we have also 
submitted a Rezoning Application which is requesting the three southern parcels (761-9994-
005; 761-9997-003; 786-9981-004) be rezoned from R-6 with OL-1 to B-4..   
 

2. No Undue Adverse Impact. The proposed use and development will not have a substantial or undue 
adverse or detrimental effect upon or endanger adjacent property, the character of the area, or the 
public health, safety, morals, comfort, and general welfare and not substantially diminish and impair 
property values within the community or neighborhood. 
 
Response: It is the owner’s wish to maintain the aesthetics of a neighborhood community 
with this development. Communal facilities and abundant green spaces will be provided for 
use by both the on-site residents and the public, with the intent to bring dedicated services to 
an underserved population in the Greater Milwaukee Area. 
 

3. No Interference with Surrounding Development. The proposed use and development will be 
constructed, arranged, and operated so as not to dominate the immediate vicinity or to interfere 
with the use and development of neighboring property in accordance with the applicable zoning 
district regulations. 
 
Response: No interference with the surrounding developments is anticipated during 
construction nor operations of this proposed facility. 
 

4. Adequate Public Facilities.  The  proposed  use  and  development  will  be  served 
adequately by essential public facilities and services such as streets, public utilities including 
public water supply system and sanitary sewer, police and fire protection, refuse disposal, public 
parks, libraries, schools, and other public facilities and utilities or the applicant will provide 
adequately for such facilities. 
 
Response: This development is located within the Oak Creek-Franklin Joint School District 
and will be served by the City of Franklin Police and Fire Departments. Public Utilities, 
including water, sanitary sewer, and storm sewer are all located within the Public Right-of-
Way of S 31st Street. An underground electric utility is located on the eastern side of the S 
31st Street Right-of-Way. Additional utilities will be coordinated as needed with their 



Page | 2  

 

respective providers.  
 
 
 

5. No Traffic Congestion. The proposed use and development will not cause undue traffic 
congestion nor draw significant amounts of traffic through residential streets. Adequate 
measures will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to minimize traffic 
congestion in the public streets. 
 
Response: No entrances to the site are proposed along residential roadways. The overall 
development will ultimately have two entry/egress drives are proposed to be constructed to 
connect to S 31st St. There will be adequate on-site parking for the buildings proposed. While 
the site contains 45 acres, the housing units being proposed is for 74 housing units, plus staff 
and visitors. Many of the residents will not drive and the anticipated traffic in and out of the 
property is anticipated to be light.  
 

6. No Destruction of Significant Features. The proposed use and development will not result in 
the destruction, loss, or damage of any natural, scenic, or historic feature of significant 
importance. 
 
Response: No destruction or impact to significant natural, scenic, or historic features will 
occur without adequate mitigation to repair and improve upon features affected by the 
construction activities of this site.  All of the building are being constructed along the S 31st 
Street on the eastern third of the site.  The woodland and wetland areas on the western two-
thirds of the site are not being developed.  
 

7. Compliance with Standards. The special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the 
applicable regulations of the district in which it is located, except as such regulations may, 
in each instance, be modified by the Common Council pursuant to the recommendations of the 
Plan Commission. The proposed use and development shall comply with all additional 
standards imposed on it by the particular provision of this Division and Ordinance authorizing 
such use. 
 
Response: The owner intends for the proposed development to comply with all applicable 
regulations and standards within the property’s district. Any proposed deviation to these 
standards will be addressed in accordance with the City’s policies and guidelines.  

 
B. Special Standards for Specified Special Uses. When the zoning district regulations authorize 

a special use in a particular zoning district and that special use is indicated as having special 
standards, as set forth in Section 15-3.0702 and 15-3.0703 of this Division, a Special Use 
Permit for such use in such zoning district shall not be recommended or granted unless the 
applicant shall establish compliance with all such special standards. 
 
Response: Understood. It is the owner’s intent to comply with all established special use 
standards set forth in the noted Sections. 

 
C. Considerations. In determining whether the applicant's evidence establishes that the foregoing 

standards have been met, the Plan Commission and the Common Council shall consider the 
following: 



Page | 3  

 

 
1. Public Benefit. Whether and to what extent the proposed use and development at the particular 

location requested is necessary or desirable to provide a service or a facility that is in the interest 
of the public convenience or that will contribute to the general welfare of the neighborhood or 
community. 
 
Response: There is a great need for housing for adults with autism and similar disabilities. 

This project will help meet that need and will also benefit the community with 
educational resources and training for community members who have family or 
friends with autism.   

 
 

2. Alternative Locations. Whether and to what extent such public goals can be met by the location 
of the proposed use and development at some other site or in some other area that may be more 
appropriate than the proposed site. 
 
Response: The selection of this site came after a long search to find a suitable site with a 

natural environment for housing located in Milwaukee County. 
 
 

3. Mitigation of Adverse Impacts. Whether and to what extent all steps possible have been taken 
to minimize any adverse effects of the proposed use and development on the immediate vicinity 
through building design, site design, landscaping, and screening. 
 
Response: The proposed development will be mindfully designed to reduce the potential for 
adverse impacts to the surrounding properties. Landscaping buffers are proposed along the 
northern property boundary to minimize disturbances to the adjacent residential lots, and the 
existing tributary of Root River that runs along the western side of portion of the site provides 
a natural wooded buffer to the residential lots located across S 35th St to the west. The 
proposed buildings in this development will be offset away from S 31st St, allowing for 
additional landscaping opportunities, and also screening the majority of the proposed 
parking areas from view of the public right-of-way in accordance with the City of Franklin 
Code. The buildings that are being proposed to the adjacent northern and southern 
residential neighbors are all one-story residential buildings.   
 
 

4. Establishment of Precedent of Incompatible Uses in the Surrounding Area. Whether the 
use will establish a precedent of, or encourage, more intensive or incompatible uses in the 
surrounding area. 
 
Response: The proposed development is very compatible with its surroundings.  The design 
of the site places single story residential buildings/homes adjacent to the residential 
neighborhoods that already exist there and places an apartment building and townhomes to 
the center of the site near the Statemen Apartments directly to the east. It is not the owner’s 
intent to influence any future proposed developments in the surrounding areas in any way 
that would negatively impact the City or its residents. 
 
 

 



G14-0581

JUNE 12th, 2024

Center Elevations
COMMUNITIES OF CROCUS                     CENTRE AT CARE

Metal Standing 
Seam Roof

Masonry (Brick)

Alum. Storefront System
Fiber Cement Board Siding

POOL

Metal Standing 
Seam Roof

Masonry 
(Brick)

Alum. Storefront 
System

Fiber Cement 
Board Siding

East Elevation

West Elevation

Metal Standing Seam Roof 

Alum. Storefront System

Masonry
(Brick)

Alum. 
Soffit 
w/

Wood 
Veneer

TPO Roof

Metal Standing 
Seam Roof

Alum. Storefront 
System

Masonry
(Brick)

Alum. 
Soffit w/
Wood 
Veneer

TPO Roof

Alum. Soffit w/
Wood Veneer



G14-0581

JUNE 12th, 2024

Center Elevations 2
COMMUNITIES OF CROCUS                     CENTRE AT CARE

TPO Roof

Masonry (Brick)

Alum. Storefront 
System

Fiber Board 
Cement Siding

POOL

TPO Roof

Masonry 
(Brick)

Alum. 
Storefront 
System

Fiber Cement Board 
Siding

FRP Door

Alum. Clad 
Wood 
Window w/ 
Lam. Glass

North Elevation

South Elevation

Metal Standing Seam 
Roof

Alum. 
Storefront
System

Alum. Soffit w/
Wood Veneer

FRP Door

Alum. Clad Wood 
Window w/ Lam. 

Glass

Metal Standing 
Seam Roof

Masonry 
(Brick)

Alum. Soffit 
w/ Wood 
Veneer

Alum. Storefront
System

FRP Door



G14-0581

JUNE 12th, 2024

Care Elevations
COMMUNITIES OF CROCUS                     CENTRE AT CARE

Masonry (Brick)

Fiber Cement Board Siding

Brick Chimney 
w/ Conc. Cap

Metal Rail

Fiber Cement Board Siding

Alum. Clad Wood Window w/ Lam. Glass

East Elevation

West Elevation

Alum. Clad Wood 
Window w/ Lam. Glass

Mesh Screen

Mesh Screen

TPO Roof

Alum. Soffit w/
Wood Veneer

Metal Rail

Brick w/ 
Conc. Sill

Brick Chimney 
w/ Conc. Cap

Metal 
Standing 
Seam Roof

TPO Roof

Metal Standing Seam Roof

Alum. 
Soffit w/
Wood 
Veneer

Brick w/ 
Conc. Sill



G14-0581

JUNE 12th, 2024

Care Elevations 2
COMMUNITIES OF CROCUS                     CENTRE AT CARE

Metal Standing Seam Roof

Masonry (Brick)

Fiber Cement 
Board Siding

Masonry Chimney
w/ Conc. Cap

Metal Standing 
Seam Roof

Fiber Cement Board 
Siding

Mesh Screen

Brick Chimney w/ Conc. Cap

Alum. Clad Wood Window 
w/ Lam. Glass

Alum. Clad Wood 
Window w/ Lam. Glass

North Elevation

South Elevation

Alum. Storefront 
System

Alum. Clad 
Wood Window 
w/ Lam. Glass

TPO Roof

TPO Roof

Alum. 
Storefront 
System

Alum. 
Soffit w/
Wood 
Veneer

Brick w/ 
Conc. Sill

Metal Rail

Brick 
w/ 
Conc. 
Sill

Alum Soffit w/
Wood Veneer



G14-0581

JUNE 12th, 2024

Hub Elevations
COMMUNITIES OF CROCUS                     CENTRE AT CARE

Metal Standing 
Seam Roof

Masonry (Brick)

Fiber Cement 
Board Siding

Metal Standing 
Seam Roof

Fiber Cement 
Board Siding

Alum. Clad 
Wood 

Window w/ 
Lam. Glass

East Elevation

West Elevation

Alum. Storefront 
System

Brick Chimney
w/ Conc. Cap

TPO Roof

Alum. Storefront 
System

Alum Soffit w/
Wood Veneer

Masonry(Brick)

FRP Door

glkimw
Architect
SUPPORTIVE HUB



G14-0581

JUNE 12th, 2024

Hub Elevations 2
COMMUNITIES OF CROCUS                     CENTRE AT CARE

Metal Standing Seam Roof

Fiber Cement 
Board Siding

Masonry Chimney
w/ Conc. Cap

TPO Roof

Fiber 
Cement 
Board Siding

Masonry (Brick)

Brick Chimney w/ Conc. Cap

Alum. Storefront System

Alum. Clad Wood 
Window w/ Lam. Glass

North Elevation

South Elevation

Metal Standing 
Seam Roof

TPO Roof

Alum. 
Storefront 
System

Alum. Soffit w/
Wood Veneer

Alum. Clad 
Wood 
Window w/ 
Lam. Glass

glkimw
Architect
SUPPORTIVE HUB



15.00'

5"

5"

3"

3"

P

4"

W
W

W

W

W
W

W
W

W

W
W

W
W

W

ST
ST

ST
ST

ST
ST

ST
ST

ST
ST

ST
ST

ST

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

M
IS

M
IS

M
IS

M
IS

M
IS

M
IS

M
IS

M
IS

M
IS

M
IS

M
IS

M
IS

M
IS

M
IS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

SA
N

O
H

O
H

O
H

O
H

O
H

O
H

O
H

O
H

O
H

O
H

O
H

O
H

O
H

O
H

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

E
E

SAN

W

PPP

PPP

P
PPP

PPP
PPPP

E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E E

S.
 3

1S
T 

ST
.

STATESMAN 

Denotes edge of water on
5-1-2024 (typ.)
elevation = 740.2±

S.
 3

5T
H

 S
T.

S.
 3

1S
T 

ST
.

FP

FP

FP

FP
FP

FP

FP

FP
FP

FP
FP

FP

FP
FP

FP
FP

FP
FP

FP

FP

FP

FP
FP

FP

FP

FP

FP

FP

FP
FP

FP
FP

FP

FP

FP

FP
FP

FP
FP

FP
FP

H

6"

H

10"

ST

ST

ST

ST

ST

WAY

elec. trans.

ST

SA
N

SA
N

75
0

75
5

74
4

746

747
748

74
9

75
1

75
2

75
3

75
4

75
6

75
7

75
8

740

745

750

739

741 74
2 74
3 74

4

74
6

74
7

74
8

749

75
1

73
573

5

74
0

740

74
0

73
373
373
4

73
4

73
6

73
6737

73
7

738

73
8

73
9

74
174

1 74
274

2

75
5

75
4

752

753

754

745

75
0

741

742

743 744

749

751

741

741

742

755

751

752 753 754
756

757

76
0

76
0 75
9

75
9

76
1

76
2

76
3 76

476
5

741
742

740

738

738

739

739

73
5

73
1

73
1

73
2

732

73
3

73
4

73
6

73
7

73
8

73
973

3

73
4

739

PA
TR

IC
IA

 A
. P

R
ZY

BY
LK

A 
AN

D
JE

FF
R

EY
 T

. P
R

ZY
BY

LK
A

31
03

 W
 M

IN
N

ES
O

TA
 A

VE
FR

AN
KL

IN
 W

I 5
31

32

R
O

Y 
AN

D
 S

U
SA

N
 B

O
D

SH
AU

G

31
11

 W
 M

IN
N

ES
O

TA
 A

VE
FR

AN
KL

IN
 W

I 5
31

32

D
AG

M
AR

 A
N

D
 T

IM
O

TH
Y 

D
.

TA
TL

O
C

K

31
19

 W
 M

IN
N

ES
O

TA
 A

VE
FR

AN
KL

IN
 W

I 5
31

32

JE
FF

ER
Y 

O
G

R
EN

56
57

 N
 B

AY
 R

ID
G

E 
AV

E
W

H
IT

EF
IS

H
 B

AY
 W

I 5
32

17

AB
EG

AI
L 

D
. A

N
D

TO
LE

N
TI

N
O

 D
. M

IR
A 

JR

32
11

 W
 M

IN
N

ES
O

TA
 A

VE
FR

AN
KL

IN
 W

I 5
31

32

BR
EN

D
A 

A.
 G

U
AG

LI
AR

D
O

32
19

 W
 M

IN
N

ES
O

TA
 A

VE
FR

AN
KL

IN
 W

I 5
31

32

C
YN

TH
IA

 R
. C

AL
AR

C
O

 A
N

D
TH

O
M

AS
 C

. M
U

R
PH

Y

33
05

 W
 M

IN
N

ES
O

TA
 A

VE
FR

AN
KL

IN
 W

I 5
31

32

D
IA

N
E 

C
. T

U
R

N
ER

 A
N

D
D

EN
N

IS
 J

. S
PA

C
EK

33
13

 W
 M

IN
N

ES
O

TA
 A

VE
FR

AN
KL

IN
 W

I 5
31

32

R
O

XA
N

N
E 

AN
D

 A
LE

XA
N

D
ER

M
LA

D
EN

O
VI

C
H

33
21

 W
 M

IN
N

ES
O

TA
 A

VE
FR

AN
KL

IN
 W

I 5
31

32

STEVEN J. FEIDER

7250 S 35TH ST FRANKLIN WI 53132

STEVEN A. ROHDE

7283 S 35TH ST
FRANKLIN WI 53132

CAROL F. NICKELS

7305 S 35TH ST
FRANKLIN WI 53132

DEREK DOSEDLA

7271 S 35TH ST
FRANKLIN WI 53132

JUDITH AND TIM
DERESZYNSKI

7315 S 35TH ST
FRANKLIN WI 53132

JUNE A. DUFFY AND
JOHN J. KNIGHT

7341 S 35TH ST
FRANKLIN WI 53132

KAREN D.
JEFFRIES-WRIGHT

7351 S 35TH ST
FRANKLIN WI 53132

DOROTHY E. TURCSANYI
AND DANIEL J. ANTE

7341 S 35TH ST
FRANKLIN WI 53132

JUSTIN WEISE

7375 S 35TH ST
FRANKLIN WI 53132

LARRY D. TOM

7124 S 35TH ST
FRANKLIN WI 53132

FR
AN

KL
IN

 S
TA

TE
SM

AN
AP

AR
TM

EN
TS

 L
LC

 5
70

 L
AK

E 
C

O
O

K 
R

D
 S

TE
32

5 
D

EE
R

FI
EL

D
 IL

 6
00

15

FR
AN

KL
IN

 S
TA

TE
SM

AN
AP

AR
TM

EN
TS

 L
LC

 5
70

 L
AK

E 
C

O
O

K 
R

D
 S

TE
32

5 
D

EE
R

FI
EL

D
 IL

 6
00

15

10' BLD. SETBACK
PER C.S.M. 7905

(14)

30' BLD.
SETBACK

PER C.S.M. 7905
(14)

30' BLD.
SETBACK

PER C.S.M. 7905
(14)

10' BLD.
SETBACK

PER C.S.M. 7905
(14)

75' SHORELAND
BUFFER PER C.S.M. 7590 (14)

C/L OF EAST
BRANCH OF ROOT

RIVER PER C.S.M. 7509

APPROXIMATE C/L OF
EAST BRANCH ROOT
RIVER PER 2022 AERIAL
(12)

LIMITED TERM
CONSERVATION EASEMENT

PER DOC. NO. 11299423
(30)

FLOODWAY PER
FEMA GIS (TYP.)

FLOOD ZONE AE

C
EN

TR
E 

AT
 C

AR
E

SU
PP

O
R

TI
VE

 H
U

B

CARE AT CROCUS

CARE AT CROCUS

CARE AT CROCUS

CARE AT CROCUS

PA
TI

O

PROPOSED 24'
PRIVATE DRIVE

PROPOSED GRAVEL
WALKING/BIKING TRAILS

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 P

AR
KI

N
G

PROPOSED
PEDESTRIAN PATHS

PROPOSED FENCE

DELINEATED WETLAND
BOUNDARY

DELINEATED WETLAND
BOUNDARY

DELINEATED WETLAND
BOUNDARY

SCALE            IN            FEET

0 60 120

HGA NO:

DATE:

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

MECHANICAL/PLUMBING ENGINEER

ELECTRICAL ENGINEER

CIVIL ENGINEER

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

INTERIOR ARCHITECT

NO DESCRIPTION DATE

COMMUNITIES OF
CROCUS -

CAMPUS PLAN

7521 S 31st ST
FRANKLIN, WI 53132

© COPYRIGHT HAMMEL, GREEN AND ABRAHAMSON, INC.

ISSUANCE HISTORY - THIS SHEET

PROJECT DOCUMENTS

JANUARY  26, 2024

G14-0581

1/2
6/2

02
4 1

2:1
4:4

0 P
M

C:
\U

se
rs\

glt
ar

un
ag

\D
oc

um
en

ts\
Re

vit
 Lo

ca
l F

ile
s\A

24
_C

en
tre

 at
 C

ar
e_

G1
4-

05
81

_g
lta

ru
na

g.r
vt

Au
tho

r EX-1

SPECIAL USE
PERMIT EXHIBIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
SS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
SS

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
SS

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
SS

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SS

AutoCAD SHX Text
MIS

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
MH

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
WV

AutoCAD SHX Text
N



1 

C I  T  Y  O F  F R A N K L I  N
REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 

Meeting of August 22, 2024 

Special Use Application 

RECOMMENDATION:  City Development Staff recommends approval of the Special Use Permit and 
revised parking plan for Field 99, subject to the conditions within the draft resolution. 
Project Name: Field 99 Special Use 

Property Owner: BAST MARSHALL LLC 

Applicant: Kelley Legler, Field 99 

Property Address/Tax Key Number: 11141 West Forest Home Avenue/704 9990 003 

Aldermanic District: District 6 

Agent: Kelley Legler, Field 99 

Zoning District: M-1 Limited Industrial District and C-1 Conservancy
District

Use of Surrounding Properties: M-1 zoned property to the north, south, east, and M-1, I-1
and R-3 zoned properties on the west

Application Request: Approval of a Special Use Permit for Field 99 

Staff Planner: Nick Fuchs, Planning Associate 

Project Description and Analysis 
At their May 9, 2024, meeting, the Plan Commission recommended approval of the Special Use 
Application for Field 99 with the added condition that the applicant obtain a parking agreement with 
the adjacent property owner, Holz Motors, to provide overflow parking for the subject use. The Plan 
Commission indicated that if a parking agreement could not be obtained, the application must be 
brought back to the Plan Commission for further review. 

The applicant has not pursued the shared parking agreement further, but rather, submitted a revised 
parking plan for consideration. As such, the applicant is requesting approval of the Special Use without 
the shared parking condition. 

The revised parking plan includes the originally proposed 18 parking spaces located along the west 
side of the fence as well as 8 paved and 13 unpaved parking spaces along the east end of the parking 
lot and soccer field area. 

Staff does not object to the quantity of parking provided for the subject use. Furthermore, the applicant 
has been utilizing this site for this use with parking as it currently exists and has not had issues with 
parking. As such, staff recommends that the additional parking, particularly the area of unpaved 
parking, be removed from the revised site plan and not required. 

Item C.5. 



  

 2 

The May 9th staff report is attached for additional information regarding this use. 
 
Staff Recommendation 

The Department of City Development staff recommends approval of the Special Use Application for 
Field 99, subject to the conditions in the draft resolution.  



  

 1 

 C I T Y  O F  F R A N K L I N   

REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 
 

Meeting of May 9, 2024 
 

Special Use Application 
 

RECOMMENDATION:  City Development Staff recommends approval of the Special Use Permit for 
Field 99, subject to the conditions within the draft resolution. 
Project Name:  Field 99 Special Use  

Property Owner: BAST MARSHALL LLC 

Applicant: Kelley Legler, Field 99  

Property Address/Tax Key Number:  11141 West Forest Home Avenue/704 9990 003 

Aldermanic District: District 6 

Agent: Kelley Legler, Field 99 

Zoning District: M-1 Limited Industrial District and C-1 Conservancy 
District 

Use of Surrounding Properties: M-1 zoned property to the north, south, east, and M-1, I-1 
and R-3 zoned properties on the west 

Application Request: Approval of a Special Use Permit for Field 99 

Staff Planner: Nick Fuchs, Planning Associate 
 

Project Description and Analysis 
The applicant has filed a Special Use application to allow for Field 99 to operate a soccer training 
facility at 11141 West Forest Home Avenue.  
 
The business use includes both indoor and outdoor youth soccer training for all ages. The interior 
space is approximately 1,600 square feet, and will be utilized during the months of November through 
April. The exterior of the site consists of a soccer field, which will be used during the months of April 
through November. The typical hours of operations will be Monday through Friday from 5:00 p.m. to 
8:00 p.m.  
 
According to the applicant, no more than 40 people are anticipated onsite at any given time. The 
outdoor sessions will have 36 players or less per session. The building will be utilized for smaller 
sessions consisting of 15 players or less. The building has a restroom, and a portable outdoor bathroom 
will be provided as well. According to the applicant there are currently eight training coaches with 
typically no more than three coaches onsite at any given time. 
 
There are 18 parking spaces available between 5:00 p.m. and 8:00 p.m. The applicant has noted that 
the adjacent property owner, Holz Motors, has additional parking available if needed. 
 

Item C.1. 



  

 2 

The outdoor field is about 60,500 square feet, which requires 16 parking spaces. The indoor facility 
requires three parking spaces. Considering the parking provided onsite and the overflow parking 
available on the adjacent property, staff does not anticipate any parking issues. Moreover, it should be 
considered that this type of use will have many students being dropped off and picked up. 
 
The building was painted, but no significant exterior site or building changes were completed or are 
currently proposed. The applicant intends to utilize existing site lighting for their use. 
 
The subject use is classified under Standard Industrial Classification Code No. 7991 Physical Fitness 
Facilities and SIC Code No. 7999, Amusement and Recreation Services, Note Elsewhere Classified, 
which are both allowed as a Special Use in the M-1 District. 
 
Applicant has submitted responses to the Special Use standards for Plan Commission and Common 
Council review. 
 
Staff Recommendation 

The Department of City Development staff recommends approval of the Special Use Application for 
Field 99, subject to the conditions in the draft resolution.  



STATE OF WISCONSIN             CITY OF FRANKLIN               MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
 DRAFT 07/24/24 

   
RESOLUTION NO. 2024-_____ 

 
A RESOLUTION IMPOSING CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS FOR  

THE APPROVAL OF A SPECIAL USE FOR AN INDOOR AND OUTDOOR YOUTH 
SOCCER TRAINING BUSINESS USE UPON PROPERTY LOCATED AT 11141 WEST 

FOREST HOME AVENUE (KELLEY LEGLER, FIELD 99, APPLICANT) (BAST 
MARSHALL, LLC, PROPERTY OWNER) 

              
 

WHEREAS, Kelley Legler of Field 99 having petitioned the City of Franklin for the 
approval of a Special Use for an indoor and outdoor youth soccer training business use upon 
property located at 11141 West Forest Home Avenue, zoned M-1 Limited Industrial District.  
The property which is the subject of the application bears Tax Key No. 704 9990 003 and is 
more particularly described as follows: 
 

Parcel 2 of Certified Survey Map No. 4056 being a part of the Northeast 1/4 of 
Section 6, in Township 5 North, Range 21 East, in the City of Franklin, dated May 5, 
1981, and recorded in the Register of Deeds office for Milwaukee County, on July 13, 
1981, on Reel 1388, Images 687 to 689 inclusive, as Document No. 5487949. 
 

 WHEREAS, such petition having been duly referred to the Plan Commission of the 
City of Franklin for a public hearing, pursuant to the requirements of §15-9.0103D. of the 
Unified Development Ordinance, and a public hearing having been held before the Plan 
Commission on the 9th day of May, 2024, and the Plan Commission thereafter having 
determined to recommend that the proposed Special Use be approved, subject to certain 
conditions, and the Plan Commission further finding that the proposed Special Use upon 
such conditions, pursuant to §15-3.0701 of the Unified Development Ordinance, will be in 
harmony with the purposes of the Unified Development Ordinance and the Comprehensive 
Master Plan; that they will not have an undue adverse impact upon adjoining property; that 
they will not interfere with the development of neighboring property; that they will be served 
adequately by essential public facilities and services; that they will not cause undue traffic 
congestion; and that they will not result in damage to property of significant importance to 
nature, history or the like; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Common Council having received such Plan Commission 
recommendation and also having found that the proposed Special Use, subject to conditions, 
meet the standards set forth under §15-3.0701 of the Unified Development Ordinance. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Common Council of 
the City of Franklin, Wisconsin, that the petition of Kelley Legler, Field 99, for the approval 
of a Special Use for the property particularly described in the preamble to this Resolution, be 
and the same is hereby approved, subject to the following conditions and restrictions: 



FIELD 99 – SPECIAL USE 
RESOLUTION NO. 2024-_____ 
Page 2 
 
 

1. That this Special Use is approved only for the use of the subject property by 
Kelley Legler, Field 99, successors and assigns, for an indoor and outdoor youth 
soccer training business use, which shall be developed in substantial compliance 
with, and operated and maintained by Kelley Legler, Field 99, pursuant to those 
plans date-stamped, ___________, 2024 and annexed hereto and incorporated 
herein as Exhibit A. 

2. Kelley Legler, Field 99, successors and assigns, shall pay to the City of Franklin 
the amount of all development compliance, inspection and review fees incurred by 
the City of Franklin, including fees of consults to the City of Franklin, for the 
Kelley Legler, Field 99 Special Use, within 30 days of invoice for same.  Any 
violation of this provision shall be a violation of the Unified Development 
Ordinance, and subject to §15-9.0502 thereof and §1-19 of the Municipal Code, 
the general penalties and remedies provisions, as amended from time to time. 

3. The approval granted hereunder is conditional upon the Kelley Legler, Field 99 
Special Use for the property located at 11141 West Forest Home Avenue:  (i) 
being in compliance with all applicable governmental laws, statutes, rules, codes, 
orders and ordinances; and (ii) obtaining all other governmental approvals, 
permits, licenses and the like, required for and applicable to the project to be 
developed and as presented for this approval. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that in the event Kelley Legler, Field 99, successors 
or assigns, or any owner of the subject property, does not comply with one or any of the 
conditions and restrictions of this Special Use Resolution, following a ten (10) day notice to 
cure, and failure to comply within such time period, the Common Council, upon notice and 
hearing, may revoke the Special Use permission granted under this Resolution. 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that any violation of any term, condition or 
restriction of this Resolution is hereby deemed to be, and therefore shall be, a violation of the 
Unified Development Ordinance, and pursuant to §15-9.0502 thereof and §1-19 of the 
Municipal Code, the penalty for such violation shall be a forfeiture of no more than 
$2,500.00, or such other maximum amount and together with such other costs and terms as 
may be specified therein from time to time.  Each day that such violation continues shall be a 
separate violation.  Failure of the City to enforce any such violation shall not be a waiver of 
that or any other violation. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be construed to be such 
Special Use Permit as is contemplated by §15-9.0103 of the Unified Development 
Ordinance. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, pursuant to §15-9.0103G. of the Unified 
Development Ordinance, that the Special Use permission granted under this Resolution shall 



FIELD 99 – SPECIAL USE 
RESOLUTION NO. 2024-_____ 
Page 3 
 
be null and void upon the expiration of one year from the date of adoption of this Resolution, 
unless the Special Use has been established by way of the issuance of an occupancy permit 
for such use. 
 

BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, that the City Clerk be and is hereby directed to obtain 
the recording of a certified copy of this Resolution in the Office of the Register of Deeds for 
Milwaukee County, Wisconsin. 
  
 Introduced at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Franklin this 
20th day of August, 2024. 
 

Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of 
Franklin this 20th day of August, 2024. 
 
       APPROVED: 
 
 
       _________________________________  
       John R. Nelson, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________________       
Shirley J. Roberts, City Clerk 
 
AYES ______ NOES ______ ABSENT ______ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



FIELD 99 – SPECIAL USE 
RESOLUTION NO. 2024-_____ 
Page 4 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

ATTACHED HERETO 
 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

11141 W. Forest Home Ave.
TKN 704 9990 003

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

M-1 
R-3 M-1 

I-1 C-1 

FO
RE

ST
HO

ME
AV

E

SPEEDWAY
DR

SE
RV

ICE
    

    
    

    
    

    
RD

   

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 230 460115 Feet

Property

 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

11141 W. Forest Home Ave.
TKN 704 9990 003

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

FO
RE

ST
HO

ME
AV

E

SPEEDWAY
DR

SE
RV

ICE
    

    
    

    
    

    
RD

   

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 230 460115 Feet

Property

 



 FIELD  99 
 www.field99.com 
 kelley@field99.com 
 11141  W  FOREST  HOME  AVE 
 FRANKLIN,  WI  53132 

 Field  99  is  a  soccer  training  field  and  facility  available  to  all  ages  of  athletes  in  soccer 
 clubs  throughout  the  southeastern  Milwaukee  area.  This  company  offers  high  level 
 training  for  athletes  to  increase  individual  performance  while  working  with  professional 
 soccer  players  as  coaches.  Owned  and  operated  by  soccer  player  Andre  Hayne, 
 partnering  with  soccer  parents  within  the  community,  this  company  provides  a  service 
 locally,  where  families  travel  to  Madison  and  Green  Bay  area  for  elite  soccer  training. 

 Field  99  offers  soccer  training  indoors  during  the  months  of  November  -  April  (1600  sq 
 ft  garage)  and  outdoors  during  the  months  April  -  November  (established  grass  field). 
 The  exterior  is  surrounded  by  fencing  and  netting  to  ensure  proper  safety  for  patrons. 
 Indoor  and  outdoor  public  bathrooms  available  for  our  clientele  to  use  year  round. 

http://www.field99.com/
mailto:kelley@field99.com


 11141  W  FOREST  HOME  AVENUE  FRANKLIN,  WI  53132 
 FIELD  99 

 DIVISION  15-3.0700 
 SPECIAL  USE  STANDARDS  AND  REGULATIONS 

 SECTION  15-3.0701  GENERAL  STANDARDS  FOR  SPECIAL  USES 

 A.  General  Standards  .  No  special  use  permit  shall  be  recommended  or  granted  pursuant  to 
 this  Ordinance  unless  the  applicant  shall  establish  the  following: 

 1.  Ordinance  and  Comprehensive  Master  Plan  Purposes  and  Intent.  The  proposed  use 
 and  development  will  be  in  harmony  with  the  general  and  specific  purposes  for  which 
 this  Ordinance  was  enacted  and  for  which  the  regulations  of  the  zoning  district  in 
 question  were  established  and  with  the  general  purpose  and  intent  of  the  City  of  Franklin 
 Comprehensive  Master  Plan  or  element  thereof. 

 Response:  Our  facility  consists  of  a  big  grass  outdoor  space,  a  small  warehouse,  two 
 offices,  one  bathroom  and  a  parking  lot.  The  business  purpose  is  to  run  soccer 
 training  sessions  for  young  athletes  around  the  community.  The  outdoor  space 
 features  roughly  3  acres  of  grass  space  that  will  allow  us  to  run  soccer  sessions 
 with  plenty  of  space  without  having  the  need  for  any  changes  for  36  players  or 
 less  per  session.  The  indoor  space  will  be  used  for  smaller  sessions  of  15  or  less 
 players  during  the  winter/cold  period.  We  have  a  bathroom  and  a  portable 
 outdoor  bathroom  for  our  clientele. 

 2.  No  Undue  Adverse  Impact.  The  proposed  use  and  development  will  not  have  a 
 substantial  or  undue  adverse  or  detrimental  effect  upon  or  endanger  adjacent  property,  the 
 character  of  the  area,  or  the  public  health,  safety,  morals,  comfort,  and  general  welfare 
 and  not  substantially  diminish  and  impair  property  values  within  the  community  or 
 neighborhood. 

 Response:  No  major  changes  necessary  for  running  our  services.  The  small  warehouse 
 was  gutted  to  amply  space  used,  and  walls/ceilings  painted.  No  other  major 
 change  will  be  put  in  effect. 

 3.  No  Interference  with  Surrounding  Development.  The  proposed  use  and  development 
 will  be  constructed,  arranged,  and  operated  so  as  not  to  dominate  the  immediate  vicinity 
 or  to  interfere  with  the  use  and  development  of  neighboring  property  in  accordance  with 
 the  applicable  zoning  district  regulations. 

 Response:  No  major  changes  necessary  for  running  our  services.  No  other  major 
 change  will  be  put  in  effect. 

 Page  |  1 



 4.  Adequate  Public  Facilities.  The  proposed  use  and  development  will  be  served 
 adequately  by  essential  public  facilities  and  services  such  as  streets,  public  utilities 
 including  public  water  supply  system  and  sanitary  sewer,  police  and  fire  protection, 
 refuse  disposal,  public  parks,  libraries,  schools,  and  other  public  facilities  and  utilities  or 
 the  applicant  will  provide  adequately  for  such  facilities. 

 Response:  All  public  facilities  already  provided  by  Go  Riteway  Transportation,  our 
 landlord. 

 5.  No  Traffic  Congestion.  The  proposed  use  and  development  will  not  cause  undue  traffic 
 congestion  nor  draw  significant  amounts  of  traffic  through  residential  streets.  Adequate 
 measures  will  be  taken  to  provide  ingress  and  egress  so  designed  as  to  minimize  traffic 
 congestion  in  the  public  streets. 

 Response:  The  road  where  the  business  building  is  located  won’t  have  much  increase 
 in  traffic,  as  we  won’t  have  more  than  40  people  at  the  same  time.  Our  majority 
 service  hours  are  M-F  after  5pm  and  late,  which  has  less  traffic. 

 6.  No  Destruction  of  Significant  Features.  The  proposed  use  and  development  will  not 
 result  in  the  destruction,  loss,  or  damage  of  any  natural,  scenic,  or  historic  feature  of 
 significant  importance. 

 Response:  No  major  changes  necessary  for  running  our  services.  No  other  major 
 change  will  be  put  in  effect. 

 7.  Compliance  with  Standards.  The  special  use  shall,  in  all  other  respects,  conform  to  the 
 applicable  regulations  of  the  district  in  which  it  is  located,  except  as  such  regulations 
 may,  in  each  instance,  be  modified  by  the  Common  Council  pursuant  to  the 
 recommendations  of  the  Plan  Commission.  The  proposed  use  and  development  shall 
 comply  with  all  additional  standards  imposed  on  it  by  the  particular  provision  of  this 
 Division  and  Ordinance  authorizing  such  use. 

 Response:  We  will  comply  with  the  standards  of  such  regulations  recommended  by  the 
 Plan  Commission. 

 B.  Special  Standards  for  Specified  Special  Uses  .  When  the  zoning  district  regulations 
 authorize  a  special  use  in  a  particular  zoning  district  and  that  special  use  is  indicated  as 
 having  special  standards,  as  set  forth  in  Section  15-3.0702  and  15-3.0703  of  this 
 Division,  a  Special  Use  Permit  for  such  use  in  such  zoning  district  shall  not  be 
 recommended  or  granted  unless  the  applicant  shall  establish  compliance  with  all  such 
 special  standards. 

 Response:  We  will  comply  with  the  special  standards  of  such  regulations  recommended 
 by  the  Plan  Commission. 

 Page  |  2 



 C  .  Considerations  .  In  determining  whether  the  applicant's  evidence  establishes  that  the 
 foregoing  standards  have  been  met,  the  Plan  Commission  and  the  Common  Council  shall 
 consider  the  following: 

 1.  Public  Benefit  .  Whether  and  to  what  extent  the  proposed  use  and  development  at  the 
 particular  location  requested  is  necessary  or  desirable  to  provide  a  service  or  a  facility 
 that  is  in  the  interest  of  the  public  convenience  or  that  will  contribute  to  the  general 
 welfare  of  the  neighborhood  or  community. 

 Response:  This  is  a  new  business  providing  additional  soccer  training  for  youth  players 
 around  the  community.  Many  soccer  clubs  exist  around  us  and  perform  their 
 own  training  but  as  a  club  neutral  facility,  we  will  be  able  to  provide  additional 
 services  to  all  the  players  from  around  the  area  and  clubs.  We  welcome  all  ages 
 to  participate  in  our  facility  and  become  a  community  safe  space  for  children  to 
 feel  comfortable  and  welcome,  all  within  our  fenced  in  field  and  facility.  The 
 coaches  are  mentors  and  public  figures  within  the  community  and  are 
 recognized  within  the  soccer  community.  Field  99  wants  to  give  back  and 
 coordinate  with  non  profit  organizations  to  create  opportunities  for  youth. 

 2.  Alternative  Locations  .  Whether  and  to  what  extent  such  public  goals  can  be  met  by  the 
 location  of  the  proposed  use  and  development  at  some  other  site  or  in  some  other  area 
 that  may  be  more  appropriate  than  the  proposed  site. 

 Response:  There  are  no  outdoor  fields  and  warehouse  space  within  Franklin  already 
 established  that  can  offer  indoor  and  outdoor  training  for  youth  soccer,  without 
 building. 

 3.  Mitigation  of  Adverse  Impacts  .  Whether  and  to  what  extent  all  steps  possible  have  been 
 taken  to  minimize  any  adverse  effects  of  the  proposed  use  and  development  on  the 
 immediate  vicinity  through  building  design,  site  design,  landscaping,  and  screening. 

 Response:  No  changes  will  be  made  that  will  affect  any  mitigation. 

 4.  Establishment  of  Precedent  of  Incompatible  Uses  in  the  Surrounding  Area  .  Whether 
 the  use  will  establish  a  precedent  of,  or  encourage,  more  intensive  or  incompatible  uses  in 
 the  surrounding  area. 

 Response:  The  Field  99  field  and  facility  will  encourage  more  businesses  that 
 coordinate  with  our  organization  as  sponsors,  creating  more  awareness, 
 revenue  and  support. 

 Page  |  3 



Franklin Department of City Development
APPLICANT: Kelley Legler, Field 99
SUBJECT PROPERTY: 11141 West Forest Home Avenue, property zoned M-1
Limited Industrial District
TAX KEY NUMBER: 704 9990 003

1. How many employees are there?
Field 99 has eight training coaches that consult for Field 99. At most, we have
three coaches on site offering services for clients in soccer training.

2. How many striped parking spaces are provided for this use?

3. Is there existing or proposed exterior lighting? Will portable lights or
other types of temporary lighting be used?
Go Riteway added exterior lighting for their transportation lot which we use for
exterior lighting. No additional lighting is needed.

4. How late will the facility be open? Services are until 8PM with staff on site
until 9PM.

5. Will the soccer field ever be used to host games or other types of
events? Our soccer fields are not regulation size and we will not be hosting
competitive events to the public. Any events on the soccer field are for clients
and for recreational / training use.

6. Is Field 99 an LLC or corporation or other type of entity?
Field 99 is not an LLC, it is an established partnership, currently.

Go Riteway Transportation provides 18 car stalls in the front lot of the building and per our 
agreement with them, Field 99 is allowed to use the back lot for additional and overflow parking.

Our services run opposite hours of Go Riteway Transportation so there is typically plenty of 
parking for coaching staff and clients. Parents will be dropping off clients / carpooling to limit
traffic in the front parking lot of the building. 

All training runs after all Go Riteway bus drivers are g

NFuchs
Text Box
REVISED



7. Please provide a site plan, map or aerial that shows the property with the
Plan Commission submittal.

Field 99
11141 W Forest Home Avenue
Franklin, WI 53132
www.field99.com



NFuchs
Text Box
REVISED



S
S

S
S

S
S

S

S

S

S
S

S
S

S
S

S

S

W
W

G
G

G
G

G
G

G
G

G
G

G
G

G

G
G

G
G

G
G

G
G

G

G G G G G G

T

T T T T

T

T

T

T

T

T

E E
E

E

E

E

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W

OHW OHW OHW OHW OHW OHW

O
H

W

O
H

W

O
H

W

O
H

W

O
H

W

O
H

W

O
H

W

O
H

W

O
H

W

O
H

W

O
H

W

O
H

W

O
H

W

O
H

W

O
H

W

O
H

W

O
H

W

O
H

W

O
H

W

O
H

W

O
H

W

O
H

W

O
H

W

G
G

G

G

G

E E E E E E
E

G
G

G
G

G
G

G
G

G
G

G
G

G
G

G G
G

G G
G

G G
G

G G

G
G

G
G

G
G

G
G

G

G

W
. F

OR
ES

T 
HO

M
E 

AV
E.

PROPOSED PARKING AREA

PROPOSED PARKING AREA

ISSUE DATES:

ALL WORK TO BE COMPLETED AS SHOWN, AND IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE LATEST EDITION OF THE 
MSI GENERAL MASTER SPECIFICATION

PROJECT ADDRESS:
PROJECT NAME

STREET ADDRESS

CITY/ STATE / ZIP

Sheet Title:

Sheet Number:

Project Number:

Architect: Engineer: Reviewed By:

GO Riteway

11141 W. Forest Home Ave.

Franklin, WI

BJZ -- --

P13404
--

Proposal:

Contract:

State Submittal / Permit:

Record Drawings:

TM

MSI GENERAL CORPORATION
P.O. BOX. 7 
OCONOMOWOC, WI 53066
PHONE: 262-367-3661

SINGLE SOURCE RESPONSIBILITY

WWW.MSIGENERAL.COM

REVISIONS:

--1

xx/xx/xxxx

xx/xx/xxxx

xx/xx/xxxx

xx/xx/xxxx

A
R

C
H

IT
E

C
T

S
   

   
   

   
   

   
.  

   
   

   
   

   
  C

O
N

T
R

A
C

T
O

R
S

   
   

   
   

   
   

.  
   

   
   

   
   

 E
N

G
IN

E
E

R
S

   
   

   
   

   
   

.  
   

   
   

   
   

 L
E

A
D

E
R

S
   

  

SITE PLAN    1" = 30'-0"

C-001
SITE PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 STORY BRICK AND METAL BUILDING #11141

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHAIN LINK FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHAIN LINK FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODEN FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHAIN LINK FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
80.6'

AutoCAD SHX Text
10.4'

AutoCAD SHX Text
10.5'

AutoCAD SHX Text
29.4'

AutoCAD SHX Text
90.8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
40.1'

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUILDING HEIGHT=17.2'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRST FLOOR ELEV.=786.73' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOOR SILL ELEV.=786.70' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
A T H L E T I C S   F I E L D 

AutoCAD SHX Text
6" C.M.P. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
A S P H A L T        P A R K I N G 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASPHALT PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASPHALT EDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGH VOLT AGE TOWER

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GARAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
150' PUBLIC R.O.W.

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
75'

AutoCAD SHX Text
32.9'

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.1'

AutoCAD SHX Text
18.4'

AutoCAD SHX Text
22.6'

AutoCAD SHX Text
61.6'

AutoCAD SHX Text
44.9'

AutoCAD SHX Text
20.1'

AutoCAD SHX Text
3.4'

AutoCAD SHX Text
5.3'

AutoCAD SHX Text
77.4'

AutoCAD SHX Text
84.6'

AutoCAD SHX Text
57.6'

AutoCAD SHX Text
23.5'

AutoCAD SHX Text
6.5'

AutoCAD SHX Text
13.4'

AutoCAD SHX Text
A S P H A L T        D R I V E 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACCESS

AutoCAD SHX Text
A S P H A L T        D R I V E 

AutoCAD SHX Text
8" C.M.P. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
S89°31'25"W  124.63'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S16°27'48"W  256.78'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S89°31'25"W       422.12'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N00°26'05"W  275.63'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N89°31'25"E  623.82'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N04°12'28"E  30.09'

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND 1" IRON PIPE 0.49' NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND 1 1/2" IRON PIPE 0.46' NORTH 0.58' WEST

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND 3/4" IRON ROD 2.54' WEST

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND THREE 1" IRON PIPES

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND 3/4" IRON PIPE 0.69 NORTH 0.20 EAST

AutoCAD SHX Text
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
A S P H A L T        P A V E M E N T

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASPHALT EDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL 2

AutoCAD SHX Text
C.S.M. NO. 4056

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASPHALT EDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAVEL EDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRASS MEDIAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPING  WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASPHALT EDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAVEL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNPLATTED LANDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
OUTLOT A C.S.M. NO. 7435

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 2 C.S.M. NO. 8705

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 4 C.S.M. NO. 8705

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL 1 C.S.M. NO. 4056

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIM=785.3'

AutoCAD SHX Text
ABANDONED 2" ST GAS LINE (PER PLANS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
ABANDONED GAS LINE (PER PLANS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
ABANDONED GAS LINE (PER PLANS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
6" PE GAS LINE (PER PLANS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
GAS LINE (PER PLANS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
GAS LINE (PER PLANS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
GAS LINE (PER PLANS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
ABANDONED GAS LINE (PER PLANS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
24" SANITARY SEWER (PER PLANS)

AutoCAD SHX Text
792

AutoCAD SHX Text
791

AutoCAD SHX Text
790

AutoCAD SHX Text
789

AutoCAD SHX Text
788

AutoCAD SHX Text
787

AutoCAD SHX Text
786

AutoCAD SHX Text
785

AutoCAD SHX Text
784

AutoCAD SHX Text
784

AutoCAD SHX Text
785

AutoCAD SHX Text
786

AutoCAD SHX Text
784

AutoCAD SHX Text
784

AutoCAD SHX Text
783

AutoCAD SHX Text
782

AutoCAD SHX Text
782

AutoCAD SHX Text
781

AutoCAD SHX Text
781

AutoCAD SHX Text
782

AutoCAD SHX Text
783

AutoCAD SHX Text
784

AutoCAD SHX Text
784

AutoCAD SHX Text
784

AutoCAD SHX Text
785

AutoCAD SHX Text
786

AutoCAD SHX Text
786

AutoCAD SHX Text
784

AutoCAD SHX Text
785

AutoCAD SHX Text
783

AutoCAD SHX Text
783

AutoCAD SHX Text
784

AutoCAD SHX Text
781

AutoCAD SHX Text
782

AutoCAD SHX Text
780

AutoCAD SHX Text
782

AutoCAD SHX Text
784

AutoCAD SHX Text
783

AutoCAD SHX Text
781

AutoCAD SHX Text
781

AutoCAD SHX Text
782

AutoCAD SHX Text
783

AutoCAD SHX Text
780

AutoCAD SHX Text
781

AutoCAD SHX Text
780

AutoCAD SHX Text
781

AutoCAD SHX Text
782

AutoCAD SHX Text
782

AutoCAD SHX Text
780

AutoCAD SHX Text
780

AutoCAD SHX Text
782

AutoCAD SHX Text
784

AutoCAD SHX Text
783

AutoCAD SHX Text
785

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGE OF WATER

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGE OF WATER

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGE OF WATER

AutoCAD SHX Text
STANDING WATER

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE BENCHMARK: 788.203' CHISELED CROSS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE BENCHMARK: 786.653' CHISELED CROSS

AutoCAD SHX Text
120' WISCONSIN ELECTRIC UTILITY EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
120'

AutoCAD SHX Text
40' RESERVED FOR DRAINAGE & PUBLIC STREET PURPOSES

AutoCAD SHX Text
40'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'

AutoCAD SHX Text
60'



 
 

1 

 CITY OF FRANKLIN  
REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 

 

Meeting of August 22, 2024 
 

Fence Installation within Private Planting Screen  
 

RECOMMENDATION: City Development staff recommends approval of this request to allow for the 
installation of a fence within the 20-foot Private Planting Screen upon Lot 13 in Block 1 of the Tuckaway 
Green Subdivision.  

Project name: Williams – Fence Installation within Private Planting Screen 
Property Owner: Williams, Michelle 
Applicant: Williams, Michelle 
Property Address/TKN: 7512 S 77th Street / 792 0013 000 
Aldermanic District: District 2 
Zoning District: R-6 Suburban Single-Family Residence District 
Staff Planner: Luke Hamill, Associate Planner 
 

Project Description/Analysis  
This request is to allow for a fence 20 foot “Private Planting Screen” upon Lot 13 in Block 1 in the 
Tuckaway Green Subdivision. The Tuckaway Green Subdivision Final Plat was approved by the 
Common Council on December 20, 1977 by Resolution No. 77-1320 and contains a 20 foot “Private 
Planting Screen” for all lots abutting South 76th Street. The property owner is proposing to install a fence 
and within this area and would like release of the plat restriction. 
 
The applicant is proposing a 6-foot high vinyl fence located 16 feet from the rear lot line, 3 feet from the 
northern lot line, and on the interior southern lot line. This structure would encroach approximately 4 
feet into the planting strip indicated on the plat. 
 
 
Note that the planting strip is located on platted lots 10 through 20 while the berm is located on the 76th 
Street Right-of-way. The picture below is looking west from S 76th Street into the applicant’s yard. Staff 
acknowledges that the proposed fence would be slightly visible from Ryan Road. 

Item E.1. 



 
 

2 

 
View of the berm on the west side of 76th Street, from roadside looking west. 
Photograph by City Development staff. 
Site compliance 
City Development staff visited the site on July 10th and didn’t notice any site compliance issues with the 
subject lot. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
City Development staff recommends approval of this request to allow for the installation of a fence 
within the 20-foot Private Planting Screen upon Lot 13 in Block 1 of the Tuckaway Green Subdivision.  
 
 



STATE OF WISCONSIN             CITY OF FRANKLIN               MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
                         [Draft 08-14-24] 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-____ 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE INSTALLATION OF A FENCE  
WITHIN THE 20 FOOT PRIVATE PLANTING SCREEN PLAT RESTRICTION, UPON  

LOT 13 IN BLOCK 1 OF THE TUCKAWAY GREEN SUBDIVISION 
(7512 SOUTH 77TH STREET) 

(MICHELLE WILLIAMS, APPLICANT) 
              
 
 WHEREAS, the Tuckaway Green Subdivision Plat prohibits the building of 
structures within the 20 foot “Private Planting Screen” described thereon; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Michelle Williams having applied for a release of the 20 foot “Private 
Planting Screen” easement restriction upon their property to the extent necessary to install a 
fence along the east line of the property which abuts South 76th Street and within the 
restricted area upon the property located at 7512 South 77th Street, such property being 
zoned R-6 Suburban Single-Family Residence District, bearing Tax Key No. 792-0013-000, 
is more particularly described as follows: 
 

Lot 13, in Block 1, in TUCKAWAY GREEN, being a subdivision of a part of 
the Southwest 1/4 and the Southeast 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 of Section 9, 
Township 5 North, Range 21 East, in the City of Franklin, Milwaukee County, 
Wisconsin; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the 20 foot “Private Planting Screen” easement restriction upon the Final 
Plat for Tuckaway Green Subdivision and its accompanying restriction of the building of 
structures is a restriction which was imposed by the Franklin Common Council in its 
approval of the Final Plat; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Wis. Stats. § 236.293 provides in part that any restriction placed on 
platted land by covenant, grant of easement or in any other manner, which was required by a 
public body vests in the public body the right to enforce the restriction at law or in equity and 
that the restriction may be released or waived in writing by the public body having the right 
of enforcement; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Common Council having considered the request for the release of 
the 20 foot “Private Planting Screen” easement restriction only so as to allow for the subject 
fence installation, and having considered the proposed location of and type of fence to be 
installed upon the subject property in conjunction with existing and required landscaping on 
the property, and that the proposed fence will not be readily visible from the adjoining 
highway or create any adverse impact upon the aesthetic or buffering purposes of the 
landscape bufferyard. 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 2024-____ 
Page 2 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Common Council of 
the City of Franklin, Wisconsin, that the installation of proposed fence of the type and 
specifications as described and only upon the location as set forth within the plans 
accompanying the application of Cindy Dawes filed on June 26, 2024 be and the same is 
hereby authorized and approved and that the “Private Planting Screen” easement restriction 
as it would otherwise apply to such installation upon the subject property only, is hereby 
waived and released. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the applicant shall further obtain all required 
permit(s) for the installation of the subject fence and that the subject fence shall be installed 
pursuant to such permit(s) within one year of the date hereof, or all approvals granted 
hereunder shall be null and void. 
 
 BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, that the City Clerk be and the same are hereby 
directed to obtain the recording of this Resolution with the Office of the Register of Deeds 
for Milwaukee County. 
  
 Introduced at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Franklin this 
_______ day of ____________________, 2024. 
 
 Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of 
Franklin this _______ day of ____________________, 2024. 
 
       APPROVED: 
 
 
       _________________________________  
       John R. Nelson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________________       
Shirley J. Roberts, City Clerk 
 
AYES ______ NOES ______ ABSENT ______ 













City of Franklin 

Department of City Development 
 

Date: August 8, 2024 
To: Michelle Williams 
From: Luke Hamill, Associate Planner  

Department of City Development 
RE: Staff Comments for Williams Miscellaneous Application (fence installation 

within Private Planting Screen) 
 
 

Please be advised that City Staff has reviewed the above application for the property 
located at 7512 S 77th Street.  Department comments are as follows for the application 
date stamped by the City of Franklin on June 28, 2024. 
 
Planning Staff Comments 

1. Please indicate the distance the proposed fence will be from the East and North 
Property Lines on the Plat of Survey. 

Engineering Comments 
2. Make sure to coordinate with WE-Energies if encroaching on the 10-foot underground 

easement. 

 
 
 













      C I T Y  O F  F R A N K L I N
REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 

Meeting of August 22, 2024 

Master Sign Program Amendment 

RECOMMENDATION:  City Development Staff recommends to table of the Master Sign 
Program Amendment for the Shoppes at Wyndham Village development located at 7700-7800 
South Lovers Lane Road, to accommodate signage for the Dairy Queen/Taco Pros Development, 
located at 7730 S Lovers Lane Rd.        

Project Name: Shoppes at Wyndham Village Master Sign Program 
Amendment for the Dairy Queen/Taco Pros Development 

Project Address: 7730 S. Lovers Lane Road 

Applicant: Dev Ghelani, AK Developers 

Property Owner: AK Developers 

Current Zoning: CC City Civic Center District 

2025 Comprehensive Plan Mixed Use 

Use of Surrounding Properties: Single-Family Residential to the north, Business use to the 
East, West, and South 

Applicant Action Requested: Approval of the proposed Master Sign Program 
Amendment 

Planner: Luke Hamill, Associate Planner 

Introduction and Project Description: 

On June 19, 2024 the applicant submitted an application for a Master Sign Program (MSP) 
Amendment for the Shoppes at Wyndham Village development located at 7700-7800 South 
Lovers Lane Road.  

Master Sign Program 

The Master Sign Program for the Shoppes at Wyndham Village was originally established via 
Resolution 2008-2. It has been subsequently amended via Resolution 2009-016 to allow for Pick 
‘N Save signage to replace the existing Sendik’s signage; in 2012, to change the overall sign type 
from illuminated box signs to individual illuminated channel letters; in 2014 to allow for the 
signs for the Summit Credit Union development, in 2016 to allow for changes to the signage for 
the Target Store, in 2021 to allow for signage for the Learning Experience Daycare, and in 2022 
to allow for Drive Up signage for the Target Store.  

The Municipal Code (§210-9. E(1), §210-9.F(6), etc.) requires that any Master Sign Program 
provide for consistent and cohesive signage throughout a development. This applies to materials, 

Item E.2. 



 2 

design, and color selection.  The MSP for the Shoppes at Wyndham Village stipulates that “the 
intent of the MSP is to set forth a theme as to placement, lettering style, color and related design 
considerations of signs, while at the same time reducing sign clutter.” 
 
Analysis 

AK Developers have submitted a Master Sign Program Amendment for the installation of 9 signs 
total. 5 of these signs are for the Dairy Queen (4 wall, 1 directional for drive through), 2 wall 
signs for Taco Pros Mexican Cantina, and 2 changes to existing Monument Signs #3 and #4. 
 
The original Shoppes at Wyndham Village Master Sign Program, approved via Resolution No. 
2008-2, stated, “Future buildings 6 and 8 signage requires a Master Sign Program Amendment. 
Note that the maximum square footage of allowed signage for these buildings has been 
calculated in the MSP.” The DQ/Taco Pros development is Building 6. 
 
Planning Staff has drafted a Master Sign Program Amendment for Building 6 that is in 
accordance with the other outbuildings of the development. The attached draft amendment 
includes how the proposed signage does not comply with the draft amendment, marked in red. 
 
Planning Staff has no issues with the changes to the Monument Signs. 
 
Additional Comments 
 
The applicant must show that they have obtained approval for both revisions to the master sign 
program, and initial approval for any sign, from the operators of the Shoppes at Wyndham 
Village.  A copy of a letter from Cloverleaf Real Estate (Franklin-Wyndham LLC) to that effect 
is included in your packets. 
 
Illuminated signage for Summit Credit Union must be turned off after 10:00 PM; staff 
recommends the same requirement for all three tenants at 7730 S Lovers Lane Road. 
 
Staff has made the applicant aware that a Sign Permit shall be issued prior to installation of any 
new sign and a Zoning Compliance and Commercial Occupancy Permit be obtained prior to any 
Sign Permit. 
 
Staff Recommendation 

 
City Development Staff recommends to table the Master Sign Program Amendment for the 
Shoppes at Wyndham Village development located at 7700-7800 South Lovers Lane Road, to 
accommodate signage for the Dairy Queen/Taco Pros Development, 7730 S Lovers Lane Rd. 



STATE OF WISCONSIN             CITY OF FRANKLIN               MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
                                                       PLAN COMMISSION            [Draft 8-14-24] 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2024- ____ 

 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING AN AMENDMENT TO THE  

MASTER SIGN PROGRAM FOR THE SHOPPES AT WYNDHAM  
VILLAGE COMMERCIAL RETAIL CENTER TO ALLOW FOR SIGNAGE UPON 

BUILDING NUMBER 6 
 (7730 SOUTH LOVERS LANE ROAD) 

(AK DEVELOPERS, APPLICANT) 
              
 
 WHEREAS, AK Developers, LLC, having petitioned the City of Franklin for the 
approval of an amendment to Resolution No. 2008-2, conditionally approving a Master Sign 
Program for The Shoppes at Wyndham Village Commercial Retail Center, as amended by 
Resolution No. 2009-016 and thereafter by Resolution No. 2012-001, Resolution No. 2014-
004, Resolution No. 2016-005, Resolution No. 2021-010, Resolution No. 2022-021,  upon 
property located at 7730 South Lovers Lane Road, to allow for 7 wall signs, as specified in 
signage plans City file-stamped on __________, 2014 (182.88 square feet of signage total),  
for AK Developers, located at 7730 South Lovers Lane Road, Building number 6, as 
opposed to the Master Sign Program required 35 square feet individual wall sign maximum 
area and depicted/projected signage locations, as originally approved, and to allow building 
footprint and architecture deviations from the previous Program depicted anticipated 
Building 6, and such application having been reviewed by City staff and the application and 
staff recommendations and suggested considerations having been reviewed by the Plan 
Commission at its meeting on August 22, 2024; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Plan Commission having determined that the Franklin-Wyndham, 
LLC amendment to Master Sign Program for Building 8 Summit Credit Union application, 
together with those staff recommendations and suggested considerations meets the purposes 
and intent of §210-9. of the Municipal Code of the City of Franklin and will promote the 
health, safety and welfare of the Community. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Plan Commission of the City of 
Franklin, Wisconsin, that the Franklin-Wyndham, LLC amendment to Master Sign Program 
for Summit Credit Union application be and the same is hereby approved, subject to the 
amendment to Master Sign Program for Summit Credit Union Application and plans City 
file-stamped on __________, 2024, together with the following additional conditions, which 
conditions shall be incorporated into the Master Sign Program – The Shoppes at Wyndham 
Village Commercial Retail Center:  

 
1. The Building 6 location and architecture shall be as set forth in and depicted upon the 

aforementioned plans City file-stamped on __________, 2024. 



AK DEVELOPERS – MASTER SIGN PROGRAM AMENDMENT 
RESOLUTION NO. 2024-_____ 
Page 2 

 
2. The Western Tenant will be allowed 3 signs on separate building facades in 

conformance with outbuildings 3, 4, 5, and 7 as an endcap tenant. 

3. Central Tenant and Eastern Tenant will be allowed a maximum of two signs on 
separate building elevations. 

4. Maximum allowable sign area shall be calculated by the building frontage of each 

tenant with the lineal frontage calculation method. The table below showcases the 

maximum allowable signage for each tenant: 

 

5. All wall sign text shall use channel letters with railway. 

 

6. Channel letters may incorporate their corporate branded colors into the text. 

 

7. Maximum height of channel letter signage shall be 26” tall, in conformance with 
Outbuildings 3, 4, 5, and 7. 

8. The maximum area of signage for Building 6 shall be 376.87 square feet and the 
signage locations shall be as set forth in and depicted upon the aforementioned plans 
City file-stamped on __________, 2024. 

9. AK Developers, LLC, successors and assigns, and any developer of The Shoppes at 
Wyndham Village Commercial Retail Center Master Sign Program for Building 6, 
6shall pay to the City of Franklin the amount of all development compliance, 
inspection and review fees incurred by the City of Franklin, including fees of consults 
to the City of Franklin, for the AK Developers Master Sign Program for Dairy Queen 
and Taco Pros, within 30 days of invoice for same.  Any violation of this provision 
shall be a violation of the Unified Development Ordinance, and subject to §15-9.0502 
thereof and §1-19. of the Municipal Code, the general penalties and remedies 
provisions, as amended from time to time. 

Tenant Building Frontage Maximum Allowable 
Sign Area (Building 
Frontage X 1.5) 

Requested Sign Area 

Western Tenant (Dairy 
Queen) 

121.08 feet 181.62 Square Feet 94.29 square feet 

Eastern Tenant (Taco 
Pros) 

55 feet 82.5 Square Feet 60.56 square feet 

Central Tenant (TBD) 75.16667 feet 112.75 Square Feet 90 square feet 



AK DEVELOPERS – MASTER SIGN PROGRAM AMENDMENT 
RESOLUTION NO. 2024-_____ 
Page 3 

 

10. The applicant shall obtain a Sign Permit from the Planning Department, for Dairy 
Queen and Taco Pros.  

11. Illumination of signs shall be prohibited after 10:00 p.m. 

12. The applicant, owner and the Building 6 property shall in all other respects comply 
with the “City of Franklin – Master Sign Program” document annexed hereto and 
incorporated herein. 

 
  BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that all terms and conditions of Resolution No. 2008-
2, as amended by Resolution Nos. 2009-016 and 2012-001, not specifically and expressly 
amended by or in direct conflict with this Resolution, shall remain in full force and effect. 

 
Introduced at a regular meeting of the Plan Commission of the City of Franklin this 

_______day of ____________________, 2024. 
 
 Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Plan Commission of the City of 
Franklin this _______ day of ____________________, 2024. 
 
       APPROVED: 
 
       _________________________________ 
ATTEST:      John R. Nelson, Mayor 
 
__________________________________________       
Shirley J. Roberts, City Clerk  
AYES ____   NOES ____  ABSENT  ____ 







1 

     
 

 

City of Franklin 
Department of City Development 

 

 

 

Date: July 16, 2024 
To: Dev Ghelani, AK Developers 
From: Department of City Development. Luke Hamill, Associate Planner. 
RE: Application for Master Sign Program Amendment, 7730 S Lovers Lane Road / 

794 9999 007 
 
 
Staff comments are as follows for the Master Sign Program Amendment application 
submitted June 26, 2024 to allow for a signage upon Building 6 as set in the Master Sign 
Program for the Shoppes at Wyndham Village Development. 

City Development Department Comments 

Please note that all signage requires a sign permit from the Department of City Development. 
Staff has put your sign permit applications on hold until the Master Sign Program Amendment 
receives approval. 

Requirements of the Master Sign Program – Shoppes at Wyndham Village 

The MSP and subsequent amendments via Resolutions 2008-2, 2009-016, 2012-001, 2014-004, 
2016-005, and 2021-010 for the Shoppes at Wyndham Village detail requirements for signage at 
this development. 

1. Prior to approval, any sign must obtain initial approval from the owners of the Shoppes at 
Wyndham Village (ORD 2007-1934). Please submit a letter of approval from the original 
Master Sign Program developer. 

2. The proposed signage for Dairy Queen is 91.69 square feet, exceeding the 47.61 square 
feet stated in the Project Narrative. The allowable square footage of signage for Dairy 
Queen is 48.62 square feet with the Lineal Square footage method. Additionally, the Taco 
Pros Signage is 60.56. The allowable signage for Taco Pros is 41.25 square feet with the 
lineal square footage. The Lineal Square footage calculation is for all signage on one 
frontage (i.e DQ is only allowed 48.62 square feet of all their signage based on one 
frontage). You may use the other method of the Property Frontage Calculation, which 
would allow for a maximum square footage of signs on the entire building of 177.23 square 
feet. Please note that this would only allow for approximately 25 square feet of signage 
for the future third tenant. If you would like to have more square footage for the third 
tenant, you will have to reduce the signage of the other two tenants. 

 

 









 

 

 
August 2, 2024 
 
Franklin Planning Commission 
9229 W Loomis Road  
Franklin, WI 53132 
 
Re: Application for Master Sign Program Amendment 

7730 S Lovers Lane Road / 794 9999 007 
 
To Whom It May Concern: 

This letter serves as Franklin-Wyndham, LLC’s support of the above-referenced signage package. 
We feel the design and finishes are in line with those of a first-class operation and as owners of the 
other multitenant buildings in the Shoppes at Wyndham Village, we support an amendment to the 
Master Sign Program to allow for its design and installation. Thank you. 

 
Very truly yours, 

Franklin-Wyndham, LLC 
By: The Cloverleaf Real Estate Group, Inc. 

 
 
Jonathan E. Basofin 
Principal 

 

 



700 21st Street Southwest
PO Box 210
Watertown, SD 57201-0210
1 .800.843.9888 • www.personasigns.com

Persona Signs, LLC Customer:

Location: Prepared By:

Date:File Name: Revision:

DAIRY QUEEN

FRANKLIN, WI

457485 - R8 - FRANKLIN, WI 8

This is an original document created by Persona Signs, LLC provided specifically
to the client for the client’s personal use.  This document should not be shared,
reproduced, disclosed or otherwise used without written permission from
Persona Signs, LLC.

This sign is intended to be installed in accordance with the requirements
of Article 600 of the National Electric Code and/or other applicable local
codes.  This includes proper grounding and bonding of the sign.

Project No.: Request No.:
457485 59755

Customer Approval (Please Initial):

Approval Date:

5514 WEST RIVER PARK COURT
FRANKLIN, WI  53132

12FEB24

SC



700 21st Street Southwest
PO Box 210
Watertown, SD 57201-0210
1 .800.843.9888 • www.personasigns.com

Persona Signs, LLC Customer:

Location: Prepared By:

Date:File Name: Revision:

DAIRY QUEEN

FRANKLIN, WI

457485 - R8 - FRANKLIN, WI 8

This is an original document created by Persona Signs, LLC provided specifically
to the client for the client’s personal use.  This document should not be shared,
reproduced, disclosed or otherwise used without written permission from
Persona Signs, LLC.

This sign is intended to be installed in accordance with the requirements
of Article 600 of the National Electric Code and/or other applicable local
codes.  This includes proper grounding and bonding of the sign.

Project No.: Request No.:
457485 59755

Customer Approval (Please Initial):

Approval Date:

N

1

4

3

PROPOSED SIGNS:

DAIRY QUEEN
5514 WEST RIVER PARK COURT
FRANKLIN, WI  53132

6/11/24

SC/VC/BS/QP/BS/AL/CM

2

1 4’-3” X 6’-6” MBL WALL SIGN

3 4’-3” X 6’-6” MBL WALL SIGN

4 3’-0” X 4’-7 3/8” MBL WALL SIGN

2 18” GRILL & CHILL CHANNEL LETTERS

5 1’-3” X 2’-1” DIRECTIONAL
AT 3’-9” OAH (LOCATION TBD)



700 21st Street Southwest
PO Box 210
Watertown, SD 57201-0210
1 .800.843.9888 • www.personasigns.com

Persona Signs, LLC Customer:

Location: Prepared By:

Date:File Name: Revision:

DAIRY QUEEN

FRANKLIN, WI

457485 - R8 - FRANKLIN, WI 8

This is an original document created by Persona Signs, LLC provided specifically
to the client for the client’s personal use.  This document should not be shared,
reproduced, disclosed or otherwise used without written permission from
Persona Signs, LLC.

This sign is intended to be installed in accordance with the requirements
of Article 600 of the National Electric Code and/or other applicable local
codes.  This includes proper grounding and bonding of the sign.

Project No.: Request No.:
457485 59755

Customer Approval (Please Initial):

Approval Date:

CHANNEL LETTER DETAIL
SCALE: 1/2” = 1’-0”

2

1

6/11/24

SC/VC/BS/AL/BS/CM

SOUTH ELEVATION
SCALE: 1/8” = 1’-0”

WALL SIGN DETAIL
SCALE: 1/2” = 1’-0”

4’
-3

”

6’-6”

BOXED SQ FT - 27.63
ACTUAL SQ FT - 19.75

BOXED SQ FT - 19.98
ACTUAL SQ FT - 9.45

NOTE: DAIRY QUEEN IS TAKING 32’-5” OF BUILDING FRONTAGE

18
"

18
 1

1/
16

"

13’-3”

18
'-0

"

15
'-8

"

91'-0"

32'-5"+/-



700 21st Street Southwest
PO Box 210
Watertown, SD 57201-0210
1 .800.843.9888 • www.personasigns.com

Persona Signs, LLC Customer:

Location: Prepared By:

Date:File Name: Revision:

DAIRY QUEEN

FRANKLIN, WI

457485 - R8 - FRANKLIN, WI 8

This is an original document created by Persona Signs, LLC provided specifically
to the client for the client’s personal use.  This document should not be shared,
reproduced, disclosed or otherwise used without written permission from
Persona Signs, LLC.

This sign is intended to be installed in accordance with the requirements
of Article 600 of the National Electric Code and/or other applicable local
codes.  This includes proper grounding and bonding of the sign.

Project No.: Request No.:
457485 59755

Customer Approval (Please Initial):

Approval Date:

WALL SIGN DETAIL
SCALE: 1/2” = 1’-0”

4’
-3

”

6’-6”

3

NOTE: DQ IS TO OCCUPY 32’-5” FT OF THE BUILDING FRONTAGE AND 
WILL RECEIVE 1.5 SQ FT PER LINEAL FOOT OF TENANT FRONTAGE

WEST ELEVATION
SCALE: 1/8” = 1’-0”

BOXED SQ FT - 27.63
ACTUAL SQ FT - 19.75

18
'-0

"

15
'-8

"

100'-7"

6/11/24

SC/VC/BS/CM



700 21st Street Southwest
PO Box 210
Watertown, SD 57201-0210
1 .800.843.9888 • www.personasigns.com

Persona Signs, LLC Customer:

Location: Prepared By:

Date:File Name: Revision:

DAIRY QUEEN

FRANKLIN, WI

457485 - R8 - FRANKLIN, WI 8

This is an original document created by Persona Signs, LLC provided specifically
to the client for the client’s personal use.  This document should not be shared,
reproduced, disclosed or otherwise used without written permission from
Persona Signs, LLC.

This sign is intended to be installed in accordance with the requirements
of Article 600 of the National Electric Code and/or other applicable local
codes.  This includes proper grounding and bonding of the sign.

Project No.: Request No.:
457485 59755

Customer Approval (Please Initial):

Approval Date:

6/11/24

SC/VC/BS/CM

NORTH ELEVATION
SCALE: 1/8” = 1’-0”

WALL SIGN DETAIL
SCALE: 3/4” = 1’-0”

4

3'
-0

"

4'-7 3/8"

NOTE: DQ IS TO OCCUPY 32’-5” FT OF THE BUILDING FRONTAGE AND 
WILL RECEIVE 1.5 SQ FT PER LINEAL FOOT OF TENANT FRONTAGE

18
'-0

"

15
'-8

"

91'-0"

BOXED SQ FT - 13.85
ACTUAL SQ FT - 9.80

32'-5"+/-



700 21st Street Southwest
PO Box 210
Watertown, SD 57201-0210
1 .800.843.9888 • www.personasigns.com

Persona Signs, LLC Customer:

Location: Prepared By:

Date:File Name: Revision:

DAIRY QUEEN

FRANKLIN, WI

457485 - R8 - FRANKLIN, WI 8

This is an original document created by Persona Signs, LLC provided specifically
to the client for the client’s personal use.  This document should not be shared,
reproduced, disclosed or otherwise used without written permission from
Persona Signs, LLC.

This sign is intended to be installed in accordance with the requirements
of Article 600 of the National Electric Code and/or other applicable local
codes.  This includes proper grounding and bonding of the sign.

Project No.: Request No.:
457485 59755

Customer Approval (Please Initial):

Approval Date:

6/12/24

AL/PG/CM

DIRECTIONAL SIGN
SCALE: 1” = 1’-0”  

1’
-3

”

2'-1"

3’
-9

”

5

SQ FT: 2.60

1’
-3

”

2'-1"

3’
-9

”

SQ FT: 2.60

NOTE: CUSTOM DIRECTIONAL FACE TO BE APPROVED PRIOR TO PRODUCTION



PROPOSED FRONT-LIT CHANNEL LETTERS - BACKPLATE MOUNTED

P-1/1

COLORS ON PROOF MAY VARY
FROM ACTUAL PRODUCT USED

SCALE

DATE

REVISION

PROJECT NAME

ADDRESS

SIGN TYPE

PM

DESIGNER

A

FRONT-LIT
CHANNEL LETTERS

Erik

IU

Overlays are for illustrative purposes only.
Final result, size of sign & scale may vary very slightly. 

Init.

THIS IS AN ORIGINAL UNPUBLISHED DRAWING CREATED BY KNOX SIGNS, IT IS SUBMITTED FOR YOUR
PERSONAL USE IN CONNECTION WITH A PROJECT BEING PLANNED FOR YOU BY KNOX SIGNS. IT IS NOT TO SHOWN

TO ANYONE OUTSIDE YOUR ORGANIZATION, NOR IS IT TO BE USED, REPRODUCED, COPIED OR EXHIBITED IN ANY FASHION.
THIS SIGN IS INTENDED TO BE INSTALLED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF ARTICLE 600 OF THE NATIONAL ELECTRICAL CODE AND/OR OTHER APPLICABLE LOCAL CODES.

THIS INCLUDES PROPER GROUNDING AND BONDING OF THE SIGN.
 

TACO PRO

7730 S Lovers Lane Rd,
Franklin, WI 53132

A WALL SIGN - CHANNEL LETTERS

SIGN SCHEDULE

SITE PLAN

 7730 S Lovers Lane Rd,
Franklin, WI 53132

N

B WALL SIGN - CHANNEL LETTERS

A

B

SIGN LOCATION

05-09-2024



PROPOSED FRONT-LIT CHANNEL LETTERS - BACKPLATE MOUNTED

P-1/1

COLORS ON PROOF MAY VARY
FROM ACTUAL PRODUCT USED

SCALE

05-09-2024

DATE

REVISION

PROJECT NAME

ADDRESS

SIGN TYPE

PM

DESIGNER

A

FRONT-LIT
CHANNEL LETTERS

Erik

IU

Overlays are for illustrative purposes only.
Final result, size of sign & scale may vary very slightly. 

Init.

THIS IS AN ORIGINAL UNPUBLISHED DRAWING CREATED BY KNOX SIGNS, IT IS SUBMITTED FOR YOUR
PERSONAL USE IN CONNECTION WITH A PROJECT BEING PLANNED FOR YOU BY KNOX SIGNS. IT IS NOT TO SHOWN

TO ANYONE OUTSIDE YOUR ORGANIZATION, NOR IS IT TO BE USED, REPRODUCED, COPIED OR EXHIBITED IN ANY FASHION.
THIS SIGN IS INTENDED TO BE INSTALLED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF ARTICLE 600 OF THE NATIONAL ELECTRICAL CODE AND/OR OTHER APPLICABLE LOCAL CODES.

THIS INCLUDES PROPER GROUNDING AND BONDING OF THE SIGN.
 

TACO PRO

7730 S Lovers Lane Rd,
Franklin, WI 53132

11’-4”

2’-5”

27.39

ELECTRICALSQFT CALCULATION

FRONT VIEW

SIDE VIEW | INSTALLATION DETAIL
- LED ILLUMINATED CHANNEL LETTERS / BACKPLATE MOUNTED -

LOW VOLTAGE L.E.D LIGHTING SYSTEM | U.L LISTED CLASS 2 - CONFORMS TO U.L 48 & NEC 600 CODE

PRIMARY ELECTRICAL
SOURCE

1” TRIM CAP

3.0” - 5” BLACK RETURN 
.040 ALUMINUM

3/16” ACRYLIC

LED MODULE

7/8” PLASTIC BUSHING

.063 PRE-FINISHED
ALUMINUM BACK

WEEP HOLE COVER

WEEP HOLE
(min. 2 per letter)

WIREWAY PAINTED
TO MATCH WALL COLOR

3/8” THREADED ROD
OR 3/8” LAG BOLT

MOUNTING ANGLES

LED POWER SUPPLY

2” - 3”
ALUM WIREWAY

BACKPLATE (CLOUD)
.063 ALUM / 1/8” DIBOND

W
A

L
L

NIGHT VIEW

BEFORE

1
'-
8
"

4'-4"

1
'-
1
0
"

4'-6"

2
'-
1
"

2
'-
3
"

1
'-
8
"

4'-6"

1
'-
1
0
"

4'-8"

0
'-
4
"

4'-7"

2
'-
5
"

11'-4"

1'-5"

CUSTOMER TO PROVIDE:
ALL BRANCH (PRIMARY ELECTRICAL SERVICE) CIRCUITS & FINAL CONNECTION 
TO EACH SIGN (WITHIN 6 FT.) TO BE BY CERTIFIED ELECTRICIAN:

A. All branch circuits for signs must be totally dedicated to signs 
    (including dedicated ground and dedicated neutral per circuit).
B. Sign circuits must not be shared with other loads such as lighting, 
    air conditioning, and other equipment.
C. Properly sized ground wire that can be traced back to the breaker panel must be provided.
D. Number and size of circuits for each sign to meet Sign Company Sign's requirement.
Any deviation from the above recommendations may result in:
1. Damage to or improper operation of the sign(s).
2. Delays and additional costs.

A

13'-11"

1
8
'-
0
"

4
'-
2
"

13'-10"

27'-6"

AFTER



PROPOSED FRONT-LIT CHANNEL LETTERS - BACKPLATE MOUNTED

P-1/1

COLORS ON PROOF MAY VARY
FROM ACTUAL PRODUCT USED

SCALE

DATE

REVISION

PROJECT NAME

ADDRESS

SIGN TYPE

PM

DESIGNER

A

FRONT-LIT
CHANNEL LETTERS

Erik

IU

Overlays are for illustrative purposes only.
Final result, size of sign & scale may vary very slightly. 

Init.

THIS IS AN ORIGINAL UNPUBLISHED DRAWING CREATED BY KNOX SIGNS, IT IS SUBMITTED FOR YOUR
PERSONAL USE IN CONNECTION WITH A PROJECT BEING PLANNED FOR YOU BY KNOX SIGNS. IT IS NOT TO SHOWN

TO ANYONE OUTSIDE YOUR ORGANIZATION, NOR IS IT TO BE USED, REPRODUCED, COPIED OR EXHIBITED IN ANY FASHION.
THIS SIGN IS INTENDED TO BE INSTALLED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF ARTICLE 600 OF THE NATIONAL ELECTRICAL CODE AND/OR OTHER APPLICABLE LOCAL CODES.

THIS INCLUDES PROPER GROUNDING AND BONDING OF THE SIGN.
 

TACO PRO

7730 S Lovers Lane Rd,
Franklin, WI 53132

12’-5”

2’-8”

33.17

ELECTRICALSQFT CALCULATION

FRONT VIEW

SIDE VIEW | INSTALLATION DETAIL
- LED ILLUMINATED CHANNEL LETTERS / BACKPLATE MOUNTED -

LOW VOLTAGE L.E.D LIGHTING SYSTEM | U.L LISTED CLASS 2 - CONFORMS TO U.L 48 & NEC 600 CODE

PRIMARY ELECTRICAL
SOURCE

1” TRIM CAP

3.0” - 5” BLACK RETURN 
.040 ALUMINUM

3/16” ACRYLIC

LED MODULE

7/8” PLASTIC BUSHING

.063 PRE-FINISHED
ALUMINUM BACK

WEEP HOLE COVER

WEEP HOLE
(min. 2 per letter)

WIREWAY PAINTED
TO MATCH WALL COLOR

3/8” THREADED ROD
OR 3/8” LAG BOLT

MOUNTING ANGLES

LED POWER SUPPLY

2” - 3”
ALUM WIREWAY

BACKPLATE (CLOUD)
.063 ALUM / 1/8” DIBOND

W
A

L
L

NIGHT VIEW

15'-0"

6
'-
2
"

1
8
'-
0
"

AFTERBEFORE

1
'-
1

0
"

2
'-
0

"

2
'-
4

"
2

'-
5

"

1
'-
9

"
2

'-
0

"

0
'-
5

"

5'-0"

2
'-
8

"

4'-9"
4'-11"

1'-8"
4'-10"
5'-0"

12'-5"

CUSTOMER TO PROVIDE:
ALL BRANCH (PRIMARY ELECTRICAL SERVICE) CIRCUITS & FINAL CONNECTION 
TO EACH SIGN (WITHIN 6 FT.) TO BE BY CERTIFIED ELECTRICIAN:

A. All branch circuits for signs must be totally dedicated to signs 
    (including dedicated ground and dedicated neutral per circuit).
B. Sign circuits must not be shared with other loads such as lighting, 
    air conditioning, and other equipment.
C. Properly sized ground wire that can be traced back to the breaker panel must be provided.
D. Number and size of circuits for each sign to meet Sign Company Sign's requirement.
Any deviation from the above recommendations may result in:
1. Damage to or improper operation of the sign(s).
2. Delays and additional costs.

B

05-09-2024

27'-6"



City of Franklin 

Department of City Development 

Department of City Development. Midyear Report: 2024 
Page 1 

Department of City Development 
Midyear report: 2024 

Prepared for: 
  Mayor John R. Nelson 
  City of Franklin Plan Commission 

Prepared by: 
  Department of City Development 
Régulo Martínez-Montilva, Planning 
Manager 

August 12, 2024 

Introduction 

This is an update on the 2023 annual report related to development review, zoning 
enforcement, long-range planning, and department initiatives. This midyear report 
includes: 

• Status update on developments applications received in 2023.

• Status of development applications received during the first half of 2024.

• Status update on zoning complaints received in 2023.

• Department’s goals for 2024: accomplished and outstanding.

Development Review 

With regards to applications received in 2023, City Development staff reviewed and 
completed nine applications from the last report in February 2024. 13 applications (5%) 
remain pending as shown in the table below. 

2023 - Status of applications and zoning complaints 

Activity Total Completed* Pending* 

Site Plans/Concept Plans 48 45 3 

Plat Reviews 7 6 1 

Certified Survey Maps 3 2 1 

Special Uses 15 13 2 

Rezonings 1 1 0 

UDO/PDD Amendments 2 2 0 

Zoning Permits/Certificates 95 93 2 

Sign permits** 56 53 3 

Variances 15 14 1 

Zoning Complaints 147 135 12 

Item E.3.

.  



 Department of City Development. Midyear Report: 2024 
 Page 2 

Activity Total Completed* Pending* 

Board & Commission Meetings + 75 75 0 

Total (Applications) 242 229 13 

Total (Applications/Complaints) 389 364 25 

(*) Application status as of July 11, 2024. 

 
Between January and June 2024, the department received 116 applications, 83 of them 
(72%) have been reviewed and completed as of July 11, 2024. 
 

2024 (January-June) - Status of applications and zoning complaints 

Activity Total Completed* Pending* 

Site Plans/Concept Plans 36 24 12 

Plat Reviews 4 0 4 

Certified Survey Maps 1 1 0 

Special Uses 8 4 4 

Rezonings 1 0 1 

UDO/PDD Amendments 4 2 2 

Zoning Permits/Certificates 36 33 3 

Sign permits** 16 13 3 

Variances 10 6 4 

Zoning Complaints  43 32 11 

Board & Commission Meetings + 40 40 0 

Total (Applications) 116 83 33 

Total (Applications + Complaints) 159 115 44 

  (*) Application status as of July 11, 2024. 

 

In total, there are 46 pending applications as of July 11, 2024.  



 Department of City Development. Midyear Report: 2024 
 Page 3 

Zoning Enforcement 

In the 2023 annual report, 17 complaints (12%) remained open, City Development staff 
reviewed and closed 10 complaints from February to July 2024. 
 

Zoning complaints received in 2023 by type and status: 

Type of Complaint Complaints  
received 

Complaint status* 

Closed Notice  
sent 

Open 

Noise (PDD 37) 105 104 1 - 

Noise 2 2 - - 

Quarry 15 15 - - 

Accessory Structure 5 3 - 2 

Outdoor storage 5 3 1 1 

Use without permit 3 1 1 1 

Structure without permit 2 2 - - 

Tree removal 4 1 1 2 

Lighting 1 - - 1 

Animals 1 1 - - 

Parks 1 1 - - 

Floodplain 1 - 1 - 

Miscellaneous 2 2 - - 

Total 147 135 5 7 

%   92% 3% 5% 
(*) Complaint status as of July 11, 2024. 
This table doesn’t include the floodplain management Community Assistance Visit (CAV) 

 

Between January and June 2024, the department received 33 zoning complaints: 7 
complaints have been closed and 15 have been referred to other departments, while 11 
complaints remain open as of July 11, 2024. The department also received 10 quarry 
complaints. 
 
The department is also working on 11 older complaints received in 2021 and 2022 that 
are still open. In total, there are 35 open complaints as of July 11, 2024. 
 

  



 Department of City Development. Midyear Report: 2024 
 Page 4 

Goals for 2024 

The 2023 annual report outlined goals for 2024, below is an update on Long-range 
Planning & Department Initiatives:  
 

Goals Status 
Amend the UDO to comply with the 
Religious Land Use and Institutionalized 
Persons Act (RLUIPA). 

Accomplished. Ordinance adopted on July 2, 2024. 

Prepare the Housing Affordability Report. Accomplished. Report completed and posted on June 
27, 2024, staff presented said report before the Plan 
Commission on July 18, 2024. 

Update the UDO fee schedule. Accomplished. New fee schedule adopted by the 
Common Council on August 6, 2024. 

Continue the UDO Rewrite project: draft 
and Final UDO (Step 5) and Adoption and 
Implementation (Step 6). 

In progress. City Development staff and the project 
consultant held meetings with the Plan Commission 
on the draft UDO and zoning map. Upcoming meeting 
will focus on administrative procedures.  
 
Adoption of the new UDO is anticipated by the end of 
2024 or early 2025. 

Staff anticipates preparing a Request for 
Proposal (RFP) to update the City’s 
Comprehensive Master Plan and 
Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan. 

In progress. Presentation before the Plan 
Commission for policy direction scheduled for 
tonight's meeting. 

Implementation of Parks Facilities rental 
and reservation permitting software. 

In progress.  Planning has identified several possible 
vendors and is completing a budget request.  Further 
coordination is needed to determine who the user 
group will be. 

Consolidation of Parks and Environmental 
Commissions. 

In progress.  Planning and Legal have identified key 
requirements for a consolidated Commission. 

Develop updated plans for Park Impact fee 
use. 

In progress.  Planning received an update on the 
status of existing pool of funds, which are accounted 
for through spring 2025. A new parkland acquisition 
study is needed, along with a Comprehensive 
Outdoor Recreation Plan (CORP) update. 

Continued work on the development of the 
Water Tower Park. 

In progress.  A conceptual site plan was approved by 
the Parks Commission.   

Community Assistance Visit - FEMA 
Compliance Program 

In progress.  See July 2 update to Common Council. 

Update forms for Natural Resource 
Special Exception applications. 

Outstanding. 

Present a midyear status update on these 
goals to the Plan Commission. 

This report. 



 Department of City Development. Midyear Report: 2024 
 Page 5 

New Goals (not part of the 2023 annual 
report) Status 
Adopt a Traditional Neighborhood 
Development (TND) Ordinance. 

In progress. Introductory presentation before the Plan 
Commission scheduled for tonight's meeting. 

Update the city's floodplain zoning 
ordinance. 

In progress. Presentation before the Common Council 
held on July 2. 
  
Public hearing before the Plan Commission held on 
August 8, scheduled for Common Council decision on 
August 20, 2024. 

 
Other goals is to continue day to day operations on development review and zoning 
enforcement: 

Development review 

• Continue to review pending and upcoming development applications. 
Zoning Enforcement 

• Continue implementation and enforcement of the Community Assistance Visit 
(CAV). 

• Review open complaints and take necessary enforcement actions. 
 
 



City of Franklin 

Department of City Development 

TO: Plan Commission 

FROM: Régulo Martínez-Montilva, Planning Manager 

Department of City Development 

DATE: August 12, 2024 

SUBJECT: Options to update to the 2025 Comprehensive Master Plan (CMP) 

For the preparation of the 2025 city’s budget, it’s worth considering an update to the city’s 
comprehensive plan. The 2024-2028 Capital Improvement Program has funds for the update of the 
Comprehensive Master Plan (CMP) and the Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan (CORP): 
$80,000 total1. 

Last year, the city received proposals from two planning consultants: 

• MDRoffers Consulting for a “complete update/replacement”, $85,000-$95,000. September
2023.

• Housel Lavigne offered three approaches in June 2023:
o Land Use Plan & Natural Resources Plan Update, $65,000.
o Comprehensive Plan Rewrite, $165,000.
o Comprehensive Plan Rewrite & Subarea Plans, $210,000.

Based on these proposals for only the Comprehensive Master Plan (CMP); $80,000 for complete 
updates to the CMP and the Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan (CORP) is likely insufficient.    

This memorandum outlines several options for updating the city’s comprehensive plan as well as 
the need for an update per Wisconsin Statutes. City Development staff is presenting these options 
before the Plan Commission and Common Council for policy direction. If an option is selected by 
the Common Council, staff can afterwards define the scope, work on request for proposals (RFP), 
and budget for the selected option.  

The 2025 Comprehensive Master Plan of the City of Franklin was adopted in 2009. According 
to Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1001(2)(i), comprehensive plans must be updated no less than 
once every 10 years. However, the law does not define "update." 

According to the Wisconsin Department of Administration: “Optimally, the local government would 
update all of the background information, such as demographic data and the current land use map.  It 
would also go through a public participatory process to evaluate all of the goals, objectives, policies, 
and programs put forth by the original plan and update them as needed, as well as the future land 
use map. Yet, a local government may also do much less to update its plan.  At a minimum, the local 

1 City of Franklin, Capital Improvement Program 2024-2028, Year 2 -2025, page 214. 

Item E.4 



government must go through the process outlined in s. 66.1001(4) to adopt the updated plan or 
readopt a version of the original plan if it still meets the community's needs”.  
 
The Southeastern Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission (SEWRPC) identifies options to update 
comprehensive plans: “Although the comprehensive planning law requires a 10-year update, there is 
no guidance on the scope or content of plan updates.  Although each local government should 
determine the scope of its local plan update, the following are a few of the options: 

1. Review and reaffirm the existing plan, or the originally-adopted plan with amendments that have 
been made periodically since the plan was adopted; 

2. Minor updates, corrections, or refinements to the plan; 
3. A more substantial update, but short of a full update to the plan; and 
4. A full update of the plan.” 

The Center for Land Use Education (University of Wisconsin-Stevens Point) also identifies update 
options and their pros and cons: 

1: “Selectively Revise Portions of Plan 
– Time and cost‐effective.  
– Works best if current plan is well‐written/organized.  
– May make it difficult to take a fresh look at issues or problems.” 

 
2: “Update Inventory or Policy Section  

– Distinct inventory and policy sections can be updated independently.  
– Provides an opportunity to focus on policies.  
– Some time and cost savings over complete rewrite.” 

 
3: “Create Plan Supplement  

– Existing plan is retained in its current form. Supplement document highlights new information and 
policies.  
– May be difficult to ascertain which policies are current.  
– Easiest, least costly approach.” 

 
4: “Create Entirely New Plan  

– Major undertaking - new plan written from scratch.  
– Avoids time‐consuming and potentially tedious task of working with existing plan language or format.  
– Works best if existing plan requires major overhaul.” 

 
City Development staff recommends an incremental planning approach with the benefit of updating 
the plan sooner to achieve compliance with Wisconsin Statutes: 

First step, update demographic data by in-house urban planners. The comprehensive plan was 
prepared prior to the 2010 census, so the data available at that time was the 2000 census. Staff 
can update the plan with the 2010 and 2020 decennial censuses, as well as population 
projections prepared in 2014 by the Wisconsin Department of Administration. No impact to the 
budget is anticipated with this update other than staff hours and public notices. 

http://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/statutes/statutes/66/X/1001/4


Second step, Future Land Use Plan update or full rewrite with the assistant of an outside 
consultant, depending on available budget. 

 
 
Weblinks regarding comprehensive plan updates in Wisconsin 
 

Wisconsin Department of Administration (DOA) 
https://doa.wi.gov/Pages/LocalGovtsGrants/Comprehensive-Planning.aspx  
 
Southeastern Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission (SEWRPC) 
https://www.sewrpc.org/SEWRPC/communityassistance/ProjectPlanningServices.htm  
 
Center for Land Use Education, University of Wisconsin-Stevens Point 
https://www3.uwsp.edu/cnr-ap/clue/Archived%20Information/CompPlanUpdates_SP_5-22-18.pdf  

https://doa.wi.gov/Pages/LocalGovtsGrants/Comprehensive-Planning.aspx
https://www.sewrpc.org/SEWRPC/communityassistance/ProjectPlanningServices.htm
https://www3.uwsp.edu/cnr-ap/clue/Archived%20Information/CompPlanUpdates_SP_5-22-18.pdf


City of Franklin 

Department of City Development 

TO: Plan Commission 

FROM: Régulo Martínez-Montilva, Planning Manager 

Department of City Development 

DATE: August 12, 2024 

SUBJECT: Traditional Neighborhood Development (TND) Ordinance 

This memorandum serves to provide an overview of Traditional Neighborhood Development (TND) 
for feedback and policy guidance from the Plan Commission on drafting a specific TND ordinance 
for the City of Franklin. 

What is Traditional Neighborhood Development (TND)? 
The Wisconsin Comprehensive Planning law defines Traditional Neighborhood Development (TND) 
as “a compact, mixed use neighborhood where residential, commercial and civic buildings are within 
close proximity to each other”1. According to the Center for Land Use Education: “It is a planning 
concept based on traditional small towns and city neighborhoods. The variety of uses permits 
educational facilities, civic buildings and commercial establishments to be located within walking 
distance of private homes. A TND is served by a network of paths, streets and lanes designed for 
pedestrians as well as vehicles”. 

Why is it required to adopt a Traditional Neighborhood Development (TND) ordinance? 
The Comprehensive Planning Law for Wisconsin requires communities over 12,500 in population to 
enact a TND ordinance2. Therefore, Franklin is required to adopt a specific TND ordinance.  

The University of Wisconsin Extension has created a model ordinance that communities can adapt 
to their particular situation (model ordinance attached). The city’s Unified Development Ordinance 
(UDO) Section 15-3.0401.D states that this model ordinance “serves as the nonexclusive guidebook 
to assist in further defining the various aspects and elements of the form of urban design”. However, 
the model ordinance states in its introduction that such “ordinance is meant as a guide and is not 
intended to be adopted to be adopted as is. Each community must adapt the language and concepts 
of the ordinance to fit the unique circumstances found in that community”. For example, the model 
ordinance has references between brackets to be filled by the municipality adopting the ordinance, 
this is still outstanding. For this reason, staff recommends to adapt the model TND ordinance to the 
City of Franklin. 

Currently, a TND project may be allowed as a Planned Development District (PDD) but it’s unclear 
how the city would review such application without adapting the model ordinance to the 

1 Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1027 Traditional neighborhood developments and conservation subdivisions. 
2 Wis. Stats. Section 66.1027(3)(b). 

Item E.5 



2 
 

comprehensive plan and the UDO. Staff is not aware of an approved PDD for Traditional 
Neighborhood Development. 
 
Consistency with the city’s Comprehensive Master Plan 
The concept of Traditional Neighborhood Development (TND) is consistent with the following 
policies and recommendations of the comprehensive plan: 

• In the Future Land Use Map (FLUM), “Mixed Use Development is encouraged and 
accommodated by this Plan. Mixed-use development (in appropriate locations and of 
appropriate scales) consists of existing mixed-use related land use and zoning options (as 
exemplified by the City of Franklin’s Unified Development Ordinance’s Residential Planned 
Development District, Traditional Neighborhood Planned Development District, …” (Land 
Use Element, page 5-79, emphasis added).  

• “Strive toward a 70/30 ratio of residential to commercial assessed valuation”. Since TND 
provides a mix of uses, including residential, commercial, civic and open spaces; a TND 
ordinance is likely to be consistent with this goal of the comprehensive plan. (Issues & 
Opportunities Element, page 2-33, emphasis added). 

• One of the Land Use Design Policies is to “[e]ncourage mixed uses. Mixed uses within 
individual buildings, within individual developments, and between adjacent developments 
shall be allowed. Concepts such as Town Centers or Traditional Neighborhood Design shall 
be encouraged”. (Land Use Element, page 5-71, emphasis added).  

• For the purpose of the comprehensive plan and the Future Land Use Map, “it is assumed that” 
… “mixed-use development will occur more often” (Land Use Element, page 5-37, emphasis 
added). 

 
The comprehensive plan also identifies potential long-term implications of enacting a TND 
ordinance: “if residential density increased (through such means as traditional neighborhood 
design, mixed-use design, greater amounts of multi-family development, redevelopment, or market 
factors such as increases in the price of land and/or building supplies), and other trends remained 
the same, more residential units would be constructed, and the population of the City at full build-
out would be greater” (Land Use Element, page 5-35, emphasis added). 
 
Compliance with the Unified Development Ordinance 
As pointed in this memorandum, the current Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) has a reference 
to the model TND ordinance but lacks specific standards. A full rewrite of the UDO is in progress as 
a separate project, the proposed UDO in draft form also refers to the model ordinance without 
providing specific standards. 
 
The model TND ordinance has design standards for street sections, architecture, lighting, 
landscaping, parking, etc. City Development staff will adapt these standards for compliance with the 
UDO and consistency with the comprehensive plan. 
 
 
Adoption process 



3 
 

In order to allow for Traditional Neighborhood Development, a municipality needs to adopt a TND 
ordinance or include appropriate language in an existing ordinance. At a minimum, a TND ordinance 
must follow the adoption process of an UDO Text Amendment: public hearing before the Plan 
Commission for recommendation and presentation before the Common Council for decision.  
 
City Development staff is proposing the following steps for drafting and adopting a TND ordinance: 

• Present this memorandum to the Plan Commission and Common Council for initial feedback 
and policy direction. 

• City Development staff to prepare a draft TND ordinance based on the model ordinance. 
o City Development staff to meet with other city departments for feedback on specific 

topics. For example, stormwater management and street sections (Engineering 
Department), street sections (Fire Department). 

• Present draft TND ordinance to the Plan Commission (2-3 feedback loops anticipated). 
• Present draft TND ordinance to the Common Council for feedback.  

• Legal review by City Attorney. 
• Present TND ordinance before the Plan Commission for recommendation (public hearing 

required).  

• Present TND ordinance before the Common Council for adoption (required).  
 
City Development staff is planning to prepare such draft ordinance as an in-house project, no outside 
consultant is anticipated other than City Attorney for legal review.  
 
Question for policy direction 
City Development staff identified the following issue for policy direction prior to preparing a draft 
TND ordinance: 

• Ordinance mapping. As stated in the model ordinance, such TND ordinance is not required 
to be mapped. Therefore, staff identifies three options for policy direction: 

o Floating zoning, recommended by City Development staff for the following reasons: 
▪ It doesn’t require mapping or rezonings.  
▪ Applies to properties that meet certain criteria to be defined in the draft 

ordinance. For example, minimum lot area, be served by public water and 
sewer, future land use designation (commercial and mixed use). 

▪ The area where it applies would be adjusted automatically is the 
comprehensive plan is updated.   

o Base zoning.  
▪ Requires mapping and rezonings.  
▪ It may create nonconformities. 

o Overlay zoning. 
▪ Requires mapping but base zoning is retained. 
▪ Requires adjustment if the comprehensive plan is updated. 

 
For more information 



4 
 

• Model ordinance available at https://doa.wi.gov/DIR/Comp_Planning_tndord.pdf 

• Center for Land Use Education, 2005. Traditional Neighborhood Design, available at 
https://www.uwsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/2024/04/TND.pdf  

 
  

https://doa.wi.gov/DIR/Comp_Planning_tndord.pdf
https://www.uwsp.edu/wp-content/uploads/2024/04/TND.pdf

	01 2024-0822 Plan Commission Agenda
	02 2024-0808 PC Minutes - Draft1
	03 Item C.1._Tsunami Car Wash_Special Use & Site Plan
	01 PC Report - Tsunami Car Wash - Special Use and Site Plan
	INTRODUCTION
	UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE REQUIREMENTS
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION

	02 RES Tsunami Carwash SU - 07-22-24
	03 RES Tsunami Carwash SU Exhibit A
	04 RES Tsunami Carwash SP
	05 Planning Map 24_Combined
	Planning Map 24_Aerial
	Planning Map 24_Locator

	06 AS100 Arch Site Plan
	07 Application and Supporting Documents
	08 Franklin City Staff Comments - Redmond Response
	09 Site Intensity Calcs Worksheet
	10 Tsunami Franklin Sound Study
	11 Tsunami Express Car Wash - Franklin WI - Geo Report 1-15
	TABLE OF CONTENTS
	1.0 SCOPE OF SERVICES
	2.0 SITE DESCRIPTION
	3.0 PROJECT DESCRIPTION
	4.0 GEOTECHNICAL SUBSURFACE EXPLORATION PROGRAM
	5.0 GEOTECHNICAL LABORATORY SERVICES
	6.0 MATERIAL CONDITIONS
	6.1. Surface Materials
	6.2. Fill Material
	6.3. Possible Fill
	6.4. Buried Topsoil
	6.5. Non-Organic Native Soil

	7.0 GROUNDWATER CONDITIONS
	8.0 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS
	8.1. Seismic Design Considerations
	8.2. Ground Improvement
	8.3. Building Foundation Recommendations
	8.4. At-Grade Floor Slab Recommendations
	8.5. Car Wash Pit Recommendations
	8.6. Pavement Recommendations
	8.7. Generalized Site Preparation Recommendations
	8.8. Generalized Construction Considerations
	8.9. Recommended Construction Materials Testing Services

	9.0 BASIS OF REPORT
	Tsunami Express - Franklin WI - Geo Report.pdf
	Geo Appendix colored pages.pdf
	APPENDIX A
	APPENDIX B
	APPENDIX C

	Appendix D.pdf
	Geo Appendices A through D - Brown pages.pdf
	Geo Appendix colored pages.pdf
	APPENDIX D



	1g2401015-blp (Working BLP).pdf
	Sheets and Views
	B-size




	12 Revised Drawing Packet (UPDATED 07_16_24) DONT PRINT
	Sheets and Views
	2024.0021.01-EXISTING C-2
	2024.0021.01-SITE C-3
	2024.0021.01-DEMO C-4
	2024.0021.01-GRADING C-5
	2024.0021.01-EROSION C-6
	2024.0021.01-PAVEMENT C-7
	2024.0021.01-UTILITY C-8
	2024.0021.01-STORM C-9
	2024.0021.01-DETAILS C-10
	2024.0021.01-DETAILS C-11
	2024.0021.01-DETAILS C-12
	2024.0021.01-DETAILS C-13
	2024.0021.01-CONTECH C-14
	2024.0021.01-CONTECH (2) C-15
	2024.0021.01-SPECS C-16



	04 Item C.2._Scheftner_Area Exception and Variance
	1 PC Staff Report - SCHEFTNER Variance and AE - DRAFT
	Introduction
	Area Exception
	Variance
	Site Compliance
	Staff Recommendation:

	2 Planning Map 24_Combined
	Planning Map 24_Aerial
	Planning Map 24_Locator

	3 PC-BZBA app submittal
	1 Project Summary - 10405
	2 Standards in Review of Area Exception
	2b Findings & Factors - Variance Scheftner
	3a Plat of Survey - 10405
	3b site plan w leach bed location
	4 Garage Specs - 10405
	5 Letter of Denial - 10405


	05 Item C.3. & C.4_Comm of Crocus_CMP Amd, Rezone & Special Use1
	01 Staff Report - 0 S 31st St. Communities of Crocus CMP Amd, RZ and SU
	02 RES 0 S 31st St. Communities of Crocus SU
	03 0 S 31st St. Communities of Crocus CMP Amd
	04 ORD 0 S 31st St. Communities of Crocus RZ
	05 Planning Map 24_Combined_RZ
	Planning Map 24_Aerial
	Planning Map 24_Locator

	06 Planning Map 24_Combined_SU
	Planning Map 24_Aerial
	Planning Map 24_Locator

	07 Staff Comments CMP A, RZ & SU
	08 COC RZ Binder
	A. Common Council Review Applications-Rezoning
	B. Communities of Crocus - Parcel Legal Descriptions (Parcels II, III, IV)
	C. Communities of Crocus_Project Narratives
	D. Communities of Crocus - Colored Site Plan
	E. Communities of Crocus - Phasing Site Plan

	09 COC CMP Binder
	A. Common Council Review Application-Comprehensive Master Plan
	B. Communities of Crocus - Parcel Legal Descriptions
	C. Communities of Crocus_Project Narratives
	D. Communities of Crocus - Colored Site Plan
	E. Communities of Crocus - Phasing Site Plan

	10 COC SU Binder
	A. Common Council Review Application-Special Use_2024-08-12
	B. Communities of Crocus - Parcel Legal Descriptions (Parcel I)
	C. Communities of Crocus_Project Narratives
	D. Communities of Crocus - Colored Site Plan
	E. Communities of Crocus - Phasing Site Plan
	F. Communities of Crocus - Special Use Questionaire
	G. Communities of Crocus - Elevations
	C401 - Center Elevations
	C402 - Center Elevations 2
	C403 - Care Elevations
	C404 - Care Elevations 2
	HubStuffNeeddNowANNOTATED
	C405 - Hub Elevations
	C406 - Hub Elevations 2


	H. Special Use Permitting Exhibit_Civil Site Plan


	06 Item C.5._Field 99_Special Use
	1. 2024-0808 PC Report - Field 99 SU
	CITY OF FRANKLIN

	2. 2024-0509 PC Report - Field 99 SU
	CITY OF FRANKLIN

	3. 2024-0606 RES - Field 99 SU_4-7-24
	4. Planning Map 24_Combined
	Planning Map 24_Aerial
	Planning Map 24_Locator

	5. Field 99 Narrative
	6. Field99_Special Use Standards.docx - Google Docs
	7. Special Use FIeld 99 11141 W Forest Home Franklin
	8. GoRiteway_SitePlan
	9. B-C-100-C-001_revised parking plan
	Sheets and Views
	C-001



	07 Item E.1._Williams_Fence Install w-private planting screen
	01 PC Staff Report - Williams
	02 RES - Williams fence release of restrict (08-14-2024)
	03 Misc. Application - Williams
	04 Legal Description - 7512 S. 77th St.
	05 Letter of Denial - Williams
	06 Owners Acknowledgement
	07 Project Narrative - Williams
	08 Staff Comments - Williams - fence
	Department of City Development

	09 Plat of Survey Final
	10 Vinyl Fencing Specs.

	08 Item E.2._Dairy Queen-Taco Pro_Master Sign Program Amnd11
	01 2024-08-22 PC Staff Report - Shoppes MSP A DQ-Taco Pro
	02 2024 RES - DQ Taco Pros Master Sign Program Amend
	03 Master Sign amen appl
	04 2024-07-15 Staff Comments - MSPa - Dev Ghelani 7730 S Lovers Lane Road
	05 Request for Master Sign Plan Amendment
	06 Cloverleaf Sign Approval Letter - 8.2.24 (002)
	07 457485 - R8 - FRANKLIN WI (002)
	1: COVER
	Page 2
	3: SOUTH
	4: WEST
	5: NORTH
	Page 6

	08 Taco Pro 05-09-2024 Full Detailed Drawing (3)
	Page 1
	Page 2
	Page 3


	09 Item E.3._City Development Department-2024 midyear update-8-12-241
	10 Item E.4._Memo re Comprehensive Plan update 08-12-241
	11 Item E.5._Memo re TND ordinance 8-12-241



